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We are part of everyday life for
millions of customers across Europe.
We entertain and connect them
by offering the best content,
technology to put them in control
and best-in-class service delivery.
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Stratagx; report

Chairman’s statement

2015 has been a transformational year for
Sky With the acquisition of the businesses
in Germany and ttaly, the Company has
moved beyond the boundaries of the

UK and Ireland to create a world-class

pay TV operation

Nick Ferguson, CBE

1 - New office campus Osterley Sky UX 2 - Opering of Sky Academy Skills Studios Levingston Sky UK

1-0Offwces Milan Sky ltahs
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Against the backdrop of a fast-moving industry we have brought
together the three leaders in their respective markets positioning
the enlarged group to take advantage of new opportunities at scale

We see the potential to launch new products and servicas that
will reach customers in more ways than ever before and create
enhanced value for shareholders

On behalf of the Board it gives me great pleasure to take this
opportunity to welcome our colleagues from Sky Deutschiand
and Sky ltalia to the group We look forward to all that you can
achieve together as part of a bigger team

To recognise the expanded international scope of the Company, we
have changed our name from British Sky Broadcasting simply to Sky

Throughaut, the Company has continued to deliver strong growth
achieving excellent results both operationally and financially

The performance for the year shows good momentum across

the group as more custemers choose to join Sky and take more
of our products, for use at bome or on the move

The fact that these results have been achieved at a time of such
change for the Company demonstrates the strength and focus

of the management team It s also proof that the actions taken
In recent years o invest in the quality of the customer expenence
are delvering returns

Reflecting the Company’s excellent performance the Board has
propased a 3% increase in the dvidend to 32 8 pence Thus is the
11th consecutive year of growth

As a successful and growing business, the enlarged Sky makes
animportant economic contribution to the countries in which
it cperates It acts as a powerhouse for the creative mdusiries

Strategic raport

in Europe supporting 128 000 jobs across s five terntones and
investing £4 9 bihon in quality news sports and entertainment
content Inaddition, it contnbutes £76 bidlion to GDP across the
five countries and generates £3 4 bilion In tax revenues of which
a total of £2 3 billon goes to the UK Exchequer (Oxford Economics)

Sky s also committed to vsing its position as Europe s leading
entertainmant company to make a pasitive iImpact on society
Across the enlarged group, the focus s on using the Company’s
strengths in TV, creativity and sport to support young people
and help them to realise thewr full potentral

1 have been prrvileged in the course of the year to be present at
the launch of two new initiatives for Sky Academy in the UX and
Ireland the Careers Lab in West Landon and the new Skills Studios
in'Scotland Nearty two years after launching Sky Acaderny

we're delighted wath the progress we're making Our colleagues

In Germany and Italy alsa have a focus on young people and

we see areal opportunity te share learnming across our temtories
and to strengthen our engagement with young people in the

next few years

Moving onto the busmess of the Board as announced last year
Andy Higginson retired from the Board in November after 10 years
the last two of which he held the role of Senior Independent
Director He was succeeded in this role by Martin Gidbert

Furthermora at the canclusion of this years AGM n November
Dawvid DeVoe, Danny Rmer and Arthur Siskind will step down From
the Board Immediately following the AGM 1t 15 intended that John
Nallen CFO of 21st Century Fox, will be appointed by the Boardas a
Non-Executve Director As a result of these propesed changes the
number of Board members would reduce from 14 to 12 On behalf of
the Board | would like to of fer my warmest thanks to David DeVoe
Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind for their major contnbution to the
Company over manyyears All three have been excellent colleagues
Arthur joined the Board in 1991 David in 1994 and Danny in 2008
and each has been a source of sound adwvice throughout We will
miss them all

On behalf of the Board | would like to thank all of our shareholders
for their conbinued support 1n particular threugh the completion
of such a significant transaction | would also like to take this
opportunity to thank every one of my colleagues across the
business for their hard work and contribution to what has been
an excellent year for Sky

Nick Ferguson, CBE
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Stratefc report

Our strategy

We create sustainable value by pursuing broad
growth opportunities across our markets,
achieving competitive advantage through
our core strengths and the way we do business

Our business model

Our strengths: Growth opportunities

Great content Growing pay TV penetration

We invest to deliver the best and broadest range
of content nght across the portfolic of channels our markets using the combination of satellite
and seraces we provide Lo customers, 8nsunng cable and over-the-top (OTT) services to meet
we offer something for everyone tn the household customers’ needs

Wa exploit the headroom for pay TV growth across

Market-leading innovation

We harmess new technology in order to give
customers the very best viewing experience,
wherever and whenever they wantit

Selling more to customers

We focus on broadering out our range of products
and senices in ordler to sell more to existing customers
and address more of therr needs

A customer focus Scaling adjacent business

We are led by customers and what they want We target opportunitres in adjacent sectors fike
We have anunnvalled ability to address ther advertising and international programmaa sales
needs thanks to the strength of our brand to grow new revenues

the scate of our go-to-market, operation

and our expertise in service delivery

How we create value

Investing for the long term Driving efficiency

We invest over the long term because we want to budd a business We underpmn everything that we do with a ngorous focus on
that 1s durable This means ensunng that we create the condiuons  operating efficiency By ensuring that we have an efficent and

for sustainable success whilst also delivering results in the agile operating model we consistently dnve down costs to allow
short term us to Invest more where customers see greatest value

Seeing the bigger picture Investing in people

We are committed ta acting responsibly in all that we do Thats We Invest 1n our people because we recogruse that theur talent and
because we know that to build a business that's successful over commitment are cntical Lo our success We aim to foster a culture

the long term, how we go about doing business is as important as which encourages our people to fulfil therr potential and to strive
what we do We also focus on making a positive impact on society for continual improvement in all that they do enabhing them to
We call thus seeing the bigger picture achieve great things together

04 Skypk
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Strategic report

Group Chief Executive’s statement

Sky has had an outstanding year, ending
2015 a very different business compared
to the same time a year ago We have
transformed the scale of opportunity
ahead while at the same time delivering
strong growth as more customers across
our markets join Sky and take more of
our products

Jeremy Darroch

With the successful acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltala
Sky today serves 21 mdlion customers across five countnes - Italy
Germany Austra lreland and the UK - and 15 Europe s leading
investor n content

As well as bnnging greater scale the transaction was also about
bulding a great orgamisation and positioning the business for
the future The three Sky businesses are highly complementary
They share a powerful brand and have a common ethos of
embracing change to provide customers with more choice
better content and a supenor TV expenence

Sky 1s already at the forefront of delivering services over broadcast
on demand and mobtle TV platforms However, by joinmg the three
businesses together we are able to share our strengths and
expertise across the group This will enable us to serve customers
better and to build a brigger and stronger business over the longer
term to the benefit of all shareholders

Expanded opportunity for growth

When we corsider the long-term potential for Sky as an
international busness, we see six broad areas of opportunity

First we will exploit the substantial headroom for pay TV growth
across ouwr markets With more than 65 million households yet

to take pay TV, we will tap into new pockets of demand by
segmenting the market, using the combination of our Sky-branded
satellte and cable TV offenng and our OTT streamng services

Second we will use our strengths in cross-selling to bring more
products to our customers across the group Everything we
see tells us that our customers are iIncreasingly loyal to Sky
and have an appetite to take more from us

Third we will continue te grow our adjacent businesses In channel
distnbution we have more potential partners for our content as
the market opens up We [l also have an expanded opportunity

Lo grow our programme sales as we scale our content business

Fourth we will raise our ambitionsin cantent even further

By brninging the three Sky s together we have the potential to
operate at greater scale This 1s about extending our tradivonal
strengths in areas hke sparts and movies commssiontng more
of our own entertainment programming and being the best
partner for content owners around the world

Fifth we will accelerate Innovation to delver an even better
expenence for customers By combining our product development
actvity across the group, well be able to bnng products to market
faster at greater scale and at reduced cost

Sixth we will bunld on the strength of our go-to-market operation
and expertise in service delivery to create an organisation that
15 best placed to meet the needs of customers

Nine months after closing the transaction the teams in each of
the three busmesses are working together well and the integration
process s ontrack Having identfied multiple ways in which the
businesses can best share expertise we have started work on

a cdlear set of priority workstreams that will ensure we make

the mast of the opportumties ahead

Skypic 05
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Strategic report

Group Chief Executive’s statement

(conunued)

Excellent performance across the group

At the same time as Implementing the transaction we delwvered an
excellent operational and financial performance as robust demand
from customers drove strong trading across all of our markets

Wa closed the financial year with revenues up 5% to £11 3 billion?
and operating prafit up 18% te £14 billion This was an outstanding
result in a year of such change for the business

The strength of our performance was fuelled by the addition of
almost one million new customers over the year This was 45%
more than the prnier year and took our custorner base past the
21-mifhon mark At the same ume we added 4 6 million new paid-for
products reflecting strong levels of demand across our broad
product offering

2015 also saw us achieve significantly increased customer loyalty
across the group We reduced churn to below 10% i all our markets
as customers responded positively to the nvestments we have
made in the viewing experience, In areas such as the connected
box platform and our own original drama

Standout performance in UK and Ireland

At the heart of the group resuits was an outstanding performance
in the UK and Ireland, demonstrating the success of the appreach
we have taken to segmenting the market with the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands

Strong customer demand resulted »n the highest organic customer
growth for 11 years of 506 000 to take us past the 12-mition
milestona At the same time we grew pawd-for products by 3 3 million
thanks to accelerated growth across TV and broadband

We achieved churn of 9 8% on a12-month rolling basis an Vl-year
low, as growing penetration and usage of connected TV services
increased customer layalty and overall satisfaction with Sky

We closed the year with more than seven mill:on TV customers
connected anincrease of more thanone milion over the year

1 - Engiand vs New Zealand Investec Test Match atlond s Sky Sports Sky UK
1 - Fartitude Sky Adantic Al temtones 3 « Portrat Artist of the Year Sky Arts Sky UK
4 - ROW TV remote and box § - 12a%an Grand Pria Mugeto Sky Sport MotoGP HD Sky itaka

Strong growth in Germany and Austna

Sky in Germany and Austna also achieved an excellent year of
growth We added 467000 net new customers over the 12 months
the highest-ever annual customer growth, to take the base

past four milion Paid-for product growth of almost one mithon
represented an improvement of more than 50% on the prior

year thanks to strong growth in HD

Churn of 8 6% on a 12-month rolling basis was a record low
for a full year as we continued to benefit from the take-up
of two-year contracts

Italy stabilised

In Italy, we held the customer base stable for the first time in three
years, ending the 12-manth penod broadly flat year on year with
47 milhon customers Pad-for product growth was 387000 while
churn hit a low of 9 €% on 12-month roling basis as customers
showed growing loyalty to the business This was a good result

in what remamns a challenging market

1 Wehave presented the results onan adjusted kkg for ke bass for the full 12-menth
penod to 30 June 2015 down to operatsng profit Comparative figures are Uranslated
ataconstant currency of €131 €1

08 Skyplc
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Strategs report

Building on our strengths

Sky's success rests on the umgue combination of strengths that
we have developed in three core areas the best and broadest range
of content, market-leading nnovation that enhances the viewing
expertence, and our focus on the customer through our unrvalled
go-to-market capability expertise in senace delivery and the
strength of our brand

We made significant progressin each of these areas in 2015

Content

We strengthened the range and quality of our offering on screen
across all aur terntones inthe past 12 months advancng our ambition
to create a powerhouse for contentin Europe

in entertainment, we took ancther big step forward as we grew our
capability in onginal production While each of ourbusinesses s at a
different stage of development in this area, what s become dear as
we've started to work together is our shared vision and our common
sense of ambition

Crime drama Fertitude and Italian polivical drama 1992 became the
first of our home-grown dramas to launch simultaneously across
all five territores in January and March respectively

Reaching an audience of 37 million Fortrtude was Sky Adantic’s most
successfulonginal drama to date i the UX It alsobecame the most
successful show far Sky Visior our distribution business with salesto
more than 100 territones intemationally Meanwhile 1992 prermiered
with the biggest-ever audience for an anginal scnipted senes n italy

Thelr success underhnes the potential that we have to cperate at a
greater scale with a number of exobting drama projects n the pipeline
as part of more than 130 hours of onginal drama now m production
across the group

In sport we completed a series of important nghts deals to put
Sky In & strong position for the coming year In the UK and Ireland
we achieved a successful outcome to the Premier League's tender
process reinforcing Sky Sports’ poskion as the number ene chaice
for sports fans with the rights to 126 lve Premier League matches
every season from 201617 to 201819 As a result, Sky Sportswill
bnng customers three times as many ive matches as any other
broadcaster including the best match picks and the most-watched
slots in the schedule Meanwhile In italy we secured the live

and exclusive nghts to all 472 matches in Sene B for the next
three seasons

Innovation

Sky s strength in innovation enables us to get the greatest value
from our nvestment In content, meeting customers growing desire
for the flexibility to consume content on their owa terms bothin
and out of the home It also allows us to distnibute our content
more widely, tapping Into new pockets of demand using OTT
technology and creating new revenue opportunities in areas

Iike transactional services

Skypic &7
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Stratapic report

Group Chief Executive's statement

{continued)

Across our markets, we have continued to invest in the quality

of the customer experience to make it easier for customers to
access and consume our cantent Sky now has almost nine mithon
customers across our markets who have chosen to connect ther
boxes to the intemet to open up a whole range of on demand
and catch-up services

Additionally, Sky has also extended its lead as Europe s biggest
mobile TV pravider Close to 10 mibon homes across the group

are enabled to watch therr favourite programmes on the move

with Sky Go We built on our leadership in mpbile TV m the year
with the agreement of a significant new partnership with Tetefénica
i the UK This will enable us to add a range of mobile vorce and
data services to our customer offering in 2016 to exploit the
opportunities for growth that we seen the fast-changing

mobile sector

The growing penetratron of connected devices is opening up brand
new sources of revenue One area where we made real stndes in
201515 Sky Store in the UK and Ireland where revenues increased
77% with a growing contribution from our Buy & Keep service
launched a year ago The service regularly ranks number one

or two among digital retalers for new releases, for example
detivering record digital sales for Umversal onits best-seling

wutle FAifty Shades of Grey We are excited about the opporfunity

to expand in this sector

2015 also saw us make sigmficant progress in the expansion of our
OTT streamung services We see a big opportunity to use OTT video
to drive pay TV penetration in a way that 1s comptementary to our
core satellite and cable businesses In the UK, our popular NOW TV
senice continued to buld mementum as our rebranding helped
drive a near trebling in sports pass sales in the year

1 - Paddington Buy & Keep Sky Store Sky UK 2 - Journalst, Sky Sport. Sky laka
3 = Quillan Isadore Sky Academy Sports Scholar Sky UK

Building on this success, we ve also launched Sky Onling sericesin
both Germany and ltaly in the past 18 months, gmng us streaming
productsin all our markets Targeted at people who like our content
but want to consumest Ina different way these services are just
getting going We see a lot of potential to use them as a means
tounlock new headroom for customer growth across Europe

Customers

We know that our strength in content and innovation only matters

because we know how to bring them together in a way that works ,
best for custorners We have built Sky as the leading brand n
our sector with a proven ability to stretch into new parts of the
market to deliver the products and services that best address
customers’ needs

In the UK, more than one-thurd of hauseholds believe Skyisthe

prand best placed to bring together their entertainment and
communications needs - far ahead of any other company And in Italy
Sky 15 rated as the second-strongest brand in media and technology
second only to Apple

The strength of our brand combined with the scale and sophistication
of our go-to-market operation enables Sky to prowide the products
that hest address customers needs It also ensures we support them
with best-in-class customer service

We have continued to raise the barin the qualty of our servicein the
past 12 months

Inthe UK and Irefand we have been reling out our Digital First
programme with the aim of putting our digital channels at the
front line of custamer service delivery Our ambition 15 very clear
- for the majornity of customer interactions to be conducted via
our digital channels We believe the potential is significant we will
grow customer satisfaction to even higher levels while further
reducing operating costs as a percentage of sales Our intention
15 to roll out the programme across Germany and Italy in time

How we do business

Of course the success of Sky 1s based not simply on the results we
deliver over one year but an our sustaned performance over me
We know that to build a business that is durable for the long term
it1s not just what we achieve as a busness but how we go about

it that matters This 1s at the heart of our Betieve in batter ethos,
our commitment, to constant improvement in afl that we do

08 Skyek
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A responsible business

Qur ability to provide the best products and services for customers
1s underpinned by a commitment to act responsibly The milions
of customers across Europe that choose Sky for their home
entertainment and communications have high expectations

of us and it 1s our job to maintain therr trust in the decisions

we take day to day This means, for example ensunng we work
hard to keep the information customers share with us safe and
secure, developing easy to use energy-efficient products for
our customers and strengthening our work with supphers on
our epvironmenta! and sooal standards including human nghts
[ Far mare about our commitments pages 71-73

Creating awder impact

As a successful company, we alsa have the opportunity to use

our position as Europe’s leading entertamment company to make

a pasitive impact on society (t's sometiung we Know eur customers
value and an important part of ensunng our business 1s successful
for the fong term

Across Sky, we've chosen to focus on supporting young peopfe
We believe passionately that businesses need to step up and
work alongside schools and coileges to help prepare young
people for a successful future Given the power of our brand
1Its an area in which we believe we can make a real dfference

Suategic raport

Sky Academy in the UK and Ireland uses the power of TV, sport
and creatnaty to halp young people build skills and expenence
with the aim of reaching one milian young people by 2020

tn the autumn, we opened the newest Sky Academy initiative

Sky Academy Careers Lab based onthe Sky carnpus m west
London This gives 16-19 year olds the chance to take partin
practical workplace challenges in order to learn about careers in
media business and technology Since launchin November 2013
231000 young people have particpated in Sky Academy iitiatives

In Italy, our Sky TG24 for Schools imtiative allows secondary school
students to see behind the scenes and develop a critical analysis
of the news by making ther own TV news programme In the past
12 months, we expanded 1t from 20 classes in Rame to more than
310 classes nationwide

Meanwhile In Germany we helped over S 000 young people dunng
the year through our Sky Foundation This partners chanty projects
to encourage young people particularly those who are disabled or
are from disadvantaged backgrounds, to pursue more active and
healthy ifestyles

People
Of course central to any high-performing orgarusation are hard
working people who share a common set of values and a clear sense
of purpose As we bning together three businesses to create a
new Sky, capable of succeeding acress five termtories, we start
from a position of strength Right across the group we are fortunate
to have a tatented and diverse weorkforce, committed to puling
together to create a better business for all Our success comes
from their willingness to embrace change and to work together
to achieve continual improvemnent Iwould like to thank each and
every one of them for the contribution they have made to our
success in the past 12 months

For more about diversity and our people pages 71-72

Outlook

Nine months after completing the transaction we feel good about
the prospects for the new Sky We are delivening strong levels

of growth across the group as customers respond positively to
our products and services Cur finanaal performance (5 strong
and overall we are well positioned for the substantial growth
oppertunity ahead to the benefit of our customers our people
and our shareholders

Jeremy Darroch
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1-Chelsea FC 2015 Premier League Champrons Sky Sports HD Sky UK
For Sperts HO Sky tala 2 «1taha s Gat Talent, Sky Uno HD Sky ILalia

1 ~Game of Thiones SkyAtant Allterritores 8 « 50 Ways to Kl Your
Mamsy Skyl HO Sky UX § - Mankey Life. Prck TV Sky UX 6 - Newsroom
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Strategs report

Our marketplace

Expanded opportunity for growth

Sky has an addressable market We have a significant headroom

of 98 milhon households across for growth wath

5 countries 65 million
Germany, Austna ltaly UK households in cur markets yet
and Ireland to take pay TV

We are exploiting adjacent market
opportuntties that are opening up as
we extend our leadership in content

There s a significant opportunity
for upsell of additronal products with

21 million

customers each taking an average of

2.6 products

per household

UK

treland

and innovation For example, the UK
transactional home video market 1s worth

£1.5 billion

{BVA)

Germany

Austria

Italy
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Our performance

Strategic report

Financial key performance indicators

Adjusted revenue

- £11,283m

won £10,776m
013 £10,253m

Description

Adjusted revenue includes reverue
from Subscripuon Transactional
Whalesala and Syndicatien
Adverusing and Otherrevenue

Analysis

Adjusted revenue IS a key measure
of how the Group 15 delivering on
its strategy to grow the business
In 2015 revenue grew by 5% with
good growthn both retad and
cemmercial operations

Adjusted EBITDA

= £2,030m

20u £1,848m
23 £1,883m

Cascnplion

Adjusted EBTTDAS a measure of the
profit generated by the business
exchud:ing Deprecabon and Amartisation
costs For the purposes of understanding
the underhying pecformance of the Group
the measure also excludes items that
may distort comparabshity

Analysis

Adpsted EBITDA S a key measurg of
profitabity In 2015 adjusted EBITDA
ncreased by 10% on the previoyus year
83 Group revenue ncreased by 5%
whilst EBIT increased by 18%

»: £1,400mM

so1e £ 1,1 85m
0 £ 1,279 m

Adjusted operating profit

Description

Acjysted operating prafit 15 a maasure
of the profit generated by the business
From s revenues and excludes tems
that may distost comparabibity from
year toyear

Analyss

Adjusted operaung profit 15 a key measure
of the underlying business performance

In 2015 Adjusted opevaung profitincreased
by 18% on the previous year as the Group
detrvered strong revenue growth whelst,
controlling costs in the business

Adjusted EPS

= 50.0pP

00 571P
2 58 Op

Description

Adjusted basic EPS & the profit, after
tax far the yeor exchuding adjusting
items and related tax effects drnded
by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares

Analysis

Adjusted basic EPS provides a measure
of shareholder resum thaz s comparable
over bme Adjusted EPS was lower year
on year due to the difutrve /mpact

of the share ptacing last July 1o fund

the acquisitians of Sky Dautschland

ang Sky ltala

1-year CAGR

Total shareholder return

5-year CAGR

Descripion

Total sharehokder return (TSR represents
the change n vale of ashare held for &

12 month period to 30 June assuming
hatdradends are renvested to purchasa
additional shares At the close price
apphcable on the ex dvdend date
Thevahie of the share 13 based on the
average share pnce over the three months
pror to 30 fune

Analysis

TSR represants a comparable measure of
shareholder return over time Skoy shares
outperfarmed the FTSE 100 index Sky s TSR
was 0% whulst the FTSE 100 was O%in the
yearta June 2015

We have presented Lhe results on an adjusted ike for ke basis for the full 12-rronith penod 1o 30 June 2015 down to operatng profit. Comparatsve figures are translated at a constant

turrency of €131 E3

For a reconoliaton of statutory to adjusted measures page 144

Sky P

1]

SJURUIDIELS FOURUIS FIUBLINOD) woduxEness

HONSULONI S OYIRYS



Annual Reapart 2015

Qur performance

{contnued)

Operational key performance indicators

«21.0m

201 20 0M
20219 4m

Retail customers

Descniption

A customer s defined as asubscnberto
one of our TV packages or standatone
heme commumications services

Analysis

Akey element of our strategy 1s 1o
CoNUNUR adding New Customers

1n 2015 we added a total of 1 O milhon
new customrers 45% more than the
oot year with record growth in
Gemmany and the highest orgamic
growth w the UK for 11 years

Total products

s D3.8M

ou 49 2mM
on 44 5m

Dascription

Tota) progucts 15 defined as the total of
afl pand-for subscnption products taken
by our customers across the Sky group
In the UK and Irefand this nciudes TV
HO Multiscreen Sky Go Extra Broadband
Telephony and Line Rental inltaly this
indudes TV Multvision Sky Online and
paying HD tn Germany and Austna this
ndudes TV Second Smartcard Premium
HD and Sky Ontine

Aratysis

Akey element of our strategy s to
&NCOUrage Néw customers o take multple
preducts when pining and to sell more
products to existing customars In 2015
we addled 4 6 milon products taking sur
total subscnption products to almost

54 mibon

Churn

UK & Ireland

Germany & Austra

Italy

Des¢nption

Churn represents the number of

total customers dunng the yedr who
temunated their subscnptions net

of former customers who renstated
ther subscnption (within 12 months of
remunating their ongrnal subscnption)
expressed as a percentage of total
DUEIAZE CUSIOMErs

Anatysis

Churn s a good measure of qustomer
loyalty which s o key drver of value
for aur business in each markst
churn was under 10% whechwas
sigruficantly lower year on year
iustrating high customer loyalty

Seeing the bigger picture

Soclal reach

= 140,100

Our full set of ndependently assured key performance
indicators used to measure our sustamabihity
performance can be found at sky com/biggernpicture

Dascription

Our social reach number represents
the number of young pecple wha have
parbapated v our sooal intiatves
across the Growup

Analysis

In the UX and Ireland we have a targat
1o reach one mation young people by
2020 through Sky Acadermy In 2015 our
cumulatne totals 231000 Forthe First
ume in 2014715 we have Collected data
from our young people itatves in
Gerrnany and ltaly for an overall sociat
reach Thusis made upof 127000 for
Sky Academy in the UX and Ireland

§ 200 for Sky Foundatuord in Germany
and 7900 for our rwtiatves n (taly
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Stratepc report

Content

Programming mvestment

- £4,8806mM

Oescnption

Content Investment «5 the ameunt spent
every year banging the very best content te
our qustomers. This indudes vestmentin
Sky channels, such as Sky 1in the UK and
Iretand and Sky Uno in italy (talse ncludes
Irsestment in partngr channels such as the
Discovery Channel or National Geographic.
Tha amount spent on content wal ndude the
cost af acquinng the Nghtsto programmes.
rnade by others, of COMMISSIONNE onginal
programmes oursehves.

e £4,662mM poaiss
W grow Our content mvesuTent, every year to
chifferentiate our proposation and to gve our
Ll £4'339m astmers more of the TV they want towatch
Recently we've ncreased our nvestment in
secunng nghts tonon TV products suchas
Sky Go Sky Go Extra or Sky Dnhne

Programming spend
as % of revenue

ws 43%

204 43%
20 42%

investment in content broadly grows
mhne with the rate of revenue growth
over the medum term

Any

Holding growth in other operating costs
below the rate of revenue growth frees
UD CARACLY IO INVESL AN INCreasing
proportion of nevenues in the content
that matters most (o customers

Innovation

r Descnpuon
Sky Go customers Sky Go customers are those that have
registered touse our mobde TV service

2510.0mM e

Innevation across muttple technologes
enables the Group to expand INto new
areas develop ngw revenus streams and
benefit from adjacent sectors In 2015
two rabon more customers registered
for Sky Go across all of our markets

2 80mM
o 7 0m

Connected customers

0 9.0mMm

04 6 8M
20 3 3M

Descripton

Aconnected customer s one that
has cannected thew Sky box to the
internet and therefore has access
£6 Sky 8 on demand senvaces such
as Catch Up TV and box sets

Analysis

1n2015 we connected 2 further two
midhon customers acoss the Group
Connected customers have access
to awider range of contert and
generatly they wilwatch more pay
TV content, churn less and use more:
of our transacucnal servces

Carbon intensity

= 11.42 tCO e/ m'

1 Independently assured by Delmt e LLP
2 Sky Foundaton is a separate legal enuty its Board is answerable
to Lhe respective regulatory authontes in Germany

Description

Carbon mtensity defined as tonnes of
€0, equrvalent (tCO.e) emussions relatve
to revenue, I1s one of the key performance
ndiCAtors we use ko measura our
emaronmental performance Our total
gross CO,e ermssions inchude all direct
Greenhouse Gas emissions across all

af our temitonies and are 128 913 tCOe
for 201415

Analysis

1n 201415 our carbon intensity s 1n line
with that reported In previous years.
noung that in 2044/15 we have reported
across all our teratones We are working
on aset of Group emvwonment targets
for 200516

For CO,e/Emiermtory breakdown and
progress aganst our ¢mMrssion targets
pages 71-72
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1 - The Biackuist, Sky Liveng HD SkyUX 2 - The Affair Sky Azantic KD Sky UK

3 - The Avengers Sky Movies HD All terntones # = fessia Ennts HIl, Sky Acadermy
Ambassador Sky UK 5 - England v Auvstraha 2014 Autumn Intemationals

Rugby Union Sky Sports HD Sky UK 6= Gomorrah Sky Atlanue HD AS ternitones
7 - Out prople B - Mayweathervs Pacquiao Bosing, Sky Sports Box Office Sky X
Shy Select Sky Deutsehiand
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Strategic report

UK & Ireland

Customers MNet customer growth
12.0m +506k
Products Net product growth

380m  +3.3m

Sky delivered an exceptional year's
performance in the UK and Ireland as
mvestments in content and connected
services delivered growth across all
areas of the business

Qur strategy of segmenting the market using the comptementary
Sky and NOW TV brands helped achieve the highest organic
customer grewth in 11 years with 506 000 net new customer
additons over the year This was almast 50% maore than the prior
year and took our customer base past the 12-millon milestone

AL the same ume we added 3 3 midhion new paid-for subscnption
products taking us past 38 milllon products This reflects strong
demand across the board with accelerated growth inboth TV
and breadband

Increased customer satisfaction resulting from the growth of
connected TV services delvered a 110 basis-point reduction in
12-month ralling churn 10 9 8% our best performance in 1t years

1 -Alax Cravwford Sky Mews HD Sky UK 2 - Enfueld Haunting, Sy Livang HO Sky UK

3 = Lewas Hamidtan winnng at Abu Dhabs to become 2074 Formula One Wiorkd Chaenpron,

Sky Sports Fi Sky UK, Sky Sport FI HO Sky Deutschiand and Skyitaha 4 - Parkintan Masterclass
Sley Arts HD Sky UK S - England vs Canada Women s Rugby World Cup Fnal 2004 Sky Sports, Sky WK
6 - 2014 fyder Cup Scy Sports Ryder Cup Sky UK Sky Sport HD Skoy Deutschland and Sky itata
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Content

Much of our success in 2015 can be attnbuted (o an outstanding
year on screen We increased the quahty and range of programming
across our portfolio making partcular progress in our strategy
toincrease the volume and guatity of our home-grown cantent

In entertainment, we launched Fortrtude in January our first onginal
drama to premier simultaneously across all of our terntories
Reachung a total audience of 3 7 million in the UK across the senes

1t was Sky Atlantic s most successful onginal drama to date and

the second most successful show ever to air on the channel

Elsewhere in the portfolio we launched a new Sky Arts an demand
service as part of a majer refresh of our arts offering With over
1,000 hours of dedicated arts programming including programmes
comrmissioned and acquired exclusively for on demand the

new service underlines Sky s long-term commitment to the

arts Sky Artswill also benefit from new programming produced

in a new Arts Production Hub ta be based in Milan

Qur partnerships with some of the world’s leading content
producers continue to pay dvidends The fifth senes of HBO
hit Game of Thrones was avallable to view by Sky and NOW TV
customers at the same time as the US, with the finale achieving

—— -arecord audience of 31 million This makes it the most-watched-... —

Sky entertanment programime ever in Sky homes

In movies the strength of the partnerships we enjoy with the major
Hollywood studios helped us continue to improve the offenng for
customers Overall consumption of movies was up 10% on the prior
year fuelled by the continued success of our on demand offering
On demand downloads surpassed 500 mition as customers chose
from a hibrary of more than 1,000 movies

Stratagic report

In sport we had a strong year on screen achieving record
performances across a range of different sports Forthe second
season running. Sky showed 49 of the top 50 most watched Premier
League matches An exciung end to the F1 season delivered live —
race audiences up 20% year on year - a record season for Fion

Sky Sports Meanwhite the World Darts Championship attracted a
peak audience of 17 midlion for the final in January the biggest-ever
audsence for darts on Sky

Additionally we secured a number of key nghts dealsn the year
to ensure Sky Sports remains the number one choice for sports
fans This included a significant win in the Premier League s tender
process In February giving us the rights to 126 live Premier League
matches a season from 2016/17 to 201819 This is three times as
many Iive matches as any other broadcaster including the best
match picks and the most-watched slots in the schedule
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Stratepc report

UK & lreland

{conunued)

Inngvation

One of our pricnties for 2015 was to use our leadership ninnovation
to step change the viewing expertence for customers and make 1
even easier for them to access our content however and whenever
they want it

in the home we extended our lead as the UK's biggest connected
box platfarm connecting mere than one milhon customers over the
year to take our connected base past seven mulion

With over 60% of all TV households now connected ondemand
usage has continued to grow as customers embrace the greater

-choice and Flexibility it offers Total on demand downloads- -— —
surpassed 15 billion in the year up 60% year on year

Our investment tn Sky Box Sets proved particutarly popular with

the service, delivering viewing equivalent to our fourth most popular
Sky channel in 2015 We've also expanded our on demand library
elsewhere including an increase in our dedicated kids' programming
from 700 to 4 000 episcdes

The growing penetration of connected devices is enabling us to
exploit new revenue opportunities Sky Store Buy & Keep our entry
Into the movie purchase sector, helped dnve a 77% increase in Sky
Store revenues over the year We added new functionality +n 2015
to enable customers to accass their mowvie collection from their
mobile device This means that customers can buy a mowie from
Sky and watch it at home in their sitting room or enjoy it when
they are out and about

This was Just one development that helped us cement our posItion
as Europe’s biggest mobile TV provider The number of Sky Go
registered households in the UK and freland passed sux millon in
the year Meanwhile Sky Go Extra our paid-for mobile service which
offers the ability to watch on more devices and download content
towatch offline became Sky s Fastest-growing product ever

1= Sky Box Sets Sky UK 2 « Now TV Entertainment Pass Sky UK 3 = Sky AdSmart, Sky UK
4 -SkyService app Sky UX 5 - Sky Hubwireless broadband router Sky UK
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Strategic report

2015 also saw us make great progress with our OTT streaming
service NOW Tv, helping us to extend our reach into F

reeview homes Sales of sports passes almost trebled to closeto 15
milkor during the year thanks to a rebrand and the introduction of a
new sports weekly pass

Everything we see tells us that NOW TV customers love the service
more than one-third of NOW TV customers buy more than one
pass every month while the average NOW TV Entertainment pass
customer watches over five hours per week In addition the growth
In NOW TV 15 not cannibalising the Sky customer base vath mare
than S0% of all customers having never considered Sky before
SIgning up

Customer

In a fast-moving market with an ever-greater choice of products and
providers we believe that our capahihity in service delivery gives us
a competitive advantage We have continued to rarse the bar in this
area In 2015

Qur main focus has been on simplifying the customer expenence
Central to this is our Digital First programme whichwe have been
roling out across the UK and Ireland Ounng the course of 2015 we
reduced the numberof inbound calls to our service centres by 11%

as record numbers of customers interacted with us via our service
app through our automated voice service or via the set-top box

At the same ume we dosed the year with our custamar satisfaction
scores at all-time highs This was reflected in the latest Ofcom
survey which showed Sky leading the market on customer
satisfaction, with the fewest complaints across our product set

The capabiity we have developed in service delivery also enables
us to bring new products tomarket quickly and at scale In fanuary
we announced plans to add mob#de voice and data services to

our customer offering In 2016 following the conclusion of a new
partnership with Telefonica UK Building on the strength of the Sky
brand and our leadership ininnovation and customer service we will
launch a range of exaiting mew services that will enable us to exploit
new opportunities for growth

Our customer-led approach means we take our responsibilities
senously For example, this year we took an important next step
to protect our customers online with adjustments to our award-
winning onhne filtering tool Sky Breadband Shield We now make
sure the default setting 1s on’ uniess customers choase otherwise
We ve contacted every one of our broadband customers to explain
the benefits and to highlight ther options

Skyplc 21

QUIDIEIS [BrLeUy WUBWMOS uoda xBnens

UOUEUUOJU JSPIOYAIRYS




Annual Report 2015

Strategicreport

Germany & Austria

Customers Net customer growth
4.3m +467k
Products Met product growth

/71m +969k

Sky achieved an excellent year of growth in
Germany and Austna, attracting more new
customers than in any year since launch
thanks to nsing demand for our products
and services

Qver the 12-month penod we added 467000 customers to take
the base past four milion

At the same time, patd-for product growth totalled almost one
rmiltion, more than 50% higher than the previous year thanks to _
strong growth m HD

Coentinued take-up of two-year contracts helped drive churn down
to a record Full-year low of B6% a full 180 basis points lower than
the prior year

1-SLar Wars Episode IV Sky Movies Star wars HD Sky UK Sky Star Wars HD Sky
Ocutschland Sky Cinema Star Wars HD Skylisha 2 - Game of Thrones Talk Sky Atlantic HD
Sky Deutschland 3 -Sky90 Sky Bundeshza HD1 Sky Deutschland 4 - Sky Onhng box 3nd
remote Sky Deutschiand § - Buntiuckigur $ky Foundauon Sky Deutschland

Content

In entertainment we made Important progress towards extending
the range and quality of content on offer to customers in Germany
and Austria with our first move mto onginal content production
Scandinavian crime drama 100 Code a co-production wath Red
Arrow premiered in March attracting a total of 18 mulkon views
across the senes Firming also started on a police enme thriller
senes Babylon Beriin to air in the coming year

In addition 2015 was a big year for acquired content with Sky
customers enjoying mare season premeres than ever before from
some of the world's best content producers This induded the
fifth series of The Walking Dead and the finzal senes of True Blood

Our partnership with HBO delivered the exclusive launch of the fifth
senes of Garme of Threnes on Sky Thrones HD Eurcpes first channel
dedicated to a single senes This seta new record for a show on

Sky in Germany and Austna with 54 milhon views across the senes
Reflecting the growing demand for flexibiity of viewing, Game of
Thrones senes 5 was also the most successful senes to date on

Sky Go

In movies Christmas came early for Sky customers and fans

of Star Wars when Sky Hits was re-branded Sky Star Wars HD

11 Becember, showing all six Star Wars films around theclock
This mare than doubled the viewership versus the pnoryear
with more than three milion people tuning in over the two weeks
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In sport, our Bundeshga coverage delivered a new ratings record i
2015 with more than six million views to the live action over a single
weekend at the end of February We also achievad a new record in
terms of share of viewitng with the Saturday afterncon match on
23 May wanring more than 14% of all TV viewing

Meanwhile we secured a new three-year deal for the exclusve live
breadcasting nghts for all matches nvolving German and Austrian
teams in the UEFA Europa League starting from the 2015/16 season
We also broadened our offering with the nghts to the IHF Handball
World Championship 2015 This brought 28 games exclusively live

to Sky subsenbers including all German and Austnan national

tearn matches

Innovation

Buding on the success of our connected TV strategy in the UK
we started to connect the first German and Austran satellite
customers’ boxes to the internet m December It's early days but
almost 250 D00 set-top boxes had already been connected in the
first six manths to the end of June opening up access to a much
richer entertanment experience for customers

Strategie report

Out of the home we extended our lead as the number one provider
for mobile TV by taunching Sky Go on Androwd devices in December
We also continued to build out the range of content available
including the addition of a brand-new lfestyle section with 100
new programmes each month from partner channels

We extended our reach into the pay ight segment of the market
with the December launch of cur Sky Online service Usinga
streaming box based on the same technology that has been

so popular in the UK, Sky Onling offers customers a choice of
two packages as well as a Supersport Day Tiwcket for those with
either one of these packages This provides customers with a
flexible user-fnendly and affordable way of accessing Skys
premium content

Customer

We have made progress in building our customer service capability
over the year This has been recognised with a number of awards,
including leader in the entertainment sector inthe TOP SERVICE
Deutschland 2015 competition

The impertance we place on giving customers the best expenence
from Sky extends to provding parents with easy-to-use toofs ta
help protect their family from unsuitable content Alongside PIN

—protection we provide a dedicated Kids-Zone on Sky Gowhichis = -
safe and secure
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Strategcreport

ltaly

Customers Net customer growth
4. ; I I I -
Products Net preduct growth

8 6 I l‘ I +3 87 k customers across alt Sky territones inaddition to locally
[ )

commissioned content Itwill also focus on producing pan-European
events to celebrate the arts

Elsewhere our general entertainment channel, Sky Uno built on
Sky n ltaly held its customer base stable its reputation as the exclusve home of mainstream franchises

after three years of negative growth, a great  Thelatest senes of X Factor itatia and MasterChef Italia delvered

a significant increase in ratings of more than 30% and 20%
achievement glven 4 Cha”engmg economic respectively year on year white the successful launch of ftaka s Got

environment Talent made it the top-rated entertanment show debut on the
platForm ever

We ended the year with 4 7 mithon customers while paid-for products  We are monetising our investment i content more broadly through

increased by 387000 to 8 6 mithon thanks 10 good growth in HD the expansion of our free-to-aw offening on Digital Terrestnal

In common with our other markets, we delivered a significant Telewision (DTT) In 2015, we launched news channel Sky TG24

reduction in churm in the year The 12-month rolling churn figure was on free-to-ar joining Ciela our general entertainment channel
96% adechne of more than four percentage points intwo years Asin which grew viewing 10% year on year
~ the UK, fuch of this improvement can be attributed totheTisé inthe™  In sport, we further strengthened our domestc football offering by
connected base and the resultant increase in custamer satisfaction  secunng the exclusive rights to all 472 matches in Serie B football
for the next three seasons We also won the exclusive nghts to the

Content 2016 European Qualifiers and the 2018 World Cup Qualfiers Added
In entertainment, we continued to differentiate ourselves from to our nights for all Sene A matches with one-thurd exclusive and all
the competition m Italy by investing on screen to give customers Europa League matches this confirms Sky Italia as the number one
an ncreasmng range of high quality and distinctve programming chaice for football fans

much of the focus in 2015 went towards bullding the momentum Away from football, we continued to extend the breadth of our
we've established in ongmal production Cnime drama Gomorrah of fering with the exclusve rights to the EuroBasket 2015

was sold to more than 100 countries and we commissioned a second  tournament and the Rugby World Cup in 2015

senes to ar n 2016 Meanwhile political senes 1992 became the On screen motorsports performed particularly strongly MotoGP
second Sky drama after Fortitude to premiere simultaneously across  and Formuta 1grew their ratings by 30% and 24% respectively year
all five territones 1992 achieved the biggest-ever audience for on year In a season th which Italan teams and dnivers regatned their
an onginal scripted series in Italy at launch in the spring competitiveness

Theres more to look forward toin the coming year with the
announcement of The Young Pape, a major new co-production
between Sky HBO and Canal+ Directed by Academy Award-winning
Paolo Sorrenting, the eight-part drama features lude Law in the
starning rote and will launch across all our markets next year

2015 also saw the announcement of plans for a new Sky Arts
Production Hub to be based in Milan Part of a major commitment (o
the arts across the group the Production Hubs will act as a centre of
excellence producing a slate of outstanding arts programrmng for

1= MasterChef Itaha Sky Ung HD Sky(taka 2 - TG24 for schools Sky taka 3 = Jyventus vsRoma Sene A
Sky Sport HD Sky Itala 4 « Sky Calcio Show Sky Sport HD Sky ltaka 3 - My Sky HD box Sky Itaha
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Innovation

We underlined cur position of leadership in innovation in Italy with
a senes of important new launches designed to make it easier
to access and consume content

in the home, we drove a 51% increase in connected boxes to end
the year wath mare than one-third of all customers connected te
the internet This growing penetration of connected devices fuelled
an explosien in on demand usage with total downloads more than
double the previous year

Out of the home registered households to Sky Go increased to
almost half of the base by year-end Sky Go is particularly valued
by sports fans, attracting an average of more than half a milhon
streams at weekends

Woe opened up new headroom for growth in April with the launch
of a new IPTV service in partnership with Telecom Itaka The new
service uses the first Sky PVR to work via satellite and [PTV
streaming to offer our full content hne-up over broadband for
the first time This broadens our reach and gives us access to the
many Italian households who are unable to install a sakelite dish

The partnership with Telecom itaha s a key component te the
broadly-based growth strategy that also saw the launch of a new

Sky Online box in May The new box 15 based on the same technology
as the NOW TV box 1n the UK, and Sky Online box in Germany, and
enables us to tap into a new segment. of the market

Customer

As in our other terrtores we know that our success comes from
a focus on customers and a mindset of embracing change in order
to provide customers with the best-possible expenence from Sky

We sought to strengthen our relationship with [taban customers
by increasing the rewards for loyalty From Apnl we reserved Sky Go
for those customers that have been vath Sky for more than a year
We also sought toincrease customer engagement by upgrading
our customer reward programme with a senes of new imtiatives
and benefits

in order to gwe parents more control over the type of content ther
children watch, we introduced Parental Cantrol Actvated through
a remate device 1tis available tpall Sky customers in {taly

Alongside this, we have continued our focus to improve the quality
and flexibility of our customer service by moving more of our
customer interactions online We reduced our calls per customer
by 12% aver the year with downloads ta our self-service mobile
app surpassing 15 mithon by year-end
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1+ The Blackhst, Sky Lrving HO Sky UK 2= The Affasr Sky Atlantic HD Sky UK

' 2 - The Avengers Sky Movies HD Al taratones 4 - Jessica Encus-Hill Sky Academy
Ambassador Sky UK 5 - England vs Austraba, 2014 Autumn internationals,

Rugby Uruon Sky Sports HD Sky UK § = Gomomah Sky Atlanuc HOr Al terfitones
7 - Our people B - Mayweauher vs Pacquiao Boxing Sky Sports Box Office Sky UK
Sky Select, Sky Deutschiand
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Stratape raport

UK & Ireland

Customers Net customer growth
12.0m +506k
Products Net product growth

38.0m +3.3m

Sky delivered an exceptional year's
performance in the UK and Ireland as
investments in content and connected
services delivered growth across all
areas of the business

Qur strategy of segmenting the market usmg the complementary
Sky and NOW TV brands helped achieve the highest erganic
customer growth in 11 years with 506 000 net new customer
additions over the year This was almost 50% more than the prior

™ year and took our customer base past the 12-milion milestone

At the same time, we added 3 3 milhon new paid-for subscription
products, taking us past 38 millien products This reflects strong
demand across the board with accelerated growth in both TV
and broadband

Increased customer satisfaction resulting from the growth of
connected TV services delivered a 110 basis-point reduction in
12-month roliing churn to 9 B% our best performance in 11 years

1= Alax Crawford Siy News HD Sky UK 2 - Enfreld Haunting Sky Lmng HD Sky UK

3 = Lewts Hamdton wannung at Abu DR [0 become 2014 Formuta One Workd Chamaon

Sky Sports F3 Sky UK Sky Sport F1 HD Sky Deutschiand and Sky fiaha 4 = Parkinson Masterdass
Sky Ares HD Sky UK S - England vs Canada Women s Rugby Workd Cup Final 2074 Sky Sports Sky UK
6 - 2014 Rysder Cupr Sky Sports Ryder Cup Sky UK Sky SportHD Sky Deutschland and Sky itaka
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Content

Much of our success in 2015 can be attributed to an outstanding
year on screen We increased the quahty and range of programming
across our portfolio making particular progress wn our strategy

to increase the volume and quality of our home-grown content

In entertainment we launched Fortitude in January, our first onginal
drama to premter simultaneously across all of our terntenes
Reaching a total audience of 37 million tn the UK across the senes

1t was Sky Atlantic s most successful onginal drama to date and

the sacond most successful show ever to arr on the channel

Elsewhere in the portfolio we launched a new Sky Arts ondemand
senace as part of a major refresh of our arts offening With over
1000 hours of dedicated arts programming including programmes
commissioned and acquired excluswely for ondemand the

new service underlines Sky's long-term commitment to the

arts Sky Arts will also beneFit from new programming produced

n a new Arts Production Hub to be based in Milan

Our partnerships with some of the world s leading content
producers continue to pay dwmdends The fifth series of HBO
hit Game of Thrones was available to view by Sky and NOW TV
customers at the same tme as the US, with the finale achieving

Strategrc report

in spart, we had astrong year on screen achieving recard
performances across arange of different sports Feor the second
season running Sky showed 49 of the top 50 most watched Premier

arecord audience of, 31 milhon This makes it the most-watched League matches_An exating end tothe Kl season delivered ive

Sky entertainment programme ever in Sky homes

In movies the strength of the partnerships we enjoy with the major
Hollywood studios helped us continug to improve the offering for
customers Overall consumption of movies was up 10% on the prior
year fuelled by the continued success of our on demand offering
On demand downloads surpassed 500 million as customers chose
from a library of more than 1000 movies

race audiences up 20% year on year - a record season for Flon

Sky Sports Meanwhile the World Darts Champicnship attracted a
peak audience of 17 million for the final in January, the biggest-ever
audience for darts on Sky

Additionally we secured a number of key rrights deals in the year
to ensure Sky Sports remains the number one choice for sports
fans Thisincluded a significant winn the Premier League’s tender
process in February gving us the nghts to 126 Ive Pramier League
matches a season from 2016117 to 2018/19 Thrs s three times as
rmany hive matches as any other broadcaster, including the best
match picks and the most-watched stots 10 the schedule
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Strategic report

UK & Ireland

{contuinued)

Innovation

One of our prienties for 2015 was to use our leadership in Innovation
to step change the viewing experence for customers and make it
even easier for them to acgess our content however and whenever
theywantit

Inthe home, we extended our tead as the UKs biggest connected
box platform connecting more than one rmillion customers over the
year to take our connected base past seven million

with over 60% of all TV households now connected on demand
usage has conuinued to grow as customers embrace the greater
choice and Rexitality it offers Total on demand downloads

surpassed 15 bilkon in the year up 60% year on year

Our investment 1n Sky Box Sets proved particularly popular with

the service delivering viewing equivalent to our lourth most popular
Sky channel in 2015 We ve also expanded cur on demand hibrary
elsewhere, including an increase in our dedicated kids' programming
fraom 700 to 4 000 episodes

The growing penetration of connected devices 1s enabling us to
exploit new revenue opportunities Sky Store Buy & Keep our entry
nto the mowvie purchase sector helped drive a 77% increase in Sky
Store revenues over the year We added new functionality 1n 2015
ta enable customers o access thewr mowvie collection from their
mebile device This means that customers can buy a movie from
Sky and watch it at home in ther sitting room or enjoy it when
they are out and about

This was just cne development that helped us cement cur position
as Euraope s biggest mobile TV provider The number of Sky Go
registered households in the UK and Ireland passed s mullion in
the year Meanwhile Sky Go Extra our paid-for mobile service which
offers the ability to watch on more devices and downlaad content
towatch offline became Sky's fastest-growing product ever

1~ SkyBox Sets Sky UX 2 - Now TV Entertainment Pass Sky UK 3 = Sky AdSmart Say UK
4 = Sky Sennce app Sky UK 5 = Sky Hub wireless broadband routes Sky UK
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Hooa WENeNS

2075 also saw us make great progress with our OTT streaming
service NOW TV helping us to extend our reach into Freeview
homes Sales of sports passes almost trebled to close to 15 mithon
duning the year thanks Lo a rebrand and the introduction of a new
sports weekly pass

Everything we see tells us that NOW TV customers love the service
more than one-third of NOW TV customers buy more than one
pass every month while the average NOW TV Entertainment pass
customer watches over five hours per week In addition the growth
in NOW TV 18 not canmibalising the Sky customer base with more
than 90% of all customers having never considered Sky before .
SIgNINZUp

a

Customer

In a fast-maoving market with an ever-greater chaice of products and
providers we believe that our capability in service dehivery gives us
a compebitive advantage We have continued to raise the bar in this
arean 2015

QOur main focus has been on simplifying the customer expenence
Centra! to this 1s our Dngital First programme which we have been
rolhing out across the UX and Ireland During the course of 2015, we
reduced the number of Inbound calls to our service centres by 1%

as record numbers of customers ntéracted vinth'Uis Wia’our service™ -~
app through our automated voice service or via the set-top box

AL the sarme time we closed the year with our customer satisfaction
scores at all-time highs This was reflected in the latest Ofcomn

survey which showed Sky leading the market on customer I
satisfaction with the fewest complaints across our product set

SALIIEYE [POUBUIY

The capability we have developed in service delivery also enables

us to bring new products to market quickly and at scale In January
we announced plans to add mobilevoice and data services to

our customer offering in 2016 folowing the conclusion of a new
partnership with Telefonica UK Bulding on the strength of the Sky
brand and our leadership in innovation and customer service we will
launch a range of exating new senvces that will enable us to explait
new opportunities For growth

Our customer-led approach means we take our responsibilities
senously For example this year, we tock animportant next step

to protect our customers online with adjustments to our award-
winning online filtering tool, Sky Broadband Shield We now make
sure the default setung 1s on unless customers choose otherwise
we've contacted every one of our broadband customers to explain
the benefits and to highlight ther options

UONEULUOJUNIIPIOYARYS
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Germany & Austria

Customers Net customer growth
4.3m +467k
Products Net product growth

7im +969k

Sky achieved an excellent year of growth in
Germany and Austna, attracting more new
customers than in any year since launch
thanks to nising demand for our products
and services

Ovar the 12-month period we added 467000 customers to take
the base past four milhon

At the same time, paid-for product growth totalled almost one
_million, more than S0% higher than the previous year.thanks to

Content

In entertainment, we made important progress towards extending
the range and quality of content on offer to customers in Germany
and Austria with our first move into onginal content production
Scandinavian crime drama 100 Code a co-production with Red
Arrow prermiered in March, attracting a total of 18 milion views
across the series Filming also started on a police crnime thaller
senes Babylon Berlin to arr in the coming year

In addition 2015 was a big year for acquired content with Sky
customers enjoying mone season premieres than ever before from
some of the world's best content producers This induded the
fifth senes of The Walking Dead and the final senes of True Blood

Qur partnership with HBO dalivered the exclusive launch of the fifth
senes of Game of Thrones on Sky Thrones HD Europes first channel
dedicated to a single senes This set a new record for a show on

Sky in Germany and Austna with 5 4 millon views across the series
Reflecting the growtng demand for flexibility of viewing, Geme of
Thrones senes 5was also the most successful senes to date on

Sky Go

In mowies Christmas came early for Sky customers and fans
of Star Wars when Sky Hits was re-branded Sky StarWars HD
in December, showing all six Star Wars fitms around the clock  _

strong growth in HD

Continued take-up of two-year contracts helped dnve churn down
to a record full-year low of 8 6% a full 180 basis points lower than
the prior year

1~ Star Wars Episode IV Sky Mowies Starwars HD Sky UK Sky Star Wars HD Sky
Deutschland Sky Crema Star Wars HD Ssy Rala 2 - Game of Thrones Talk Sky Atlantc HD
Sky Deutschiand 3 - Sky90 Sky Bundesliga HD1 Sky Deutschiand 4 - Sky Online box and
remot# Sky Deutschiand 8 - Bunticktgut Sky Foundation Sky Deutschland

This more than doubled the viewership versus the prior year
with more than three mullon people tuning in over the two weeks
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Insport our Bundesliga coverage delierad a new ratings record in
2015 with more than six milhon views to the bve aclion over a single
weekend at the end of February We also achieved a new record m
terms of share of viewing with the Saturday afternoon match on
23 May winning more than 14% of all TV viewing

Meanwhile we secured a new three-year dea! for the exclusive live
broadcasting nghts for all matches involving German and Austnan
teams in the UEFA Europa |eague, starting from the 2015116 season
We also broadened our offering with the rights to the IHF Handball
World Championship 2015 This brought 28 games exclusively ive

to Sky subscnbers including all German and Austnian nationat

team matches

Innovation

Bulding on the success of our connected TV strategyin the UK,
we started to connect the first German and Austrnan satellite
customers’ boxes to the internet in December It s early days but
almost 250 000 set-top boxes had already been connected in tha
first six months to the end of June opening up access toa much
ncher entertainment expenence for customers

Straegic report

Out of the home we extended our lead as the number one provider
for mobile TV by launching Sky Go on Android devices 1n Degember
We also continued to build out the range of content avadable,
including the addition of a brand-new lifestyle section with 100
new programmes each month from partner channels

We extended our reachinto the pay hght segment of themarket
with the December launch of our Sky Online senace Using a
streaming box based on the same technology that has been

s0 popularin the UK Sky Online offers customers a choice of
two packages as well as a Superspart Day Ticket for those with
either one of these packages This provides customerswith a
Rexible user-frendly and affordable way of accessing Sky s
premum content

Customer

We have made progress in butlding our customer service capability
over the year This has been recognised with a number of awards,
including leader in the entertainment sector in the TOP SERVICE
Deutschiand 2015 competition

The importance we place on giving customers the best experience
from Sky extends Lo providing parents with easy-to-use tools to
help protect therr Famuly from unsuitabie content Alongside PIN

protection we provide a dedicated Kids Zone on Sky Gowhich is——
safe and secure

Skyple 23

i

SIUMUIRIS |ROuRLS

H0dy ¥8nens

DIIBLIMOG

.

UONeuLIo)UI IBPOUAIRYS




Annual Report 2015

Stratepc report

ltaly

Customers Net customer growth
4.7m
Products Net product growth

38.6m +387k

Sky in Italy held its customer base stable
after three years of negative growth, a great
achievement given a challenging economic
environment

We ended the year with 4 7 milkon customers while paid-for products
increased by 387000 to 8 & millon thanks to good growthin HD

In commen with cur other markets we delivered a significant
reduction in chum in the year The 12-maonth roling churn Figure was
96% adecine of more than four percentage points In twoyears Asin

u
customers acrass all Sky terntories i addition to locally
commussioned content It will also focus on producing pan-European
events to celebrate the arts

Elsewhere our general entertainment channel, Sky Uno, buldt on
1ts reputation as the exclusive home of mamnstream franchises
The latest senes of X Factor ftalio and MasterChef italia delivered

a significant increase in ratings of more than 30% and 20%
cespectively year on year, while the successful launch of Italia s Got
Talent made it the top-rated entertainment show debut on the
platform ever

We are monetising our Investment in content more broadly through
the expansion of our free-to-arr offering on Digital Terrestrial
Television (DTT) In 2015 we launched news channel Sky TG24

on free-to-air joining Cielo our general entertainment channel
which grew viewing 10% year onyear

connected base and the resultant increase in customer satisfaction

Content

In entertainment, we continued to differentiate oursetves from
the competition in ltaly by investing on screen to give customers
an increasing range of high quality and distinctive programrming

Much of the focus in 2015 went towards building the momentum
weave establhshed in onginal production Crime drama Gomorrah
was sold to moare than 100 countries and we commssioned a second
senes to av in 2016 Meanwhile pohitical senes 1992 became the
second Sky drama after Fortitude to premiere simultaneously across
all five terntones 1992 achieved the biggest-ever audience for
anonginal scripted series in ltaly atlaunch in the sprng

’

There's more tolook forward to in the coming year with the
announcement of The Young Pope a major new co-production
between Sky HBO and Canalt Directed by Academy Award-winrung
Paoio Sorrenting, the eight-part drama features Jude Law in the
starnng rele and will launch across all our markets next year

2015 also saw the announcement of plans for a new Sky Arts
Production Hub to be basedin Mdan Part of a major commitment to
the arts across the group, the Production Hub will act as a centre of
excellence producing a slate of outstanding arts programming for

In sportwe Rarther strengthened our domesutic football offering by —

securing the axclusive nghts to all 472 matches in Sere B football
far the next three seasons We alsowon the exclusive nghts to the
2016 European Qualifiers and the 2018 World Cup Qualifiers Added
to our nghits For all Sere A matches, with ane-third exclusive and all
Europa League matches this confirms Sky ltalia as the number one
chosce for football fans

Away from football, we continued to extend the breadth of aur
offering with the exclusive rights to the EuroBasket 2015
tournament and the Rugby World Cup in 2015

Onscreen motorsports performed particularly strongly MotoGP
and Farmuia 1 grew their ratings by 30% and 24% respectively year
onyearin a season In which [tahan teams and drivers regamned therr
competitivenass

1=MasterChef [taha Sky Uno HD Sky ttaha 2 - TG24 for schools Sky itaa 3 - fuventusvaRoma Sene A
Sky Sport HD Sky Rtaka 4 - Sky Calco Show Sky Sport HD Sky iaia 5 =My Sky HD box Sky itaha
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Innovation

we underlined our position of leadership in innovation in italy with
a senes of iImportant new launches designed to make it easier
to access and consume content

In the home, we drove a 51% Increase In connected boxes to end
the year with more than one-thurd of all customers connected to
the internet This growng penetration of connected dewices fuelled
an explosian in on demand usage with total downloads more than
double the previous year

Out of the home registered households to Sky Ge increased to
almost half of the base by year-end Sky Go s particularly valued
by sports fans attracting an average of more than half a milion
streams at weekends

We opened up new headroom For growth 1n Apniwith the [aunch
of anew IPTV service i partnership wath Telecom Itaha The new
service uses the first Sky PVR to work via satellite and IPTV
streaming to offer our full content ine-up over broadband for
the first ime This broadens our reach and grves us access to the
many ltalian households who are unable to install a satellite dish

The partnership wath Telecom Itaba 1s a key component to the
broadly-based growth strategy that also saw the launch of a new

Skv Onhine boX In May The new box (5 based on the same techinology
as the NOW TV box i the UK and Sky Online box in Germany and
enables us to tap into a new segment of the market

Customer

Asin gur other ternitores, we know that our success comes from
a focus on customers and a mindset of embracing change in order
to provide customers with the best-possible experience from Sky

We sought to strangthen our relationship with Italian customers

by increasing the rewards for loyalty From April we reserved Sky Go
for those customers that have beenwith Sky for more than a year
We also sought to Increase customer engagement by upgrading
aur customer reward programme with a senes of new initiatives
and benefits

In order to gwe parents more control over the type of content therr
children watch we introduced Parental Control Activated through
aremote device, It 15 avanlable to all Sky customers in [taly

Alongside this we have continued our focus to improve the quality
and flexibility of our customer service by moving more of our
customer interactions online We reduced our calls percustomer
by 12% over the year with downloads to our self-service mobile

app surpassing 1 5 million by year-end

Skypk 25
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1= New England Patrots 2015 NFL champeors
Super Bowl Sky Sports HD Sky UK 2 « True Detectve
Sky Atlintg HD ADternitones 3 - Sky Fraueniauf
Sky Foundavon Sky Deutschand 4 - Sky Go

All terntones 5 = Stand Up Be Counted,

Eection 2015 Sky News tatne Sky U

§ - Serena Wilams IS Open 2014 champon
Sicy Sports HD Sy UK 7 - Sky Spores Living for
Sport Awards Sky Academy Sky UK B - Shy Ride
Sky UK 9 = Sky Academy Sialls Shucios Sky Uk
10 « A Leagus of Their Cwn Sky FHD Sky LK
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Financial review

We achieved an excellent year of growth
across the group Our investments in

the viewing experience attracted record
numbers of customers to jomn Sky and drove
loyalty among existing customers Lo new
highs with churn under 10% 1in each market
This operational performance translated
into strong revenue growth and, alongside
our good cost control, this resulted in an
18% increase In operating profit and over

£1 bilion of operating free cash flow We also
propose a further 3%increase inthe dividend

Andrew Griffith, Group Chief Financial Officer

Adjusted operating profit Adjusted basic EPS
£14bn  56.0p
Dividend

32.8p

Group Financial performance

To provide a more representative analysis of ongowng performance
of the Group all commentary down to the operating profit

level for the Group 1S on an adjusted basis as if we had owned
Germany and ltaly for the full year from 1 July The financial results
of Germany and ltaly are translated into sterlng at a constant
currency rate of €131 £1

Unless otherwise stated adjusted figures below are from
continuing operauons and on a recurring basis excluding 1)

the impact of Sky Bet as this s presented as a discontinued
operation, it) set-top-box sales to ltaly which are now an intragroup
transaction, and w) ESPN carnage revenue in the UK and trefand
from FY14 comparatives as we ne longer retall the channet

Numbers below the operating profit ine for the Group consolidate
Germany and [taly only for the actual period of ownership from
12 Novermnber and are on an adjusted basts

Qur statutory financial repor ting consohdates Germany and italy
for the period from 12 November 2014 to 30 June 2015 Dunng this
penod Itaty contnbuted revenue of £1 297 milhon and operating
profit of £25 million while Germanycontributed revenue of

£866 millian and an operating loss of £21 million

8 Skypk
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Revenue

We achieved excellent growth in Group revenues which were up

5% to £11,283 million (2014 £10 775 milion) Revenue in Germany
was up 9% to £1,377 milllon (20M4 £1262 million) whilst revenue in
the UK was up 6% to £7820 million (2014 £7 368 milhon) Revenues
inltaly remained resilient at £2,088 midlion (2014 £2140 muilion)
despite the tough economic backdrop

We have delivered strong rates of growth across all of our main
revenue streams with good consumer demand for our products
and services helping drive subscription revenue up 5% whilst
transacticnal revenue was our fastest growing area with revenue
up 22% We also achieved good growth in both advertising

(+4%) and wholesale (+5%) revenues highlighting the strength

of our ability to monetise content

Subscniption revenue growth of 5% was underpmned by excellent
customer growth across the group of almest one million customers
and strong product growth of 4 6 million with the largest proportion
of revenue growth continuing to be delivered through the UK where
revenues were up over E300 million Alongside this, our best year of
customer growth in Germany drove a 10% increase in subscrption
revenues, whilst in Italy we held total customers and revenue flat

Transactional revenues increased by 22% to £173 milion (2014

Strategx report

We delivered good growth in adverustng revenues of 4% to

€716 midlion (2014 £690 milion) with Germany delvering excetlent
growth of 26% through higher sellout rates and increased inventory
around Bundesliga Advertising revenues in the UK grew strongly up
S% due to the benefit of incremental AdSmart revenues combuned
with Sky Media increasing thesr share of net advertising revenue by
almost 170 basis points, while adveruising revenue was down tn ltaly
as we lapped the €27 milhon benefit of the FIFA World Cup revenues
n Q4 last year

Costs

Total Group costs grew by just 3% well below the rate of revenue
growth, to £9 883 million (2014 £9,591 mitlion) as we maintamned
tight disciphine over our operating cost base while continuing ta
invest where our customers see the greatest value

Programming costs increased 5% inhne with revenue growth as we
increased the depth and breadth of our offering We launched the
exclusve ITV Encore channe! in the UK in June 2014 and expanded
our channel ine-up 1n Germany, as well as having a full-year impact
of the new Sky Atlantic channel in Italy We continue to investn

a diverse content portfolio with an enhanced box set offenng m
the UK and increased nvestment on Sky onginated content, with
successes including Fortitude and 7992 The strong growth In

£142 million) as we benefited from the success of our Buy and
Keep service which surpassed weekly revenue of £1 mihon in Q4
and NOW TV transactions which totalled atmost 15 mithon over
the past 12 months

Our content-related revenues also performed well Wholesale and
syndication revenues were up 5% to £550 million (2014 £524 million)
largely driven by continued growth in the UK where revenues ware
up 19% as success on screen led to more Favourable terms for our
channels with wholesale partners Alongside this, revenues were
strong through the distnbution of our programming internationally
and the First time consohdation of Znak&Jones and Love
Productions In ltaly underlying wholesale revenues were broadly
flat year on year {excluding the benefit in the prior year from
Champions League resale revenues), whilst revenues in Germany
were shightly down following the successfut migration of former
Deutsche Telekom wholesale customers to a retail relationship

In the prior year

Sky Store revenues has driven anmncrease n our transactional
programiming costs

Qur network costs in the UK were up only 3% wel) below the rate
of home communications revenue growth

Sales Generaland Adrministration costs grew by just 1% as the
higher up-front cost of strang subscriber growth in Germany was
offset by efficiencies made across the UK and Rtaly as part of ther
respective operating efficiency programmes
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Financial review

{continued)

Profits and earnings

Qperating profit grew strongly up 18% to £1400 million (2014
£1185 milhor) as we combined excellent revenue growth with
careful chotces within our cost base whilst continuing to invest
nprogrammung This has driven a 140 basis pont expansion in
aur operating margin

The share of joint ventures and associates profits was £28 million
(2074 £35 milhon) and net finance costs increased by £91 milhon
to E200 mulion (2014 £109 million} due to the interest charge
associated with an additional £5 4 bidlion of gross debit that we
1ssued during the year

The tax charge of £251 million (2014 £237 million) was at an
effectve tax rate of 21%

Profit after tax for the year grew by 6% to £945 milon (2014

EB92 million) resulting in adjusted earrings per share of 56 0 pence
(2014 571 pence) after accounting for the higher nitmber of shares
following our Issuance tn July 2014 Over the year the weighted
average number of shares excluding those beld by the Employee
Share Ownership Pian ( ESOP ) for the settlement of employee share
awards was 1690 million {2014 1,562 mlion) The closing number of
shares excluding the ESOP shares at 30 June 2015 was 1 704 milhon
(2014 1546 million)

Group cash flow and financial position

Group free cash flow mcreased year on year by 20% to £1,060 millon

{2014 E885 million) while net debt increased to ES 056 million (2014 *

£1 212 milkon) as a result of the acquisiion of Sky Deutschland and .
Sky italia in November 2014 Gross debt as at 30 June 2015 was

£7.534 million with cash of E2,478 millon The ratio of net debt

to EBITDA at 30 June 2015 was approxamately 2 5 umes Sky has

an investment grade ¢red:t rating being rated BBB by Standard i
& Poors and Baa2 by Moodys both with stable outiook

Adjusting items

Statutory profit for the year includes a gain of over £1 bilhion
relating to a £492 million gain on the disposal of avalable-for-sale
rvestments, a £299 milhon gain on the disposal of our stake in
the National Geographic Channel, and a profit of £600 milion on
the sale of a controlling stake 1in Sky Bet This was partially offset
by operating expenses of £396 milhon prinapally comprising the
costs of a corporate effictency and restructuring programme
the costs of a programme to replace aged customer equipment,
advisory and transaction fees incurred on the purchase of

Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia costs of integrating those
businesses in the enlarged Group and the cngoing amortisation
of acquired intangible assets

Statutory profit after tax was £1332 million (2074 E£820 million)

Following the sale of a controlhng stake in Sky Bet on 12 March 2015
the results of Sky Bet are now presented as a discontinued operation
The sale resulted in a profit on disposal of £600 miflon which s
ncluded within profit for the year from discontinued operations

For & reconcliaton of statutary 10 adjusted numbers page 144

Non-
Cash cash
mowve- move-  Asat30
As at 1y ments ments June 2015
2014 Em £m £m Em
Current borrowings n - 483 494
Non-current borrowings 2658 5082 (322 7418
Barrowings-rélated dervative
financialinstruments [¢lo)] - {298) (378)
Gross debt 2589 5082 {137) 7534
Cash and cash equivalents (1082) (298) - (1378) !
Shart-term deposits (295) (BO5) - {1100)
Net debt 1212 3981 {1379 5 056
Balance Sheat
Dunng the year total assets increased by £68909 million to
£15 358 mullion at 30 June 2015 Non-current assets mncreased -
by £6 923 nullion to £10799 milhon prirnarily due to an increase
of £3,141 muilion in goodwll and an increase of £3 274 mithon tn
intangtble assets largely as a result of the recognition of goodwill
and customer contracts and relationships recognised on the

acquisition of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalia Current assets
increased by £1,986 milllon to £4 559 milhon at 30 June 2015 !
principally due to a £805 millon increase in shart-term deposits
a £461 millon increase in current trade and other recevables
and a £301 million Increase in Inventones Current inventones
and trade andd other recewables have increased manly due to
the impact of the consalidation of the inventories and trade
and other recevables of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala

Total habiities increased by £6 757 million to £12134 million at

30 June 2015 Current iabilties increased by £1,685 milion to

£4 204 million, primanly due to a £1144 million increase in trade
and other payables due to the impact of the cansolidation of the
trade and other payables of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalia and a
E483 millton increase in current borrowings Nen-current iabihties
increased by £5 072 null:on to £7930 muhon, pnnapally due to

a £4 760 milion increase n the Group s non-current barrowings
Current and non-current basrrowings have increased as a result

of the issue of eurs dollar and sterling bonds in the year
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Distributions to Shareholders

The Directors' proposed final dvidend of 20 5 pence per share
takes the total dwidend payable in respect of the financial year
to 32 8 pence per share, an increase of 3% on last year

The proposed dividend continues the track record of shareholders
benefiting from our strong financial performance and represents
the Tith consecutive year-on-year increase in the dividend

The ex-dividend date will be 22 Octaber 2015 and, subject

to shareholder approval at the 2015 Annual General Meeting,
the final dvidend of 20 5 pence will be patd on 20 November
2015 to shareholders appearing on the register at the close
of business on 23 October 2015

Post balance sheet events

Purchase of minornty interests in Sky Deutschland

As announced on 17 February 2015 Sky nitiated the necessary
steps for the transfer of the remaining approximately 4% minornity
sharehaldings in Sky Deutschland The requisite shareholder
resolution was subsequently approved by 69 4% of shareholders
at an Extraocrdinary General Meeting of Sky Deutschland on

22 July 2015 and we expect the formal transfer of the minority
shareholdings to be effective in the second quarter of the 2015116

Stratepc report

financtal year
Far more detall seenate 33 page 130
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Group risk register 1s reported lormally to the Audit Commuttee twice
avyear and focused risk reporting on selected themes ocours on a guarterly
basis Adciuonal informatian on the Group s internal contrgl and risk
management processes is set out in the Corporate Governance Report
and the Audit Commmttee Report

For Corparate Governance report pages 40-50

Detailed controts and any relevant acton plans are prepared for the Audit
Commuttee as part of the formal half-yearly reporting process Additicnally
we have established a procedure to monitor nisks and any changes thereto
across the Group Any relevant infarmation arising from such monitering 1s
alsa repocted Lo the Audic Commutiee

This secuon describes the current principal risks and urkertasnties faong
the Group In addibion o summansing the matenal nsks and uncertanties
the table below gives examples of how we mitigate those risks

The Group has a formal nsk management framewark embedded within the

business to support the identification and effectve management of nisk
across the Group

The dmsions within the Group are each responsible for managmng and
reporung riskin accordance with the Group s nsk management policy and
standards that hawe been approved by the Aucit Commuttee The nsks are
then cansolhdated into a Group nsk register which provides an averview of
the Group risk profite talong into account the broader geographieal spread

and targer scale of the Group foliowing the acquisitions of Sky Deutschtand
and Sky Italia

Desenpuion of nsk

M bigation

Market and competition

The Group operates in a highly competitive environment and faces
competition from a broad range of orgamsations Technalogicat
developments also have the ability to create new forms of quickly
evohang competibion

A failure to develop the Group s product propositon i hne with
changing market dynamics and expectations couls erode the
Groups competitve position

The Group continues to make significant investments M innavation

The Group s product development strategic am s to be at the forefront
of progressiva technology

Please see the Innovation section an page 7 of the Group Chiefl
Executve s Statement For further details of these products

The Group regularly reviews its pnong and packaging structures ta ensure

Gréat confent 15 central to SKy's prodiUet proposiion and mcreased
competition could wmpact the Group s ability to acquire content that
our customers want on commercially attractive terms

Economic conditions hava been challanging in recent years across
the territanes in which the Group cperates and the future remans
uncertain Asgruficant economic dechine in any of those temitones
could impact the Group s ability to continue to attract and retain
customers in that terntory

that ts product proposition (s appropriately placed withun themacket..

The Group works closely with its marketing partners 10 ensure that the
value of its offering 15 understood and communicated effectively toits
customers

The Group makes significant investmentin the origination of content
as well as in acquisituon from across the world

The Group also works to develop and maintain the brand value assoaiated
with its iIndmdual channels
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Description of nsk

Mitrgabion

Regulatory breach and change

The Group is subject to regulation prnimanily under Austrian German
leish Itahian UX and European Union legislation

The regimes which apply to the Group s business include but are not
kmited to

» Broadcasting - as a provider of audiovisual media services the Group
15 subject to Austnan German Itahan and UK hcensing regimes under
the applicabie broadcasting and communications legrsiation These
obligabions include requirements to comply with relevant codes and
directions 1ssued by the reevant regulatory authontes includ:ng
for example inthe UK Ofcom s Broadcasting Code Code on the
Schedutng of Television Advertising and Cross Promotions Code

Techrucal services ~ as a provider of certain techmical services
m the UK and Germany Sky UK and Sky Deutschiand are subject
to reguiation in thair respective countnies, and

Telecommunications - Sky UK 1s subject to the General Conditions
of Entitlement adapted under the Communicatons Act 2003 (UK)
and the Conditions for the prawsion of Electronic Communucations
Natwarks z2nd Services under the Communications Regulation Act,
2002 (treland) whuch impose detailed requirements on providers
of communications networks and services

The Group is also subject to generally apphcable legrslation including

The Group's abitity to operate or compete effectively could be adversely
affected by the gutcome of iInvestigations or by the introduction of new
laws policies or regulations changes in the interpretauon or apphcation
of existing laws policies and regulations or failure to obtam required
regulatory approvals or bcences Please see page 36 of the Regulatory
Matters section for Further details

The Group manages these risks through actve engagement in the
regulatory processes that affect the Group s business

The Group actively seeks to identify and meet its regulatory obligations.
and to respond 1o emnerging requirements This indudes for example

« Broadcasting ~ compliarce controls and processes are:n place in the
Group s content services Interaction with the relevant regulatory
authorittes is co-ordinated between the refevant local Compliance
Regulatory and Legal departments

» Techmical services - wath raspect to the provision of certain technical
services in the UK and Germany processes are in place to monitor
third-party broadcaster access to the refevant broadcast platforms
and to ensure that. ths ts praovded on fair reasonable and
non-discriminatory terms

Telecommunications - compliance controls and processes are
place in the UK and treland overseen by the Customer Comphance

butnatipwted.to. campettion (antitrust) anti:bobecy consumer____ Commijter, to maiter compliance and performance aganst the

protection data protection and taxation

The Group 15 currently and may be in the future subject 10 proceedings
andfor investigaton and enquines fram regulatory and antitrust
autharnues

Please see page 36 of the Regulatory Matters section for further detads

General Conditions of Enutlernent and the Canditions for the prowision

of Electrorc Communications Networks and Seraces

The Group mawntains appropnate oversight and repoarting, supported
by training to provide assurance that it 1s compliant with regulatory
requirements

|
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Customer service

A stgruficant part of the Groups business 15 based on a subscription
model and its future success relies on buillding long-term relationships
withits customers A failure tomeet its customers expectations with
regards to service could negatvely impact the Group s brand and
competitive position

The Group strives consistently to exceed its customers expectabions
1o put its customers first to understand what they want and Lo be
responsive to what they say

The Group makes sigrificant mvestments in order to deliver continuous
development and improvement to L5 customer service capabiiies
ncluding investment 10 1t contact centres across the UK and Ireland
nsourcng of service centres in Germany and implementing oNgong
traning and development plans

The Group tracks its customer service performance benchmarks
Its customer service expenence and strives to be best in class

Technology and business ntermupuon

The products and services that the Group prowdes to its customers
arq rehant on complex techrucal infragtructure

A fasture in the operation of the Group s key systems orinfrastructure
such as the broadcast platformn customer management systems

OTT platforms or the telecommunicauons networks anwhich the Group
relies could cause a failure of serice to our customers and negatwely
impact our brand

The Group makes sigmifcant imvestment in technology infrastructure
Lo ensure that H continueas to support the growth of the business and
has a robust selection and monstenng process of third-party prowiders

The Group 1s commutted to achueve best-in-class busmness continulty
standards and makes significant investments in the resiience and
robustness of 1ts business infrastructure

The Group atso organises regular scenano based group-wide business
continwty exercises to ensure cngoing readiness of key staff systems
and sites

Sy plc
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Stratepc report

Principal nisks and uncertainties

(contimsed)

Descnpoon of nsk

Mitigation

Supply chamn

The Group relies on a number of third parties and outsourced suppliers
operating across the globe to suppeort its supply chain

A significant faiture wathin the supply cham could adversely affect
the Group s ability to deliver products and service to Its cusiomers

The Group continues o swest in ks sugply chain infrastnscture to
support its business plan commtments

A robust suppher selection process s inplace with appropnate
ongoing management and monioring of key partners and supphiers

The Group performs regular audits of key suppiters and of therr
installations and wherever possible has dual supply capabiiity

Financal

The effective management of its financial exposures 15 central to
presenving the Groups profitabibity

The Group 15 exposed to financial market nsks and may be impacted
negatvely by fluctuauons in foreign exchange and interest rates which
create volatility mn the Group s results to the extent that they are not
effecuvely hedged

Any increase In the financial teverage of the Group may bt the
Group s Financial fiexibiity

The Group may also be affected adversely by hquidity and
counterparty nsks

The Group s finance teams ara embedded withun the business te provide
support to management and to ensure accurate financial reporung and
tracking of our business performance Reporting on financal performance
15 provided on a moenthly basis to semor management and the Board

The Group conunually invests m the improvernent of 1its systems and
pracesses in order Lo ensure scund finanaal management and reporting

The Group manages traasury nsk by minimusing risk to capital and
providing appropriate protection against foreign exchange and interest
rate mavemnents

Cash investment s made i inewath the Group s strict treasury policy
which is approved by the Audit Committee and sets hmits on deposits
based on counterparty credit ratings No more than 10% of cash deposits
are heldwith a single bank counterparty with the excepuon of overmight
depasits which are invested i a spread of AAAT rated hquidity funds

All non-sterling cebt 15 swapped at mception to ensure appropriate
currency and interest rate protection 15 in place and rading currency
nsk)s hedged up to fiva years in advance

The Group manages its tax nsk by ensuring that nsks are identfied and
understood at an early stage and that effective compliance and reportng
processes are un place

The Group continues to mamtain an open and proacuve relauonship
with the regulating tax authonues pnmardy HM Revenue & Customs
The Group aims to deal with taxaton issues wherever possible as they
anse in order to avold unnecessary disputes

Security

The Group must protect its customer and corporate data and the
safety of its people and infrastructure as well as needing to have
1n place fravd prevention and detection measures

The Group Is responsible to third-party intellectual property owners
for the secunty of the content that it distributes on vanous platforms
(Sky s own and thard-party platforms)

Asignificant breach of sacurity could impact the Groups abiliLy
to operate and deliver against its business objectives

The Group takes measures ranging from physical and logical access
controls to encryption or equnvalent technologies raising cmployee
awareness and manitonng of key partnors to manage its security nsks

The Group continues to tnvest In new technological controls and

1n improving broader bustness process and works closely with law
enforcement agencies and policy makers in order to protect its
assets and to comply with its contractual obligations to third parties
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Descnpon of nsk

Mitigation

Projects

The Group invests in and deliers sigmificant capital expenditure
projects tn order ta continually drive the business forward The (evel
of the Group's capitad expend:ture has increased as a result of the
increased size of the Graup s business following completion of the
acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itala

The fatlure to delver key projects effectvely and efficiently could
resutt in significantly increased project costs and impede our abiity
to execute cur sirategic plans

A common project management methodology 1s used to enable the Group
to manage moniter and control RS major capatal expenditure projects

and strategwx programmes This inchudes detasled reportng and regular
reviews by senior management as wel as cross-functronal executrre
steenng groups for major projects

Trurd-party partners will where appropriate be engaged to provide
support, and experuse 1ngurlarge strategic programmes, complex
initiatrves and for emerging technologes

Intellectual property protection

The Group th comman wath ather servite prowiders, rehes an intellectual
property and other proprietary nghts including in respect of
pregramming content, which may not be adequately protected

under current laws or which may be subject to unauthorised use

We mamtam an ongoing programme o support appropnate protections
of our ntellectual property and other nghts This includes for example
the use of automated online momitoring tocls the implementation of
on-screen mprinting of content together with an active programme

Lo protect aur intellectual property nghts

People

People at Sky are cntical to the Group s abihty to meet the neads
ofits customers and achieve Its goals as a business

Failure Lo attract or retain suitable employees across the business
could bt the Group s ability to delrwver 1ts business plan commitments

Makmng Sky a great place to work s central to the Group' s strategy
The Group chammoens dversity and develops tatent through a number
of actvities including the Graduate programme Development Studio
an apprenticeship scheme and aleadership programme

The Group has well established channels and procedures to recruit and
retamn ts employees and to ensure that an adequate numbar of suitabte
employees work within its customer service teams and across allits

opefations

Further detads on our people 1s set out in the Employees secuon of the
Drrectors Report on pages 71-72
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Strategie report

Below I1s an overview of the ongoing
nvestigations and reviews of regulatory
and competition matters involving

the Group

European Commission tnvestigation

On 13 January 20M the European Commission (the EC) opened a formal
antitrust mvestigation iNto cross-border provision of pay TV services in the
European Wrion The EC 1S examinang certam provisions relating to terntonal
protection In hcance agreements between major US film studios (Twentieth
Century Fox Warner 8ros Sony Pictures NBCUnversat Paramount and
Disney) and key European pay TV broadcasters (Sky UK Canal Plus Sky
Itaha Sky Deutschland and DTS operaung under the Canal Plus brand in
Spatn) On 23 July 2015 the EC adopted a Statement of Objections (50)
settng out its prelkminary finding that there has been annfringement of
EU Competition law involving Sky UK Sky UK 1s responding to the cancerns
in the SO The EC has not yet reached its final views and the Group 13 not yet
able to determine the outcome of the investigation or its financial impact

BT appealed the Pay TV tudgment Lo the Court of Appeal On 17 February
2014 the Court of Appeal allowed BT s appeal finding that Ofcom s decison
contamed a Further compeution concern in relatron to Sky UK s rate

card prices and discounts to those prices and that the CAT should have
considered that concem It therefore remitted thatissue to the CAT

for further consideration While the CAT s finding that Ofcom s core
competition concern was unfounded remains undisturbed the WMD
Obhigations (as modified by the Order as vaned) continue in force pending
the CAT consideration of the further issue remutted to it AS yet there s no
date set for the hearing of the remitted 1ssue

0On 19 December 2014 Ofcom pubhshed a consultation as part of its review
of the WMO Obligations announced i April 2014 Thus document represents
the first phase of Ofcom s review the purpose of which 15 to deade the
extent to which the WMQ Oblgations remasn appropriate or need to be
modified or removed Ofcom 15 consultng on its assessment of whether
absent regulauon providers of channels which carry key sports content
might it distnbution to some pay TV retailers and whether that woutd
undermine competition At the time of the consultation Of¢com s view was
that it mught be appropriate to matntain some form of regulation on Sky UK
n order to ensure fair and effectve competition in pay TV and that it would
be unhkely to be agpropriate to mpose simular regulation on BT Sky UK

has responded Lo the consultation On 27 July 2015 Ofcom pubhished 3
supplementary consulkation which seeks stakeholders wews on the extent
to which an insistence by Sky onreciprocal supply of channels containing
key Sports content, as a concition of Sky s supply of its own key sperts
channels may be a practice which 1s prejucicial to fair and effective
competition The closing date far responses to this supplementary

T However sholld the sutcome be adiverse to Sy UK tRis may have a
significant effect on the financial posiuon or profitability of the Group

Wholesale must-offer obligations

On 31 March 2010 Ofcom published its decision to impose wholesale
must-offer obligations on the Group (the WMO Obligations ) for the
channels Sky Sports 1 Sky Sports 2 Sky Sports 1 HD and Sky Sports 2 HD
(the Affected Channels } The WMO Obligations require Sky UK amongst
other things to offer the Affected Channels on a wholesale basis to third
parties which satisfy vanous minimum qualifying critena

1n April 2010 Sky UK applied to the Competition Appeal Tnbunal (the CAT)
for a suspension of the implementation of the Wm0 Obligations On 29
Aprd 2010 the Group s application was resolved by way of an agreed Order
from the President of the CAT (the Order ) which was subsequently vaned
on 23 November 2010 andd 12 November 2014 The effect of the Order, as
vaned s that pending the outcome of Sky UK s substantve appeal Sky UK
1s required ta offer the Affected Channels to Virgin Meda for distribution
v1a DTT and cable to REAL Digital via DTH and to BT for distnbution via
DTT and BT s Internet Protoco! Telewssion ( IPTV ) platfarms Cardinal

and BT YouView The CAT granted the November 2014 vanation extending
the WMO Obligations to BT's IPTV platforms subject 1o BT gving an
undertaking that it would maintam the self-retaling of its sports channets
(BT Sport 1 BT Sport 2 and ESPN)wia Sky s DTH satelite platform untit the
final determination of the matters remittad to the CAT

On 8 August 2012 the CAT handed down its judgment on Sky UK s appeal
against Ofcom s decision to impose the WMO Obligations (the Pay TV
Judgment ) The CAT found that Ofcom s care compelition concern

s unfounded (Ofcam had found that Sky UK dehberately withheld
wholesale supply of its Premuum Channels) and that accordingty

Sky UK g appeal must be allowed

of its assessment from both consultauens later in 2015 and where
necessary to consult further on any proposed remedies

‘The Group 18 currently unable to determine whether and towhat extent  *
the appeals concermng the WMO Obhgations will be successful norsit
able to determine the outcome of Ofcom s review of the WMO Obligations
it 1s therefore not passible for the Group ta conclide ot the finagbal ¢
impact of the outcome of the appeals or the consultation at this stagey,
However should the outcome of thesa procasses be advarse to the Group
this may have a significant effect an the financial position or profitabiity
of the Group

Ofcom Competition Act Investigation

Following receipt of a complaint from BY on 14 June 2013 Ofcom apened an
investigatton into whether Sky Ui has abused a dominant positian contrary
to Chapter I of the Competiion Act 1998 andjor Articte 102 of the Treaty

on the Furctioning of the EU The complaint alleged that Sky UK was making
wholesale supply of Sky Sports 1 and 2 to 87 for 1ts YouView service
conditional on BT wholesaling BT Sports echannels to Sky UK for retal on
Sky UK s satellite platfarm and that constituted an abuse of dominance

Ofcom s investigation of BTs complaintis sultopen

The Group s currently unable 1o determine the outcorne of Ofcoms.
investigation or its financial impact however shoukd the outcome be
adverse to the Group this may have a ignificant effect on the financiat
position or profitabihtity of the Group

consultationis 21 September 2615 Ofcom plans terset out the condusions—— ——— - —
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Virgin Media complaint to Ofcom concerning the ‘collective’

selling of hve UK television nghts by the Premier League

In September 2014 Ofcom received a complaint from Virgin Media (VM )
aleging that the arrangements for the collective selling of hve UK television
nghts by the Prerier League (PL) for matches played by its member dubs
are n breach of competition law On 18 Navember 2014 Ofcom opened an
investigationunder section 25 of the Campetition Act 1998 inta how the

PL sells hive UK audio-wsual media nghts for PL football matches

Ofcom s investigation 1s contnuing The Group s currently unatile to
determuna whether or towhat extent VM s complamt will be upheld by
Ofcom and it 15 not passible for the Group to conclude on the financial
impact of the outcome at this stage

Competition law tnvestigation into 2014 Senie A auction

In May 2015 the ftalian compebition authority the Autonta Garante
della Concorrenza a del Mercato { AGCM ) opened an investigation
into the outcome of the June 2014 auction for broadcasting nghts

to Sene A footba!l matches for the 2015-2018 seasons Thenvestigation
s considenng whether the itahan football league Lega Naznanate
Professionisti Serie A 1ts advisor Infront (taly S and broadcasters
Skyltalia Srl Reti Televisive ltaliane Sp A and Its subsidiary Mediaset
Premium S p A entered into an anti-competitive agreement in relation
to the award of the rights The AGCM expects its investigation to be
completed by 30 Apnl 2016

The Group Is currently unable to determine the outcome of the AGCM s
mnvestigation or its financialimpact however should the outcome bea

— — assoaated with cuc businessus descnbed therein
adverse to the Group this may have a significant effect on the Financial

pasition or profitabdity of the Group

ategic repor t was approved by the Board and signed an its behalf
oup Chief Executive Officer

Strategx report

Forward loaking statements

This document contams certain forward looking statements with respect
o gur financia! condiion results of operations and business and our
strategy plans and objecuves

These statements mclude without kmitanon those that express forecast,
expectations and projections such as farecasts expectations and
projections with respect to new products and services the potenual for
growth of free-to-air and pay television fixed-line te'ephony broadband
and bandwidth requirements advertising growth DTH and OTT customer
growth Muluscreen On Demand NOW TV Sky Go Sky GoExtra Sky+
Sky+HD Sky Store Sky Online Multivision Second Smartcard mobile and
other services churn revenue profitability and margin growth cash flow
generaton prograrmmmng costs subscnber management and supply chain
¢osts admurustration costs and other costs marketing expenditure caprtal
expenditure programmes and proposals for retuming capital to
shareholders

Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such
forward looking statements are reasonable these statements (and al
other forward looking statements contained in this document) are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to nsks uncertamues
and other factars some of which are beyond our contrel are difficult

to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed or emphed or farecast i the forward looking statements
These factors indude but are not linuted to those nisks that are
tughhghted in this document in the section entitled Principal nsks and
uncertainties and nformattan on the significant risks and uncertanties

Jodu 8a1ens

DUBLLIIADES)

Nopart of these results constitutes or shall be taken to constitute

an invitation or inducement to invest in the Company or any other
entity and must not be relied upon In any way In connecuon with any
nvestment deaision All forward laoking statermnents in this document
are based on information known to us on the date hereof Except as
required by law we undertake no obhgation pubhcly to update of revise
any forward looking statements whether as a result of new nformation
future events or otherwise
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Board of Directors

Key

Aucit Commitiee
Bigrer Pcture Committee

Corporate Governance
& Nominauons Committes

Remunerauon Commitee

Commitkee Chairman

For more about the Board
sy com/corporate

Nick Ferguson, CBE (56

Charman

Appointed Nick was appointed to the
Board as aNon Executive Director in June
2004 and becarnt Cha rmanin Apnl 202
He has previously served as Deputy
Charman and Seruor indeperdent
MNon-Executve Dwector

Sils and experence Nick bangs
extenswve leadership expenence from the
prvate equity and investment sectors
He was co-founder and :nstrumental in
the develapment of Scthroder ventures
{the private equity group which later
became Permira) of whichhe served as
Chawman fram 1984 to 2001 He later
served as Charman of SVG Caprtalple

a pubhc guoted private equity group
from Apnl 2005 to November 2012

He has a kong-standing interestin the
arts and phelanthropy and served as
Charman of the Courtau'd Institute of
Art for 10 years baforeretring 1n July 2012
External Appomntmants Mickos Charrman
of Alta Adwisers Limited an investment
advisory firm & positicn he has held
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Jeremy Darroch (52)

Group Chief Executive Offtcer
Appotnted Jeremy joned Sky as Chef
Financial Offcer and Executrve Director

1 2004 and was apponted to hs current
role in December 2007 In Nowvernber 2014
Jerermy was appointed Chasman of the
Supervsory Board of Sky Deutschiand AG
Suills and expenence Jeremy has
extensye expenence in the retaiting
and fast mowng consumer goods
sectoes Pnor tojoining Sky Jeremy

was Group Finance Director of DSG
International plc, formerty Dixons Group
plc He has also spent 12 years at Procter
& Gambla m avanety of roles in the

UK and Europe Jeremy s a former
Non-Executrae Director and Charman
of the Aucht Cammittee of Macks and
Spencer Groug plc from 2006 to 23
External Appeintments in February
2014 Jeremry was apponted

Non Executve Drector of Burberry
Group ple and serves as amember

of the Audit, Remuneration and
Nominations Committees Haisa

Andrew Griffith (44)

Group Chief Financral Officer
Appointed Ancirew jomed Sioyin 1999
and held anumber of sensar finance

roles pnor Lo hes apponimnent as Chief
Feancial Qfficer dnd Executive Diractor
nApn 2008 InNovember 2014 Andrew
was appainted a5 a memberof the
Supenvsory Boand of Sky Deutschland AG
Shils and expenence Prior to jareng Sky
Andrewwas at Rothschid the imvestment
banking organisation whers he praoncded
finanoal and strotegic acwice I aorporate
chents n the technology medsa and
telecommunications sector Hets a
quaified Chantered Accountant and

has a Bachelor of Law degree from
NettnghamUnmnersity

External Appointments tn Mach 2014
Ancirew was apposnted Semor
Independent Non-Exacutive Dwector of
Just Eat plewhers he also ottt posions
asCharman of the Audt lommuttee

and member of the Remuneration and
Nominations Committees He s amember
of the 100 Group of Fnarnce Diectors and

since January 2007 Ha & 2lep Chanmarn
and Founder of the Kifinan Group whieh
offers mentorng by Charmen and CEOs
to Heads of Chantes Mick is a Fellow of
Winchester Coltege

Business Member of the Mational
Centre fior Unneersities and Bustness

AvEoryBoard of the UxIGrd Dinversity.

Canrre for Businass Taxaton

Chase Carey (51)

Non-Executive Director

Appointed January 2013

Skills and expanence Chase has
extonsae knowledge and experience

of the ntematonal media and pay TV
sectors He s former Prasident and

Chief Executve Officer of DirecTV
where he led the operations and strategic
directian af the DrecTV Group Pnor

o joning DireeTV Chase was Co-Cheef
Operaung Officer of News Corporabon
{subsequently renamed 215t Century Fox)
and Charman and Cruef Exequtive
Officer of the Fox Telewmon Group

Untl November 2014 heterved ds a
member of the Superasory Board

of Sky Deutschland AG

External Appaintments Chase was the
former Pres:dent, Chef Operatng Officer
andt Deputy Chasrman of 215t Century
Fox from 2009 10 2015 kJune 205
Chase was appointed as the Executve
Vice Charnan of 21st Centyry Fox and wall
sarve in thes role through to fune 2016

Tracy Clarke (48)

ndependent Non-Executna Director
Appointed June 2012

Skills and expenence Tracybnngsa

wnde range of operational expenence

and oversight for corporate affars brand
and marketng media relatons buman
resources legal and comphancematters
n her role at Standard Chartered Bank,
She has served as a Non-Executive
Drrector of Standard Chartered First Bank.
in Korea from 2005 1w 2007 and
MNon-Exccutve Dwvector of Eagapkc

From 2007 to 20T where she chaired

the Remunerabon Commitiee

Externa] Apporntments Tracys a
member of the Executve Management
Group and 1s Director for Compliance
People and Commumications 3t Standard
Chartered Bank Sheg atrus.eeof
WORKing for YOUth a chanty worong
withbusiness to create job opportunties
for young pecple Tracy s armember of
theinstitute of Finanoal Serwces and
aFeliow of the Grartered Insttute

of Personnel and Developrnent

Dawid F DeVoe (68)
Non-Exscutive Divector
Appointed December 1994

Skils and expenence Dawd bnngs
awealthof executive and finance
expenence from the media sector

renamed 21t CenturyFax) forover
20years anddunngthat mewas
apponted Serwer Executve Vice President
untithe stepped down fromboth roles.
nJune 2013

External Appointments Domad 15 Senor
Advisor to the Boand and Dwector

of Nst. Century Fox He salsoa

former crectar of Gemstar TV Gude
Internationaling servang from 2001 to
2008 and DrrecTV from 2003 to 2008
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Martin Gilbert (60y
Seruor (ndepandent
Non-Exacutn Orector

Apponted November 201

Sialts and expeence Maron has been
irwolved in the Fwestment management
industry snce 1582 and has extersive
rvestment. finance and exequtive
leadership expenence through his role

as co-founder and Crief Executrve Officer
of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC He
has served as Chawman of FrstGroup pic,
Chaucer PLC and was Nor-Executive
Dvectorof Oynmark international Limited
amobie messaging and data applcations
Services provder

External Appomtments (n addition
tohrs mie as Chief Executive Officer

of Abardeen Asset Management PLC
Mactin 15 2 member of the Scatush
Government s Financial Servees
Adwisory Board

Adine Grate (54)
Indepandent Non-Executve Director
Apponted luly 2013
Skills and expenence Adme brngs
awoalth of executive finance and
mvestment managemant and
ommurCations technology expenence
hanng operated at the top ters of
tordic based mtematonal business
for the past two decades Formerty
Exmcutve Vice President and Managing
Drrector of Investor AB owner of 2
nyrmber of Nordic based nternauonal
oMmpanes
External Appoinuments Adine s a
Chaxrperson of NASDAQ OMX Swedrsh
Listing Committee and Vice Chairperson
of APT 3 Swedish pension and savings
asset management company She s
Orrector of Three (Scandingna) a mobile
telecommunucations and broadbard
tor SOBIAB an intematonal
specizhity healthcare company Sampo
Oy aleading finanaal and msurance
nstituton and Swedavia AB an asport

operatar Adine 15 also Chairpersan.of

Dave Lewis (50)

independent Non-Exacutive Dirgctor
Appomnted November 2012

Skils and expenence Dave s an
expenenced executive wath strong
operatonal expertise Heis Cuefl
Executrve Officer of Tesco p'c and pnor
to that he was President Personal Care
for Unulever ple whete hesatonthe
Uniiever Leaderstyp Execytive He has
held avanety of leadership ro'es at
Unilever m Europa South Amenca

and Asia induding President for the
Amencas and Chairman of Urdaver

UK and lreland

External Appomtmants Dave was
apponted as Chief Executve Officer
of Tesco ple in September 2014

James Murdoch (42)
Non-Executivg Director

Appomnted February 2003

Slails and expenenc: James brmgs
significant media sector knowiedge
and expenence through tus role at
Nst Century Fox He was formerly the
Cheef Executrve Officer and Executve
Ovettor of Sky from 2003 1o 2007 and
he acted as Charman from 2007 to
2012 Jameswas Charman and Cwef
Executve Officer of Star Group Limted
and hekd Nor-Executrve Director roles
at GlaxoSmuthKune plc from 2009 to
2002 and Sotheby s from 2010 to 2012
Hers amember{and formear Chairman)
of theSupervisory Board of Sky
Deutschland AG

External Appointments James was
apponted as Chref Executve Qfficer
st 2ist Century Fox n June 2015

He also serves as a member of the
Board of News Corporauon and s
aNon-Executne Drector of Yankae
Global Enterpnses Vice Media and
amember of the Board of Trustees

nen-profit organsavons Fiends of
a Desgn museum and the Swedsh
Dance Museum
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Ghetto Ailm School

Matthieu Pigasse (17)
Indepandent Non Executive Cirector
Apponted November 2011

Skufty 3nd expenence Matlhey DAngs
sgnficant knowledge of the European
media sectorand finance expertise to
the Board He s the Globai Head for
Mergers and Aoguisizons and the Global
Head for Sovereign Adwsory forLazard
also Chuef Executwe Officer of Lazard
n France in Europe He has also served
as cvibian adminsstratar of the French
Mrestry of Economy and Finance
Extermal Appointments. In addibon

to hes ote at Lazard Matthieu has 2
number of persanal interests iInmedia
and publstung notably Le Monde and
the Huffingten Post (France)l He1sa
Board member of Group Luaen Barnére
SAS anopenator of luxury hotels and
restaurants Denchebourg a recychng
ndmaintenance senices business

Danny Rimer (44)

Independent Non-Executiva Dsrector
Appointed April 2008

Slilts and expenance Danny brings
sgnufcant intemanonal irvestment
and finance expenence Hehas
extemne knowledge of internex
mfrastructure sofltware and seraces
technology communications and
e-commerce businesses through

ks role as General Partner of the
venture capital firm Index Ventures
Management LLP (Index Ventures)
Pror tojoining index Ventures
hewas a GeneralPartnerof

The Barksda'e Group

External Appomtments Danny serves
ona number of boards mchading First
Dibs Inc. Flighoard Inc Nasty Gal inc
RightSeale Inc Viagogo Farfetch com
timieed, Good Eggs and Patreon

He resigned from Groupo Xango
Technologies in Apnl 207 and Etsy Inc
i March 2015

Arthur Siskind (76)

Non-Executive Qirector

Appaintad November 1951

Skils and expertanca Arthur brings

over 30 years expenence ganed through
executive and legal counset roles at

News Corporation (subsequently
renamed 21st CenturyFox) Hes a

heghly expenenced legal practitioner

and member of the Bar of the State

of New York since 1962

Extarmnal Appontments. Arthur s Senor
Advsor to the Charmanof 21st Century
Fox from January 2005 to December 2034
angd he has served as Drector Ementus
from Octaber 2012 to November 2014

Andy Sukawaty (60)
independent Non-Executve Director
Apponted June 2013

Skifis and Expenence Withover 30 years
of telecommunicanons media tachnology
expenence Andy DNNES 5.ong Ncustry
knowiedge to the Board He hasled
companes n the mabde phone, Cable TV
and satefite ndustnesnthe Us and
Europe and servesas Non-Exetutive
Chamman of Infmarsat pic, gobal mokide
sateflite communcations prowvdaer
External Appomtmerits. i aoditon

o hus rle as Non-Executve Chaman
of Inmarsat pic Andyis Executive In
Rescdence for Warburg Prncus ang

has previously hald a rumber of

Sercr

Charman of ZggoN V. aDutchcable Tv
20 COMMUNCATONS COMPARY resigrng
n December 2014 He has also previously
served as Chvef Executrve Officer and
Presudent of Spnnt PCS aNYSE bsted
gobal nations! wireless camer
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Governance

Corporate governance report

Chairman’s overview

On behalf of the Board it gives me great pleasure to introduce this years
corparate governance report

As a Board we are the stewards of the Company 1Lis our responsibility
to ensure that the Company § strategy 1s aligned to the mterests of

our investors and takes account of the intergsts of all the Coempany s
stakeholders As ndmduals we believe that effective corporate
governance 1s based on honesty mtegrity and transparency and can
only be fully reahsed within an environment, of open robust and effectve
debate This 1s the Board culture we Foster ar Sky and it 15 my personal
responsibidity as Charrman to ensure that we continue to hve this culture
and promote st within cur business

| am pleased to report that your Company comphad i full with the UK
Corporate Governance Code (the Cade ) as revised in September 2012
gunng the year under review We are also revigwing the changes to the Code
which were introduced in October 2014, which apply to the Company from
VJuby 2015

it has been a transformational year for the Company followng the
acquisitons of the Sky businesses in Germany and Itaty Much of

Compliance with the Code

The Code provides the standard for corporate governance i the UK
The Financal Conduct Authority requires isted comparnues to disdose
whether they have complied with the provisions of the Code throughout
the financial year

The Board considers that the Company has fully complied with the
provisions and applied the mam principles of the Code fur the who'e

of the year ended 30 June 2015 This section of the Annual Report along
with the Directors remuneration report on pages 51to 69 the Directors
report and other statutory disclosures on pages 70 to 77 prowde detalls
of how the Company has apphed the main principles

Leadership

Role of the Board and its Members

The Board has collective responsibhity for the management direction and
performance of the Company and prowvides leadership within a framework
of prudent and effective contrels whichenables nsk to be appropriately
assessed and managed The Board sets the strategic directson ensunng
that the necessary resources are 11 place for the Company to mest its
aobjectrves and dehver sustamnmable performance

The Board takes 2 long term outlook and sees itself as responsitle to
awide range of stakeholders whilst pursung its objectives in a manner
consistent with its statutery duties for the benefit of the Company s
members as awhole '

The Drectors of the Board are selected on the ¢ritena of proven skill

the Board s actvity has been around ensunng that the acquisitions
successfully completed and possttioned tha business for the next
stage i its development

Thus year wa undertook aninternal Board evaluation and I met with

ali the Dwectors and discussed a range of topics The feedback from

the evaluabion confirmed that the Board and each of its Commitices
conbinue to operate effectively and that each Director continues to

make an effective contnibution and retains a strong commitment to

their role The resulting findings of the evaluation are discussed on page 49

The Board has established arrangements to evaluate whether the
nformation in the Annual Report i1s fair balanced and understandable
Further detad of these arrangements can be found onpage 47 As aresult
of this the Board considers the Annual Report, Laken as a whole s farr
balanced and understandable and prowides the information necessary
for shareholders to assess the Company s performance business model
and strategy

During the year we have continued our work 11 promating greater and more
effective engagement with our shareholders | along with the Executve
Dwectars meet our investors and analysts and discuss avnde range of
topics Tracy Clarke Chawrman of the Remunerabion Committee has also
engaged with shareholders on remuneration rssues and wilf continue

to do so over the course of the commg financial year

Nick Ferguson CBE
Chairman

and experience which directly benefits the operation of the Board as
the custadian of the busingss A full biography of each Board member
15 provided on pages 38 and 39

Roles and responsibilities

The roles of the Chawman and Group Chief Executive Officer are separate
and have been sosince the Company s shares were admitted tolisting

in 1994 The roles and expectations of each Director are clearly gefined
and recorded within thev letters of appointment or service contracts
The roles and responsibilities of the Board members are explained below

The Chairman

Nick Ferguson 1s responsible for leadership of the Board ensunng its
effectiveness on all aspects of its role and seting its agenca The Charrman
1s responsible for creating an environment for open robust and effective
debate This includes ensuring via the Company Secretary that the
Directers recesve accurate timely and dear information

The Group Chief Executwe Officer (Group CEQ )

Jeremy Darrochais responsible and accountable to the Board for the
management and operation of the Company advancing long-term
sharehotder value supported by the management team He s also
rvolved in the management of the social and emvironmenta!
responsibitities of the Company

Semor Independent Non-Executive Director { SID )

The role of the SID i1s currently carned out by Martin Gilbert who succeeded
Andy Rigginson on 21 November 2014 Martin s responsible for providing
support to the Chasrman and provides an additional peint of contact

for shareholders

AN ALY i i Bar i CORT R ol endeavoar and 3 divarsity of outlook ——
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Non-Executive Directors

Chase Carey Tracy Clarke David DeVoe Martin Gilbert Adine Grate

Dave Lewts James Murdoch Matthweu Prigasse Danny Rimer Arthur
Siskind and Ancy Sukawaty collectrvely are responsible for constructsvely
challenging the Executive Directors and overseeing the delivery of

the Camparny s strategy within the nisk and control framework

Comnpany Secretary
Chnis Taylor 1s responsible for the following in respect of effective
Board operation

To ensure good information flows within the Board and 1ts Committees
batween sentor management and Non-Executive Directors

To facilitate Director induction and assisung with professional
development

To advise the Board through the Chairman of all corporate governance
obhigations and developments in best prachice and

To be responsible for communicating with sharcholders as appropriate
All Directors have access to the advice and senaces of the Company

Secratary who advises on corparate governance matters Board procedures

and other relevant rutes and regulations Inaddiion Directors have the
right Lo seek ndependent professional adwice at the Company s expanse

Envircnment supportive of challenge
The effective operation of the Board 1s dependent on the inherent
checks and balances vathin the various Board roles As highly quahified

Annual Report 2015

Board and Commttee framework

The Audit Commuttee has responsibility for oversight of corporate
reporting, nisk management and the Company s relatlonship withits

aRd STCCEs SITLRTVIdTaIS In thew reSpactive flzlgs srendeavodr—— SUdedr Sigrifleantyisksto the busmess are Keptunder revewand

all Mon-Executrve Durectors mfluence debate and contribute to decisions
relating to the strategy of the Company its performance and its impact
on stakeholders The Non-Executive Directors are evaluated and judged
on the quality and content of their contributions to Board debate and
are expected to offer alternative viewpoints and challenge perceptions
and deasions as appropriate

Board Agenda

In addiion toits reserved and standing matters dunng the year
the Board alsa considered and received a number of updates and
presentations gnvng Directors a further opportunity to explore
and analyse topics such as

The Groups operabons and five-year financial plans
« The general market and economic outloak
The competitive landscape opportunities and market trends
+ Growth of existing busmess actvbes and
» Exisung and new products services and technological developments

Ta maintam an apprapriate level of control over the day-to-day affars
of the Company the Board has wentfied certam matters that onlyit
can approve and these matters are contamed within the Company s
Schedule of Matiers Reserved to the Board which can be found at
sky comicorporate

Board delegation

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to Board committees
notably the Audit Remunerauon Corporate Governance & Neminations
and the Bigger Prcture Committees Each Committees terms of reference
can be found on the Company s corporate website sky com/corporate/
about-skyfcorporate-governance

appropriate matenal controls are sanctioned and employed as appropnate
The Company s pnncpal r15ks and exarnples of how we mitigate thosea risks
are detailed on pages 32to 35 Forfurther details the Audit Committee
Report can be found on pages 45 to 48

The Remuneration Committee 1s responsible for setting the Remuneration
policy for the Board and ensures that no Director 1§ invalved in decisions
affecting thew own remuneration The Directors remuneration report can
be found on pages 51to 69

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Commttee 1s responsible for
oversight of the structure size composition and successton planming

of the Board and its Committees and overall compliance with corporate
gavernance standards The Report of the Corporate Governance

& Nominations Commuttee can be found on pages 48 and 49

The Bigger Picture Comm:ttee has responsibility for oversight of the socal
ervrormental and ethical impacts of the Company s activities The report
of the Bigger Picture Comnuttee <an be found on page 50

The runutes of Commuittee meestings are made avalable to all Beard
Directors on a imely basis At each Board meeting the Chairman of each
Committee prowdes the Board with a brief update of the work currently
being carried out by the Committee they char Other sub-committees and
steering groups provide additonal resource and support to the Board
Committees or are formed for specifictasks A Committee of semor
management generally meets on aweekly basis to allow prompt discussien
of relevant business issues The Commettee compnses the Group CEO
Group Cheef Financial Officer ( Group CFO ) and other senidr executives
from vathin the Group

Skyplc 4
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(conunued)

Board and Committee attendance

Attendance at Board and Committee meetings during the year 1s set out n the table below The table shows the number of meetings each Director was

eligible to attend
Corporate
Governance &
Board Audit  Remuneratien Nominations  Sigger Pcture
Number of meetings held in year 7 [} 5 3 2
Executive Directors
Jeremy Darroch Group CEQ 7
Andrew Gnffith Group CFO 7
Non-Executve Directors
Chase Carey 7
Tracy Clarke 27 55 202
Dawd DeVoea 7
Nick Ferguson ur 5/5 EtE]
Martin Gilbert! 7 6/6 on 212
Adine Grate® &7 6/6 a/4
Andy Higginson™? 314 213 1N
Dave Lewis 7 6/6 313 2/2
James Murdoch 7 22
Matthieu Pigasse’ A7 6/6
Danny Rimer?* a7
Arthur Siskind* 617 213
Andy Sukawaty! bikd 415
Notes

}  Martin Gibert reptaced Andy Higginson as membe! of the Gevernance & Nemimatians Comemuttee following Andy s retiremant at the AGM on 21 Novernber 2014
2 Adine Grate was appanted as a member of the Remunaration Committee replacing Maruin Gitbart with effect from 26 July 2014

I DirectorE B¢ 1¢B0Taged 16 atteNd Bord Thd IEEpec i BOA M dfd Commutted medtings BUL InTEr AN OreumstancEs MEetiigd TE Exled Bt 2Hort MOt dg UGR Whitr BUsine s —

commitments and Lime differences Directers may be unable to attend i these crcumstances Direclors recene relevant papers and are updated on developments by e her the

Chawman or Group CEQ

Acquisition of Sky Deutschtand and Sky Itaha

Duning the pnor year the Board apponted a commuttee tonvestigate conskler and evaluate the overall strategy i connection with the proposal
to acquire Sky Deutschiand and Sky Italia The committee comprised all members of the Board other than any Directors who were not independent
of 21st Century Fox Incor had a conflict of interest The commuttee met on two occasions duning the year and formally approved the transaction

Effectiveness

Board compasition and independence

The Board currently compnses 14 Directors made up of two Executive
Directors and 12 Non-Execuuve Directors At least half of the Board of
Directors are determuned to be independent by the Board in accordance
wath provision B1 2 of the Code On appointment the Chairman met the
independence critena set out in provsion B 11 of the Code Biographies
of each of the Directors are set out on pages 38 and 39

Chase Carey David Devoe, James Murdoch and Arthur Siskand represent
the Company s largest shareholder Zist Century Fox and as such are
not considered to be independent within the mearung of the Code

€ach of these rrectors has extensive media and pay TV experience

and makes signficant conertbution to Board discussion

The Independent Non-Executive Directors bring a wide range of expenence

and experuse to the Group s affairs and carry significant weight in
the Board s deasions The Independent Mon-Executive Directors are
encouraged to challenge management and help develop proposals
on strategy Time 1s regularly put aside at Board meetings to discuss
the strategic direction of the Company

Prior to appointment and on an annual basis each Board member recewes
and completes a questonnare to determine factors that may affect
independence accarding to best practice statements contamed within
the Code The respanses to the questionnaire assist the Board n
ascertaming whether a Orector 1s independent incharacter and
judgement and whether there are relationships or circumstances which
are likely to affect or could appear to affect the Director s udgement

Board Composition
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Appointments to the Board drversity and successton plannung

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee keeps the Board s
batance of skils knowledge experience and the length of service of
indmiduals under constant review In respect of succession planmng and
supplementing the skill set af the Board there 1s an established procedure
for the appointment of Directors In baef the Commuttes identifias the
set of skills and expenence required and with the assistance of extemal
search agencies selects ndmduals to take Boand positions on review of
their indradual ments regardless of gender race religion age or disability
Further mformaton on the work of the Committee during the year can

be fourd on pages 48 and 49

Copies of the Executive Directors service contracts and letters of
appointment of the Non-Executve Directors may be inspected at the
registered office of the Company during normal business hours on any
weekday (except Saturdays Sundays and public hohdays) and at the place
of the Annual General Meeting { AGM ) for 15 minutes prior to the meeting
until the condusion of the AGM

The Board has published a statement of its ntenton toincrease female
representation on the Board which can be found on the Company s
corporate website sky comicorporate As required by company legistation
a table on page 71 ilustrates gender diversity amongst the Board

Dwversity ratio of Directors appointed in past three years

Annual Report 2015
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External directorships

Any external appontments for the Executve Directors are considered by
the Corporate Governance & Nominations Cornmittee Exacutive Directors
are not gllowed to Lake on the Charmanship of a FTSE 100 company but are
silowed to take up cne external Non-Executive FTSE 100 appointment and
retain any paymentsn respect of such appointments

Jeremy Darrochwas appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director
of Burberry Group plc on 5 February 2014 and s a mernber of the Audht,
Neminations and Remuneration Committees

Andrew Gnffith was appointed as an independent Non-Executive Director
of Just Eat ple on 12 March 2014 Andrew serves as Senor Independent
Directer Chawrman of the Audit Commuttee and 1s & member of the
Remuneration & Nominations Committees Detads of pay in respect

of these appointments ¢an be found in the Directors remuneration
report on page 68

Time commitment

All Non-Executive Directors are advised of the likely bme commitments
required oninduction and are expected Lo devote sufficent tine

for the effective discharge of ther functions The Company provides
Nan-Executive Drectors with appropnate suppaort and faclities for
consderation of the Company s strategy and performance and a
dialogue with the Chairman 1s strongly encouraged so that any issues
regarding conflicting commitments and time pressures can be
addressed appropnately

Induction and trajmng

Length of time served on the Board

Industry/Background axperience’

MNotes
1 Dhrectors may fall nto one or mota categories

Drrectors appontment and reappontment,

in respect of Code provesion B 71 all Executive and Non-Executive Directors
wall retire and of fer themselves for reappointment at the Company s 2015
AGM with the exception of Dawnd Devoe Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind
who have decided not to seek reappoiniment this year and will step down
from the Board at the conclusion of the AGM Immediately following the
AGM s intended that John Nallen Chief Finangial Officer of 215t Century
Fax will be appointed by the Board as a Non-Executve Director As aresult
of these proposed changes the size of the Board would reduce from 14 to 12
Drrectors and at least half of the Board {excliuding the Charrman) would
continue to be compnsed of Independent Non-Executive Directars in
comphance with the Code

All new Directors recesve animduction tatlored to thew indivadual
requirements The inductonprocess Involves meeting with all of the
Company s Executive Directors and Senvor Executives This facihtates

their understanding of the Group and the key drivers 6f the business
performance Dunng the year Directors have recewved presentations

from a number of areas of the business including Customer Group Content,
Corporate Finance and Strategwc Ptlanning Group The Chairman meets

with the Directors throughout the year to review and agree thetr indnadual
training and developmental needs

An example of a tallored induction programme s detaled below

Meetngs with Customer Product Accompaned
Senxr Executves contact demomstrations a Sky engineer
Sky News and centrevsit oncustomer
Sky Studio visits s

In addition to this vanous presentations from pnor Board meeungs wall
be made available to the Dwectorn arder Lo mprove thesr understanding
of the Group and the compelitive and regulatory tandscape in which st
operates Consideraton is gven to Committee dppomntments and where
relevant tailored traiming may be required

Board evaluation

tn e with the Code and following the external Soard evaluation carnied
out by Alice Perkins of JCA Groupin 2013 an internal Board evaluation
has been carried out for the past two years

Dunng the pertod under review the process was facihitated by Nick
Ferguson Further details of the evaluation process can be found
in the Corporate Governance & Nominations Commuttee report
on pages 48 and 49
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(continued)

Informatian provided to the Directors

The Company Secretaryis responsible for ensuring good informatwon flows
vathun the Board and its Committees and between serwor management and
Non-Executive Directors For each Board and Committee meeting, Directors
are provided with a Lalored Board pack at least one week prior to the
meeting To improve the delivery and secunity of Board papers the
Company kas adopted an electronc systam altowing the Baard to gasily
access nformation rrrespective of geographic location Dwectors regularty
recerve additsonal informaton from the Company between Board meetings
including a dany press summary and a monthly Group performance update
Where a Director was unable to attend a meeting they were provided with
all the papers and nformation relating to that meeting and were able

to discuss issues ansing directly wath the Chasrman and Group CEQ

Conflicts of interest

Under UK Company law all Directors must seek authonisaton before
taking up any position with another company that conflets or may
possibly conflict with the Company s interests The Company s Articles
of Assotiation contain provisions to sllow the Directors to authorise
situations of potential conflicts of Interest so that a Director 1s not

w1 breach of tes duty under company law

All exisung external appointments for each Director have been authonsed
by the Board and each authonsation is set out Ina Conflicts Register
Directors are required to notify the Board of potential canflicts so that they
can be considered and if appropnate authonsed by the Board In addition
the Corporate Governance & Naminations Commitiee conducts an annual
review of Directors confhicts and reports its findings to the Board

The Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee d the

Shareholder engagement

The Company 1s committed ta mamtaining and improving dialogue with
shareholders i order to ensure that the objectves of both the Group

and the shareholders are understood A pregramme of meetings with
institutional sharghelders fund managers and anabysts takes place each
year and the Chawrman Group CEQ and Group CFO have attended meetings
with investors as appropriate The Company also makes presentations

1o analysts and investors around the tme of the half-year and Full-year
results announcement conference calls are held wath anatysts and
investors following the release of the first quarter and third quarter trading
statements and presentations are made dunng the year ta many eustng
or potenual shareholders at investor conferences The Company hosts

an annual meetng for its major shareholders to disCuss remunerabion

The AGM

The Board wviews the AGM as an opportunity to communicate with private
rwvestors and sets aside tme at the meeung for shareholders to ask
questions At the AGM the Chairman pronides a bref summary of the
Company s actviuies for the previous year All resolutions at the 2014

AGM were voted by way of a poll This follows best practce and allows

the Company to count ali votes rather than Just those of shareholders
attending the meeting As recommended by the Code all resolutions

were voted separately ard the linal voting results which included all votes
cast for aganst and those withhetd together wath all proxies lodged prior
to the meeting were released to the London Stock Exchange as scon as
pracucable after the meeting The anncuncement was alsomade avarlable
on the Company s corporate website Asin previous years the praxy

form and the announcernent of the voting results made it clear that

Board s conflicts during the financial year and concluded that conflicts
had been appropnately autharised and that the process for authonsation
15 cperating effectively The Corporate Governance & Nominations
Committee and the Board will continue to manutor and revew potential
conflicts of mterest on a regular basis

Directors and Officers’ Insurance and Indemnity

The Company recogruses that all Directors are equally and collectively
accountable under the law for the proper stewardshitp of the Company s
affairs The Company maintains a Directors and Officers labihty nsurance
policy Additionally the Company s Articles of Assotiation aliow the
Company to Indemnufy tha Directors anc deeds of indemnity have been
issued to all Dwectars of the Company to the extent permitted by law

Relations with shareholders

Shareholder communications

Presentations and webcasts on the development of the business are
available ta all shareholders an the Company s corporate website

The Company also uses email alerts and acuvely promotes downloading

of all repores enhancing speed and equality of shareholder communication
The Campany has taken full advantage of the prowisions wathun the
Companies Act 2006 allowing the website to be used as the pnmary
means of communication wath shareholders where they have not requested
hard copy documentation The shareholder information section on page
147 contans further detaifs on electronuc shareholder communicabions
together with more general snformation of interest to shareholders which
15 also ingluded on the Company $ corporate website sky comicorporate

a vote withheld s not a vote infaw and will not be countedin the
calculation of the propartion of the vaotes for aor aganst the resolution
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Report of the Audit Committee

Chairman s overview

During the year the Audit Comrmittee has continued to play a key oversight
role on behalf of the Board The Committee s prinapal activities have
fucused on the financial performance of the Company mnternal audit,
extemnal audit nsk management comphance and governance We reviewed
the impact of the acquisieons of the Sky businesses in Germany and Italy
on the 2014/15 extarnal and internal audit plans and the evolution of
financial reporting under the new structure

The Committee has also monitored the Companys approach torisk
management and the mdependence and effectiveness of the external
auditors and recerved a number of presentations from management
relating to data governance secunty internal audit veasury taxation
and health and safety

We have considered the processes underpinnmng the production and
approval of this year s Annual Report to enable the Board to confirm that
the Annual Report taken as a whole s farr balanced and understandable
and provides the infarmation necessary for shareholders to assess the

Company s performance business model and strategy A description of

Annusl Report 7015

Attendance at Committee Meetings

Dawnd Devoe and Arthur Siskind have a standing imatauon Lo attend
megungs However their attendance at these meetings 15 as observers
only and tn a non-voung capaoty The Group CFO other business and
finance executnes and representauves from the external auditer
Deloitte LLP and the internal audit department attend meetings

at the request of the Committee The Company Secretary acts as
Secretary to the Committee

Audit Committee Agenda
Focus for the Commuttee this year has induded the following izems

» Review and recommendation Lo the Board of the quarterly intenm
and Full-year financal statements

Quarterty updates from tha Group CFO on business perfarmance across
the Group

Audit ptans and findings of external and internal audits

The review and recommendation Lo the Board of the dnidend policy
and propased payments

Lguidity and going concern review

Annual reporting due diligence procedures and corporate governance
updates

.

Theimpact of the acquisitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky itatia on the
201415 Extemal Audit plan

how we approached this can be found in this report

There were sox meetings during the year and after each Committea meetung
1 gave an oral update to the Board on the key 1ssues discussed dunng our
meetings The Commuttee also had a meeung with the Company s external
auditors without management present

You can find additronal informatton of how we have carried out our role
and respansibhiues withun the remander of this report

‘The Committees terms of reference are avalable on the Company s
corporate website

MartinGithert
Commuittee Charrman

Committee composition
Martn Gibert (Chactrmany
Adine Grate

Dave Lewts

Matthieu Prgasse

Andy Higginson a former Chair of the Committee stepped down asa
member of the Commuttee inMNovernber 2014 followang his retirement
as a Director

The Committee members have considerable financal and business
expenence and the Board considers that the membership as a whole

has suffruent recent and relevant financial expenence to discharge its
respansibiives in addition the Board has determined that each member
of the Comnuttee has sufficient accounting or refated fnancial
management experiise in kne with the Code

Assessment of the effectveness of the external sudit process
ard scope of audit

Auditor independence and the policy an the provision of non-audit
sernces by the external auditor

Quarterty review of non-audit servces and fees

Quarterly reports from the treasury function on the funding hquidity
going concern and operational capabilities of the Group and compliance
with treasury pohcies

Quarterly updates on plannedinternal audit work and on the status
of Senior Azcounuing Officer { SAQT) certification work to ensure
SAD comphance

Quarterly reports of all transactions with a related party during the
penod inexcess of E100000 in value

Review of all trans.actions which fall withun the Listing Rule 111 SR
definition of Related Party Transacton and all transactions wath
a refated party in excess of £10 mdlion and where required
recommendation to the Boand

-

Rewview and oversight of the Group nsk register nsk methodology
and nskmanagement systems and processes

Monrtoning and reviewing the effectsveness of the Greup sintemal
audit function and controls

Taxation secunty fraud health and safety and data protection

Sky Deutschland s related party transsctions are 2pproved by the superwsory board

n accordance with German bhw Once the purchass oF the remanmg munonly nterests
w Sky Deutschiand has concluded Sky Deutschiand will be subyect 10 the same approval
Process as UK and Loty
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{conunued)

Significant accounting 1ssues

when considenng the annual financal statements the Committee
reviewed the significant accounung ssues and the Group s cntical
accounting policies as set out on pages 32 to 35 with parucular focus
on the following

Retail subscription revenue

The majority of the Group s revenues denve from retad subscnption
packeges including hardware supplied to customers The Group apphes
Judgement in determining the accountng allocation of payments recewed
from customers to different elements of the bunkiled package taking nto
consideration the tmung and refative value attnbuted to each element
During the year the Commuttee receved a performance repert from the
Group CFO at each Committee meeting that nduded a roview of revenues
recogrised in the penod

The Committee considerad management s pokcy and considered the views
of the external audstor and 1s satisfied that the polices have been applied
consistently and approprately

General entertainment programming inventory

The Commuittee reviewed the poiicy for the recogniion of content costs and
sought assurances from management, and took INto account the views

of the external auditor that the policy is appropnate and has been

apphed consistently The method for recogrusing general entertainment
programming expense requires estimation and judgement to ensure

that the expense profile is consistent with the expected value of the
content to the Group

The Comrmittee 15 satisfred that the policies have been apphed consistently

Internal contrel and risk management

The Board Is responsibie for estabhstung and mamntairung the Group s
systems of internal control and nsk management and for reviewing theyr
effectvenass These systems are designed to manage andwhere possible
eliminate the nskof failure to achieve business cbjectives and to prowde
resonable but mot absolute assurance against matenal misstatement
ortoss There is an ongoing process foridentifying evaluating and managing
the mignificant risks faced by the Group in accordance wath the revised
gurdance on internal control ssued by the Finanaal Reportng Counalin
Oetober 2005 Dunng the penod undir review no sigreficant fatings or
weaaknesses were ilenufied

The Committee on behalf of the Board considers the effectiveness of the
operation of the Group s systems of internal control and nsk management
dunng the year and thus review has been earried out for the year ended

30 june 2015 and up to the date on which the financial sLatements were
approved Ths review relates to the Company and its subsiklianes and does
not extend to joint ventures The Committee meets on at least aquarterty
basis with the Group § Drector Audit Risk Management and Compliance
and the external auditor

There 15 a comprehensive budgeting and forecasting process and the
annual budget which s regutarly reviewed and updated « approved by

the Board Performance Is monitored against budget through weekly and
monthly reperting cydes Dunng the financial year under revew monthly
reports on performance were provided to the Board and the Group reports
to shareholders each quarter

In respect of Group financial reporting the Group Finance teamis

are appropnate and are aligned 1o industry practice

Capitalisauon of ntangible and tangible non current assets

The Committee considered the Group s policies and sought assurances
fram management that the Groups project accountng controls are
operating as intended and that spend capitalised as property plant
and equipment and Intangle assets meets the relevant accountng
requrements The Committee also considered the report from the
external auditor

The Commrttee 1s sausfied that the Group has followed appropnate
account:ng standards regarding the capitalisation of praject expenditure

Accounting for acquisitions

The Committee reviewed management § accounting for the acquisitions

of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha mncluding determination of the far
values of assets and iabimities acquired and of the consideration pad and
alignment of accounting policies across the Group whach require significant
esumation and judgemant The Committee considered the views of the
external auditor and received a presentauon from management explaining
the evolution of the Groups finanaial reporung Lo incorporate the acquired
entities Into the enlarged group

The Comuttee 1s satisfied that the Group has followed the applicable
accounting requiremeants in accounting for the acquisiions and that
accounting policies across the Group have been appropriatety ahgned

responsble for preparing the Group financial staternents and there
are well established controls over the financal reporting process
These are also documented in Ime with the requirements of the SAC
legislation and the controls are reviewed and signed off to confirm
theyr continuous operation by the control owners bwice a year and
are independently tested by the internal audit team The results of
the 5A0 testing are reparted to the Commuttee on a quarterly basis

Changes In internal controls

Nochange in the Group s ntemal control over finanaial reperung has
occurred in the UK dunng the year ended 30 June 2015 that has matenally
affected or s reasonably ikely to matenally affect the Groups internal
cantrol over financial reporting Duning the year the Group acquired

Sky Ceutschiand and Sky afia which sntroduced additonal compilexity

to financial reporting Since the operating model and business operations
of tha acquired entities are similar to those of the exrsung Group

the controls over finangial reporting remaim matenally consistent

Risk registers

There are nsk registers which identify the nsks faced by the Group
and these are consohdated into aGroup Risk Register The nsk register
framework is based on methodology to enufy the risk based on
tmpact and bkehhood The nisk s assessed quantified and measured
which enables discussions on nsk appatite The registers detai the
controls that manage the nsks and where necessary the actionplans
to mitigate the nsk exposure

The business develops the action plans and the internal audit team
monitors thesr tmplernentation The Commuttee formally reviews the
Group Risk Register twice a year and sen:or execuuves from the
business present ther nsk management plans from tme to ume
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The internal audit team provides objective assurance as to the
effectiveness of the Group's systems of internal control and risk
management to the Group s operating management

The Groups princspal nisks and uncertainbes are detailed on pages 32 to 35

Fair batanced and understandable assessment

The Finanaal Reporting Commuttee { FRC ) has responsibility for the
producton af the annual report and the associated review process
Guidance and comprehensive due difigence procedures were issued
tareviewers by the FRC ta help them assess whether the document was
far balanced and understandable and complied wath the requirements
aofthe Code The FRC maintained oversight of the review process and
submitted certification to the Committee toenable it to be in a pesition
to recommend o the Board Lthat the required statement could be made

Disclosurs controls and procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls procedures and systems that
are desrgned to ensure that information requrred £o be disclosed as part
of the Compary s UK listing obligauons rs accumuiated and communicated
to management induding the Group CEO and Group CFO as appropnate
to allow tmely decisions regarding required disclosures

Auditor independence

During the year ended 30 June 2015 the Committee reviewed audit
independence and scope of nan-audit senvices and independence
safeguards with Deloitte LLP { Deloitte ) the Group s external auditor

As partof the review, the Audit Comenittee has recaved andrewewed

confirmation in wntng that in Deloitte s professional judgement Deloitte
15 independent withun the meaning of afl UK regulatory and professional
requirements and the obecteaty of the audit engagement partner and
audit staff 1s not impaired

The Committes was satisfied throughout the year that the objectmty

and independence of Delaitte was nok in any way impaired by einher

the nature of the non-audit related services undertaken dunng the year
the leve! of non-audit fees charged or any ather facts or orcumstances
Akey aspect of this year s consideration was the effect of the acquisitions
of Sky Deutschland and Skyltaba

+ These acquisitions were both defined as Class One transactions
under the Londen Listing Rules To support the transaction faclitate
regulatory reporung and the ransing of the necessary finance the
Committee approved due diigence services by XPMG the auditors of
Sky Deutschtand and reporting accountant services from Ernst & Young
{ EY ) the auditors of Sky Italia and reporting accountant and other
transaction suppart and advisory services from Sky plc s own auditors
Deloitte The committee was satsfied appropnate safeguards had been
implemented in this regard

.

Deloitte network firms in Germany and Ita'y had been selected to provide
consulting and other serwces to Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalia prior

to therr acquisstion by Sky In order to ensure an orderly reduction in

and to reduce transition nsk the Committee approved the continpation
of services by Deloitte until ndvidual actmties were rescoped or
completad taken on by Sky personne! or other vendors commssioned

All necessary adjustments Lo scope to ensure suditor Independence
were made within the s-month penod permitted under the relevant.
professional standards which erwisage circumstances such as these

The auditors considered the need fer additionat safeguards and sausfied
the Commuttee that they had imptemented these appropnatety

The safeguards considered by the committee included the continuation
of the use of KPMG and EY for the year ended 30 June 2015 as auditors
of Sky Deutschiand and Sky Itaha A certainjavel of permitted consutling
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advisory services on these strategic projects has been approved by
the Commuttee ta be provided by Delaitte in the financial year 2005/16
to ensure an appropnateievel of project advisory conbinuty and these
services are planned to substantially cease by the end of that year

i bine with the implementaton of the EU audit regulation

Audit and non-audit services provided dunng the year were approved by
the Committee Ananalys:s of auditor remuneratcn s disdosed in note
7 to the consolidated financial statements

Audit and non-audit services
The Group has a policy on the provision by the external auditor of audit
and non-audit sennces which categonses such sernces between

+ Those serwvices which the auditor is not permitted to provide

= Those services which are acceptabile far the auditor to provide and
the provisicn of which has been pre-2pproved by the Commuittee, and

- Those services for which the specific approval of the Committee
1s required before the auditor 1s permitted to provide the service

The policy defines the types of sernices faling under each category

and sets out the criteria which need tobe met and the internal approval
mechanisms required to be caompleted prior to any engagement.
Ananalys:s of all services provided by the external auditers reviewed
by the Cammittee ena quarterly bass

During the year the followang examples were deemed to be pre-approved
m accordance with the poly

update
+ Assurance of certasn KPis for the Bigger Prcture Review
Effectrveness of external audit process
Dunng the year the effectiveness of the audht process was assessed

by the Committee Group Finance team and other key ntemnal stakeholders
n the farm of aquestionnaire The areas under review were

+ Quality resources and scope of planning of the audit

+ Objectvity independence and transparency of the audit

Identfication of key accounting judgements sigruficant audit and
accounung Issues

Level of technical knowledge and professional scepticsm

Understanding Sky as a business its vatues and culture and challenges
it faces

The guality of planning and superuision of the group audit

Quality of reporting and commumcations to the Audit Committee

The responses to the assessment were discussed which confirmed that
Deloitte are performing as expected Deloitte continue to demonstrate
strengthsn the majonity of these areas There were no significant findings
fram the assessment and the review confirmed that Deloitte conbinue to
carry out an effectave and robust external audit induding the supervision
ofthe enlarged group audit The Cornmittee also continues to be satisfied
with the qualty of challenge and sceptioism of the external auditer

The Commuttee therefore recommended to the Board that shareholder
approval be sought to reappomt Deloitte as the external auditor

and has atso recommended that Delorite be appotnted auditors of

Sky Deutsehland and Sky italia for the 2015416 financoal year

Stypic 47

DIUBUIDADD Lodd XENeNs

SUALNE)S PDURLY

UONBLLOI JSP OIS




Anrual Report 2015
Govamance

Corporate governance report

{conunued)

Audit partner rotation

The external auditor s required to rotate the audit partner responstble

far the engagement every five years As reported previously the current
audit partner rotates after the 2014715 audit The partner was shadowed
by & successor audit partner throughout the year after a selecuon process
to ensure the development of tharough knowledge of the enlarged group
and to safeguard challenge and objectivity The incoming audit partner

will be required to rotate after the 2019/20 audit

Tenure of external auditar

The regulatory regume relating to mandatory audic tendenng has
significantly ehanged iy the UK and Europe The Committee)s closely
monitering these developments and taking INta account that Delaitte
has been the external auditor of the Company since June 2002 it expects
to conduct an audit tender m advance of June 2020 whichitseff 1s in
advance of 2023 by which the transitional rules in UK and EU regulation
would require the Company to have performed a tender

The Committea considered the ments of conducting an dutht tender
process this year however inight of the significant enlargement inthe
size and scale of the Group Following the acquisiboans of Sky Deutschiand
and Sky talra -~ and the significant internal me and effort devoted

to estahlistung cammon financial controls #nd processes as a result -

1t was decided that for now sharehotders interests would best be
served by focusing on the integratwon of the enlarged Group Including
the consolidation of the Group audit with a single firm The Comimittee
will continue to keep the uming of a future tender under annual review

Corporate Governance & Nonminations Committee
Chairman s averview

Following the retirement of Andy Higginson as a Non-Executive Director
Seruor Independent Director and Charman of this Comnuttee at the
Company s 2014 AGM in November | am pleased to confirm that Mariin
Gilbert replaced Andy as Sarar Independent Director and was appointed
as a member of this Commttee | succeeded Andy as Chairman of the
Committee and all of these changes were effective from 21 November 2014

Over the past three years a number of new Independent Non-Executive
Orrectors have been appointed to the Board and it was very encouraging
that ane of the findings of this year s internal Board evaluation was that
these new Directors have bedded down well and had strengthened the
diversity of the Board The findings of the evatuation also confirmed that
the Board and its Commuttees continue ic operate effectvely with each
of the Directors making valued and effective contnbutions

The Board as a whole welcomes the opportunity to adapt to nnovatians
and change within the field and continues to actively progress mtiatives
to adapt to corporate governance changes address gender balance on
the Board source the right skills to complement our talented management

team and create robust succession plans to safeguard the Company s
future performance

There were three meetings held duning the year and after each Committee
meeting | reposted to the Board on the key 1ssues discussed dunng

our meetings You can find further rformation of how we have carned

out our role and responsibities within the remainder of this report

The Committees terms of reference are avanlabla on the Company s
carporate website

Nrck Ferguson
Committee Chairman

Committee composition
Nick Ferguson (Charrman)
Dave Lews

Arthur Siskind

Martin Gilbert

Andy Higginson stepped down as a member of the Commuttee m November
2014 followng his retrement as a Director

Attendance at Committes Meetings
The Group CEQ and General Counsel attend the meeungs from time to time
and the Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Commuttee
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Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee Agenda
Focus for the Committee this year has centred on the following rtems

- Board and Committee composition

Internal Board evaluatien

Review of Non-Executrve Director independence
» Reviewof Directors conflicts of nterest

+ Succession plannmng

Changes to the Listing Rules for companies with controlling shareholders

Actinties during the year

Recrutment processes

The Committee keeps the Board s balance of skills knowledge and
axpenence and the length of service of indwiduals under constant review
In respect of succession planning and supplementng the kil set of the
Board the Commuttee 1s responsible for the identificatton evaluation and
recommendation of candidates for appointment to the Board There has
been a formal process in place for a number of years and all of the current
Independent Nen-Executve Directors have baen through the same
selection process

This process involves the Committee working with the Executve Directors
and the wider Board to identify and agree the ¢riteria far the appaintment
of any new Independent Non-Executve director 1o the Board Once agreed
the Chairman of the Commitiee engages with and brefs an external
recnutment consultancy-The external recnutment consultancy 1s asked

Arnwal Report X005

The evaluation of the performance of the Chairman wasied by the
Seruor Independent Oirector The Charman of the Committee reported
the findings of the evaluation to the Committee and the Board

The overall conclusion was that indvidual Board members are satisfied
that the Board works welt and operates effectively in an ermvironment
where there 15 constructive challenge from the Non-Executive Directors
The Directors were satisfied with the current mix of skills and experience
on the Board and that the composttion of the Beard and ts Committees
had been adequately revewed during the year A number of new
independent Non-Executive directors have joined the Board since

201 and they have complemented the existing Board members and
contnbuted well to Boardroom debate offered alternative viewpoint s
and chaflenged perceptions

The qualty of informaton presented to the Board was of a high standard
and distnbuted on a umely basis There was a good balance of focus
between strategy the compeutive marketplace operations and governance
within Board meetings

It 15 the Intention of the Board to undertake an externally faciitated
evalation duning the 2015/16 financial year in ine with the Code

Independence

During the year all Non-Executive Directers were asked to complete
questionnares to enable the Committee to determine their independence
The Committee reviewed the questionnawes and recommended to the
Board that there be ne changes to the ndependent status of the current
Indepandent Non-Executive Directors The Non-Executive Directors who
are considered by the Board to be independent are clearlyidentified on

to draw up a st of potenual canchdates far the Committee to review

The Committee considers the Iist of potential candidates and agrees a
shorthst for mierview by the Charrman Group CEQ and other members
ofthe Committee and Board as appropriate Subject to agreement by the
Committee the Committee then recommends the proposed appomntee
to the Beard for censideration

Committee composition

Dunng the year the Committee reviewad the composition of ali Committees
On 24 July 2014 Martn Gilbert stepped down as a member of the
Remuneration Commuttee and Adine Grate was appointed in hrs place

with effect from 25 July 2014 Following Andy Higginson s retirement

at the Company s 2014 AGM it was agreed that Martin Gilbert be appomnted
as 510 on 21 November 2014 Marun replaced Andy as a member of the
Corporate Governance & Nominations Committee on the same date

Nick Ferguson was identified as a sutable successor as Chairman of

the Corporate Gevernance & Nominatians Commiitee and he succeaded
Andy Higginsen on 21 November 2014

Board evaluation

The Board undertakes an annual review of its effectveress and at
least once every three years anindependent third party facditates the
evaluation Dunng the year the Charrman of the Committee conducted
annternal evaluation and scheduled time with each Director to discuss
the foltowrng

the effectveness of the Board as a whole
« the mix of skills and expenence on the Board
« the effectiveness of Board processes and procedures
« development of the Company s strategy and

- the performance of Board committees

page 42

As noted on page 42 James Murdoch Chase Carey Dawd DeVoe and Arthur
Siskind are not considered to be independent within the meaning of the
Code However following the evaluation the Committes considers that each
of these directors continue to make asignificant contnbution to Board and
Comrmuttee discussions

Directors conflicts

The Committee reviewed the Board s conflicts during the financial
year and conduded that Directors conflicts had been appropriately
authonsed and that the process for authorisation was operating
effectively The Committee and the Board will continue to monitor
and review potential conflicts of interest and take action to miugate
them as necessary

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the hsting rules came into effect in November 2014 which
require a premium listed company whch has one or more controlling
shareholders to have in place an agreement which is intended to ensure
that any controlling sharcholder complies with the independence prowvisions
Inthe Listing Rules {(see page 70) TheCommuittee engaged external counsel
o assist with negotiating a relabionshp agreement with our controiling
shareholder 2¥s5t Century Fox Inc which was subsequently entered into

by the Company on 13 November 2014
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(continued)

Bigger Picture Committee

Chairmans overview

There were two meetngs during the year and after each Committee
meeting | reparted to the Board on the key 1ssues discussed

1 am pleased to report that there has been significant progress across
the Bigger Pictureinitiatives in the UK and Ireland fror butlding the reach
impact and awareness of Sky Academy tothe continued success of Team
Sky and the Company s approach toresponsible business

Sky s commutment has been recogrised through its strong performance
in a number of iInvestor indices duning the year induding the Carbon
Disclosure Project and the Dow Jones Sustamabiity Index

The Committee believes that the focus and scale of the work being done
conbinues to make a significant contribution to Sky s abihity to build a better
business for the lang term

Progress agawnst all of the Bigger Picture commitments and inibiatives
15 detaled at sky com/biggerpicture

James Murdech
— e Committee Chairman

Activities during the year

The Committee oversaw a number of key developments in relaton

to Sky s Bigger Picture snitratives notably progress towards aur target
to help one million young pecple buld practical skills and expenence
through Sky Academy in the UK and Ireland

Sky Academy s a set of iniuatrves using the power of TV creatmaty and
sport to unlock the potential inyoung people In addiuon to the angoing
success of the Sky Sports Lnang for Sport. Sky Academy Skills Studios

Sky Academy Scholarships and Sky Academy Starting Out, the Committee
oversaw the development of the new Sky Academy Careers Lab at Skys
Waest London campus which will see at least 4 000 young pecple aged
16-19 wisst Sky cach year to gaincareer insights and build employability
skils Dunng the year we also launched an additional Sky Academy Skills
Studio at our Lmngston site in Scottand which is providing opportunities
for another 12 000 young peaple in Scottand ta take part inaddibon to
the 12000 in West London each year Both intiatives have provided more
opportumbes for Sky staff to get mvolved in Sky Academy through
volunteenng and we saw a 43% increase in volunteering this year

The gpening of Sky Academy Careers Lab supports the Committees I
wiew that the Sky Academy expenences should be providing insight into

the dversity of roles for young people at Sky The Commuttee noted the i
InCrease in career opportuniies for young peaple through Sky Academy |
Starting Out wath 1100 places across s apprenticeship graduate

placement and work expenence programmes m 201415 up from almost [
600 1n 2013/14 which 15 on track against the commitment to deuble the '
number of career opportunities available for young people within Sky

In three years.

Composition of the Committee
James Murdoch (Chairman)
Tracy Clarke

Dava Lewrs

Attendance at Committee Meetings

The Group CEQ Group CFQ senior executives represent atves from
Corporate Affars and the Bigger Picture team attend meetings at the
request of the Charman The Deputy Company Secretary acts as Secretary
to the Committee The Committee s terms of reference are avalable onthe
Compaty's corparate website

Biggar Picture Committee Agenda
Focus for the year has centred on the following items

- Arewview of progress on Sky Acacemy
+ The impact of our partnership with Briush Cychng and Team Sky
« Progress as detalledin Sky s Bigger Picture reporung

Over the year the Commuttee reviewed the achievemnents of Sky Academy
n working towards Its targets for increasing participation impadt and
awareness Of note has been the doubling of customer awareness of

Sky Acaderry along with the triphing of prospect awareness gver the year

Through the partnership with British Cychng the Committea noted that
over 1 7 milion more pecple are now cycling at least once a month when
compared to 2009 The Commitiee also noted the role of Team Skyin
using the insprraucn of elite success to drve partiapation In addition
the Committee was mformed of the Team Sky objectives to strengthen
the focus on Grand Tour performance and budd fan engagement 85 we
move into the tast 18 manths of the partnership with Bnush Cycling

Through its review of the Bigger Picture reporting the Committee noted
the overall progress aganst Sky s commitments incdudingin relation to
the Company's Bpproach 1o responsible business The recommendations
the Committee made to mmprove the communicatian of progress have
been incorperated for the 201415 year

Overall the Committee continued Lo note the positive economic social
and envirpnmental contribution of Sky For more snfermation about Sky s
approach and progress over the year go to sky com/biggerpicture
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report

Annual statement from the Chairman

Dear Shareholder
On behalf of the Board | am pleased to present our Directors
Remunerauon Repoert for the year ended 30 June 2015

Context and business performance

Thus has been a transformauoenal year for Sky By acquiring the Sky
bustnesses in Germarny and [Laly we have opened up a significant new
growth opportunity whist centinumng to detiver excellent financal and
operational performance There has been strong growth across allour
markets, particularly m the UK and freland and we have increased the
ddend Lo our sharehalders by 3% This represents the 1th consecutive
year of dvedend grewth an excellent record by any measure

These results are particularly strong considenng the level of change in
the busmess Group revenue 15 up 5% year on year and operaung profit
up by 18% In the UK and Ireland we achueved the highest orgaric customer
growth in 11 years whie in Germany and Austna we delivered record
customer growth and m Italy we held our customer base stable after three
years of dechne tn totalwe added almost one mitlion new customers across
our five temtones 45% mone than i the poar year ta taks our asstomer
base past the 21-milkonmark At the same time,we increased our paid-for:

The continued support of our sharehglders s extremely important to us
The Commuttee intends Lo review iLs position on dawback with a wew

to Introducing suitable provisions for our business alongside our exrsting
policy onmalus over the course of the next year The Committee revisited
the topic of disclosure this year speifically the degree to which it deems
the disclosure of performance targets te be commeraally sensitive

and the urmung of disclosure

Misclosure of performance targets

Our targets which include significant fixed costs relatng to nghts deals
are commercially sensiuve We operate in a highly competive market,
bothin acquinng customers and bidding for key nghts with a discrate
number of players and a number of our direct campetitors do not
disciose therr targets

Neverthefess the Commuttee acknowledges invastor concerns and has
decided to disclose the targets for the 2013 annual bonus and LTIP vesting
a year earlier than we anticipated in the Remunerauon Report last year

We continue to disclose performance ranges in advance for EPS growth

for the Co-Investment Plan and relauve TSR performance for the Long Term
Incentve Plan The Committee will continue to usets judgement at the
end of each year to determine ievels and meng of disclosure

Inaddivon the Committee has also provided greater darity on pay and
performance outcomes for the 2015 bonus payment and Long Term
Incentive Plan vesting A clearer chart and more detaled commentary
on performance are provided on pages 53 to 55

Impact of the acquisitron of Sky Deutschland and Sky itaha e

subscnption products by ¢ 6 million for the year and saw a sigreficant
INCrease In customer loyalty with churn under 10% 1n each of our markets
Agunst this backdrop of excellent performance the Business has a strong
platform on which to build and a clear set of plans to deliver long-term
growth and returns for shareholders

The bong-term sustainability and success of our businessisbasedon a
relentless focus an our key drivers for growth Our remuneration policy
directly inks pay to the achvevement of stretching performance targets
which drive cur strategy as et out on page 4 This princaple of inking pay
to stretch performance has remamned unchanged over the past six years
and has helped to maintain the stability and focus of the senior team to
delver outstanding value to our shareholders The Committee ensures
that the performance measures selected i its incentve plans reflect the
key performance indicators of the business ang thereby pronide a direct
link to Sky s strategic arms Having conswdered other performance
measures the Commuttee s comfortable that the current measures

and thay inclusion acress all three incentme plans ensures the nght knk
to our strategic KPis and the proper focus on these results over both

the short and long term

Last year the Gommuttee introduced a number of changes Lo our
remuneraton policy which were well recewved by our shareholders including
the introduction of a cap ort annual Long Term Incentrve Plan awards a
minimum shareholding requirement for Executive Directors a formal pohicy
onmalus and more explanation and disclosure an performance outcomes

Following the comptetion of the acquusitions of Sky Deutschiand and Sky
Kalia in November 2014, the Committee considered whether any changes
to exgcutve remuneration were required Notwithstanding the new
international and enfarged responsibikties of both Execitive Directors
as aresult of this transaction the Committee deaded that easting
campensation arangemeants were appropnate

In respect of our multi-year incentive plans that span the transacton
period the Commuttee made no change to the required performance
targets but resolved that to avord any distortive effect from the
transaction measurernent wollld e made on a lika-for-like hasis
restaung esther to a UK & treland only basis or to a pro farma basis
for the wransaction and disposal of Sky Bet depending upon when
the plans commenced Targets for all new plans that commence
post-complebion are on the basis of the enlarged Group

Full detaus of all targets and the actual performance agamnst these
will be discdosed 1n alignment with cur policy on disclosure

Pay and performance outcomes for 2015

Performance across the Group has been excelent and renforces that

©our approach Lo INCEATMSALIGN CONTINUES LO work our management team
15 delivering the right outcames for the business and Sky s shareholders
it s against this great set of results that the Commuttee has decided the
remuneration forits Executive Drectors
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Annual statement from the Chairman

(contnuad)

Annual bonus

Each year the Committes constders the busminess plan and pronties in
settig one dear amntious stretch target for each chasen measure of
performance The key measures that drive our business ptan are product
growth, operating profit and eperating cash flow Payments earned under
this plan are deterrmined by the performance achieved under each of the
three measures and the bonus s structured such that there would be a
matenal impact on the annual benus for underperformance There s also
no additional payment for performance beyond the stretch targets

Operational performance acrass the Group has been excellent This was
led by the outstanding performance of the UX and Ireland business
which delivered our strongest customer growth for 1 years Paid-for
product growth for the UK and Ireland was 3 3 mithian sigrficantly
ahead of stretch target

This strong trading performance combined with a continued focus on
operaucnal efficiency and cost contrel delivered an adjusted operating
profit to £1 4 billion in the UK and Ireland ahead of target Operating cash
flow whuch 1s animportant indicator of the financial health of the business
and its ability to sustan and grow s operations was ahead of target at
E14 bilion

As a result of the excellent performance this year and i accordance with
the rules of the scheme the Remuneration Committee approved maximum
banus awards of 200% and 150% for the Group CEQ and Group CFO
respectively for this performance year

Long Term incentive Plan
The business has delvered a remarkable period of sustained performance

P - . R |+ Jisitions made dunngthe
dinng the'three-year penod of this Plan~2012 to 2015 Al threg'af the The Committes consdered whether the acauisitions made duning the

operational measures - revenue growth operating cash flow and growth
i earmngs per share - were exceeded with revenue growthin the UX and
Iretand of 17% earrungs in the UK and Ireland up by 33% and an average
annual operating cash flow in the UK and Iretand of E1 4 bilicn Therefore
this part of the Plan will pay out in full However the part of the Plan based
on refative TSR performance will pay out at 75 8% The total overall vesting
15 therafore 93%

This conssstently strong company performance has delvered excellent,
returns for our shareholders and the Board has proposed a 3% increase
in the dividend to 32 8p which 15 the 11th consecutve year of growth

A signficant element of the value delvered to Executive Directors by this
Plan s a direct consequence of the mcrease in the share pnce over the
threg-year performance penod Qur approach to swarding a fixed number
of shares each year with no correlation 1o salary means that year-on-year
growth in total remuneration can only be achieved through share price
appreciauon particularty when stretch performance targets are being
met This construct delivers strong sharehalder abgnment By awarding

an absolute number of shares as opposed to a percentage of salary
management benefit when the share price ncreases but are exposed if the
share price decines In addiion vesting occurs only every two years which
helps to ensure that the management team brings a longer-tarm focus

1o the business This year 1S a vestng year so it 18 important to remember
that the LTIP payment this year represents two separate years of grants
not one This causes a spike m total pay every other year and distorts

the single figure remuneration shown on page 57 as therewll be no

LTIP payment next year total remuneration wik be significantly reduced

n 2016 The next LTIP vesung will be in Juty 2017

Co-investment Plan

This s a highty successful plan for our most serar managers It encourages
them to reinvest ther earned bonus into Company shares and therefore
the future of our business Vesting1s deferred for three years and
dependent on EPS growth underpinming alignment wo shareholders
interests Qur Executive Directors reinvested the maxumum 50% of ther
annual bonus in the 2012 Plan Over this three-year perniod the growth

tn earnings per share m the UK and Irefand of 33% was i excess of the
maximum vesting threshold and the matching shares therefore vest

tn full Detads are provided on page 53

Remunerationin 201516

The Commttee follows a policy of mamtaining lower levels of fixed pay
relative to the market We are confident that the structure of a high ratio
ofvanable to fixed pay continues to provide a strong ink between pay

and performance and daitvers migh retums for our shareholders Solooking
ahead to the new finanoial year 2015716 while the level of personal
achievement detivered by the Executive Drectors would allow for greater
increases under the all employee salary review policy the Committee has
made modest adustments to the base salanes of the Group CEQ and
Group CFQ of 3% effective 1 July 2005

Long Term Incent:ve Plan awards of 500000 for the Group CEO and
350 000 for the Group CFO are maintained at the same level as was
praviously agreed last yaar and in hine with our polcy

The performance measures for the annual banus LTIP and Co-Investment.
Plan also remamn unchanged

year might lead te a change i the long-term incentive arrangements

After careful reflection the Committee determingd that the LTIP and
Co-Investment Plan which are both key elements of the total remuneration
for the broader management team of Sky plc has been successfulin
dnving performance ncentivsing management and delivenng shareholder
returns The Committee continues to keep all elements of the remuneration
policy and structure under review to ensure 1t dnves the performance

of the business and therefore the interests of the shareholders

Tracy Qarke
Committee Chairman
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Directors’ remuneration report
Annual Remuneration Implementation Report

Thus saction sets out how ot remuneérabion policy was implemented durning
the year ended 30 June 2015 and how it will be implemented for the coming
year It alse sets out the Ink between Company performance and Executive
Directors remuneration the context in which our polcy operates cetails
on our Executrve Directors shareholdings and the general governance of
Directors remuneration The ramuneration policy 1s summansed on page
64 10 69 and avalable o read in full in cur 2014 Annual Report which can

be accessed via owr corporate website at skycom/corporate

Vanable pay outcomes for the year ended
30 June 2015

As shown on pages 13 to 15 the business has delivered anothar year
of exceptional operating and financal performance in what has been
atransformational year for Sky All measuras for the plans operating
in the year ended 30 June 2015 and described in this section are for
the UK and Ireland

Annual bonus far 2015 performance

The annual borus drives the achievement of annual financiad and
operatonal business goals The plan for 2015 for Executve Directors and
senior executives was based on three equally weighted measures which
were dentified by the Committee as being key indicators of performance
daving growth farour business and returns to our shareholders

+ Paud For Products Grawth
« Adjusted Operating Profit

= Adjusted Operating Cash Flow This s a key measure of the underlying
health of the business and strong performance of £141 bilkon ahead
of stretch target contmues 1o support our growth strategy

As aresult of this excellent performance the Remuneration Cornrmittee
recommended that the maxmum bonus awards of 200% and 150% of base
salary be awarded to the Group CEO and Group CFO respectively far this
performance year

Annual bonus metncs

Performance Wemghting Performance Achievement agamnst
measure parformance measures
UK and Ireland pad-  33% +33m Signdicant out-parformance
for products growth

UK and Ireland 33% E3350m Out perfyrmance
operating profit

UK and Ireland 33% E1414m Strong out-parformance
operating cash flow

The Committee judges that immediate retrospective cisclosure of
specific targets 1s commeraally sensitive because we operate i a highly
competitiva market both in acquiring customers and brdding for key
nghts vath a2 very small number of players Wa therefare believe that
early disclosure of our targets would offer an unfarr competitive
advantage and would be to the detnment of our shareholders

We will make retrospective disciosure when the targets are deemed
to be no longer commercially sensrtve We anticipate this to be two

+~Adpusted Operating Cash Flow

We bebeve the concept of threshold target and maximum performance
would compromise the drive for growth so the Committee sets one clear
stretch target for each perfarmance measure each year after careful
consideration of the busmess plan and of consensus analyst forecasts

Thus year we have prowded greater clanty on performance outcomes

The table in the next column sets out the Commiktee s assessment of
performance versus the three measares for the last performance pened
The Committee sets stretching targets which must be delivered to achieve
the business plan and for the Executive Directors to receve the maximum
bonus There are no payments above maximum for performance above
these stretch targets

The Commuttee will use its judgement to assess the level of bonusif

a stretch target s not met taking into account personal performance
the performance of the other measures the underying performance
of the business and other factors which the Committee conswders

to be materal to the results achieved Payments are earnedin direct
correlation to performance achteved Performance agamst these key
targets ts described below

* Paid for Products Growth In the UK and treland we saw our strongest
aperauonal performance for many years with eéxceptional product
growth in the UK of +3 3 milbon which significantly exceeded the swretch
target. underpinned by our continued Focus on customer qualty and
our iIrvestiment in produc ity improvement s which drove robust growth
in both new customer additions and pawd-for product sales in abughly
competitsve market Increased customer loyalty and satisfactionss
alsa reflected in a sigrificant reductionin our churn rate

Adjusted Operating Profit Strong revenue growth and a successful
operauonal efficiency programme resulted in an operating profit
of €135 billon whichwas ahead of stretch target

nodaidsoens

DABLLIDAOE)

years aftertheend of the performance period

Vesting of shares under the Co-investment Plan 2012-2015

Under the terms of the CIP offered on 28 August 2012 for the performance
period | July 2012 ko 3GQ June 2015 Executive Directors voluntanly deferqed
50% of their earned 2012 bonus into nvestment shares which wera then
maiched by the Company up to 15 umes the gross equnvalent of ther
mvestmeant

The table below shows the performance conditions for vesting of the
matching shares

EPS grawth performance March awarded
(annual average growth {number of matching shares
over threo-year term) awarded per mvestment share*)
Less than RPI +3% 00
RPI +3% 10
RPl +4% 117
RPr+5% 133
RP1 +6% 15
More than R +6% 15

Straight-Ine intaspolation between paints
* 18 on equvalent gross bass

The average ad,usted UX and Ireland basic EPS growth rate of 10% per
year over the three-year penod exceeds the threshold for maxrmum
vesting The Committee has agreed that the matching shares under
the 2012 CIP will vest in full on 28 August 2005

Vasting of shares under the Executive Long Term Incentive Plan 2012-2015
The vesting of awards made in 2012 and 2012 for the performance penod

1 July 2012 to 30 tune 2015 was deperident on operational performance
measures which determined 70% of the award and TSR the remaming 30%
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(contnued)

The three equally weighted operational per formance measures each of which 15 a key indicator of Sky s continued success were

+ Revenue growth key to our growth strategy

-+ Operating cash flow measures our abikty to generate and manage cash

+ EPS growth measures our bottom line performance

Points wera awarded for performance on the three operational measures as follows

« ForEPS two points are awarded for growth of RP| +3% per year with the maxmum 10 points awarded for RP! +5% per year or more

- For operating cash flow and revenue growth one paint s awarded for 75% achevement of ‘target on a shding scale up ko 10 points for 105% ar more
« Onepoint equates 1o 10% of the award vesting with maximum vesting for 21 points or more vesting on astraight-line basis between these points
Annual Performance Measures are shown 1o detail in the table below

Average EPS groweth Qperating cash flow Revenug growth
Performancs Performance
Parformance Points achieved Paints achwved Pomts
achigved awarded (% of target) awarded (% of target) awarded
RP +S%pa 10 105% or more 10 105% or mare W
RA +45%pa B8 100% 8 100% 8
RPI+4%pa <) 95% 5 95% 6
RAI+35%pa 4 9% 4 a0% 4
RP 4+3%pa 2 B85% 2 85% 2
Lessthan RP +3% pa 4] 75% 1 75% 1
Less than 75% 0 Less than 75% [«]

As with the annual bonus the committee will make full retraspective disclosure when the targets are deemed to be no longer commercially sensitive
which (s anticipated to be two years after the end of the performance peniod However the commentary and performance chart below aims to provide
greater transparency and darity for our shareholders

Aswith the bonus performance measures the committee made careful consideration of consensus analyst forecasts and the business plan before
setung what it beeved to be stretching performance targets Payments are earned w1 direct correlation to performance achieved and perfarmance
against each target 1s descnbed below

« Revenue growth revenue has increased by 17% over the penad ;n UK and Ireland which s 10 excess of the performance target represenung
excellent growth and strong momentum for the future

Operating cash flow A key measure of the underlying health of the business and the ability of the management team to sustain and grow
its operations Average annual operating cash flow in the UK and Ireland of £14 bilion was in excess of target

EPS growth The top end of the EPS growthrange was set far awards in 2002 and 2013 at RPI +5% p 8 This 15 equivalent to absolute growth in earmings
of 26% over three years if RPY 1S 3% a year This level of growth in earnings was set at alevel which exceeded consensus research anatysts esumates
2t the me Actua! growth i edrnings per share over the three-year penod was 10% with average RP over the penad of the scheme of 2 3% pa

This element of the planvests in full reflecting the value generated for cur shareholders over this perwod

The actual points awarded for the pencd are

Actual pornts awarded

Average EPS growth Operating cash flow Revenua growth
Actual points awarded  Actual points awarded  Actual pomis awarded
1000 1000 oo

The total of 30 0015 well ahead of tha 21 points required for full vesting of this element of the award which camprises 70% of the total

Despite excellent share price growth and a consistent dwidend policy our TSR performance over the three-year pencd was an wicrease of 727 compared
to the FTSE median of 48 7% with the upper quartia at 90 2% and as a consequence 75 9% of thus proportion of the award vested on 28 July 2005
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The table below summarises perfarmance over the three-year performance period versus the stretch targets

2012-20%5 Long Term Incentive Plan performance metrics

Performance Weighting  Perfaormance Achigverngnt against

measure perfarmance measurgs
Revenue Growth 23% ns% Cut-perfovmancs
Operating Cash 23% 4% Out parformance
Fow
EPS Growth 23% 137% Sugnificant sut-performanes
Relatwe TSR 30% 759% Betwren madan

anduppaf gustie

The total overall vesting for the LTIP was therefore §3% Over the longer term our consistently strong company performance has delivered excellent
retymns for our shareholders and the Soard has proposed a 3% increase in the dvidend to 32 8p which s the Tith consecustve year of grawth

Long Term Incentive Plan, Co-Investment Plan and Sharesave Awards made in the Year

poda %Bmeng

DIUCUIIAOD

Minimum % Maximum %
No of shares Face Value on of sharesthat  of sharesthat
awarded Grant Date Date cf Grant  Performance Penied  Vesting Date can vest can vest

Long Term Incentve Plan

Jeremy Damroch 600000 250714 £5 247000 010714 -300617 250777 0% 100%

Andrew Gnffith 350000 250714 £3060 750 010714 -300617 250717 % 100% n
]

Co-Investment Plan ﬁ

Jeremy Darroch 163644 010914 £1443 3407 010714 -300617 00817 0% 100% )

Andrew Griffith 76930 010914 E6rs 523! 010714 -300617 010977 0% 100% ?&
3

Sharesave Plan &

Jeremy Darroch 2135 300914 41:1-0 nfa 010220 n/a n/a

Andrew Griffith 127 300914 Ny nia 010218 nla n/a

1 Market pnce ot date of LTIP award was £3 745 0n 25 July 2014

2 Market prce at cate of P matching award was £8 B2 on 1 September 2014

3 Market pnce at ctate of Sharesave grant was EB 82 on 20 September 2054

Performance conditions fgr the Long Term Incentve Plan

Awards made in July 2014 were Yeart nul-cost aptign awards That s they relate Lo the three-year performance penod beginning on  fuly 2014 and

ending on 30 June 27 and are subject to the following performance conditions

1 Operational targets - 70% of the award

There are three equally weighted operational performance measures eachof which s a key indicator of Sky s conlinued success

+ EPSgrowth "

+ QOperating cash flow §

+ Revenue growth 4
(=3

The Committee will make retrospective disclosure of these targets when they are deemed to be no longer commeroally sensitive We anticipate this to be ]

two years after the end of the performance penod This means that we will review disclosure of performance targets 1n our 2019 implementation report %

with a view to publishing unless the Commuttee believes they are stil commercially sensitive In the context of the market «n which the company operates 3
o

- For EPS two poInts are awarded for growth of RPI +3% per year with the maximum 10 ponts awarded for RPI +5% per year or more §

For aperating cash flow and revenue growth one poirk 1s awarded for 75% achievement of target on a shding scale up to 10 ponts for 105% ar more

One pont equates to 10% of the award vestuing with mawmum vesting for 21 points or more vesung on a strarght-ine basis between these pomnts
Thera s no additsonal award for achievement above 21 points

If the muiremum range 1s met each year for all measures 26% of the shares vest

The Committee sets a high threshold vesting ievel in fine with our policy of rewarding success not falure Maximum vesting is nat achtevable if
performance is below threshald for any one measure

To eamn the mmimum of gne point on any one of these measures requires the achievement of 75% of target Missing two targets would reprasent a
significant and disproportionate reducuon i total compensation
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Annual performance measures are shown in further detailin the table below

Average EPS Growth Cperating Cash Flow Revenue Growth
Performance achieved Performance

Performance achieved Points awarded (% of target) Points awarded acheved (% of target) Points awarded
RM 45% pa 10 105% or mare 10 105% or more 10
RP1+45%pa a 100% B 100% B8
R +4%pa 6 95% -] 95% B
RM+35%pa 4 S0% 4 90% a
RPI+3%pa 2 B5% 2 B85% 2
Less than RPI +3%pa Y] 75% 1 75% 3
Less than 75% o Less than 75% [+)

The top end of the EPS growth range was set for awards in 2014 at RPt +45% p a This is equivalent to absolute growth in earnings of 26% over three years
If RP1s 3% a year This level of growth in earmings was set at a level which exceeded consensus resgarch analysts estmates

2 Relative TSR performance = 30% of the award

The Company s TSR performance 1s measured relative to the TSR of the constituents of the FTSE 100 If the Company s TSR parformance 1s below median
the TSR element of the award lapses in full For median performance one-thirg of the shares subject to the TSR condition may vest, with all the shares
vesting for upper quartde performance Vesung 1s on a straght-hne basis between these pontsas shown below

TSR Vesting Schedule

TSR calcutaions are conducted independently by Towers Watsen adwsors to the Committee

Performance conditions for the Co-Investment Plan
CIP awards made in 2014 are subject to the performance condiions set out In the table below

EPS growth performance Match awarded
(annual averzge growth {number of matching shares
over three-year term) awarded per investment share')
Less than RPI +3% 00
RPY +3% 10
RPI +a% 125
RP1 +5% 15
More than RPI +5% 15

Suaght-line sinterpolation between pomts
1& on eguvalent gross basts
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Review of past performance

TSR performance

The graph below shows the Carmpany s TSR far the six years to 30 June 2015 measured as the value of 2 £100 holdingin ordinary shares at the start
of the penod The performance 1s shown relative to the FTSE 100 which represents the broad market index agaist which the Company s shares are
traded With the acquisiions of Sky Doutschland and Sky Italia the narrow focus of the FTSE 350 Media companses 1s no longer relevant gven the
broader scope of the business and this index which was shown m previous years, is removed from the chart below

TSR 1s 2 measure of the returns that a company has provided for its shareholders reflecting share price movermnents and assuming resnvestment
of dwidends Datais averaged over three months at the end of each financial year

Payments made to Executive Directors

The table below sets out total remuneration recewved by the Executive Drectors for the financal year ended 30 June 2015 and the pnor year
ended 30Juna 2014 The vesting pattesn of awards undorthg LTIR.s bienmal, sharesves? gvery otheryear over a throe-year performance period
Tius means that every other year no payment 1s due as thera i1s no vesting of awards The following year assurming performance conditions are met
there will be a payment which covers the equivalent of two vears vesting 2015 was a year inwhich the LTIPs awarded for the performance peried

1 July 2072 to 30 June 2015 vested The single figure for the Group CEQ 10 2015 15 therefore larger than the 2014 figure

Single Figure for Executive Directors’ Total Remuneration (audited)

Long Term
Salary' Taxable Benelits? Pensian® Bonus* incentive Plan® Co-Investment Plan® Tota)
1 204 s 2014 2005 2014 2015 2614 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 W05
Jeremy 960700 984750 17507 18607 14949 147814 1921400 1969 500 nfa 1818440 1830092 1950138 4879590 166892439
Darmech
AGrr:?;ew 602175 6520000 es 16115 8348 94755 903263 930000 nfa 6303168 843936 837111 2448970 B851M4B
ith

1 Executrve Directors salanes were ncreased on’ July 2014 by 2 5% for the Group CEQ and 2 96% For tha Group CFO The average increasa for employees at that ime was 2 5%

nsing to 3 5% for those eaming less than£ 30 000 per year with a range of 0% to 1% for perfornance promoucns and market adjsuments

Taxable benefits include Company car of car allawance and healthcare

Pension comprises a cash allowance i heu of company contnbutons for Jereny Darroch and Andrew Gaffith

4 Bonus shows the fuli amount eamed shortly after year end in which the perk ¢ enessures apphed wduding amounts defered through the QP The payout for the 2014 bonus

was 200% of base salary for the Group CEO and 150% for the Group CFQ The higures for 2015 are 200% for the Group CEO and 150% for the Group CFO The Exetutive Diregctors

deferred 50% of thesr bonus Into shares through the CIP i 2014 and it 1s antiapated they will de so for 2015

Long Term incentrve Plan showes the market vakue of the awards vested immediately following the end of the relevant performance penod No LTIR shares vestad for the performance

penod ended 30 June 2014 The figure for 2015 15 For LTIP shares which vested on 28 July 2015 using the average share prce over the period 1 Aprd to 30 June 2015 of £1059

6 Ca-tnvestment Plan shows the market value of the matching shares that vested on 30 August 2014 with & shart prce of €8 82 Previousty the value of these shares was estimated
using the average share price over the penod 1Apnl tg 30 fune 2014 of £3 B1 It also shows the estimated va'ue of matching shares that are due to vest on 28 August 2015 using the
average share pnce over the penod 1Apnl to 30 Juna 2015 of £1059

w h
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(continued)

Group CEQ’s remuneration

The table below provides a summary of the total remuneration for the

Group CEQ over the past six years induding bonus payout LTIP and CIP
vesting levels The table highiights the unique structure of our remuneration
policy in which vestung of LTIP shares occurs eviery two years rather than

the customary 12-menth cycle As our LTIP awards are made as a fixed
number the realised value is purely reflective of delrvery against performance
measures and any share price growth over this penod keeping 1t aligned

to shareholders mnterests

It should be noted that total remuneration for 2013 includes vesung of the
one-off additional LTIP award of 300,000 shares made in 201 at the time

of the possible News Corporation bid The average annual total remuneration
paid to the Group CEC over this sei-year penod excluding this one-off award

Disclosure of Performance Targets for 2013

The Committee has discussed at length its approach to disclosure of
performance targets Whilsk maintaining its posiuon that early discosure
of targets would be commercially detrimental because of the tughty
competitive nature of the market «n which it operates it considers that
perfarmance targets for the 2013 annu.al bonus and for the Long Term
incentive Flan that vested in that year are no longer commercially sersitve

In settmg the targets the Committee gave careful consideration to the
business plan and to the research analyst consensus forecasts at the time
The targets and performance for the 2013 annual bonus are shown in the
table below

201213
s £9108 856 Performancevs
Performance Metnc Target Performance Target
?;:J:s' "sm: Paid-for Products Grawth +275m +2563m 93%
payout ratés cip  Qperaung Profit E1300m £1330m 102%
Sengle agamnst against vesung rates  Operating Cash Flow £1275m £1396m 109%
figure maximum maximum against maxmum
aftotal opportunity opportunity opportunity  Onthe basis of this performance the Committee determuned that the
Year remunaration % % % bonuswas paid at 97 5% of maximum for the Group CEO and 96 7% for the
2015 16 889 249' 100 93 B0 Group CFO
gg:g 1‘; g;g ggg: ;?g l'g; :gg The Long Term Investment Plan that vested in 2013 far the 2010-2013
performance penod was based on three equally weighted aperational
20012 4550037 100 nfa 100 performance measures of average EPS graowth Operatung Cash Flow
on 11133554 100 83 M3 and Revenue Growth Eachwas considered by the Commuttea to be
2010 2678744 100 n/a n/a

1 indudes vaiuauon of LTIP shares which vested on 28 July 2005 and CIP matching shares
due 10 vest on 2B August 2015 both using the average share price over the perod
1Apnlte 30 June 2015 of E105%

2 Inchudes valuabon of CiP matchung shares which vested on 30 August 2014 with share
price of £8 B2 Previcusiy reported using the average share price over the penod
1 Aprd to 30 June 2004 of EB B1A

3 Inchudes vesting of the one-off addiuonal LTiP award of 300 00G shares made n
2011 at the tme of the possible News Corparatian nd

4 indudes First year of vesting of /P introduced in 2010

Parcentage change in Group CEO s remuneration 1.July 2074 to 30 June
2015

The table below shows the percentage change in Group CEC remuneration
from ¥ July 2014 to 30 June 2015 compared to the average change for all
employees

Group CEO%
change Allemployees % change
Base Salary' 5% 3 5% employees earmng less than
E£30000 2 5% above E30000
Tarable Benefis 39% 0%
Annual Bonus 25% 11%

1 Employees were swarded up ta 10% for outstanding performance promations and
market adjustments

Relative importance of pay spend
The tabie below shows totat employee costs and dmvdend payments to
shareholders for 2014 and 2018

2014 2015
(Em) (Em)
Total employee costs 1044 1334

Dindend payments 485 549

1 Group totalindud ng Germany and Italy

a key indicator of Sky s continued success-TSR wasnotincuded as

a performance measure for that particular award due Lo the possible
News Carporation (subsequently renamed 2ist Century Fox Inc) ted
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Remuneration of the Charrman and Non-Executive Directors
The table below summanses the key components of remuneration for cur Chairman and Non-Executive Directors

Elament and purpose

Opcraton

Fees

Reflect indmdual responstbilities and membership of Board
Commuttees Attract Non-Executrve Dwrectars with the skills and
expenence required to oversee the implementation of strategy

Fees for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors are
reviewed annually hawng regard to wndependent adwice and
surveys

The Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee
determines the faes pad Lo theChairman taking into account
the complawuty of the role and the bume and commitment required
The Board of Drrectors determines the fees for the Non-Executive
Cirectors

Addmional fees for membershep of or charmanshipaf a
cornmutiee or for other responsibihues, are payable in addition
10 the basic fees Feelevels for 2015 are disclosed in the table
on page 62

Non-Executrve Directors can elect to recense a portion of their
fees in the Company s shares which are purchased on a monthly
basis Directors who are deemed to be affilated with 215t Century
Fox ara not permitted to take part in this fachty Non-Executive
Directors interests are disclosed in the table on page 60

Benefits

Addibonal benefits may be provided For business purpases
eg provision of a car to travel o/from meeungs

Nan-Executve Directors are not ehgible to join Sky s pension plan

uody ¥dnens

DMILLLIDADS)

Non-Executive Directors are eligible to recesve a Sky subscnipton
package

Bonus and
Share Plans

Non-Exccutive Directors are nat ehigible to parbiopate m any
bonus or share scheme affered by the Company

Note and
termination
provisions

Each Non-Executive Director's appomtment s for an rutial
three-year term In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code afl Directors subrmit themselves for annual reappointment

Non-Executive Directors each have a letter of appaintment

these appeintments may be terminated without notice

Ary fees payable would be settled at the date of termination

No continuing payment of fees are due if a Non-Executve Drrector
15 not re-elected by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Board of Directars on 28 July 2015 and signed onats behalf by

Tracy Clarke

Chairman of Remuneration Committee
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Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

Introduction

In accordance wath the Companses Act 2006 the Corporate governance
report on pages 40 to 50 and nformation contained (in the Strategic report
forms part of this Directors’ report 2nd are incorporated by reference

The Directors present thew report together with the audited consokdated
and parent company financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

Shares

Dmndends

The Directors recommend a final dadend for the year ended 30 June 2015
of 20 50 pence per ordinary share which together with the interim dadend
of 12 30 pence paid to shareholders on 21 April 2015 wall make a total
dwidend for the year of 32 8O pence (2014 3200 pence) Subject to
approval at the 2015 AGM tha final didend will be pard on 20 Novernber
2015 to shareholders appearing on the register at the close of business

on 23 October 2015

Share capital

The Company s issued ardinary share capital at 30 June 2015 comprised
one dass of ordinary shares All of theissued arcinary shares are fully
pad and rank equally in alt respects Further details of the Company s
share capital and share issues under the penod under review are
disciosed i nota 25 to the consolidated financal statements

tnterests in voting rights

informaticn provided to the Compary pursuant to the UKListing
Anthornty's Discosure and Transparency Rules ('DTRs )y s published
on a Regulatory Information Service and on the Company's website
As at 30 tune 2015 the Company had been noufied under OTRS of
the following sigruficant holdings of voting rights inats shares

Percent

Amount of class

kientity of person or group owned notified
21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited' 672783139} N4
BlackRock Inc? 88 682765 586

1 Dsrect holding which is subject to restictons on s vatung nghts (please see Vobing
nghta below)

2 indirect holding

1 Mumber of shares hald 25 at 30 June 2005

Thera have been no changes to the above sigruficant holdings between
¥ July and 28 July 2015

The Employee Share Ownership Plan { ESOP ) was established to sausfy
awards made to participants of the Company s employee share plans
The trustees of the ESOP have waved the nght to dvidends payable
nrespect of the shares held byt except to the extent of 0001% of
the dwidend payable on each share At 30 June 2015 the ESOP had an
nterestn 14 805 780 of the Company s ordinary shares The Trustees
who are independent of the Company have full discretion on how they
vate the ordinary shares held by the ESOP

vating rights

The Company s Articles of Associabion provide that subject to any nghts
or restricions attached to any shares on a show of hands every member
present in parson of by proxy shafl have one vote, and on a poll every
member shall have one vote for every share of which he s a holder

On a poll votes may be given either personally or by proxy or (in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authonsed representatie

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at a general meeting may
appont one or mare proxies to attend and vote instead of hm If a member
appotnts more than one proxy he must specify the number of shares

whuch each proxy s entitled to exercise nghts over A proxy neednotba &
shareholder of the Company Holders of the Company s ordinary shares do
not have cumulatne voting nghts A voting agreement dated 21 September
2005 was entered into between the Company BSkyB Haldeo Ine,

21st Century Fox and 21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited which became
unconditional on 4 November 2005 and caps 21st Century Fox UK Nominees
Livuted s vouing nghts at any general meetung at 3718% The pravisions of
the votng agreement cease to apply anthe first to oceur of a number of
circumstances which include the date on which a general offer 1s made

by an independent person (as defined in the voting agreement) for the
ordnary share capital of the Company

Restrictions on transfer of securities

There are no specific restnctions on the transfer of securities n the
Company which 1s governed by the Artides of Assaciation and prevatng
legislation noris the Company aware of any agreements between holders
of secunties that may result in restrictions on the transfer of secunues
ar.that may result in restnctions on vaung nghts,

Vanation of nghts

Subject to the Compames Act 2006 rights attached to any <lass of shares
may be varied with the consent in wnting of the holders of three-quarters
innominal value of the 1ssued shares of the class or with the sanction of

a specal resolution passed at a separate general meeling of the
shareholders

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the Listing Rules came into effect in November 2014 which
require a premium isted company which has one or more controlling
shareholders to have in place an agreement which 1s intended to ensure
that any controling shareholder complies with the independence provisions
n the Listing Rulas

21st Century Fox ine ( 21CF ) and certan of its wholly owned subsidianes
directly orindirectly exercise or control 39 14% of the vouing nghts of the
Company and are therefore deemed to be controlling shareholders for
tho purposes of the Listing Rules

Accordingly the Company entered into a relatronship agreement with
21CF on 13 November 20 {the Relationsiwp Agreement ) contanng
the undertakings required by the Listng Rules

In accordance wath the Listing Rules the Board confirms that throughout
the penod under review that is from 13 November 2014 to 30 June 2015

() the Company has comphed with the independence provisions in
the Relationshup Agreement

{1} so faras the Company s aware, 2ICF and its associates have complied
with the independence provisions in the Relationshp Agreement. and

() sofarasthe Companyis aware 21CF has procured camphance by its
relevant subskhianes and their associates with the ndependence
provisions in the Relationship Agreement
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"
Outstanding share awards Jeremy Darroch (audited)
Share price Markat  Date from
At 30 June Vested  Exercised Lapsed At30June atdateof price on which
Date of award 2014 dunngyear duringyear dunngyear 2015 award exercise exercrsable Expury date
Lmps
260712 600000 - - - 800000 E7065 nfa 260715 26 0720
260713 600000 - - - 600000 £8 22 nfa 26015 60720
CIP Matching?* ¥
270809 204 425 - 204 425 - (o] £S40S £8 5877 270812 270817
3108107 183935 - 183935 - (s} £7075 E8 5a77 30813 310818 §
Elelel:RIL 207729 207729 207729 - 8] £6 46 EB 81 300814 300819
B0812 184149 - - - 184,149 E764 n/a 280815 280B20
280813 162794 - - - 162794 £ad na 280816 28082
Sharesave
250909 359 3591 359 - 0 £433 E9 555 010215 MOB15
Outstanding share awards Andrew Griffith (audited)
Share price Market Date from
At 30 June Vested  Exercised Lapsed At30June atdateof price on which
Date of award 2014 dunngyear dunngyear dunngyear 2015 award exercise exerosable Expury date
LT|ps
260712 320000 - - - 320000 E706S nfa 260715 260720
260713 320000 - - - 320000 £822 nfa 26015 WBOr20
CIP Matching234*
300817 95793 95793 95793 - o] £646 £881 300814 300819
280812 84713 - - - 843 £764 na 280815 280820
280813 74 245 = = = 74249 EB 4 Wa 290816 2808721
Sharesave - -
60gn 177 17N [ eril - 0 £508 £9 555 010215 010815

1 Performance condibons redating te LTIP awards made 1n 2012 and 2013 ara disciosed i the 2013 Annual Repoart
2 Tha shares ware exercrsed and subsequently sold on 1 September 2014 (Lhe Awards granted in 2011) and on 23 October 2014 (the Awards panted n 2009 and 2010)
The aggregate value receved by the Executiva Directors on exercise of ther 2009 2010 and 2011 CIP Matching Awards before tax was E6 009147

3 Dmwidends are payable on shares purchased through the CIP Duning the yeas the Executive Dwectors receivad £8172578 (2014 £82168 60)

4 Performance conditions relating to QP matcheng awards can be found on page 56
S Foliowing the vesting of awards partiopants continuing to be employed by the Company have five years o exercise their sward
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Directors’ remuneration report -

Annual Remuneration Implementation Report
{continued)

Single Figure for the Charrman and the Non-Executive Directors

The following table sets out the singte figuse for total remuneration for the Charman and Non-Executive Director's for the financial year ended
30 June 2015 and the pnor year ended 30 June 2014

2015 Total 2014 Total

Fees' Fees

Hrck Ferguson 473934 452375
Chase Carey 61500 60000
Tracy Clarke 106500 SS160
Dawd DevVoe 51500 60000
Dave Lewis 91500 90000
martin Gibert? 127513 105000
Adwine Grate* B0 855 66937
Andy Hrgginson” 61042 145000
James Murdoch 96500 95000
Matthieu Prgasse 71500 70000
Danny Rimer 61500 77769
Arthur Siskind 71500 70000
Andy Sukawaty 71500 70000

1 Bauit fees were increased by 2 5% with effect from 1.July 2014
Andy Higginson retired at the AGM on 21 November 2014

Martin Gibert replaced Andy Higgmnson as Senor indepe ndent Crrector and member of the Gavernance and Nominavons Commities followng Andy 5 retirement at the AGM
on 21 Noevember 2014

4 Ading Grate wds gppomted 2% 2 member of the Reviungratxon Comimitiee replacng Martin Gibert woth effect from 25 July 2014

w

Fees for the Charrman and base Non-Executive Director fees were increased by 2 5% effective 1 July 2015 as detalled in the table betow

1July 1duly
2015 014
£ £
Chairman {(all inclusive fee) 485782 473934
Deputy Charman' 30000 30000
Board member 63000 81500
Additional responsibilities
Senor Independent Drrector 40000 40000
Charrman of Committee 25000 25000
Member of Committeg 10000 10 000

1 The role of Deputy CA3TAAN 1S NOL raquired to be filed at tha present bme

Payments to past Directars and loss of office
There were ho payments made to past directors and no payments made for loss of office dunng the financal year

Shareholder voting outcomes

The Company 15 committed to engaging with Sharehalders and every year engages with major sharehalders andnstitutional iInvestar groups to
talk about remuneration Thus enables the Campany to take sharehotders views fully into account when making decisions about remuneration
AL the AGM held on 21 Novemnber 2014 92 97% voted in favour of the Remuneration Policy and B6 23% of sharehalders voted in favour of the
Curectors Report on Remuneration

Resolution Votes For % For Votes Against % Against  TotatVotesCast  Votes Withheld
Approval of the Remuneration Palicy 1313682688 9297 99 341288 703 1413023976 13646452
Approval of the Remuneration Report 996 564 557 8623 159084 662 1377 1155649619 21020809

The Committee has sought the views of major shareholders since then and has made a number of important changes to its approach to transparency and
disclosure of performance targets as set out in the Chaitrman s statement on page 51
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Membership of the Committee

Dunng the year ended 30 June 2015 the Committee chaired by Tracy Clarke met five umes Nick Fergusen Adine Grate and Andy Sukawaty are members

of the Committee Attendance dunng the year is shown on page 42 Marun Gilbert stepped down from the Committee on 24 July 2004 and Adine Grate

was appointed in hrs place with effect from 25 July 2014

Role of the Committee o

Tne role of the Committee 1s to oversee the remuneration policy so that the Company s able to recruit. retain and motivate ts Executives and reward S

ther iIndividual contnbutions m a fawr and responsible manner The Committee reviews the design and structure of employee incentives and 1S responsible 2

for approving the key terms of employment for the Executve Directors or any Senior executive who reparts directly to the Group CEO The full terms of ﬁ

reference for the Committee are available on the Company s corporate website The terms of reference were rewewed during the year as part of the

normal corporate review process and no matenal changes were made

Committee activiies during the year

The table below shows a surmmary of the key areas discussed by the Committee dunng the financal year

July 2034 November 2014 January 2015 Apnl 2015 June 2015

Performance outcomes for  Performance update - Performance update - Performance update - Performance update -

bonus LTIP ang CIP bonus, LTIP and QP bonus LTIP and QP bonus LTP and QP bonus LTIP and CIP

Target setting for 201415 Update onreporuing season  Review Commuttee Terms of  Benchmarking for Exacutve  Policy review on 2015

P and app Sharehalder feedback and Reference Directors gge:::rs Remuneraton

remuneration for Executive  proxy voling gudance Update on reporting $eason P

Directors and Serior Review position on

Management disclosure of performance -

Rewiew and approve targets g

Drectors Ramumeraton g

Report E"

Update on meeungs wath §

shareholders voting 5

advisory services o

Adwsors to the Committee

Towers Watson acted as independent adwisors to the Commuttee throughout the year The Committee 1s satisfied that the advice it receives on Executive
Dwrectors remuneration 1s independent and objective Terms of reference are morutored throughout Lhe appointment Towers Watson subscribes to the
Remuneratian Consultants Group $ Code of Conduct in relation 10 executsve remuneration The Code clanfies the scope and conduct of the role of
remuneration consultants when adwising UX isted companies The fees paid to Towers Watson for thewr services inrelation to directors pay totalled
E161B04 Dunng the year Towers Watson also prowvided Sky wath advice on pension withumits reward strategy and the operaton of its pens:on and related
benefit provisions

The Group CEC and the Director far People provide information and advice and attand meeungs as required The Committee is also supported by the
Company Sec¢retary Finance and Human Resources functions No indwviduals are involved m the decrsion in relation to thew own remuneration
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Govermnance

Directors’ remuneration report
Our Remuneration Policy

This section describes the Directors Remuneration Policy that was approved by shareholders at the 2014 AGM and which the Commuttes intends will be
effective untl the 2017 AGM The Policy tatile 1s reproduced in full below For ease of reading some subsequent sub-sections including remuneration on
recruitment or appantment to the Board and payments on termination and loss of office have been omitted but maybe referred to in the 2014 Annual
Report pages 60-66 available on our website at sky com/corporatefinvestorsiannual-report-2014

Remuneration Principles

There are five key principles which underpin the remuneration palicy for our Executive Directors

» Qur approach to executive pay s aligned to the interests of our shareholders

+ Wea reward our people farly and competitively to attract motrvate and cetain the skills we needta deliver significant growth

« The level of base pay s decided in the same way as for all employees based on indwidual performance and experience the size and scope of the role
and taking account of total remuneration

The majarity of executsve pay 1s tied to the achievernent of stretching performance goals inked to the strategic prionties for the business Executive
Directors will be well rewarded anly if they meet or exceed the maxwnum performance standards set and achieve stretching levels of performance

.

We take care to ensure that remuneration does not Inadvertently encourage \nappropriate risk taking

Our principles set the foundation for our remuneration policy and ensure that decsions made bythe Committee are consistent and appropriate i the
context of business prioniues shareholder interests and employee pay

Summary of the Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

The tabie below shows how our remunaration policy inks to our business strategy and its terms of operation Any contractual commitments enterad into
or awards made before the policy came into effect or a person became a director will be honoured

Purpose and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity Performance ink
Base salary Attracts and retamns Reviewed annually, typically Any increase willbe in kne wath Indinadual and business
Executive Directors taking——with effect from 1.July————those pravided to employees——performances taken mo
f
account of personal Salary 1s set relatively low versus witbun the Company account when reviawing
contribution and size salaries
the peer group of companies Higher rncreases may be made
of role
of similar market capitalisation as aresult of achange inrole
to the Company or responsibility or ather
performance-based
T
he Commitiee looks at pay creumstance
pracuces in selected
mternational media companes This 1& i1 bine with our policy
fi loyges
Decisions on salary also take into or all emp
account the performance and
expenence of the ndnidual,
changes in the size and scope
of the role and the level of salary
awards across the business
Pansion Provides opportunity for Executrve Cirectors may recewve Employer contributions ta the N/A
longer-termsaving and/or  employer contnbutions nto the  pension scheme or an equivalent
retirement provision Sky Pension Scheme acash cash supplement are around 16%

supplement in hew of pension of basesalary
or a combination thereof

All payments are made as
a percentage of base salary
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Purpose and bnk to strategy

Operation

Maximum opporturnty

Perfarmance ink

Other benefits

Prosadies Executve
Drrectors with arange of
core and fringe benefits as
partof a competitive total
remuneration package

Executive Directors are enbtied
to arange of benefits nduding.
but nat hmited to private medical
insurance bfe assurance il health
meome protection pard hotday
sick pay Sky subsonpuion package
company car allowance and use
of acompanycar generally

for business travel purposes

The Committee maymake manor
changes to benefits or indude
other benefus that are deamed
appropriate from time to urme

Relocation allowances and
benefits may be prowded
where needed Lo assist with
the relocation orinternatianal
transfer of an Executive
Director and their dependents

Benefits pronded to Executive
Directors are broadly in hine with
those offered to all employees
Where excepuions are made

the Committee ensures that
tenefits offered are mhng

with market practice for simular
rofes In similar orgamisations

NIA

Annual bonus

Drives and rewards the
delivery of stratching
annual performance goals
aligmned with the
Company’s overall

businesTstritegy

Performance measures and
weightings are reviewed at the
start of each year to take
account of current business
plans Stretching performance

The maximum bonus
opportunity s 200% of hase
salary ands payable for the
achievement of stretch
objecuves

Performance 1s assessed

Targetsare selannually

Performance against targets

15 monitored quarterly and
determined annually based

on assessment of performance
wversus each target

Payment is macde only once
annud) results have been audited

In exceplional arcumstances the
Commuttee will useits judgement
to adjust bonus outcomes up or
down Lo ensure alignment of pay
with performance and with
shareholder interests, withun the
policy maxmum

The minimurn payment IS zero

The Commitiee believes the
concept of threshold target and
MAaxtmUR COMPromises our drive
for growth so we set one clear
ang ambitious stretch target

for each performance measure
every year The achievement

of stretch goals will resultin

& payout at maximumor
near-maximum The Committee
exercises its judgement on

the tevel of bonus payable for
outcomas short of maximum

nodaafnens

15 determined at tha start
of each year but each measure

against a combination of

operatianal and financial

ojectves which are é‘

determined atthe start 7

of the year oy
w

The werghting of the measures 55
71

will have a maximumweightng
of 40%

Further details are disclosed
in the notes to the policy table
and the Annual Remuneration
Implementaton Report

Co-lnvestment

Plan (CIP)

Encourages personal
investment and
shargholder alignment
rewards long-term focus
and performance
achevement

Executive Directors may invest
up to half of thewr earned annual
bonus in the Company s shares

These investment shares are
matched on a gross basis and
vest based on performance over
athree-year period Shares are
matched by up te15 shares For
every 1 share invested in line
with performance

Oncevested paruapants may
exercise the awards during
a five-year penod

Parucipation in the plan s
voluntary

The maximum annual award
15 150% of base salary

No matchung awards are capable
of vesting If performancg s
below threshald a1 for 1 march
may vest when the mimimum

of the range 15 met and all the
shares vest (or 1 5shares {or
every share invested) whenthe
maximum of the range 15 met

The performance measure to
determing the vesung of the
shares s chosen each year and
18 typncally a financial measure
such as EPS growth

Furtherdeta:s on the
performance critena for
threshold and maxmum
vesting are disctosed in
the Annual Remuneration
Implementation Report
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Our Remuneration Policy

{conunued)

Purpose and Lnk to strategy Operation Maximum cpportunity Performance link
Long Term Rewards longer-term value  Awards are made annually The Committee réviews the Parformance measures are
Incentwve Plan creation and ahgns under the terms of the scheme rumbser of shares tobe granted  typically a mix of cperationat
(LTI Executive Directors rutes based on number of annuadly A typical award for measures and relative TSR

mterests with those of
shareholders

shares This de-links the award
fram increasing automatically
with salary adjustments

Vestung of awards 15 based on
stretching performance over a
three-year periog Awards are
made in Year 1 and in Year 2 with
vesting of both awards at the
end of Year 3 Thts means that
vestung of awards occurs every
other year with zero vesung

in between

Once vested parucipants
may exercse the awards duning
a five-year period

Ininstances of gross misconduct
all unvested LTIP awards lapse
immediately

This year the company has
ntroduced a policy on malus
The Commitiee may use s

the Group CEO 15 BOO 00D
shares in any 12 manth penod

The maximum award level is
900 000 shares in any 12-month
pernod Such awards will anly

be made in exceptional
crrcumstances

100% of the shares vest when
the performance critena are
met i full If the murumurm of
the range 1s met each year
for ali measures 26% of

the shares vest

Operauonal measures used
n the past have induced EPS
operating cash flow and
revenue growth

The wesghting of the measures
may vary but 15 typically 70%
operational measures and 30%
relative TSR

discretion alter Having taken
indepeandent adwce to withhold
grvary downwards any unvested
awards typicalty in the event of

the matenal restatement
of the Compary s audited
results or

actions attrdyutable to
partiipants resulting in
matenal reputatronal
darmage to the business

The Committee will determing
how to apply this senchion on
acase-by case basis

Argund 650 emplayees are eligible for awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan A smafler number of employees (around 130) are also mvited to
participate in the Co-Investment Plan All employees are ekgible to receve a comprehensive benefits package and the majonty are elkgible to receve
either a monthly or quarterly eash incentive or an annual bonus
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Sharahoider ahgnment

The Commuttee considers shareholders views as they are received
during the year at the AGM through shareholder meetings and through
correspondence

We will continue to engage with our major shareholders and welcome
feedback at any me Should we propase tamake any major changes
to the remuneration structure we wali seek the views of our major
shareholders in advance

The context for setting executive remuneration policy

The principles undertying our executive remuneration policy are ahgned

to those that underpu reward for our employees as a whaole which aim to
attract motvate and retain pecple by offenng a market-competitive total
remuneration package The Commsttee takes into consideration the pay
and conditions of all employees when determining the remuneration for
the Executive Directors It does not consult with employees in this process

Qur performance maasures and how they operate

Executive pay remains firmly tied to the achievement, of stretching
performance goals inked to business strategy The measures we use are
based on the speafic areas of our business that dave growth and returns

to shareholders We believe the concept of athreshold target and maximum
farmula would compramise our drive for growth sowe set one clear and
ambitious stretch target for each performance measure every year

Annual bonus
Tha performance measures for the annual bonus are determined by the

i ————cOMmY L @€ based on the business-prionties for-theyear-They are eypically

Gowmance

Pay seenano analysis (updated for 2015)

The charts below provide an estimate of the awards that could be receved
by our Executive Directors under the remuneration policy effectve from
the 2004 AGM showing

+ Miymum base salary as at 1 July 2015 plus pension and benefits
as per the table on page 57 (Nixed pay)

- Maxmum fixed pay plus masmum awards For annual bonus
{200% of base salary for the Group CEQ and 150% for the Group CFO)

+ Co-Investment Plan (maxsmum deferral of 50% of the annual bonus inta
nvestment shares and full vesting of 1 Sx matching shares) and Long
Term incentive Plan (600 00 shares for the Group CEQ and 350000
shares for the Group CFG)

The Committee sets one clear and ambitious stretch target for each
performance measure If stretch targets are met then V00% of maximum For
the bonus Is paid and the shares awarded under the LTIP and CIP will vest in
full There 1s no addivonal payment for achievement over the stretch goals

Awards under the LTIP are made annually but vesting eccurs only every two
years The impact of this vesung eytie on actual reahsed pay 1s shown in the
six year single Figure remuneration table for the Group CEQ on page 58

Jeremy Damoch Group CEO

a mix of cperauonal and financiat performance measures The measures
are usually a combinatvon of operating profit operating cash flow anda
measure of product growth They are all key indicators of the underlying
performance of the business Each year stretch objectwes are setn the
Iight of the Company s annual business plan and the operatng
ernvironment

Co-Investment Plan and Long Term Incentive Plan

Performance measures for the LTIP and CIP are reviewed annually to ensure
alignment with the Company s strategy and shareholders mterests The
AP measure 15 typically compound EPS growth in excess of RPlover the
perfarmance pened which ensures close alignment with our shareholders
interests Performance required for threshold and maximum vesung are
descnbed in the Annual Remuneration Implernentation Report an page 53

The LTIP measures are typcally a mix of operational measures and relative
TSR performance with a 70/30 split The operalional measures are usually
EPS growth operating cash flow and revanue growth Asthe conversion of
profit to cash flow 1s a key indicator of the underlying performance of the
business itis used as a measure in both the annual bonus and the LTIP

QOur LTIP vesting cycle 1s atypical and has served the busness and
shareholders well since it was Introduced in 2005 Vesting occurs onty every
other year and as a cansequence the amount of remuneraton delivered to
Executive Directors wall Spike every other year This approach encourages
focus on the longer term The performance ranges for each measure are
revigwed! annually in the ight of tha Campany s three-year plan, brokers
faorecasts and tustonical performance Performance at the top end of the
range 15 stretching

Andrew Gnffith, Group CFO

Scenanios are modelled assuming a share price of £10 59 whichis the
average share pnce over the penod 1Apnl to 30 June 2015 with no
allowance for share price apprecation
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Directors’ remuneration report -
Our Remuneration Policy

{conunued)

Other share schemes

Managernent Long Term Incentive Plan (MLTIP)

The Company also operaies a MUTIP for selected employees exclucing the
Executive Dirgctors and senior executives who parucipate in the LTIP
Awards under this scheme arg made at the discretion of the Group CEO
within the paramaters agreed by the Committee The MLTI? nurrors the LTIP
n design tn order to ensure ahgrment between partiipants in eitner plan

Executive Share Optron Schemes {(Executive Schemes)

The Campany has tn place Approved and Unapproved Executive Sharg
Qptran Schemes No options have been granted since 2004 and no opuons
are outstanding at 30 lune 2015 We do not envisage making any future
awards as part of these schemes

Sharesave Scheme

The Sharesave Scheme 15 open to UK and tnsh employees and encourages
them to make a long-term wwestment in the Company s shares in a tax
efficent way The current legislation provides for emplovees to save up to
ES00 per month Currently the imst for Sky employees 15 E250 per month
although the Company may decide to adjust this amount nfuture Optians
are normally exerasable after either three or five years from the date of
grant The pnce at which options are offered is not less than 80% of the
middle~-market price on the deahng day immediately preceding the date of
Invitation or the average of the three days preceding the date of invitation
1z rs the pohcy of the Company to invite employees Lo partiipate i the
scheme following the annountement of the year-end results Currently
approximately 10 000 employees partiapate in these schemes Itis
anticipated that employees in Sky Deutschland and Sky Iltaha will be imated
o participate in similar unapproved schemes dunng 2005

How the Remuneration Commuttee exercises discretion
The Comimittee retans discreton relaung ta annual bonus LTIP and
CIP tn bine with theur ryles and according Lo the remuneraton policy

Thase indude but are not imited to

Tirung of a grant of an award/payment

Size of an award/bonus payment up to the maximums iIndicated
n the policy table

Determination of vesung and the apphcaton of malus for the LTTP

.

Dealing with a change of control

Determunation of treatment of leavers based on the nules of the plan
and the feaver policy

Annual review of performance measures and weighting and targets
of the plan from year toyear

Any use of discretion within the policy framework will be explained

n the Annual Remuneraton Implementauon Report. There may

be exceptional arcumstances under which the Committee may use
discretion or judgement i theinterasts of the business and shareholders.
These exceptional circumstances may be the subject of discussion

with the Company s major shareholders

External appomntments

External appointments for Executive Directors are considered by the
Companys Corporate Governance & Nominations Commutiee to ensure
they would not cause a cenflict of interest and are then approved by

Sharehotding guidelines and share ownership

The Committee recognises the importance of aligring Executive Directors
and shareholders tnterests through executives buiiding up a significant
shareholding 17t the Company The shareholding requirements arg 3x base
salary for the Group CEO and 2x base salary for the Group CFO Exacutive
Directors are required to build up ther shareholding to the required levels
withun five years There are no shareholding guidelines for independent
HNon-Executsve Directors but they are able ta participate ina monthly share
purchase plan See page 60 for further details on Directors Interests

the Charman on behalf of The BBaro 1173 the Comparny § policy that’
remuneration earned from such appointments may be retaned by
the ndwidual

Jeremy Darroch became a Nan-Executive Directac of Burberry Group pic
in February 2014 and serves as amember of thar audit remuneration
and nominations cormmittees For the period 1July 2004 to 30 June 2015
Jeremy earned EBO OO0 n thes role

Andrew Gnffith became a Non- Executive Director of Just Eat plc in March
2014 and serves as senior independent director chawman of the audit
commuttee and as a member of Lthe remuneration and aominations
committees For the pencd 1 uly 2014 to 30 June 2015 Andrew earned
£60 000 in this role
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Remuneration of the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors ‘
The table below summanses the key camponents of remuneration for cur Charman andt Non-Executive Direclors

Element and purpose

Operation

Fees

Reflect indmdual responsibiities and membership of Board
Committees Attract Non-Executie Directors with the skills and
expenence required to oversee the implementation of strategy

Fees for the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors are
reviewed annually having regard o independent adwce and
Surveys

The Corporate Governance and Nominations Committee
deternunes the fees paid to the Charman taking into account
the complaxity of the role and the time and commitment required
The Board of Directors determines the fees for the Non-Executve
Dwrectors

Additional fees for membership of or chairmanship of a
committee or for other responsibiities are payable in addition
to the basic fees Feelevels for 2015 are disclosed i the table
on page 62

Non-Executrve Directors can elect to recenve a poruon of their
feesin the Company s shares which are purchased on a monthly
basis Directors who are deemed to be affitated with 21st Century
Fox are not permitted to take partin this faciiity Non-Executive
Directors interasts are disclosed in the table on page 60

Benefits

Additonal benefits may be provded for business purposes
eg provision of a car to travel to/from mectings

Non-Executive Directors are not eligible to join Sky s pension plan

1
|

Nan-Executive Directors are ehgible to recerve a Sky subscriprion

package

Bonus and
Share Plans

Non-Executive Dhrectors are not eligeble to participate n any
bonus or share scheme offered by the Campany

STUALINETS [POUTLY

Notice and
terrunation
provisions

Each Non-Executive Director s appaintment 1s for annitial
three-year term In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance
Code a'l Diectors submit themselves for annual reappointment

Non-Executive Erectors each have aletter of appoentment

these appointments may be terminated wathout notice

Any fees payable would be settled at the date of termination

No continuing payment of fees are due if a Non-Executive Director
15 not re-glected by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting

The Remuneration Report was approved by the Baard of Directors on 28 July 2015 and segned on its behalf by

Tracy Ctarke

Chairman of Remuneration Committee

UOTJRULIOJU I OU RS
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Introduction

In accordance with the Companies Act 2006 the Corporate governance
repart on pages 40 to SO and information contained in the Strategic report
ferms part of this Directors report and are incorporated byreference

The DrecLors present their report Logether with the audited consctdated
and parent company financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015

Shares

Dwvidends

The Directors recommend a final dmdend for the year ended 30 fune 2015
of 20 50 pence per orchnary share which together with the intenim dwidend
of 12 30 pence pad to shargholders on 21 April 2015 wali make a total
dnidend for the year of 32 B0 pence (2014 32 00 pence) Subject to
approval at the 2015 AGM the fina! dmdend will ba paid an 20 Novemnber
2015 to shareholders appearing on the register at the close of busiess

on 23 October 2015

Share capital

The Company s issued ordinary share capstal at 30 June 2005 comprised
one dass of ordinary shares All of the issued ordinary shares are fully
paid and rank equally in all respects Further detads of the Comparny s
share capital and shara issues under the period under review are
disclosed i note 25 to the consolidated financial statements

Interests in votng nghts
informaticn provided to the Company pursuant to the UK Listing

Voting nghts

The Company s Articles of Assocaticn prowde that subject 1o any nghts
ox testricons attached to any shares on a show of hands evary member
presant in person or by proxy shall have one vote and on a pofl every
member shall have one vote for every share of which he 1s a holder

Ona poll votes may be given either personally or by proxy or (in the case
of a corporate member) by a duly authonsed representative

A shareholder enutled to attend and vote at a gereral meeting may
appont gne or more proxies to attend and vote instead of twm If a member
a2ppoints more than ane proxy he must specify the number of shares

which each proxy s entitled to exercise nghts over A proxy need notbe a
shareholder of the Company Holders of the Company s ordinary shares do
not have cumulatrve voling Nnghts A voung egreement dated 21 September
2005 was cntered Into between the Company BSkyB Maldeo Ine

215t Century Fox and 2ist Century Fox UK Nommunees Limited which became
unconditional on 4 November 2005 and ceps 215t Century Fox UX Nomimnmees
Limited s voting rights at any general meaung at 3719% The provisions of
the woting agreement cease to apply onthe first to occur of a number of
circumstances which include the date on which a general offer 1s made

by an ndependent persan (as defined in the voling agreement) for the
ordnary share capitat of the Company

Restriciens on transfer of securities

There are no speafic restnctions on the transfer of secunties in the
Company which 1s governed by the Artides of Association and prevailing
legrislation nar)is the Company aware of any agreements between holders
of securities that may result n restrictions on the transfer of securities

Authonty s Disciosure and Transparency Rules { DTRs Y is published
on a Regulatory Infermation Service and on the Company s wabsite
As at 30 June 2015 the Company had been notified under DTRS of
the following significant holdings of voting rights in ks shares

Peroent

Amount of class

identity of person or group owned notified
215t Century Fox UK Nominees Limited' 672783139 3914
BlackRock, Ine ? 88 682 765 506

1 Ohrect holding whnch 15 SUDMCL Lo restRClions on its voting nghts (please see Voting
nghts below)

2 inghrect holding

3 Number of shares hekd as st 30 June 2015

There have been no changes to the above significant holdings betwaen
1Juty and 28 July 2015

The Employee Share Ownership Plan ( ESOP ) was established to satssfy
awards made to partiipants of the Company s employee share plans
The trustees of the ESOP have wawved the nght to dmidends payable
nrespect of the shares held by it except to the extent of 30007% of
the dividend payable on each share At 30 June 2015 the ESOP had an
nterest i 14 BO5 780 of the Company s ordinary shares The Trustees
who are independent of the Company have full discretion on how they
vote the ordinary shares held by the ESOP

of that may result i res tnctions on voung rights

Varrauon of nghts

Subject to the Compamnies Act 2006 nghis attached Lo any class of shares
may be varied with the consent inwriting of the holders of three-quarters
n nominal value of theissued shares of the class or with the sanction of

a special resolutian passed at a separate general meeting of the
sharehalders

Relationship Agreement

Changes to the Listing Rutes came intaeffect in Novermber 2014 which
require a premium hsted company which has one or more controfing
shareholders to have 1n place an agreement which 15 intended to ensure
that any controling shareholder comples with the ndependence provisions
n the Lisung Rules

215t Century Fox Inc (21CF ) and certan of 1ts wholly owned subsidiares
directly orindirectly exercise or control 39 14% of the voting nghts of the
Campany and are therefore deemed to be controlling shareholders for
the purposes of the Listing Rules

Accordingly the Company entered into a relatsonship agreement with
21CF on 13 November 2014 (the Relationship Agreement ) contamning
the undertakings required by the Listing Rules

In accordance with the Listing Rules the Board confirms that throughout
the penod under review that s from 13 November 2014 to 30 June 2015

(1) the Company has complied with the independence provisions in
the Relationship Agreement

(4} sofaras the Compary s aware 21CF and is associstes have complied
wath the independence provisions in the Relationship Agreement, and

{m) so far as the Company s aware 21CF has procured compliance by its
relevant subsidianies and thew associates with the independence
provsions in the Relauonship Agreement
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Directars’ powers in refation to the Company

1sswing and buying back its own shares

Followng the previous share buy-back programmes appraved at the 201
and 2012 AGMs at the Company s 2013 AGM, the Company was granted

the authonty to return £500 million of capital to sharehalders via a further
share buy-back programme ( the 2013 Authonty ) The authonty was subject
to an agreement between the Company and 21st Century Fax UK Nominees
Limuted (and others) dated 25 July 2013 whereby following any market
purchases of shares by the Company 2ist Century Fox would sell to the
Company sufficent shares to maintanits percentage sharchoiding at the
same [evel prior to those market purchases Following the announcement
of the acquisitions of Sky itaha and the majonty holding of Sky Deutschland
the buy-back ceased on 25 july 2014 No purchases were made by the
Company under the 2013 Authonty during the year The 2013 authonty
expired at the 2014 AGM and was not renewed

At the 2014 AGM the Directors were given authonty to allotordmary
shares up to 8 maximum nominal amount of £286 S02 871 representing
approximately 33% of the Campany § then 1ssued ordinary share capital
(the Allotment Authornty) The Osvrectors were additonally empowered
to allot ordmnary shares for cash pursuant to the Allotment Authonty
on anon-pre-emptive basis (a) tn connecttonwith a nghts 1ssue or open
offer and {b) (otherwise than In connecuon wath a nghts 1ssue or open
offery up to a maximum norwnal value of £42 975430 representing 5%
of the Company s then issued share capital

Articles of association
The Campany s Artcles of Associabion may only be amended by special
Tesolution at a general meeting of Sharetdiders

Alternate Directors

A Director may appoint any other Director or any other person to act as

hs Alternate An Alternate Director shalibe entitled to recene notice of
and attend meetings of the Directors and committees of Directors of which
hrs appainster 1s amember and not able to attend The Alternate Directar
shallbe entitled to vote at such meetings and generally perform all the
functions of his appointer as a Directorin his absence

On the resignation of the appointer for any reason the Alternate Cirector
shall cease to be an Alternate Director The appointer may also remove
hrs Alternate Director by notce to the Company Secretary signed by

the appointer revoking the appointment

An Alternate Director shall not be entitled to fees for tus service as an
Alternate Director

Chase Carey Dawid DeVoe Arthur Siskend and James Murdoch have
appoined each of the others to act as their Alternate Dwrector

Employees

Equalopportunities

The Company Is an equa! opportunities employer and believes that
sveryone should have full and fax consideration for all vacancies
promotions trang and development Should an employee become
drsabled dunng their employment at Sky where possible the Company
will actively retrain and adjust the ecrvironment to allow them to maximuse
the employee s potential

Diversity

Annuzl General Meeting

The venue and tirning of the Company s 2015 AGM s detailled in the netice
convening the AGM which will be available for download from the Companys
corporate website at skycom/corporate

Board of Directors

Board of Dwectors and their interests

The Directors who served dunng the year were hhick Ferguson Jeremy
Darroch Andrew Grffith Chase Carey Tracy Clarke David Devoe Matthieu
Pigasse Martin Gilpert Adine Grate Andy Higginson Dave Lewis James
Murdoch Danny Rimer Arthur Siskend and Andy Sukawaty Andy Higginson
retired after not seekang reappomtment at the Annual General Meeting on
21 November 2014 The biographical details of the Directors of the
Compary can be found on pages 38 and 39

The Dwrectors Interests i the erdinary shares and options of the Company
are disdosed withiy the Drrectors remunerauon report on pages 53 to 69

Appointment and retiremant of Directors

The Directors may from time Lo bme appaint one or mer? Directors Any
such Director shall hald office only until the next AGM and shall then be
eligible for reapposntment by the Companys shareholders At the

Company s 2015 AGM all current Executive and Non-Executive Directors will
reure and offer themseives for reappointment m compltance with the Code
with the exception of David DeVoe Danny Rimer and Arthur Siskind who
have deaded not to seek reappomntmant this year and will step down from
the Board at the conclusion of the AGM Immecdhately following the AGM 1tis
intended that John Natlen CFQ of 21st Century Fox will be appomted by the
Board as a Non-Executive Director

The Company treats all people equally faurly wath respect and without
prejudice Deasions about pecple s employment wath the Company are
based on ability qualfications and performance Thes principle alse applies
when the Company makes deqsons about development, promotion

pay and benefits

The Company detvers some of the most diverse content and services
avalable to a wide range of consumers and it values the same diversity
within the business and promotes a culture of oppartunity for all
regardless of background The Company does not tolerate unfarr treatment
or discriminatan at work based on ethruaity gender age rehgion disabibty
or sexual onentation

We are currently focusing on Wamen in Leadership as we believe gender
balanced teams create better business outcomes in arder to meet the
needs and wants of our consumers mose effectively

As at 30 June 2015 the table belowdemonstrates diversity throughout
the Greup

Male Female
Board of Directors'? 12 B6% 2 1%
Senior managers'? 278 6% 86  24%
All employees®? 17881 €5% 9562 35%

1 Asdefined n the Comparies Act 2006

2 1074/15 data s sndependently assured by Deloitte LLP and can be viewed online at
shy comiBiggenpure

3 Baied on ful-ume equrvalent employees fom g
people who work for cur jont ventures
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(contmnued)

Employee involvement

We want all our people 1o feel invotved and engaged in our business
Therafora we need to know what our peoaple are thinking and how they
feel about working for Sky Thrs 15 our key ingicator and we measure this
through ous people survey which we njn twice a year The engagement
scores are for the UK only as they are not currently comparable to the
wider European orgamsaton

We continue to expernence highlevels of participatian in our people survey
averaging 78% across the two surveys this year We banchmark our results
externally using data from Aon Hewatt so Lhat we can compare our
performance against other large UX companigs

This year we have tmplemented a new engagement index which allows
us to further pinpont the key elements of ife at Sky that really make a
difference to how our employees feel about our Company Therefore the
score has been calculated dsfferently Our overall employee engagement
score 1s S9% which rapresents a hugh level of engagement and continues
to outperform the external benchmark of 48%

The employee engagement score 1S made up of results from questions
abaout whether our pecple support our strategy understand how their
wark contnbutes to it, are wilhng 1o po the extra mile to help us succeed
and whether they would recommend Sky as a good place towork

Responsible business

Dur commitment ta act responsibly m alt we do is integral to the culture we
have at Sky (see the Employée section above) Qur igh ethecal social and
enviropmental standards set out what people £an expect of us and the

We are committed to uphotding the prinaples of humannghts This

15 partcularly important at Sky inmanaging the sotal ethwcal and
environmental impacts of our supply chan and in the way we Lreat our
people and our customers We do not have a speafic human nghts pokcy
as this commutment 1s reflected through Sky’s Ways of Working in the UK
and treland our Code of Conduct and across a range of pokoies relevant
to these areas This includles our poboes relaung to environment data
protecban and child safety

Our commitment torespect and uphold human nghts s also conveyed
through our Responsible Saurcing Policy Cur approach torésponsible
souremg s in ine with the Guiding Principles on Busingss and Human
Rights (or Ruggie framework)

Ervironment and Greenhouse gas emissions

To date our ervironment strategy as a UK business has been threefcld

to reduce our carbon foot prnt to make our prodicts more sustarnable
and to use our position as a leading media and commurications comparny
to rais e awareness and drive positive change on ervironmental rissues
amongst our business partners and toNspire action Amongst our
customers through Sky Rainforest Rescue

Through Sky Ranforest Rescue our six-year partnership with WWF we have
reached aur target of helping to save one billion trees in the Amazon
rainforest. We have raised over E9 milkon exceeding our target of EB mullion
of which Sky has match-funded £4 mulkon On the ground in our project
areaw Acre n Branl 1500 farmers have signed up to our sustainable
farmuing scheme helping make the forest worth more alive than dead

And in the UK andireland 73 million people have a greater awareness

standards we expect fram our business partners

Customers

So that our customers can all have the same great experience of Sky

we re ensunng child safety and accessibabity elements are incduded in

new procuct affenngs i line wath government and regulator expectations
across our markets as well as consumer demand And because we
understand the risk to our customers and our business should there be

a breach of data we are expanding on the exisung approaches to data
protection and privacy in each territory to put in place a comprehensive
group-wide approach

Responsible sourcing and Human nghts

We arc commuitted to buitding preductive far and ethical relationships with
our suppliers and distributors relationships an which so much of the
success of our business relies We expect all our business partners to
defiver a lugh-quality service and provide good value for money as wet as
to behave ethically and comply with relevant emronmental and social laws
and regulatrans inciuding labour standards and practices These are set
out In our Responsible Sourcing Policy which1s available on cur website

We are currently working to roll out this policy across the Group expanding
onwhat 1s already in place in Germany and Italy In the UK all of the suppliers
we spend more than £100 000 with per year are assessed for mherent
social environmental and ethical nsk' and we work with those that are
deemed high nsk to conduct audits and set out action plans for addrassing
1s5ues that are flagged such as working hours or health and safety We are
now expanding this approach Lo risk assessment right across the Group

1 Extfuding ane-off suppliars Independantly assured by Deloitte LLP for 201405

of deforestation as a result of our ngvative communications on-screen
programming. and expernential actvties Over the next three years

we will be working strategically with WWF to continue Lo raise awareness
of emaronmental Issues

in the UK and lreland we continue to ensure all of the products returned
to us are reused or recyclied and we are working dosely with our supplers
to help them reduce their environmental impacts

we have been reporting on our environmental performance smce 2008
well ahead of the mandatory disdosures of greenhouse gas emissions
under the Companes Act 2006 introduced in 2013 We have reduced

our emissions relative to revenue (tC0, efEm) across Sky s UK and Insh
terntories by 38% since 2008 meaning we arg on track to meet our target
of halwng our emissions relative to revenue (1CO.e/Em) by 2020 In addition
despite sigmficant growth as a business we are mamntang a reduction in
absoiute carbon emissions against our 2008 basehne (see table opposite)

With the continued devetopment of our new West Landan campus our
new buildings and our leased buildings were both still operational over
the 2014/15 year It was therefore challenging to keep owr energy use and
carbon emissions lower than in the year before However as our new
buildings are BREEAM Excellent and have a number of smart, sustanable
Itiatves we expect Lo ses energy demand reduce in the future We also
continue to exceed the ndustry benchmark for the energy-effioency

of our Data Centres which will help us manage energy demand as our
business needs increase We remain committed to our fong-term
nvestments for exampie in renewable energy and are explormg ways

16 further complement our @xasting on-siLe solar wind biormass and
Cominned Cootmg and Heating Plant energy generation
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Sky UX & lreland Progress agamst target to halve our carbon emissions relatve to revenue
2008/09

Target (Baselne)  2009M10 2010/ 20012 200123 N304 201415
Gross absolute emissions (tCOxeY ? M 105839 108817 107284 Q4617 92968 94420 99724
Scope 20322 234565 23098 20938 20429 20633 22361
Scope 2 85517 85352 B4136 73677 72539 73787 77363
Carhon intensity (tCOwe/Em)? 207 191 163 139 128 124 128
Reductionin gross absolute COye emissions relabive to revenue (%) -50 Q -8 =21 -33 -38 -40 -38

1 Historcal data has been re-baselined Lo reflect change in vehicle fuel erustion factors as well as to mchude Joint Ventures (where owniership >51%) intermatonal offices/bureavs
Tranng Centres and sipruficant ulss assaciated with Sky Homs Sercas
2 Independentty assured by Detostte LLP

We are now roliing out our UK erparonment strategy across Europe starting with reportng on our Group emissions {see table below) as well as working
on & set of Group environment targets for 201516 These will reflect our progress to reduce our carbon intensity in the UK and Ireland and will build on

the investments already made in Germany and ltaly to mcrease energy-effiaency measures such as LED highung and distnct heating engage employees
and reduce product waste

Sky group-wide carbon emissions and carbon intensity 201415

wodu xEmmig

DUBLIAAOG)

UK& Germany
Sky Group treland & Austna' ftaly'

Gross absolute carbon ermissions (tCO,e)'23¢
Scope1 27145 221361 2119 2665
Fuel combustion (gas diesel generators, fuel ot vehudes)

Diesel £68 607 ] 60

Fuel Onl® 54 n/a 54 na

Gas 4502 4344 nia 158 2

Vetud e Fuel 21226 16933 2064 2229 E
Cperation of faaliies (refngerants) :.—'

Refrigerants 695 477 o] 218 &
Scopa2 101674 77363 3248 21063 g
Purchased district heaung net® 184 “nfa n2 72
Purchased district heatng gross 485 n/a a3 72 ¢
Purchased electnaty net” 38649 15572 2086 20991
Purchased electriaty gross 101187 77361 2835 2099
Purchased steam 2 2 n/a nia
Total {Scope 1and 2) net £O,e (tCO,0) 65 980 37,935 4317 23728
Total (Scope 1 and 2) gross COse (1COq€) 128 813 59724 5,367 23728
Jont Ventures® 138 138 n/a n/a
Carbon intensity?
Revenue {Em) n283 7820 1377 2085
Carbon ntensity (LCOe/Em revenue) 1142 1275 390 137

1 Emessaons ace for the full financal year (1 Aty 2014 - 30 June 2015) nduding the penod Anor Lo Acqursition
2 Wemeasure our (0,8 emssions according to the Greenhouse Gas Pratoce] the global standard for reporting greenhouse gas emissions Our wotal gross CO8 emissions nchude

Al duect Gregnhouse Gas emssons and out et emistions hdude the energy that we do not procure from a renewabla enengy Source Dur net emissions art those remaning after
deductingther ble energy p from ar bie energy Lanff with Scattrsh and Southem Energy Group Scattsh ang Southeraretan on our hehalf the Levy Exempuion
Ceruficates and Renewable Energy Guarantee of Ongn {REGOS) Inaddition, we offsat our total gross emssions through the purchase of Voluntary Caron Standard offsets
Our €O ¢ emustions data o independant by assured by Deloitte LLP More informaaon about eur emaronmental targats and performance can be found at skycomierwronment
Historical data 1 recakulated each year inline with the latest guideknes o Dalra/DECC 5 Greenhouse Gas Conversion Factors for Company Reporting and restated accordingly
Fuel Od orly used for heating by Sky m Garmany
Orstnct heatng (v e heat obtaned from a cogeneraton plant) can be used as analternative source of heat to gas Sky in Germany anditaly purchase disthetheating in the UX
Sky does notL purchase any distact heating 838 1t generdtes s own heat from an onsite bromass plant
Sky m traly does not purchase electnuty from a renewsbie electncty tandf and so there 1s.no difference between ther gross and net emussions.
JOMT veniures e enterpnses of busness whers Sky i the maority sharehoider (>50%)

[ I T

m o~

UGHIEULIORNA 10P{OUBIBYS



Annual Report 2015

Governance

Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

{continued)

Other cisclosures

Contracts of Signficance
The following agreements are contracts of significance in accordance with
Listing Rule 9 8 4(1Q)

0n 25 July 2014 the Company (and certain of its subsidianes) entered inte
various agreements with 21st Century Fox (2nd certam of its subsidianes)
to effect the acquisition the entire issued and to be 1ssued corporate
capital of Sky Italia S (the Sky Ita%ia Acquisition )} for £2 06 billion (subsect
o warking capital adjustments) with the consideration betng parually
settled by the drsposal of the Company s mdrect 21% stake m Natonal
Geographic Channe! Intermational to certamn of 21st Century Fox s wholly
owned subsidianes { National Gecgraphic Channal Transfer ) at a value

of US$E50 milhon The sale and purchase agreement for the Sky italia
Acquisition contamed customary warranties covenants andmdemnities
including certan mdemribes relating to tax and other matters as well as
Certain commitments not to retal Certam services to Conswmers In certain
terntones untd 1 January 2017 The sale and purchase agreement for the
Nauanal Geographic Channe! Transfer contained customary warfanies

as to tile and ownership and vanous commitments and undertakings

not to compete with the busmess of the Nabional Geographic Channel
International until 1 January 2017

Also on 25 July 2014 as part of the acquisition of Sky Deutschland the
Compary (and certain of its subsidianies) entered into vanous agreements
with Z1st Century Fox (and certamn of 115 subsidianes) 1o effect the
acquisittan of 215t Century Fox s entire shareholding (approximately 57 4%)
In Sky Deutsehland AG a German stock corporation histed on the Frankfurt
Stock Exchange for £2 9 biton (the-Sky Deutschland Acquisition y-and
the related voluntary cashoffer 10 all Sky Deutschland AG shareholders
subyect to cartain conditions (the Sky Deutschland Offer ) The sale
and purchase agreement for the Sky Dautschland Acquisition contained
customary warranties as to title and ownership as well as certain
commitments not to offer certain services to consumers in certamn
terntonies unti ¥ January 2017

The Company undertook a placing of ordinary shares to part-fund the
consideration for the Sky ltalia Acquisition the Sky Deutschiand Acquisition
and the Sky Deutschland Offer and 21st Century Fox entered into an
agreement with the Company to subscribe Far appromately 611 million
ordinary shares so s o mantainits then-exisung percentage shareholding
in the Company following completion of the placing

Significant agreements

The following significant agreements which were n force at 30 June 2015
take cffect alter or terminate on a change of contro! of the Company
following a takeover bid

Fremier League

In 2012 Sky UK Unmuted (a Group subs:diary} entered into an agreement
(the 20712 PL Licence) wath The Football Asscciation Premeer League
Limited (the PL) pursuant towhich the Group was awarded five of seven
avaitable packages of live audio-wsual rights for Premier League football
(the seven packages are tagether the Lwve Packages ) together consisting
of 116 live matches per season The PLwill not award Live Packages
contaimng 1n the aggregate more than 116 iive matches per seasontoa
single hcensee {e1ther on 1Ls own or as part of 8 conscrium or through one
or more of its related partes) (the PLSingle Buyer Rule } Pursuant to the
2012 PL Licence the PL can suspend and/or termunate all of the rights which
are included in or exercisable as part of Live Packages containing in the
aggregate up to 38 five matches per Season in the event that a change of
control of the Company occurs at any tme phor to the expiry of the 2012 PL
Licence which 1f 1t had occurred pnor to the award of the Live Packages

to the Group would have resulted tn 8 breach of the P Single Buyer Rule

In 2015 Sky UK Limited entered into a further agreement (the 2015 PL
Lrcence ywith the PL, pursuant to which the Group was awarded five of the
seven avaidable Live Packages together consisting of 126 lve matches per
seascn The PLwillnot award Live Packages contamng in aggregate more
than 126 live matches per season to a single licensee (either on its own or
as part of a consortium or through one or more related parbes)(the 2015
Single Buyer Rule ) Pursuant to the 2015 PLLicence the PLcan suspend
andjor terminate all of the nghts which are induded i or exercisable as
partof Live Packages contaiming in the aggregate up to 42 live matches per
season in the event that a change of control of the Company cccurs at any
tme pnor to the expiry of the 2015 PL Licence which if it had accurred prior
to the award of tha Live Packages to the Group.would have rasultedin a
breach of the 2015 Single Buyer Rule

DFL Contract/Bundeshga Rights

In Apnl 2012 Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG entered into

an agreement with the Deutsche Football Liga in relalion to the exclusive
night ta broadcast all matches of the Bundeshga (1 Bundeshga 306
Matches and 2 Bundeshiga 306 matches) for the seasons 2013114-201617
across all distnbution means (the Bundeshga Agreement ) The Bundasiiga
Agreement may be terminated on a change of controt

Sene A

In 2014 further to an invitation to offer (the 1SO ) Sky Iltaha Srientered
o an agreement (the Sene A Lixence ) with Lega Nanonale Professionist
Serie A (the Lega) pursuant to which Sky Izaba Srf was awarded one of
four avalable packages of Ive audio-visual rights for the Italian Sene

A foothall championship for the seasons 2015A6-2017N8 (the four
packages are together the Lrwe Packages ) in addivion Sky ltalia Srihas
been granted a second package through a sublicence agreement entered
into with Mediaset Prermium These two packages consist of all the 380

Iwe matchas per season but do not grant nights across all distrbution
platforms Pursuant to the relevant prowvision in the ISO Lega will noat award
all of the Live Packages for all platforms to a single icensee (either onts
own or through one or more of 1ts related parties) (the Serie A Single Buyer
Rule ) As a consequence the Lega could suspend and/for terminate one

or more of the nghts which are included in the package assigned to

Sky Itaha SA in the event that a change of centrol occurs at any ime

prior to the expry of the Sene A Licence which 1f it had accurred prior

to the award of the Live Packages would have resuited in a breach of

the Sene A Single Buyer Rule
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215t Century Fox voting agreement

On 2 Seplember 2005 the Company BSkyB Holdco inc_ Z1st Century
Fox UX Nominees Limited and 215t Century Fox entered into a voting
agreement pursuant towhich 21st Century Fox UK Nominees Limited s
voting nghts at any general meeting are capped at 3719% (the Voung
Agreement ) The prowisions of the Voung Agreement cease to apply
inter alka on a change of controt of the Company

Revohlving Credit Faciity

The Group has a £1 000 000 000 syndicated mulscurrency revalving

eredit facility ('RCF ) with a matunity date of 30 November 2020 In the event
of a change of control of the Company as a result of which both S&P and
Moody s downgrade the Company’s credit rating below mvestrment grade
within 90 days the lenders can require any amounts outstanding under
the RCF to ba repaid (ather than in the event that 21st Century Fox or any
subsidiary or holding company thereof (or a subsdiary of such holding
company) acquiras such control)

GMTN Programme bond issue

On 3 April 2007, the certain Group entities established a euro medium-
term note programme which provides the Group with a standardised
documentaton platform to allow for sensor debt issuance in the
Eurcbond markets On 7 February 2014 the programme was updated
and expanded to become a global medwm-term note programme

(the GMTN Programme ) The GMTN Programme was updated in

June 2015 The maximum potential issuance under the GMTN Programme
15 £5 hilion On 14 May 2007 the Companyissued bonds under the GMTN
Programme (then known as an EMTN programme) consisting of E300 mullion
guaranteed notes paying 5 000% interest and matunng on ¥4 May 2027

‘Governance

EMTN Programme bond 1ssue

On 5 September 2014 certam Group entites also established a £10 bithion
EMTN programme {the EMTN Programme } which prowvides the Groupwath
# standardised documenzation ptatform to allow for senior debtissuance
n the Eurobond markets In September 2014 the Company issued (1) €1500
milion 1 500% guaranteed notes due 2021 and (n) €1000 midlion 2 500%
guaranteed notes due 2026 In November 2014 the Company issued (1)
€850 milion 1875% guaranteed notes due 2023 (1v) E450 midlion 2 875%
guasanteed notes due 2020 (u) £300 mibon 4 000N guaranteed notes
due 2029 and (w) €400 mihon 2 750% guaranteed notes due 2029 In Apri
2015 the Company Issued €600 milhon floating rate guaranteed notes due
2020 (together the Nates) Pursuant to the condittons of the Notes the
Company will be required to make an affer to redeem or purchase the Notes
at the relevant pnncipal amount plus interest up to the date of redemption
if there 15 a change of contral of the Company or the announcement of a
potential change of control (1) which if the Notes carry an investment grade
credit rating results in a downgrade to anon-nvestment grade rating ora
withdrawal of thatrating or (nywhere if the Nates carry a non-investment
grade rating resutts in a downgrade by one ar more notches or a withdrawal
of that non-investment grade rating or (w) where if the Notes do not
carry a credit rating, the Company does not seek such aratngoris

unable to achieve such araung prowded that in each case the decision to
downgrade withdraw ornot to award a credit rating occurs within a certain
penod of time after the change of control and the relevanirabng agency
otes that such deasion(s) resutted from the change of control or the
announcement of the potential change of control

wody 33Nnens

{the 2007 Notas) Pursuant to the final terms attaching to the 2007

Notes the Company will be required to make an offer to redgem or
purchase the 2007 Notes at Its pnnapal amount plus interest up to the
date of redemption or repurchase f there 1s a change of control of the
Company (i) which if the 2007 Notes carry aninvestment grade credit
raung results in a downgrade to a non-Investment grade rRtng or a
wathdrawal of that rating or (w) where «f the 2007 Notes carry a non-
investment grada rating resuits in a downgrade by one or mere notches or
awithdrawal of that nen-investment grade raung or (im) where if tha 2007
Notes do not carry a credit rating the Company does not seek sucha rating
of s unable to achieve such a rating provided that in each case the decision
to downgrade wathdraw or not to award a credit rabng occurs withina
certamn penod of time after the change of controt and the relevant rating
agency aites that such decision(s) resulted from the change of control
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Goverttance

Directors’ report and statutory disclosures

(conunued)

October 2005 February 2008 November 2008 Novembier 2012 and
September 2014 bond 1ssues

I Octaber 2005 certan Group entities entered into an mdenturen
respect of US$750 000000 5 625% serior unsecured notes due 2015
US$350,000000 6 500% serior unsecured notes due 2035 and

£400 000000 5 750% senior unsecurad nates due 2017 {the 2005
Indenture ) In February 2008 certain Group entities entered into an
indenture in respect of US$750 million 6 100% senior unsecured notes due
2018 (the February 2008 Indenture) and in November 2008 certain Group
enuties entered into an indenture i respect of USS600 millkon 8 500%
semor unsecured notes due 2018 (as amended and supplemented from
ume to tme the November 2008 indenture ) in November 2012 the
parties to the November 2008 indentura entered Into a supplernental
indenture in respect of a further issuance af US$800 milkon 3 125% senior
unsecured notes due November 2022 The November 2008 indenture was
further amended and supplemented in September 2014 wath the parties
thereto entenng inta a supplemental indenture n respect of a further
issuance of US$750 000 000 2 625% senior unsecured notes due 2019

and US$1 250 000000 3 750% seror unsecured notes due 2024 Pursuant
to the February 2008 Indenture and the Novembar 2008 Indenture

the Company wili be required to make an offer toreceem or purchase ts
secuntes at a price equa! to 101% of ther panapal amount plus accrued
and unpaid interest up to the date of redemption ar repurchase if there

1s a change of control ar the announcement of a potentiat change af control
of the Company {1} which if the secunties carry an investment grade

credit rating resuits in a downgrade to a non-investment grade ratng

or awithdrawal of that rating or (u) which of the securities carry a nane
Investment grade raung results in a downgrade by ong or mere notches

German broadcasung licences

Sky Deutschland Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG s party to a number of
broadcasting hcences issued by the State Media Authornities BLM
(Bayernsche Landeszentrale fur Neue Medien) and MaHSH (Medienanstalt
Hamburg Schleswig-Holstein) for 1ts inear Sky Channels The interstate
Treaty on Broadcasting (as amended on 15 April 2015) sets out & number
of requirements For the icensees of broadcasting eences and providers
of non-linear telemedsa services Licensees have an ongaing obligation

to comply wath these requirements Faslure by a bcensee to do so may
constitute a hreach of the icence and If not recufied could resultin fines
or in the revocation of the icence The State Media Authenties also have

a duty under the Broadcasting Acts to be satisfied that any person
holding a broadcasting hcence 1s fit and proper 1o hold those icences

and may revoke those izences f it ceases to be 50 satssfied Any change
1n the ownership structure including but not limited to an interest change
exceeding the threshold of 5% in the shareholder structure of the licensee
has to be noufed to and approved by the authontes

Italian broadcastng hcences

In accordance with the Italian regulatory system, the transfer of control

of a company such as Sky ltaha whichas classified as an audiovisualmedia
service provider s subject to an authorisatron by the Itaban Regulatory
Authonty whichs asmed at venfying the hanourabdity of the directors
and nationality Public admuustratons public entities state-owned
companies banks and financial nstitutions are prohibsted from being
given such authonsauon in relation to audiovisual media sernce prowmders

Disclosures required under Listing Rule 98 4R

or a withdrawal of that non-investment grade ratng or (uywhere if the
secunties do not carry a credit rating the Company does net seek such a
rating or 1s unable to achieve an ivestment grade rating provided that in
each case the decision to downgrade withdraw or not to award a credit
rating occurs within a certain penad of time after the change of cantrol
and the relevant rating agency cites that such decision(s) resulted from the
change of ¢control or the announcement of a potential change of control

UK broadeastung licences

Sky UK Lumuted 15 party to a number of Ofcom broadcasting hcerces far
the broadcast of the Sky Channels The Broadcasting Act 1990 (as amendad
by the Broadcasting Act 1996 and the Communications Act) lays down

a number of restrctions on those parues permitted to hold Ofcom
broadcasting licences Among those restncted from holding Ofcom
broadcasting licences or from controlling a licensed company are (a)

Jocal authonties (b) political bodies () religious bodies (d) any company
controlled by any of the previous categones or by ther officers or
associates {g) advertising agencies or any company controlled by such
an agency of iInwhuch i holds more than a 5% interest Licensees have an
ongong cbligation to comply with these ownership restnctions Faiture
by alicensee to do 50 (either by the icensee becoming a disqualified
person or any change affecung the nature charactenstics or control of
the licensee which would have precluded the onginal grant of the licence)
may constitute a breach of the beence and if not rectified could resuitin
revocation of the licence

Ofcom also has a duty under the Broadcasting Acts to be sausfied that
any person holding a broadcasong hcence s fit and proper to hold those
licences and may revake those hcences if it ceases to be so satisfied

For the purposes of (R'9 84l Thenformation required 1o be disciosed
by Listing Rule 9 8 4R can be located as set out below

Informatien required Page
(1) Amount of interest captahsed and tax relef 98 (Note 4)
(2) Pubahcation of unaudited finanaal information na
(4) Details of long-term incentive schemes 51-69
(5) wawer of emoluments by a director o/a
{6) Wawver of future emoluments by a drector nfa
(7) Non pre-emptive Issues of equity for cash nfa
(8) ttem (7} 1n relation to major subsidiary undertakings nfa
(9) Parent participatian in a placng by a bsted subsichary ra
(10) Contracts of significance 74
(M) Provision of services by a controlling shareholder na
(12} Shareho!der wanvers of ddends 70
(13) Shareholder warvers of future dmidends 70
(14) Agreements with cantrolling shareholders 70

Financial instruments

Details of the Groups use of financial nstruments together with
mformation on our finanaal nsk management abjectrves and polices
and our expasure to finanoal nsks can be found in note 22 to the
consohdated financal statements

% Skyple
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Palitical contnibutions
Political contnbutiens of the Group during 2035 amounted to il (2014 nil)

Branches
The Group through variwus subsidianes has established branches in
& number of different jurisdictions in which the business operates

Post batance sheet events
Detaits can be found i the Financial review on page 31

Gaing concern

The Groups businessactities together with the factors bkely to affectits
future development performance and position are set outin the Strategic
report on pages 2 to 37 The financial position of the Group its cash flows
and igquichty position are described in the Finanoal review on pages 28 to
31 Inaddibon nates 1to 34 to the consolidated finanoial statements
mclude details of the Group s treasury actvbes long-term funding
arrangements finanaal instrurments and hedging actnaties and exposure
to financial nsk

As set out above the Group has sufficent financial resources which
together with internalty generated cash fiows will continue to provide
sufficient sources of hquidity to fundits ¢current operations Inchuding its
contractual and commercial commitments as set out innote 28 on pages
123 and 124 (s approved capital expenditure and any proposed dradends
and the Group 1s well placed to manage its business nsks successfully
despte the current economic outiook

After making enguines the Directors have formed the judgement at the

Govemnance

oz s8neng

2DURLIBA0Y

ume of approving the consohdated financial statements that thereis
a reasonable expectat:on that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future For this
reason, the Directors conuinue to adopt the gong concern basis in
prepanng the consolidated financal statements

Disclosure of information to auditors

In accordance wath the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act
2006 each of the persons who are Directors of the Company at the date
of approval of this report confirms that

+ sofar as the Director 1s aware there 1s no relevant audit informabon
(as defined in the Companies Act 2006) of which the Cempany 5 auditor
15 unaware and

« the Director has taken all the steps that hefshe ought tohave takenas a
Director to make hmselffherself aware of any relevant audit nformation
(as defined) and to establsh that the Company § auditor 15 aware of that
information

Auditors

Deloitte LLP the auditors of the Company have expressed ther willingness
to continue In office A resolution to reappont them as the Company s
auditors and to authonse the Directors to determane ther rernunerabion
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM

By order of the Board S

Chnis Taylor [ | g\_’ -—\/
Company Secretary

28 July 2015

Sky plc

7

SIUBURNLIS [BURUIS

uoneULCYUI IPIOUAEYS




Annual Repoart 2015

Fnanaal statemants.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsibie for prepanng the Annual Report and the
financial statements in accordance with applcable law and regulauons

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements far
each financal year Under that law the Directors are required to prepare
the Group financial statements In accordance with Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union
and Article 4 of tha IAS Regulation and have a1so chosen to prepare the
parent Compary financial statements under IFRS$ as adopted by the EU
Under Company law the Directors must not approve the accounts unless
they are satuisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and of the prefit or loss of the Company for that period
In prepanng these finanaal statements International Accounting
Standard 1 requires that Directors

+ propery select and apply accounting peliaes

» presentinformation incuding accounting policies 1 a manner that
provides relevant rehable comparable and understandable
information

provide additional disclosures when comphance with the spectfic
requirements in iFRSS are nsufficent to enable users to understand
the impact of particular transactrons other events and conditions
on the entity s financal position and financial performance and

- make an assessment of the Company s abilty to continue as a going
concern

The Directars are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
that are suffiaent to show and explain the Company s transactions and
disclose with reascnable accuracy at any time the financial position of
the Company and enabte them to ensure that the financal statements
comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for
e safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for.taking reasqnable

Directors responsibility statement
The Dwectors confirm that to the best of ther knowfedge

p—y

The financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union give a true and fair vew of the assets
habtities financial position and profitor loss of the Comparny and the
undertakings included in the consohdation taken as a whole

N

Thestrategic report includes a fair revew of the cevelopment and

performance of tha business and the pesition of the Company and the

undertakings included in the consohidation taken as a whole together

with a descriptan of the principal nsks and uncertainties that they

face and I

3 The Annual Report, and financial statements taken as a whole are fair
balanced and understandabla and prowde the information necessary
fdgshareholders to assess the Company s perfor e bu; - 7

Group Chuef Financial Of ficer

28Yuty 2015 28 Juty 2015

steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and otherirregularities

The Directors are respansible far the mantenance and integnty of the
carporate and financial information inchuded on the Company s website
Legistabion in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
disseninatton of financial staterments may differ from legislationin
other junsdictions
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Flnanciai statements

Independent Auditor’s report

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of Sky plc

Opinion on the financial statements of Sky plc

In ¢ur opinon the consolidated and Parent Company financial

statements of Sky plc

= gve atrue and farr view of the state of the Group s and Parent
Companys affarrs as at 30 June 2015 and of their profit for the
year then ended

have been property prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reportng Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and

Have been prepared 1n accordance with the requirements of the
Comparies Act 2006 and Articte 4 of the |AS Regulation as regards
the consolidated financial statements

The consclidated finanaal statements camprise the consobdated and
company incame statements the conselidated and company statements
of comprehensive ntome the consolidated and company balance b
sheets the consolidated and company cash flow statements the
consoldated and company statements of changes m equity and the
related notes 1to 34 The finanaal reporting framework that has been
apphed in ther preparation s applicable law angd IFRSs as adopted

by the European Urvon

Our assessment of nsks significant to our acdit

Separate opinton in relation to IFRSs as 1ssued by the IASE

As explained in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in
additon to complying with its legal obhgation to apply IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union the Group has also apphed FRSs as issued by
the international Accounting Standards Board (IASE)

In our opimon the consohdated financal statements comply with IFRSs
asissued by the IASS .
Gotng Concern

As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the Direclors
statement on page 77 that the Grouprs a going concern We confirmthat

« we have concluded the Directors use of the going concern basis
of accountmg in the preparation of the flnancial statements is
appropnate and

we have not identified matenal uncertanties related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to contmue as a gOINg concem

However because not all future events or conditions can be predicted
this statement 1s not a guarantee as to the Group s ability to continue
as a going condern

The nsks of matenal misstatement described below are those that had the greatest effect on the audit strategy the allocation of resourdes in the audit
and directing the efforts of the engagement team Dunng the year the Company acguired Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha introdueing new audit nsks and
additionat complexity to the audit However since the operating model and business operat:ons of the acguired entities are similar to those of the UK

business the audit osks aresmmilar.to those prevously identified andreported on_tn this yearof acquisition, we also focssed anthe accounting forthe . __

business combinatkns and the alignment of azcounting policies across the Group

Risk

How the scope of our audit respondedto the nsk

Revere recognition

Sky retails subscription packages to customers which include multeple
elements and may indude discounts and offers for example TV
subscription hardware and telephany services sold for a single package
price The allocation of retad subscription revenue to each element of a
bundled transactian 1s complex and requires Judgement, as descnbed in
the Groups critical accounting polictes on page 93 There 15 a nskthat
inappropriate allacations could lead to non-comphiance with accounting
standards and incorrect acceleration or deferral of revenue principally
for new customers who may enter a contract of one to two years
duration which may include hardware or installation at discounted prices
up frant

Wae evaluated the group s revenue recognition policy and managements
current year assassment in respect of accounting for bund'ed
transactions agamnst relevant accounting standards and guidance

We tested the polity s mplementation in each terntory by

- performng tests to confirm our understanding of the process by
which revenue s caleutated by the relevant billing systems

« performing an assessment of the different product bundles and offers
made avalable to customers in the year and confirming the fair value
of different elements of these packages to appropnate ewdence of
farr value

assessing whether revenue should be accelerated or deferred based
onthe relative fair value of elements delvered at different points
durning the contract when compared to the revenue cakulated by the
relevant biling system and

where differences arose between the revenue calculated by the biling
system and the revenue recognition profile calculated in accordance
with the Groups revenue recogrition pohicy we audited the valuation
accuracy and completeness of those adjustments recogrused Lo algn
revenue recogrised with the Group s accounting policy
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Financialttatemants

Independent Auditor's report

(continued)

Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the nsk

Entertainmeant programming amar Lsaton

Determinung the timng and amount of the recogniton of general
entertamment programming exgense requires judgement as set
cut tn the Group s cnical accounting pohces on page 93

There s & nsk that the palicy selected and applied by management
Lo expense general entestainment programming does not recogmise
the cost of inventory nline with its expected value to the group
Entertainment programnming expense ywolves more judgement
than other programmng types due to the number of qualitauve
factors inwolved in the selection and applicatsan of an appraoprate
expense profile

The level of expenditure on general entertainment programiming vanes
ineach termtory and our procedures focused on entertainment spend
inthe UK and ftaly whech are sigruficant to the group

We examined the method for expensing general entertanment
programemung inventory taking inte account the differing genres.
of programmes any significant changes to viewmg profiles and
wndustry benchmarks

Our procedures mcluded
« benchmarking management s policy against ndustry practice

« considenng the cansistency of amorusaton profiies apphed year
anyear

tesung the design and implementation of controls over the recognition
and expensmg of general entertanment programming and

« comparing the expense prafile determined by management against
that which would be indicated by viewing trends (used as a proxy
for value from broadcast)

Capital expenditure

Inthe UK spending on capital prejects 1s matenal and the assessment
and timing of whether assets meet the capitahsation cntena set out

n 1AS 16 Property Plant and Equipment and |AS 38 Intangible Assets
requires judgement as set out in the Group s critical accounung policies
on page 93 In additvon determining whether there 13 any indicaton

of impairment of the carrying value of assets being developed 2lso
requires judgement

AS & resull there s a sk that expenditure o intang ble and tangible
noN=¢urrent assets in the UK busmass 1s inappropriately capitatised
against relevant accounting gudance and that assets not yet inuse
are not recoverable at their carrying value

Cur procedures performed in the UK included

- Tests of the destgn implementation arkd operating effecuveness
of controls n respect of the capetalisation of assets and the
denufcauon of potental indicatars of Impairment

Sample tests of capitat expenditure projects incuding an examinauan
of management s assessment as (o whether the praject spend

mat the recognition critena set forth in IAS 16 Property Plant and
Equipmeptand JAS 38 Intapgible Assets and rewiewing project

status reports for the Group s most sgnificant projects to check

for ;nclicators of Imparment and

For a sample of capital projects we developed an understanding

of the business case and challenged key assumplions and estimates

venfying camtal project authonsation tracing project costs to !
appropriate evidence
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Financal statements

Risk

How the scope of our aud:t responded to the nsk

Acquisition accounting and algnment of accounung policies

As descnbed in note 31 the Group acquired 100% of the share capatal of
Sky taha and 89 05% of Sky Deutschland on 12 Novemnber 2014 for total
consideration of £6 865 milkicn Accounting for business combinations
15 complex and requires the recognition of both consideration paid and
acquired assets and habiities gt the acqursition date at fair values
which caninvolve significant Judgement and estimates

In additron accounting paliaes of the acguired entiies must be ahigned
to the group s accounting policies which may involve sigruficant
judgement and estimates

tn particular thensks relating to these business combinations are that

t The consideration used in the purchase price allocation may 1ot
be recorded at fairvalue given that the consideration paid to Fox
(arelated party) included the value of Sky plc s stake in the Nauonal
Geographic Business.

2 That the complexity and selection of iInput assurnptions used in the
valuation af intangible assets recogrised on acquisition may result
n the recognition of intangible assets not representative of fairvahue

3 That tustoncal tax ksses in Sky Deutschland may not be recoverable
and

4 That the accounting policy alignment of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia
1o Sky plc s accounting policies 13 not complete

Controls relevant to the acquisition

We tested the design and mplementabian of oversight controls over
key outputs of the group’s acquisibon accounung. induding controls
over the consideration of accounting treatments for naw or complex
areas the oversight exerased by group finance over the harmonisation
of accountung palicies and the newly implemented contrals over the
group consolidation

1 Fairvaluation of consideration
Qur procedures included the fellowing

+ Tests of the cash value of considerauion Lo relevant transaction
agreements and bank documentation and

+ Auditing the valuation of Sky ple s stake i Nauonal Geographic
Dy assessing the expert vafuatigons obtained by management and
using our own valuaton speciabsts to challenge the key assumptions

2 Valuation of acquired intangible assets
Our procedures included the following

An assessment of the process that management had undertaken to
deterrmine the faw value of the acquired intangible assets including
understanding the scope of work, quatfications and independence
of the valuation speaahsts engaged by Sky plc and

Auditing the valuations prepared by management and thetr experts
nciuding

- Assessing the key valuation assumptions using aur own valuation
speciabists

- Vahdatng and challenging key inputs and data used n the

iuation modet such as customer numbers-ARPY and churn
assurnptions by reference to histonic data

3 Sky Deutschland histoncaltax losses
Qur procedures included utihising our tax speaalists in the UK
and Germany to audit the estimate of tax losses available in Sky
Ceutschland and assessing the judgement involved inrecogrising
the refated deferred tax asset.

4 Accounting paiicy alignment
Our procedures included

+ Consideratron of the matenal accounting policies of the acquired
entities the completeness of management s own analysis of the
accounting policy differences

Planning and directing the compenent. auditors of Sky Deutschland
and Sky ftala to perfarm an audit of the balance sheet at the date
of acquisition and

Auditing the valuation of adjustrents recorded where alignment
was required

The descnpbon of the risks above should be read inconjunctian with the significant 1ssues considered by the Audit Committee discussed on page 45
We reported to the Audit Comrttee that our audit work onthese risks was concluded satisfactority

Our audit procedures relating to these matters were designed mn the context of our audit of the financial statements 2s a whele and not to express an
optnion onindridual audit risks indsdual iterns or disclosures in the financal statements Qur opirkon on the financial statements s not modified with
respect to any of the key nsks descnbed above and we do not express an opsnion on these individual matters
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Finanoal staternents

Independent Auditor’s report

(continued)

Our application of materality

We define mateniality as the magmtude of misstatement in the financial
statements that makes 1t probable that the economic deasions of a
reasanably knowledgeable person would be changed or nfluenced

We use materiality In both planming the scope of our audit work and in
evaluating the results of our work The Groups acquisitions in the year
have not, significantly changed the Group's adjusted profit before tax
and we determined audit matenality for the Group to be E50 million
2014 50 milbon)

We used profit before tax for our assessmant of matenahty whichis
statutory profit before tax after removing the impact of one-off items
such as profit on disposal of assocates and avallable-forsale
wivestment, and transaction fees incurred in relation to the acqursitions
in the year Matenality represents 6% of this measure The Groups
adjusted profit before tax measura further excludes the smpact of
amortisation of acquired intangible assets integration costs
restructunng costs dervatves not gquakfying for hedge accounting and
the tax effect of these adjusting items (see note 10 for management s
definition and reconciliation to adjusted profit for further details)

Audit matenahty of £50 milion represents approximately 5% (2014 6%)
of the Group s adjusted profit 2% (2014 5%) of equity and 3% (2014 5%)
of statutory profit before taxation

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the
Commttee all audit differences in excess of £2 5 million (2014

E25 mullion) as well as differences below that threshold that i

our view warranted reporung on Quakhtative grounds We also report
to the Audit Commuttee any significant disclosure matters that we
dentify when assessing the overall presentation of the financial
statements We confirmed to the Audit Committee that we had

no significant disclosure matters to report

Matters onwhich we are required to report by exception
Adequacy of explanations receved and accounting records
Under the Camparuas Act 2006 we are required to report to you if
N OUr QPINION

= we have not receved ali the inforrnation and explanations we require
for our audie or

adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent
Company or returns adequate far aur audit have not been recenved
from branches not visited by us or

the Parent Company financial statements are not In agreement.
with the accounting records and retums

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

Directors remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required ta report if in our
opinion certain disclosures of Directors remuneration have notbeen
made or the part of the Derectors Remuneration Report to be audited
ts nat in agreement with the accounting records and returns We have
nathing to report ansing from these matters

Corporate Governance Statement

Under the Listing Rules we are also required to review the part of the
Carporate Governance Statement relateing to the Company s complhance
with 10 prawvisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code We have
rothing to report ansing from our review

Our duty to read other information :nthe Annual Report

Under the International Standards on Auditing {UK and ireland) we are
required to report to you If in cur apimon nformation in the Annual
Reportis

An overview of the scope of cur audht

Qur group audit was scoped by abtamning an understanding of the Group
and 1ts environment including group-wide controls and assessing the
risk of matenal mrsstatement at the group level Ouraudit scope focused
on the Groupss UK and Ireland German and Austnan and Italian
operations which were subject to a full scope audit for the year endded
30 June 2035 Cur audit Scope encompasses all principal business units
of the Group and substantially all of the Group s assets revenue and
adjusted profit befare tax The Group audit team directed supervised
and reviewad the work of the component auditors for Germany and
Austria and for Itaty whuch involved issuing detalled instructions holding
regular discussions with compenent audit teams making several wisits to
each locatwon during the penod performing detaded file reviews and
attencing local audit meetings with management Audit work completed
by companent audhtors was executed at levels of materialty applicable
to each entity which were lower than group matenality

QOpinians on other matters prescnbed by the Companies Act 2006
tnour opinon

+ thenfarmation given inthe Strategic Report and the Directors Report
for the finanaal year for which the financial statements are prepared 1s
consistent wath the financial statements and

- the partof the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited has been
properly prepared in accordance with the Coemparves Act 2006

materally Inconsistent with the information in the audited finanoial
statements or

.

apparently matenally incorrect based on or matenally inconsistent
wath our knowledge of the Group amuired m the course of performing
our audit, or

otherwise misleading

In particular we are required to consider whather we have identified any
inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired during the audit and
the Directors statement that they consider the Annual Report 1s fair
balanced and understandable and whether the Annual Report
appropriately discloses those matters that we communicated to the
Audit Committee which we consider should have been disclosed We
confirm that we have notdenufied any such inconsistencies or
misteading statements
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Respectve responsibibtres of Directors and Auditor

Responsibilrty of Directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully i the Statement of Directors responsibthties set
Jout on page 78 the Directors are responsible for the adequacy of the
accounungrecords the preparation of the financial statements from
those records and for being satrsfied that the financal statements gve
a true and faw view

Auditor's responsibility

QOur respansibility 15 to audrt and express an opirucn on the financial
statements in accerdance with applicable law and Intermatwnal Standards
on Audrung (UK and Irelard) Those standards require us to comply with
the Audting Practxes Board s Ethweal Standards for Auditors We also
comply with intermational Standard on Quality Control 1 (LK and treland)
Cur gudit methodology and tools aum to ensure that our qualty control
procedures are effective understoodand apphed Our quahty controls
and systems inchude our dedicated professional standards review team
and independent partner reviews

Thws report 1s made solely to the Company s members as a body n
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Comparwes Act 2006 Qur audit
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required to state to them n an auditor s
report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law wa
do not accept or assume responsibifity to anyone other than the Company
and the Comparny s members as a body for our auditwork For this report
or for the opinions we have formed

Financial statements

podu x3aens

Scope of the audnt of the financial statemaents

An aydit mvolves gbtainuing evidence about the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements sufficrent to give reasenable assurance that

the finanaal statements are free from matenal misstatement whether

caused by fraud or errar This includes an assessment of whather the

accounung policies are apprapriate to the Group s arcumstances and

have been consistently apphied and adequately disclosed the

reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the

Duectors and the overall presentation of the finanaal statements

In addition we read all the financial and non-financial Infarmation n

the Annual Report to identify matenal inconsistences with the audited

financial statements and todenufy any informaton that 1s apparentsy g
materally incorrect based on or matenally mconssstent with the

knowtedge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit 3

If we become awargof any appare
inconsistencies we fonsider thl tCatans for ourrepart

Willram Touche ‘é\_) ‘_@

(Sentwor Statutory ASdiTEn) nd on behalf of
Deloitte LLP Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London

United Kingdom
28 July 2015
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Financal stataments

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 30 June 2015

w015 2004
Notes £m £m
Conunung Operations
Revenue 2 9989 7450
Operating expense 2 el )] (6348)
Operating profit 973 1104
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 15 28 35
fnvestment income 4 8 25
Fmnance costs 4 (283) 40y
Prafit on disposal of avatable-for-sale-investments 5 492 -
Profiz on disposal of assocate & 259 -
Profit before tax 7 1516 1025
Taxauon 9 (184) (205)
Profit for the year from continuing sperations 1332 820
Discontinued Operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 3 620 45
Profit for the year 1952 865
Profit {loss) for the year attributable to
Equity shareholders of the parent company 1957 865
Non-controling snterests (&) -
1952 865
Earrengs per share from profit for the year (in pence)
Bastc
Continuing operations 10 aip 525p
Disconunued operations 10 367p 29p
Tota! 10 115 8p 554p
Chluted
Continuing operations - - 0 7872p 520p
Discontinued operatisns 10 362p 29p
Total 10 N44p 549p
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated income statement
Consolidated statement of comprehensive iIncome
for the year ended 30 June 2015
2015 204
Em Em
Profit for the year 1952 865
Other comprehensive sncome
Amounts recognised directly in equity that may subsequently be recycled to the income statement
Gain on revaluation of available-for-sale iInvestments 6 104
Gain (lossy on cash flow hedges 276 (76)
Tax on cash flow hedges 57 39
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations net of net investment hedges (213) -
42 (33
Amounts reclassified and reported in the mcome statement .
(Loss) Eawn on cash flow hedges * (74) 137
Tax on ¢ash flow hedges 3z . 31
Tranafer Lo income statement on disposal of available-for-sale investment (see note 5) (492) LI
Transfer to wncome statement on disposal of associate (38 -
(667) 106
Other comprehensive (logs) income for the year (net of tax) (625) 73
Total comprehensive income for the year 1327 834
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
Equuty shareholders of the parent company 1345 938
Non-controlimg mnterests 8}y -
1327 938
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Consolhdated balance sheet
as at 30 June 2015

Rnanoal sStatemants.

wodasnBalens

2005 2014
Notes Em Em
Non-Current assets
Goodwll 12 4160 1019
Intangible assets 13 .-4084..._ 810
Property plant and equipment 14 1646 1088
investments in jont ventures and associates 15 133 173
Avalable-for-sale investments 16 N 533 §
Deferred tax assets 7 175 kil ]
Programme distnbutionnghts , 8 k| 20 B
Trade and other recervables 19 86 7 ﬁ
Derrvatrve financial assets 23 453 195
10789 3876
Current assets
tnventones 18 847 546
Trade and other recewvables ] 1096 635
Current tax assets 8 -
Short-term ceposits 23 1100 295
Cash and cash equivalents 23 1378 1082
Derwatrve financial assets 23 130 5
4559 2573
Tote! assets 15 358 6449
Current habibies
Barrawings 22 ag4 n
Trade and other payables 20 3430 2286
Current tax habihties 154 128 n
Provisions N 103 48 g
Derrvatve financral habilit 23 23 46 =
4204 2519 g
Non-current hatilties 5
Borrowings 22 7418 2658 3
Trade and other payables 20 94 56 @
Provisions 21 77 14
Dervative financial habdities 23 60 129
Deferred tax habiities 17 281 ]
7930 2858
Total habilities 12134 5377
Share capatat 25 860 781
Share premum 26 2704 1437
Reserves 26 (399) (3148)
Total equity attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company 26 3165 1072
Total equity attnibutable to nan-contreling interests 59 -
Total habities and equity 4 15358 6449

Andrew Griffith
Group Chief Finanoal Officer
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Fnandal statemants

Consolidated financial statements

{conunued)

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2005 2014
Notes fm £m

Contnuing operatians
Cash Mows from operatung activies
Cash generated from cperations 27 2080 1696
Interest recanved and dvidends from available-for-sale mvestments 9 27
Taxaton pad Q19 {229)
Nat cash from operating activities ) 1,870 1494
Cash flows from investing actmties
Dwndends recerved from jomnt ventures and associates 25 32
Net funding to joint ventures and assocates [[55) (6)
Praceeds on disposal of avadable-for-sale nvestment 546 -
Purchase of property plant and equipment (385) (238}
Purchase of iIntangible assets {357) (302)
Purchase of subsidianes (net of cash and cash equivalents purchased} {6 340) (20y
Purchase of available-for-sale iInvestments (88} (¢
(Increase) decrease in short-term deposits (80S) 300
Net cash used in investing actvatias _(7a1& (247)
Cash flows from financing actmaties
Net proceeds from barrowmngs 5364 -
Repayment of borrowings (272) -
Repayment of obigatons under finance leases [4{0)] (4
Proceeds from disposal of shares in Employee Share Ownership Plan { ESOP) 10 n
Purchase of own shares for ESOP 02y (164)
purchase of own shares for cancellation - (266)
issue of own shares 1346 -
interest paid (246} 37
Purchase of non-controling nterests {328) -
Dradends pad to shareholders of the parent {549 {485}
Net cash from (used in) financing activities 5303 {1045)
Effect of foreign exchange rate movements &7 -
MNet (decrease) increasen cash and cash equivalents from contuinuing operations (308) 208
Net merease in cash and cash equivalents from discontnued eperatons 604 59
Casn and cash equwalents at the beginming of the year 1082 815
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 1378 1082

The accompanying notes ara an integral part of this consolidated cash flow statement,
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Finanoal statements v
§
§
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 30 June 2015
Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company
Total
Avatable- share- Non-
Share Share ESOP Heaging  for-sale Other Retaned holders controling Total
- - . capltal femiym  reserve reserve feserve reserves earnings _equn:y IﬂtEI’E_S_tS equity
£m Em Em £m £€m Em £m £m Em £m
At July 2013 797 1437 (147) T 351 439  (1876) 1,012 - 1,012
Profit for the year - - - - - - BES 865 - 113
Revaluation of available-for-sale invesuments - - - - 104 - - 104 - 104
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - (39) - - - (39) - (3%9)
Tax on 1tems taken directly to equity - - - 8 - - - 8 - 8 ﬁ
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - (3an 104 - BES 938 - 938
Share-based payment - - - - - (95) (93) - (93)
Tax on items taken directly to equity - - - - - - 9 9 - 9
Share buy-back programme
- Purchase of own shares for cancellation Q&) - - - - 16 (250) (250) - (250)
- Financal iability for close penod purchases - - - - - - (59) (59) - (59)
Dwidends - - - - - - (485} (485) - {485}
At 30 June 2014 781 1437 (145) 20} 455 455 {1891 1.072 - 1,072
Profit for the year - - - N - - 1957 1957 5) 1952
Exchange differences on translation of
foresgn operations net of net investmeant
hedges - - - - - (200) - (200) 3) (213)
Revaluation of available-for-sale investments - - - - 36 - - 36 - 36
Transfer to Income statement on dispasal of
associate - - - - - (38) - (18) - a8
Transfer to income statement on disposal of I
avallable-for-sale investment (see note 5) - - - - (392) - - (492) - (492) §
Transfer on disposal of subskianes - = = = = a7y 97 = = = 14
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - 102 - - - 102 - 102 &
Tax en items taken directly to equity - - - 20 - - - 29} - [elv)] g
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - a2 {456) (335) 2054 1345 19) 1327 g
Share-based payment - - 20 - - - 68 839 - a9 4
lssue of own equity shares 79 1267 - - - - - 1346 - 1346
Non controlling nterests ansing on purchase
of subsichanes - - - - - - - - 191 L=}
Tax onitems taken directy te equity - - - - - - 7 17 - w
Share buy-back programme
- Reversal of financial habshity for dose penod
purchases - - - - - - 59 59 - 59
Owidends - - - - - - (549) (54%) - (549)
Purchase of non-controlling interests - - - - - - () (214) (V14) (328)
At 30 tune 2015 860 2704 (125) 62 (U] 120 (455) 3,365 59 3224

For a description of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve see note 26

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of changes m equity
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Financial statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Accounting policies

Sky ple (the Company formerly British Sky Broadcasting Group ple)
15 a public irnited company incorporated In the United Kingdom (UK)
and registered in England and Wales The consolidated financal
staternents snclude the Company and its subsidhanes (together the
Group ) and its Interests i associates and jomtly controlled entities

a) Staternent of comphance

The consolidated finangial statements have been prepared n
accordance with Internaticnal Finanoal Reporting Standards (IFRS)
as adopted by the European Union { EU) the Compames Act 2006 and
Article 4 of the International Accounting Standard (IAS’) Regulations
in addition the Group also complied with IFRS asissued by the
International Accounting Standards Board ( IASB )

bj Basis of preparation

The censobdated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern bas:s (as set aut 1n the Directors Report) and an an histonical
cost basis except for the remeasurement to Fairvalue of certan finanoal
assets and habilities as descnbed in the accounting pohcies below

The Group has adepted the new accounting pronouncements which
became effectve this year none of which had any sigmficant impact

on the Group s results or financial position

The Group maintains a 52 or 53 waek fiscal year ending on the Sunday
nearest to 30 June in each year In fiscal year 2015 this date was 28 June
2015 this being a 52 week year (fiscal year 2014 29 June 2014 52 week
year) For canvenience purposes the Group continues to date its
consoiidated financal statements az at 30 June and to refer to the
accounting penod as a year for reparting purposes The Group has
dassified assets and labiities as current when they are expected to be

reaised in or intended for sale or consumption in the nomal 0perating—-———rfpsgon gispasal

cyele of the Group

c)Basis of consolidation

1 Subsidianes

subsidianes are entities cantrolled by the Company Controlis achieved
where the Company has existing nghts that give it the current ability to
direct the activities that affect the Company s returns and exposure or
rights to vanable returns from the enbity Subsidiaries are included in
the consoYidated financial statements of the Company from the date
control of the subsidiary commences until the date that control ceases
Intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses orincome
and expenses arising from intragroup transactions are ehminated

In preparing the consclidated financial statements

n Associates and joint ventures

Associates are entities where the Group has significant influence but

not contral or joint control over the relevant activities of the entity

Jont ventures are jaint arrangements whereby the parbes that have

joint control of the arrangement have nghts to the net assets of the
arrangement These consolidated financial statements include the Groups
share of the total recegnisad gains and kosses of associates and jont
ventures using the equity methad from the date that significant nfluence
or ok control commences to the date that it eeases based on present
ownership interests and exchuding the possible exercise of potental voting
nghts less any imparrment lossas (see accounting policy 1) When the
Group s Interest 1N an associate or joint venture has been reduced to ml
because the Group s share of losses exceeds its nterest in the assooate
or joint venture the Group only provides for addimonal losses to the extent
that it has incurred legal or constructive obligations to fund such losses

or where the Group has made payments on behalf of the assoaate or
Jjont venture Where the disposal of an investment in an assoCiate or

jont venture s considered to be highly probable the investment ceases
1o be aquity accounted and instead 1s classified as held for sale and
stated at the lower of carrying amountand fair value less costs to sell

m Non-controling interests

Non-controlling nterests m the net assets of consolidated subsidianes
are identsfied separately from the Groups equity Non-controling
interests consist of the amount of those nterests at the date of the
acquisition and the non-controlling shareholders share of changes

n equity since the date of the acquisition The interest of the non-
controlling shareholders in the acquiree may inibally be measured either
at fairvalue or at the non-controliing shareholders proportion of thenet
fawr value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabiities and contingent
labdities assumed The choice of measurement basis 1s made on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis [n transactions with non-controliing
partses that do not result n achange in control the cifference between
the fair value of the consideration paid or receved and the amount by
which the non-controlling Interest is adusted 15 recogrised in equity

d) Goodwall

Business combinations that have occunred since 1July 2004 the

date of transition to IFRS (the Transiuon Date ) are accounted for by
applying the acquisitton method of accounting Following this methed
goodwill 1S inally recognised on censolidation representing the
difference between the fair value cost of the business combinaton and
the fair value of the identifiable assets habilipes and contingent assets
and habiities assumed

Inrespact of business combinations that eccurred pnor to the Transition
Date goodwil has been included at the amounts recognised under

the Group s UK Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (UK GAAP )
accounting policies on the Transition Date On disposal of a subsidiary
associate or joint venture the attnbutable amount of goodwill 1s included
n the determination of profit or loss on disposal except for goodwill
written off to reserves under LIK GAAP prior to the Transition Date which
15 not reinstated and 1s not included in determining any subsequent gain

Goodwillis stated at cost less any imparment losses and 1s tested

at least annually for impairment based on the recoverable amounts

of the cash generating unit ta which the goodwill has béen alldcated
Any imparment identified 1s recognised immediately in the income
statement and is not subseguently reversed The carrying amount

of goodwall in respect of associates and joink ventures is incuded in
the carrying amount of the investment in the associate or joint venture
Goodwill 15 tested for impairment in hne with accounting policy | below

©) Intangible assets and property plant and equipment ( PPE’)

t Intangible assets

Research expenditure is recogrwsed in gpearating expense n the income
statement as the expenditure 1s Incuired Development expenditure
(relating to the apphcation of research knowledge to plan or design new
or substantally improved procducts for sale or use within the business) is
recognised as an intangible asset from the point at which the Group has
the intenticn and abiity to generate probable future economic benefits
from the development expenditure that the development s techrically
feasible and that the subsequent expenditure can be measured relably
Any other development expenditure 15 recogrised in operating expense
as incurred
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Other intangible assets which are acquired by the Group separately or
through a business combmation are invtsally stated at cost or far value
respectively less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
other thanthose that are classified as held for sale which are stated
at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs tosell

The amortisation of an intangible asset begins when the asset s
available for use and 15 charged to the ncome statement through
operating expense over the asset s usefut aconomic ife In order to
match the expected pattern of consumptian of future economic
benefits embodied inthe asset

For acquired customer contracts and related custemier relationships the
assets are amortsed on either a reduaing balance basts or on a straght-
hne basis or over estimated useful Iife based on estimated customer
retention rate prinCipally being a pertod of between 1and 15 years as
appropnate

For all ather acquired and internally generated intangible assets the
assets are amortised on a straight-ine basis princpally being a period
of between 1 and 25 years as appropnate

IF the asset s useful economic life 1s judged to beindefirute or the asset
15 not yet avatlable for use no amortisation s charged and animparment
test 15 carned out at least annually Other intangitle assets are tested
for mpairment in fine wath accounting policy 1 below

n Property plant and equipment

Qwned PPE s stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any
imparrment lasses (see accounting policy 1) other than thosetemns that
are classified as held for sale which are stated at the lower of carryng
amount arkd fair value less costs to sell When anitemn of PPE comprises
major components having different useful economc Iives the
components are accounted for as separate items of PPE

Fimancial statements

) Denvative financal instruments and hedging activities
The Group uses dervative financial instruments to hedge its exposure
to fluctuations ininterest and foreign exchange rates

Cerwvatives are held at fair value from the date on which aderivative
contract s entered into Fair value 1s defined as the price that woutd be
recerved to sell an asset or paid to transfer a habiity in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date
under IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement The Group calcutates a separate
credit valuatian adjustment { CVA) or debit valuation adjustment ( DVA)
for each denvative based upon the net postuon for each counterparty
relavonship The Group calculates the CVA where it has a net asset
positicnusing a quoted credit default swap curve for the counterparty
and calculates the DWAwhere it has a net lability position using an
industry proxy credit default swap curve for the Group The farr value
ofdervative financtal instruments 15 calculated by discounting future
cash flows with reference to the benchmark Ltbor curve adjusted by the
relevant credit default swap curve Certain denvatives held by the Group
which relate to highty probable forecast transactions ( hedged items }
which meet, qualifying cntena under IAS 329 Finanaal Instruments
Recogrition and Measurement (145 39 ) are designated as cash flow
hedges Other derivatives which hedge changes infar value of fixed rate
financial nstruments and meet the requirements of IAS 39 are
designated as far value hedges and are subject to cash flow hedge
accounting or faw value hedge accounting respectively Certam
borrowings and dernvatives have been designated as net investment
hedges of the Group s foreign eperations for movements n the spot
foreign exchangerate sae section r)for further detalls Certam other
derivatives held by the Group do not meet the qualifing critena for
recagrition For accounting purposes as hedges despite this being ther
econamic funchion Changes in the farr valuas of these dervatives are
recognised immediately in the income statement The Group does

1odar ¥Byeng
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Assets held under financeleases which confer nghts and obligations
simular to thase attached to owned assets are treated as PPE (see
accounting policy ny

The cost of PPE less estimated residual value 1s depreciated in operating
expense on a straight-ine basis over its estimated useful Iife Land and
assets that are not yet available for use are not depreciated Pnncipal
useful economic lives used for this purpose are

+ Freehold builldings 251040 years
« Equipment furniture and fixtures  3to 20vyears
» Set-topboxes Sto 7 years

» Assets under finance leases and
leasehold improvements

Lesser of lease term and the
useful economic fe of the asset

Borrawang costs directly attributable to the acquisition construction
or preduction of qualifying assets which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial penod of ime to get ready for therrintended use
orsale are added to the cost ofthose assetsuntl such time as the
assets are substantially ready for therr intended use or sale

To the extent that the financing for aqualfying asset 1s part of the
Greups general borrowngs themterest cost to be capitahsed s
catculated based upon the waighted average cost of borrowing to the
Group (excluding the Interest on any borrowings specific to any qualifying
assets) This s then applied to the expendstures on the asset

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss inthe penod
towhich theyrelate

not hold or 1ssue denivatives for speculative purposes

1 Denvatives that qualify for cash flow hedge accounting

Changes in the fair values of dervatives that are designated as cash
flow hedges { cash flow hedging instruments ) are inially recogrused
inthe hedging reserve Inarcumstances in which the denvative used
1s a currency option only changes m the ntnnsic value of the option
are designated under the cash flow hedging relationship with all other
movemnents being recorded immediately in the income statement
Amounts accumulated in the hedging reserve are subsequently
recogmised In the income staternent in the periods in which the
related hedged stems are recogrised in the income statement

At inception the effectiveness of the Groups cash flow hedges is
assessed through a companson of the prinapat terms of the hedging
instrument and the underlying hedged item The ongoing effectiveness
of the Groups cash flow hedges Is assessed using the dollar-offset
approach with the expected cash flows of heaging nstruments being
compared to the expected cash flows of the hedged items This
assessment s used to demonsirate that each hedge relaticnship s
expected to be highly effective eninception has been hughly effective
n the perod and 15 expacted to contmue to be highly effectve in Future
periods The measurement of hedge ineffectiveness for the Group s
nhedging instruments is calculated using the hypathetical dervative
method with the fair values of the hedging instruments being compared
to those of the hypothetical dervative that would result in the
designated cashflow hedge ach eving perfect hedge effectiveness

The excess of the cumulative change in the fair value of the actual
hedging mstrument compared to that of the hypothetical dervative

1s deemed to be hedge ineffectiveness which 1S recogrused inthe
income statement

The Group uses a range of BO% to 125% for hedge effectiveness in
accordance with 1AS 39 and any relationship which has effectiveness
outside this range 1s deemed to be ineffective and hedge accounting
1s suspended
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Financal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

When a cash flow hedging mstrument expires 1s terminated or s
exercised or if a hedge no longer meets the quahfying cntena for hedge
accounting any cumulative gain or Ioss extsting in the hedging reserve
at that me remains 1n the hedging reserve and 15 recogrised when the
forecast transaction s ultimately recogrised in the income statement
provided that the underlying transaction 1s still expected o occur
When a forecast transaction 15 no langer expecied to occic the
cumulatve gain or loss that was reported in the hedging reserve

15 immediately recegnised in the iIncome statement and all future
changes w the fair value of the cash flow hedgping instruments are
immediately recogmsed in the tncome statement

1 Derwvatives that qualify for farr valug hedge accounting

The Group has designated certain derwvatrves as far value hedges as
defined under [AS 39 Any changes in the fair value of the derivabives are
recogrused rmmediately in the income statement The carmpng values
of tha undertying hedged 1items are adyusted for the change in the

fair value of the hedged risks with the gains or losses recognised
immediately n the ncome statement offsetting the fairvalue
movement on the dervative

Prospective effectiveness 1S assessed quarterly through a comparison of
the principal terms of the hedging instrument and the uncarlyaing hedged
itemn mcluding the kkebhood of default by the dervative counterparty
The retrospective effectiveness of the Groups farr value hedges s
calcufated quarterly using the cumulative dollar-offset approach with
movements in the farr value of the hedged itembeing compared to
movements in the fair value of the hedging instrument.

The Group uses a range of BO% to 125% for hedge effecuveness and
any relationiship which has effectiveness outside this range s deemed
to be neffective and hedge accounting s suspended

The cost of television programme tnventones is recognised in the
operatng expense ine of the ncome statement, over the penad

the Group utdises the programmung nghts taking mto account the
circumstances prmardty as descnbed below These circumstances

may change or evolve over time and as such the Group regularly reviews
and updates the method used to recognise pProgramiming expense

« Sports - the majonty or all of the cost s recogrused in the income
statement on the first broadcast or where the nghts are for multiple
$EASONSs or competitions such rights are recognised prinapally on
a straight-line basss across the seasons or competitions Where
the nghts are packaged sold and consumed over the off-season
the Group allocates an appropeiate portion of the total nghts value
to the off-seasan penod and that cost isrecogrused on a straight:ine
basss over the off-season penod

= News - the cost s recognised In the iIncome statement as mcurred

- Mowvies - the costis recognised in the income statement on a straight-
tne basss over the penod for which the broadeast nghts are icensed

General entertainment - the cost relating to acquired comnmussionad
and produced nght s are recognised in the income statement based

on the expected value of each planned broadcast onthe Groups inear
channels and the tme penod over which non-linear programme nghts
are utiised The cost attnbutable or apportioned to non-hnear

(on demand)nghts are amortised on a straight-line bas:s over the
period of broadcast aights

The Group regularly reviews its programming rights forimpairment
Where pragrammae broadcast nghts are surpius to the Group s
requirements and no gains anticipated through a dispesal of the nghts
orwhere the programming will not be broadcast for any other reason a
write-down to the income statement s made Any reversals of inventory

m Embedded derivatives

Denvatives embedded in cther financiat instruments or other host
contracts are treated as separate dervatives when thew nsks and
charactensuics are not cdosely related Lo those of the host contracts
and the host contracts are not carned at farr value with unrealised
gains or losses reported inthe income statement Embedded dervatuves
are camed on the balance shaet at far value from the inception of the
host contract. Changes in fair value are recogrused within the income
statement during the period in which they anse

g) inventones

1 Acquired and commissioned television programme

nventories for broadcast

Programme mventories for broadcast are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value ( NRV ) incuding where applhicable estenated
subscriber escalation payments and net of the accumulated expense
charged to the income statement to date

Such programming nights are induded as inventories when the legally
enforceable cence pencd commences and allofthe following conditions
have been mat (a) the cost of each programme Is known of reasonably
determinable (b) the programme matenal has been accepted by

the Group in accordance with the conditions of the nghts and (c) the
programme is avadable for s first showing Prior to bewng included
minventones the programming nghts are dassified as television
programme nghts not yet avalable for transmussion and not recorded
as inventores on the Group s balance sheet and are instead disdosed
&s conractual commitments (see note 28) Payments made upon receipt
of commussioned and acquired programming butn advance of the legal
nght to broadcast the programmes are treated as prepayments

wntesdowns are recognlsed asreductionsimn operaung expenss

i1 Programme distribution nghts

Programme distnbution nghts arevalued at the lower of cost and
NRV net of the accumulated expense charged to the income
statement to date

The cost of the programme distnbution nghts is recogrused in the
operating expense hnie of the iIncome statement on anulumate revenue
forecast basis

In Set-top baxes, routers and related equipment

Set-top boxes routers and related equipment held for sale to customers
are valued at the lower of cost and NRV the latter of which reflects the
value that the business expects Lo realise from the set-top baxes and
related equipment in the hands of the customer and are recognised
through the operating expense hne of the sncome statement Any
substdy 15 expensed on enablement whichis the process of actvating
the viewing card dunng installation so as to enable a wewer to view
encrypted broadcast services and effectively represents the completion
of tha installation process for new customers The amount recogrised

in the income statement 1s determined on a weighted average cost basis
in accordance with [AS 2 Inventory

v Raw matenals consumables and goods held for resale

Raw matenals consumables and goods held for resale are valued at the
lower of cost and NRV The cost of raw matenals consumables and goods
held for resaleis recognised through the operating expense hine of the
Income statement on a first-in-first-out basis
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h) Financial assets and habilities

Finantia! assets and habikties are imiially recogrused at fair value plus
any directly attnbutable transaction costs At each balance sheet date
the Group assesses whether there s any obyective ewdence that any
financiat asset s impaired Financial assets and liabhtes are recogrused
on the Group s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial asset or hability Financial assets
are derecognised from the balance shaet when the Group s contractual
nghts to the cash flows expire or the Group transfers substanually

all the nsks and rewards of the financial asset Finanaal kabilities are
derecogrused from the Group s balance sheet when the obligation
speafied in the contractis discharged cancalied or expires

1 Avaiable-for-sale investments

Equity investments intended to be held for anindefinite penod are
classified as avalable-for-sale Investments They are carried at fair
value where this can be reliably measured with movementsm far
value recognised directly in the available-for-sale reserve Where the
fair vafue cannot be reblably measured the mvestment ts carried at cost

Any impairment losses in equity nvestments classified as available-for-
sale iInvestments are recognised In the income statement and are not
reversible through the income statement and are determined with
reference to the dosing market share price at the balance sheet date
Any subsequent increase in the fair value of the avadable-for-sale
nvestment above the impared value will be recogrused wathin the
avallable-for-sale reserve

Available-for-sale mvestments are included within non-current assets
unless the carryng value 15 expected to be recaovered pancipally through
sale rather than continuing use i which case they are included within
current assets On disposal the difference between the carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration recerved and any cumulative gain

Financal statements

Vi Barrowings

Borrowings are recorded as the proceeds recewed net of direct issue
costs Finance charges incduding any prermuum payable on settiement
orredemption and direct 1ssue costs are accounted for on an accruals
basts in the income statement using the effective interest method and
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying instrument to which
they relate to the extent that they are nat settled in the penod in which
they arise - - - - -

1) Impairment

At each balance sheet date n accordance with IAS 36 tmpairment

of Assets the Group reviews the carrying amounts of allits assets
excluding nventones (See accounting policy g) non current assets
dassified as held for sale financial assets (see accounting policy h) and
deferred taxation (see accounting policy 0) to determine whether there s
any indication that any of those assets have suffered animpairment loss

An imparment 15 recognised tn the nceme statement whenever the
carrying amount of an asset or 11s cash generating umit exceeds its
recoverable amount Animpairment of an investment in a joint venture or
assooate (s recognised within the share of profit fram jomnt ventures and
assoaates The recoverable amount 1s the greater of net seling pnce
defined as the fair value tess costs to sel! and valusin use Inassessing
valuein use the estimated Future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax driscount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and nisks speafic to the asset
where 1t 15 not possible to estimate the recaverable amount of an
indrvidual asset the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit tawhich the asset belongs Imparment losses
recognisad i respect of cash generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any geodwill allocated tothose units

and then to reduce the carrying amount of other assets in the unit

or I6ss that Rad previously been recognised girectly in reserves is
recognised in the income statement

Il Trade and other recevables

Trade and other recewvables are non-dervatve financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments and where no stated interest rate 1s
applcable are measured at the onginal invoice amount 1f the effect
of discounting Is iImmaterial Where discounting 1s matenal trade and
other recervables are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method An allowance account s maintained to reduce the
carrying value of trade and other recevables forimpairment losses
identified from objective evidence with movementsin the allowance
account either from increased impairment losses of reversals of
impairment losses being recognised in the vicome statement

m Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equwalents indude cash in hand bark accounts
deposits recewable on demand and deposits vath matunity dates

of three months or less from the date of inception Bank overdrafts
that are repayable ondemand and which form anintegral part of the
Group s cash management ase also mduded as a compaonent of cash
and cash equivalents where of fset condibons are met

v Short-term deposits

Thits Includes short-term depastts which have matunty dates of
more than three months from incepton These deposits are titially
recogrused at far value and then carmied at amortised cost through
the income statement, less any allowance for impairment losses

v Trade and other payablas

Trade and other payables are non-denvative finanoal hiabilities and are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method Trade
and ather payables wath no stated interest rate are measured al the
original tnvaice amount If the effect of discounting 1s immatenal

on a pro rata basis

An impairment loss for an indmdual asset or cash generating urut will be
reversed if Lthere has been a change inestimates used to determine the
recoverable amount since the last imparrment loss was recegnised and
s only reversed ta the extent that the asset s carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined

net of depreciation or amorusation If no impairment loss had been
recognised Imparment of goodwll1s not reversed

JyProvisions

Prowvisions are recogrused when the Group has a probable present legal
or constructive abligation to make a transfer of economic benefits as a
result of past events where a rehable estimate s available The amounts
recognised reprasent the Group s best esumate of the transferof
benefits that will be required to settle the ohligation as of the balance
shect date Provisions are discounted if the effect of the time value of
money 15 materal using a pre-tax market rate adjusted for nsks specific
to the hability

k) ESOP reserve

Where the Company orits subsichanes purchase the Comparty s own
equity shares the cost of those shares including any attributable
transaction costs is presented within the ESOP reserve as a deduction
in shareholders equity in the consohidated financial statements
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Financial statemants

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

{contnued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

13 Revenue recognition

Revenue which excludes value added tax and transactions between
Group companes represents the gross inflow of economic benefit from
Sky s operating acuvities The Group s main sources of revenue are
recogrused as follows

+ Subscnption revenue mecludes revenue from residential and
commeraal subscnbers to TV and communication products ncluding
over-the-top (OTT ) subscriptions and income from set-top box sales
and installation service calls and warranties Revenue 15 recognised
net of any discount given as the goods or services are provided

» Transactional revenue includes the purchase af physical content
OTT passes pay perview and buy to keep ¢ontent by residential and
commeraal customers Transactional revenue i1s recognised net of
any discount given when the relevant goods or service are provided

wholesale and syndication revenue includes revenue from the sale of
channels and programmes across other platforms and internationally
Whiolesale revenue is recogrised as the services are provided to cable
and other retaillers and 1s based on the number of subscnbers taking
the Sky channels as reported Lo the Graup by the cable and other
retaders and the apphicable rate card or contract Syndication
revenues are earned from the production of programming and the
distribution of programming rights Production revenue is recognised
on a stage of completion basis and distnibution revenue s recognsed
when the contract 1s signed and the content 1s avalabte for
exploitabion

Advertsing sates revenue s recognised when the advertrsing
1s broadcast Revenue generated from arume sales where Sky
acts as an agent on behalf of third parties 1s recogrisedon a

The Group ssues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
employees which must be measured at fair value and recogrused as

an expense 1n the income statement, with a corresponding incraase

m equity The fair values of these payments are measured at the dates

of grant usng opuon-pnoang models taking into accourtt the terms

and condittons upon which the awards are granted The farr value

1s recogmised over the penod dunng which employees become
unconditionally entitled to the awards subject to the Groups esumate
of the number of awards which will be forfested either due to employees
leaving the Group prior to vesting or due 1o non-market based
performance canditrons not being met Where an award has market-
based performance conditions the far value of the award 1S adjusted for
the probability of achieving these wa the optron pncing moded The total
amount recogrused tn the mcome skatement as an expense 5 adjusted
to reflect the actual number of awards that vest, except where forfeiture
ts due to the fadure to meet market-based performance measures

in the event of a canceltation whether by the Group or by a participauing
employee the compensation expense that would have been recognised
over the remainder of the vesting penod 15 recogrised immediately

n profit or loss

n) Leases

Leases are classifed as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease
transfer subystantially il the risks and rewards inadental to ownership of
the asset to the lessee All other leases are dassified as operating leases

Sub-tease income from operating leases 15 recogrused on a straight-ine
basis over the term of the lease

Wwhen the Groupis alessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group
at their farr value on the date of acquisiton or If lower at the present
value of the muyumum lease payments The corresponding hability to

net commission basis

Other revenue principally includes thcome from technical platform
services and the prowsion of netwark services Other revenue s
recogrised net of any discount given when the relevant goods or
service are provided

Reverue s measured at the far vatue of the consideration receved

or recenvable When the Group sells a set-top box instatlatan ar serice
and a subscniption n ane bundled transaction the total consideration
from the arrangement s allocated to each element based on thesr
relatrve fawr vatues The far value of each indvidual element 1s determened
using vendor speaific or third-party evidence The amount of revenue the
Group recognises for delivered elements s hmited Lo the cash receved

m) Employea banefits

Wages salanes social secunty contributions bonuses payable and
nan-monetary benefits for current employees are recognised in
the income statement as the employees services are rendered

Whera the Group prowdes pensions to eligible employees through
defined contnbuuon schemes the amount charged to thecome
statement in the year represents the cost of contnbutions payable

by the Group to the schemes in exchange for employee services
rendered in that year The assets of the schemes are held independently
of the Group

Liabilitses in relation to employee obligations which are economically
simidar 1o defined benefit pension schemes are acoounted for as such
under IAS 19

Termination benefits are recogrused as a bability at the earher of when
the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of the termnation benefit
and when the Group recognises any related restructuring costs such
termination bewng before the normal retrement date or as the result
of an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy

the fessor s included 1n the balance sheetasa finance lewse obligation ———
lLease payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reductions to the lease oblgations so as 1o achieve a constant rate

of interest on the remaming balance of the hability

The lease expense ansing from operating leases is charged to the income
statement on a straght-lne basis aver the term of thelease Benefits
receved and recevable as incentves 1o enter into operating leases are
recorded on a straight-lne basis over the lease term

When the Group s a lessor

Set-top boxes which are provided to subscnbers under operauing lease
arrangements are recogrised as assets withun praperty plant and
equipment The set-top boxes remainin the econemic ownership of the
Group for the duration of the lease and are deprecated over their useful
economic Iives of between five and seven years

o) Taxation including deferred taxation

The Group s habtlity for eurrent tax (s based on taxable profit for tha year
and s calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date

Deferred tax assets and habiities are recogrwsed using the balance sheet
habitity method prowiding for temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and habilities o the balance sheet and the
correspondhing tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit
Temporary differences ansing from goodwill and except in a business
combination the watial recogniion of assets of habilities that affect '
nether accountng profit nor taxable profit are not prowded for Deferred
tax iabihties are recogrised for taxable temporary differences ansing
onnvestments in subsidianies and assocates and INLerests In joint
vantures except where the Groups able to control thereversal of the
temporary difference and it.1s probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future The amount of deferred tax
prowided 1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement.
of the carnang amount of assets and habihities using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets rs revewed at each balance
sheet date and adjusted to reflect an amount that s probable to be
reabsed based on the waight of all available evidence Deferredtax is
calculated at the rates that are expected to apply in the penod when
the iability 15 settled or the asset s realised Deferred tax assets and
habiliues are not discounted Deferred tax 1s charged or credited in the
income statement, except where 1t relates to items charged or credited
directly to equity inwhich case the deferred tax s also ncluded within
equity Deferred tax assets and iiabilities are offset when thereisa
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets agatnst current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxatien authority and the Group intends to setile 1ts current tax assets
and habuities on a net basis

p) Distnbutions to equity shareholders
Dnadends are recogrused inthe retamed earmings reserve in the yearin
which they are declared

The cost of repurchasing the Group s own equity shares for cancellation
(share buy-backs }1s recorded in retained earrungs In addition the
nommnal cost of shares repurchased s deducted from share capital
and amatching crechit 1s recorded in the capital redemption reserve

q) Earrungs per share

Basic earnings or loss per share represents the profit ortoss for the year
attnbutable 1o equity shareholders of the parent campany dwded by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue duning the year
excluding the weighted average number of ordinary shares purchased by
the Group and held i the Group s ESOP dunng the year to satisfy
employee share awards

Diuted earnings or loss per share represents the profit or loss for the
yearattnbutable to equity sharehalders of the parent company dmded
by the wenghted average number of ordinary shares used 1o caleulate
basic earnings plus the weighted aversge number of dilutive shares
resulting fram share options where the incluston of these would not

be antidilutive

r) Foreign currency transiation

Trading activties denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in the
functional currency of the entity at applicable monthly exchange rates
Monetary assets kabilities and commitments denorunated n foreign
currencies at the balance sheet date are reported at the rates of
exchange at that date Non-manetary assets and kabiities denominated
infareign currencies are translated to the functional currency of

the entity at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the mjtial
transacuon Gains and losses from the retransiation of monetary

assets and liablities 2re included net in profit for the year

The Groups presentational currency s pounds sterling Assets and
liabiities of the Group's fareign operabons are translated at exchange
rates prevailing on the balance sheat date Income and expense items.
are translated at the apphcable monthly average exchange rates

Any exchange differences ansing are dassified as equity and transferred
to other reserves Goodwill and fair value adjustments ansing on the
acqursition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and habdibes
of the foremgn operation and transiated accordingly Gamns and [osses
accumulated in the translation reserve are included m the ncome
staternent when the foresgn operation s disposed of

Financal statements

Gains and losses on those instruments designated as hedges of the net
investments in foreign operations ererecogrused i equity to the extent
that the hedging relationshup s effective these amounts are ncuded
inexchange differences on translation of foreign operations as stated
inthe statement of comprehensveincome Gains and losses relating

to hedge ineffectreeness are recogmsed immediately in the income
statement for the period

s) Reportable segments

{FRS B Operauing Segments requires the segment information presented
inthe financial statements to bethat which s used internally by the chief
operating decision maker to evaluate the performance of the business
and decrde how to allocate resourcas The Group has identified the

Board of Drrectors as its chuef operating decision maker and the segment
informaton presented in the financial statements 1s consistent with the
internal reporting reviewed by the Board

t) Accounting Standards interpretations and amendments to existing
standards that are nct yet aeffective

The Group has not yet adopted certain new standards amendments and
interpretations to existing standards which have been pubhshed but are
only effective for our accounting penods beginming on or after 1 July 2015
oriater perods These new pronouncements are Iisted below

+ Amendments to{FRS 11 Accounting for Acguisitions of Interests in
Joint Operatians (effecteve 1 January 2016)°

Amendments to 1AS 16 and IAS 38 Clanfcation of Accegtable Methods
of Deprecation and Amortisation (effective 1 January 2016)"

Annual improvements 2012-2014 cycle (effective 1 July 2016)°

.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers' (effective 1January
2017

IFRS 9 Financial instruments (effectve 1 January 2018)*
not yet endorsed for use i the €0

The Directors are currently evaluaung the mpact of the adoptien of
these standards amendments and interpretations in future penods

u) Critical accounting policies and the use of judgement

Cartain accounting policies are considered to be cntical to the Group
An accaunting pohey i1s censidered to be cntical if in the Drectors
judgament, its selection or application matenally affects the Group s
financial position or results Below 15 a swnmary of the Group s cntical
accounting pohicies and details of the key areas of judgement that are
exercised in ther apphcation

1 Revenue (s¢e notel)

Selecting the appropnate timing for and amount of revenue tobe
recognised requires judgement This may involve estimating the fair value
of consideration before it 15 recerved When the Group sells a set-top box
instaflauon or service and a subscaption in one bundled transacton the
toral consideravon from the arrangemint 1s allocated to each element
based on its relatwe fair value The fair value of each indnadual element
1s determmned using vendar specfic or third-party evidence The amount
of revenue the Group recognises for delivered elements is hmited to the
cash receved

1 Taxation, tncluding deferred taxation (see notes 9 and 17)

The Group s tax charge 1s the sum of the total current and deferred tax
charges The cakulation of the Group 5 total tax charge necessanly
involves a degree of estmation and judgement in respect of certain
1iterns whose Lax treatrment cannot be finally determined untl resaluban
has been reached with the relevant tax authornty or as appropriate
through a formal legal process
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Fnandal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions for tax contingencies reguire management to make
judgements and estimates in relation to tax auditissues and exposures
Amounts provided are based on management sinterpretation of
country-specific Lax law and the likehhood of settlement Tax benefits
are not recegrused unless it 1s probable that the tax posibons will be
sustained Once considered tobe probable management reviews
each matenal tax benefit to assess whether a provision should be
taken aganst full recognition of the benefit on the basis of the Likely
resolution of the issue through negobiation andlor iigation

The amounts recogrmsed in the conschdated financal statements in
respect of each matter are denved from the Groups best estimation

and judgement as described above However the inherent uncertainty
regarding the outcome of these items meaans the eventual resolution
could differ from the prowvision and i such event the Group would be
required to make an agjustment in a subsequent pencd which could have
amatenal mpact on the Group s profit and Ioss and/or cash position

The key area of jJudgement in respect of deferred tax accounting 1s

the assessment of the expected uming and manner of realisatson o
settlement of the carrying amounts of assets and habies hetd at the
balance sheet date In particular assessment 1s required of whether it s
probabte that there will be suitable future taxable profits against which
any deferred tax assets can be uthsad

m Acquisition accounting and goodwill (see note 12)

Judgement Is required In determinang the farr value of identifiable assets
habilities and contingant assets and habihties assumed ina busingss
combination and the fair value of the consideration payable Calculating
the far values involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions
ingluding expectations about future cash flows discount rates and the

Assessing whether assels meet the required critena for imial
capitalisation requires judgement This requires a determinatson

of whether the assets will result in future benefits to the Group

in paruaular internally generated intangible assets must be assessed
dunng the development phase to tdentfy whether the Group has

the ability and intention to complete the develppment successfully

v Programming inventory for broadcast (see note 18)

The key area of accounting for programming inventory for broadcast that
requires judgernent 15 the assessment of the appropniate profile over
whuch to amartsie general entertamment programmung This assessment
requires the Group to form an expectavon of

= the ume period over which the programme 15 expected to be
uthised the number of imes a programme will be broadeast enthe
Group s channels

tha relate value assooated with each broadcast and

the refatsve value assocated with hnear channet and non-linear
programme nghts

In order ta perfarmn this assessment, the Group considers the following
factors

= The ume penod and frequency with which the programme 1s expected
to be utdised on the Group s linear channels and non-inear seriices
Thus 1s usually based on a combination of the actual penod speafed (n
the contract for the programme nghts the imual expectation of when
ainngs will be scheduled and the alternative programming avadabte to
the Group within this penod

= Expectabions as to the number of vewers a programme 15 hkely to
achueve for each indmwiduat broadcast on the Group s hnaar channels
over the contractual broadcast period The nurmber of viewers per

Inves of assets following purchase

Judgement ts required in gvaluating whether any impairment loss has
ansen aganst the carrying amount of goodwill This may require
calculauon of the recoverable amount of cash generating units to which
the goodwill 15 assocated Such a calculation may involve estimates

of the net present value of future forecast cash flows and selecting

an appropnate discount rate Alternatiely it may invohe acalculation
of the farr value less costs to sell of the apphcable cash generating unit

Judgement s required in identifying the cash generating units to which
the goodwill is associated for the purposes of goodwill mparment
testing Identification of cash generating units Involves an assessment
of whather assets or groups of assets generate cash flows that are
fargely sndependent of other assets or groups of assots Goodwllis
then allocated to each idenufied cash generating unit that 1s expected
to benefit from the synerges of the business comtnations from which
goodwill has ansen

v Intangible assets and property plant and equipment

(see notes 13 and 14)

The assessment of the useful econormic lives and the method of
amortising these assets requires judgement Deprecation and
armortisation are charged to the income statemeant based on the useful
economic life selected whch requires an estimation of the penod and
profile over which the Group expects to consume the future economic
benefits embodied in the assets The Group reviews its useful economic
Ives aan at least an annual basig

Determuning whether the carrying amount of these assets has any
mndication of impairment atso requires Judgement [Fan indation of
imparrment is iIdenufied further judgement is required to assess whether
the carryng amount ¢an be supported by the net present value of future
cash flows forecast to be derved from the asset This forecast involves
cash flow projections ang selecting the appropnate discount rate

broadcast directly influences aaverusing revenue rofcharmels

2lthough this consideration 1s partly influenced by the Group s
assessment of the potential impact of the publicly available
nformation on its competters scheduling intentions aganst planned
broadcasts

= The potential benefits associated with utilising programming Certain
high-profile or high-quatity programming tities have additional value to
the Group asthey attract new TV customers and encourage retention
of existing TV customers As such these programmes are able ta retan
more valug throughout their icence period thanwould be indicated
when considenng the expected customer viewing and consumption
numbers alone

The relatve value assocated with lnear channel and non-inear rights
are assessed based on the manner inwhich the Group expects to
unhise the programming nghts and the relative value perceived by
customers for the Group s channels and sennces Those relative values
may also differ based on the type and genre of programme Such
values are reviewed by the Group aganst current and expacted future
wends in customer viewing behaviour for the Group s programming
and channels The vaiue apportionad to non-inear rights (in addition
to any separately acquired non-kinear nghts) s amortised ona
straight-kne basis over the peniod of the broadcast nghts, as the
Group considers ths to be the profile most closely aligned toits
consumpbion of those nghts
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2 Operating Segments

Financial statements

0O 12 November 2014 the Group purchased operations in Italy Germany and Austna and as a result has reassessed the number of reportable

operating segments

The Group now has three reportable segments that are defined by geographuc area to reflect how the Groups operations are monitored and managed
The reportable segments presented reflect the Group s management and reporting structure as viewed by the Board of Directors whichis considered

to be the Greup s chief operating decision maker

Reportable segment Description

UK &irefand The activities and operations of the pay TV home cammurncations and adjacent businesses in the UX and Ireland
ltaly The actinties and aperations of the pay TV and adjacent businesses in Italy

Germany & Austria The activities and operations of the pay TV and adjacent businesses in Germany and Austra

Segmental Income statement for the year ended 30 June 2015

Resuilts for full year

voda 2801eg

FRIBLIIADD

Italy and
Germany
Adjusting & Austna
UK & Germany & Items & pre-  Statutory
Ireland Italy Austna Eimnatons acqusiten Group Total
£m £m £m Em Em Em
Continuing Operations
Subserption 6596 1845 1256 - (179 8518
Transactional 120 35 18 - 20} 153
wholesale and syndication 515 16 20 (] {9) 54
Advertising 510 162 a4 - &67) 649
Other 95 28 38 (9) (25) 128
Revenue 7836 2086 1377 ()] 1300) 2989
-
Inter-segment revenue 6) - - 10 € - ‘ g
| Revenue from external customers 7820 2086, 1377. (1294) 9985 — &—
w
Programming (2855) 1258) (764) () 724 @172} %
Direct network costs (840) - - - - (840) 3
Sales general and administration (2781) (767) (624) (377) 544 {4 003) a
Operating expense (6486) (2025) {1388) (386) 1268 (9017
EBITDA 1740 216 74 (163) (129) 1738
Depreciation and amertisation (330) (155) (85) (233) a7 (766)
Qperatang profit (loss) 1350 61 [41)] (396) (32) 972
Share of results of joint ventures and assocates 28
Investment income 8
Finance costs (283)
Profit on disposal of avalable-for-sale Investments 492
Profit on disposal of assoaate 299
Profit before tax 1516 g
=
3
g
o
3
3
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Segmental income statement for the year ended 30 June2014

Results for fullyear

Italy and
Germary &

UKE Germany & Adjustng Austna  Statutory

lreland Italy Austna ems fulyear Group Toal

£m Em Em £m £Em Em

Continuing Operations

Subseripion 6278 1850 1144 - (2954) 6218

Transactonal 86 37 19 - (56) as

who'esale and syndication 433 65 26 15 (1)) 448

Advertising 487 168 35 - (203) 487

Other 151 T 20 38 - (58) 151

Revenue 7435 210 1262 15 (3402 7450

Inter-segment revenue [{2)] - - - 61 -

Revenue from external customers 7374 2140 1262 15 {3341 7450
Programmung (2656) Qn2m {735) [4)] 2006 {2657)
Direct netwark costs (816) - - (29> - (845)
Sales, general and administration (2760) (830 (584) (84) 1414 {(2844)
Operating expense (6232 (2101 (1319) (114) 3420 (6 345)

EBITDA 1606 224 18 [&(0)] 242 1536
Depreaatuon and amortsation {403} (185) (75) (29) 260 (432)

Operatng profit {loss) 1203 39 (57) [€1))] 18 1104

Share of results of joint ventures and assccates 35

fnvestment income 26
e —— FINARCE COSts (10)

Profit before tax 1025

Results for sach segment e presanted on an adjusted basss A reconciaten of statutory to adpusted profit is shown nnote 10 which aso indud &5 a descnpton of the adasng tems
Tramsiclons Detween segments are recomed based on estumated market pnoes.

To prosndie & MOrE relevant presertaton mansgement has chosen to dyse th and op Fromthose previously repaned Tha revenue Categones havey bevn
changed to refiect the ncreasing breacith of the busness and a number of operating expense subﬂmshave beeﬂwri:mdmtrmumgle Sales gereral and adminstraton (SGEAY}
operatmg expense bng Assuch Crtan pnor penod Mvenues and oosts withn the 2014 statutory Group total comparatives have been neclasaified ag sl out below

Prior yaar rewenues of £85 makon and E:20 mihon priviousty ncluded i instaRation hardwire and sennce 2nd Qther respectvsely am now ncuded n Subscr puon revenue Transacuonal reverue
inchudes £82 rmilion and E4 mdhon relating to Sky Store and sports and wholesale pay per wiew which were previousty mcudad in Ratad subsenpoon and Wholesale subscripbon retpectaely
Reverwes of E15 millxon 300 E2 md:on relatng 10 Sky K and SEa7CH Mevenues are now (ncluded in Advertising and Wholes.ale and syndicaton respeciively havmg previowsly been ndugedn Other
Sports syheabion and Sky Vis:on revenues of £28 mikon ane now ndudad m Wholesale and syndscation having prewousty been ncuded n Other Prior year expensa of £2 mdion pracutly
nduded N Programming 5 now nduded n SGEA.

Revenue of EZIB7 mdhon {2014 E6972 milkon) anses from goods and serces prowded Lo the UX and revenye of E2602 miban (2014 {478 maion} anses from sernces prowvcéd i other
countnes. Non-curment. assets located 5 the UK were £10 148 mudkon (2014 E3 873 mdbon) and non-cument assets located outside the UK wene E651 mivon (2014 E3 mibon)

Includic] withen operating €xpenses for the year ended 30 Juna 2015 are
Costs of £10 miibon relating to the ntegration of Sky Deutschiand and Skyttaka in the enlarged Group meopnised n SGEA
Costs of £50 mdion relating to advsory and transaction fees incurred on the purchase of Sky Devtschland and Sky ltaha recognised i SGEA
Costs of £105 mdbon relatng to corporate restructunng and efficency programmes ncuding an smparment of £.2 milon n relaton 1o fixed assets Thes s costs hava been recopnsed as follows

= E10Q mdkdn withen Programemng
- E95 mulhon withun SGRA

Costs of £231 rulbon relating £a the amortstation of serpured ntangble xsers recognaed n SGEA
Wnchud ed withen whclecaly and syndeation revenue for the year ended 30 June 2014 5 a £15 muhion aedit d foliowang the sonof an esaow a7 with a oument wholessle operator
Induded withan Reratng expenses for the yaar ended 30 kne 2014 arp.

Cersts of €49 mulon relatng Lo the acquisiion and ntegration of Uhe 02 consumer broadband and fured-hne telephony buuness, ncduding amonsaton of E4 mdion in elaton Lo astotated
ntang ble assets The costs have been recogrused as foliows

= £29 mdon within direct networks

- E20 mulban within SG&A

Costs of €40 mibon relating Lo a corporats rstnactunrg and efficency programma m the current year inchud.ng an unpavment of £2 milion n relaton to assocated ntangble and tangibla
assets These cosis have beenrecognised as follows

= E1 mdhon withan programmng

= E39mlkon withn SGRA

Costs of £2milion 23 a result of the termnation of an estrow agreement with 2 oument wholesale cperator Tha ast has been recogresed within SGEA.
Costs of £23 mibon nrelatonto the amortSaton of acqured mtangbie assets recognsed in SGEA
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3 Discontinued operations

On 19 March 2015 the Group completed the sale of a controllng stake 1 its online betuing and gaming business Sky Betung & Gamng ( Sky Bet ) to funds
adwised by QVC Capital Partners and members of the Sky Bet management team Sky has retamed an equity stake of 20% post completzon i Sky Bet

Sky Bet represented a separate major hine of business for the Group As a result its operations have been treated as discontinued for the year ended
30 June 2015 and the year ended 30 June 2014 Asingle amount is shown on the face of the consolidated mcome statement compnsing the post-tax
result of discontinued operations and the post-tax profit recogrused on the disposal of the discontinued operation A pre-tax profit of EG00 mithan
arose on the disposal of Sky Bet. being the net proceads of disposal less the carrying amaunt of Sky Bet 5 net iabidites and attnbutable goodwill

The results of discontinued operations which have been induded in the consolidated income statement were as follows

2015° 2014
To 19 March Full year
Emn £m
Revenue 158 182
Operating expense Q28) (125)
Operating profit 30 57
Profit on disposal 600 -
Profit before tax 530 57
Attnbutable tax expense? {0} {12}
Profit for the year fram discontinued operations 520 a3
1 Results for the year ended 30 June 2015 mdlude the resutts of gscontinued operatans up 19 the date of dispasal (19 March 2015)
2 Attnbutable tax expense compnses £9 mdlion (2044 £12 rulkon) i respect of operating actmties snct £1 mithon (2014 nil) rsing as a result of the disposal
The net babiities of Sky Bet at the date of dispcsat were
19 March
205
£m
NonFcumrentassets
Property plant and equipment =]
Deferred tax assets 1
10
Current assets
‘Trade and other recenables [
Cash and cash equivalents 30
35
Total assots 45
Current hatxlihies
Trade and other payables 58
Prowisions 6
64
Total habilities 64
Net llabilities 1]
Total consideration 730
Net habilues disposed 19
Artnbutable goodwall (149)
Profit on disposal 600
Consideration receved in cash and cash equivalents 598
Less cash and cash equivalents drsposed of {30)
Netcash inflow ansing on disposal 568

During the year cash flows attributable to Sky Bet compnsed a net cash inflow in respect of operaung activities of £44 mukion (20¥ inflow of £62 million)
and a net cash mflow in respect of nvesting actvties of £560 milkon (2014 outflow of £3 mitlion)
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Finsncal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(contued)

4 Investment income and finance costs

2018 2014
Em Em

Investment income
Interest on cash cash equwvalents and short-term deposits 4

Owidends received from avartable-for-sale investments - 22
- - - - - — 26
2015 2014
£m £m
Finance costs
- Interest payable and ssmitar charges
Faciity related costs (44) @
Guaranteed Notes (see note 22) 214) (126}
Finarnce lease interest (] (€]
(265) Q35)
- Other finance Income (expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and barrowings-related denvative financial instruments (not qualifysng for hedge accounting) (&) )
Remeasurement of other derivatwe financial instruments (not qualifyng for hedge accounting) (3) (4
Gain (loss) ansing on dervatives in a designated fair value hedge accounung relationship 7 an
(Loss) gain ansing on adjustment for hedged item in a designated fair value hedge accounting relauonshup (O] 32
Q8) (5)
(283) (140)

Borrowing costs induded i the cost of qualifying assets dunng the year arose on the general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying
capitalisation rate of 3 1% (2014 4 9%) to expenditure on such assets The amount capitalised in the current year amounted to £9 milhon
{2014 £4 million) Tax reliefin the current year on capitahsed interest totals £0 4 milion (2014 EQ6 ruthon)

Finance costs include ES7 milhion incurred in connecbion with £6 6 bdlion of firm underwritten debt Fachties and other assocated transaction costs
relating to the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky ltalia These facalives indudung the previous revabing credit faciity ( RCE) have beensepaid or.
cancelled during the penod with the exception of a £1 billon RCF which remains undrawn

5 Profit on disposal of avallable-for-sale investments

On17 July 2014 the Group sold a shareholding of 6 4% in ITV plc consisting of 269 820 065 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration of £481 mulon
Aprofit of E429 millon was realsed on dispoasal bemng the excess of the consideration above the previously written-down value of the shares for
accounting purposes (E52 mitlion)

On 5 November 2014 the Group sold a further shareholding of 0 8% i [TV plc consisting of 34,864 665 1TV shares for an aggregate considerauon of
£65 milon A profit of £58 million was realised oncisposal being the excess of the consideration above the previously wnitten-down value of the shares
for accounting purposes (£7 milion)

The Group recognised a gan of £5 million as a result of measuning te fair value its eguity interest in Sky Deutschland held prior to the acquisttion
For further detads see note 31
6 Profit on disposal of associate

On 12 Novemner 2044 the Group transferred a shareholding of 21% in NGC Network Internauional LLC and a shareholding of 21% in NGC Network Latin
Amenca LLC to 21st Century Fox Inc ( 21st Century Fox") for an aggregate consideration of £410 mihon as part of the purchase of Sky Itakia (see note
3 for further detail} A profit of £299 million was realised on disposal

7 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is stated after charging

2015 2014

Em Em

Cost of nventones recogrised as an expense 33 2208
Depreciation imparment and losses (profits) on disposals of property plant and equipment 297 204
Amortisauon imparment and losses {profits) on disposals of ntangible assets 469 228
Rentals on operating leases and semiar arrangements 70 49

Foreign exchange
Foreign exchange gans recognised in the iIncome statement during the year amounted to E14 milhon (2014 losses of E2 mithon)
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Audit fees
Ananalysis of auditor’s remuneration s as follows
2015 o4
Em Em
Fees payable to the Company s auditor for the audit of the Company s annual accounts 20 13
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company s subsidiaries 03 03
Totalaudit fees 23 - 16
Audit-related servces 02 02
Taxation services 15 Qs
Other assurance services 033 o1
Other Adwsary services n4 -
Transaction services 19 06
Total non-audit fees 158 14

Non-audit fees payable to the Company s auditar in the UX prinapally compnise transaction related services includmg reporting accountant services
comfort procedures in relation to debt rissuance and programmes and acqussition-related tax serwices Other assurance services pnncipally relate to
The Bigger Picture assurance and the tntenm review

Deloitte Germany and Deloitte italy prownded non-audit services to Sky Deutschland and Sy Itatia prior to ther acquisiion by the Group on 12 Novemnber
2014 These pancpally comprised technology consulting and adwisary services As described in the Report of the Audit Commattee a comprehensive
review and reargarisation of these services was performed following the acquisiion date in order to ensure the continued indepandence of Deloitte LLP
as auditors of the Group The totat fees for non sudit services provided to Sky Deutschland and Sky 1tala m the full year ended 30 June 2015 were

£15 7 milion and the table above includes those serices provnded ta Sky Deutschland and Sky [taha by Deloitte singe 12 November 2014

Total audit fees payable to the Group s componant auditors of Sky Deutschiand and Sky itaha in the Fullyear ended 30 June 2015 were £1 1 million
The Group s component auditors of Sky Deutschiand and Sky ltala also provided non-audnt services to the Group during the year nona of which
compromised their ndependence i respect of their reporung to the Group 5 auditor and thewr respectye local reporung requirements

8 Employee benefits and key management compensation

2) Group employes benefits

2015
£m Em
Wages and satanes 1040 844
Social secunty costs 159 101
Costs of employee share option schemes' 98 60
Contnbutions wo the Group s pension schemes? 39 39
1334 1044

1 £91 rdlion charge relates w aquity-settied share-based payments (2004 €60 milbon charge) and £5 mdlon charge relates to cash-settied share based payments {2014 rul)
2 The Group aperates defined contnbubon pension schemes Tha pension charge for the year represents the cost of cantributions payable by the Group to the schemes
dunng the year The amount payable to the schemes by the Group a1 30 June 2015 was £5rmibon (2014 €5 mudhon)

The averaga monthly number of full-time equivalent persons (including temporary employees) employed by the Group duning the year was as follows

2015 2014

Mumber MNumber

Channels and serwces 5089 3477
Customer service sales and marketing 15487 13035
Transmussion and technology 4156 3257
Management and administration 2328 1072

27060 20 841

There are approxsmatety 921{2014 497) temporary staff induded wiathin the average number of full time equrvalent persons employed by the Group

b) Key management compensation (see note 30d)

2015 2014

Em £m

Short-term employee benefits & [
Share-based payments 8 7
14 13

Post-employment benefits were less than E1 milion (2014 lass than £1millon) The amounts disclosed for key management compensation arencluded
withir the disclesures in note B(a)
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(continued)

9 Taxation
a) Taxaton recognised in the income statement
205 2014
£m £m
Current tax expense
Current year - UK 229 218
Adjustment in respect of prior years - UK (39 -— (@3
Current year - Qverseas 62 2
Total current tax charge 252 189
Deferred tax expense
Ongmnaton and reversal of temporary differences - Ux @=n 5
Adustment in respect of prior years - UK 21 n
Onginaton and reversal of temporary differences - Overseas 67 -
Adjustment in respect of prior years - Overseas (O] -
Tota! deferred tax (credit) charge (68) L[]
Taxation 184 205
b) Taxation recognised directly in equity
2015 2014
£€m Em
Current tax credit ralating to share-based payments (2) [
Deferred tax credit relating to share-based payments (15) -
Deferred tax charge (credit) relating to cash flow hedges 20 3
El an
c) Reconcitiation of effective tax rate
The tax expense for the year 15 lower (2014 lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corporation tax
in the UK (20 75%) applied to profit before tax The apphcable enacted or substantvely enacted effectve rate of UK corporation tax for the year
was 20 75% (2014 22 5%) The differences are explained below
2015 2014
Em £m
Profit before tax from continuing operations 1516 1025
Profit before tax multiphed by blended rate of corporation tax in the UK of 20 75% (2014 22 5%) N5 23
Effects of
Different statutory tax rates of overseas jurisdictions (2 -
Oisposal of Group Investments (125) -
Net effect of other non-taxable/non-deducuble items 28 [(=)]
Effect of tax rate changes 3 2
Adsstments i respect of prior years {19) {20)
Taxation 184 205
10 Earnings per share
The weighted average number of shares for the year was
015 2014
Milbons of  Mdyons of
shares shares
Ordinary shares 1706 1581
ESOP trust ordinary shares (16) [4l)]
Basic shares 1690 1562
Ddutive ordinary shares from share options Pl 14
Diluted shares 17 1576

There ara no share options (2014 none) which could potentially dilute earnings per share in the future but which have been exduded from the calculation

of diluted earmings per $hare as they are anti-difutive in the year

Basic and difuted earrungs per share are catoulated by dmding the profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company into the
weighted average number of shares for the year In order to provice a measure of undering performance management have chosen to present an
adjusted profit for the year which excludes items that may distort comparability Such items anse from events or transactons that fall within the ordinary

actmtes of the Group but which management believes should be separately wdentified to hetp explamn underiying performance
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2015 2004
Em £m
Profit from continuing operatuans 1332 820
Loss attnbutable to non-controling interests 5 -
Profit from continutng operavons attnbutablg te equity shareholders of the parent company 1337 820
Profit from disconunued operations 620 45
Profit attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company 1957 865
2015 X4
Em Em
Recancihation fram profit from continuing operations attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company to adjusted
profit for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders of the parent company
Profit for the year from gontinuing operations attributable to equity shareholders of the parent comparry 1337 820
Adwsory and transaction fees and finance costs incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutsehiand and Sky italia (see note 31) 107 -
Costs relating to corporate restructuring and efficency programmes (see note 2) 105 40
Costs relating to the integraton of Sky Deutschiang and Sky itaha in the enlarged Group (see note 31) 10 -
Costs relating to the integratwon of the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-tine telephony business - 49
Net credit recenved follovang termunation of an escrow agreament with a current wholesale operator - a3
Amortisation of acquired intangible assets 228 23
Profit on disposal of available-for-sale iInvestments (see note 5) @92) -
Profit on disposal of associate (see note 6) (299) .
Remeasurement of all denvauve financial instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting and hedge ineffectiveness (see note 4) 18 s
Tax adjusting stems and the tax effect of above tems 6h (32)
Adjusted profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 947 892
2015 2014
pence pence
Earnings per share from profit for the year
Basic
Continuang operations ™1 828p T
Discontinued operations 57 29p
Toral 15 8p 55 4ap
Oiluted
Continuing operations 782p 520p
Discontinued operations 362p 2%p
Total N4 4p 54 59p
Adjusted earnings per share from adjusted profit for the year
Basic 56 0p 571p
Diluted 553p 56 6p
11 Dividends
2015 201
Em Em
Dwidends declared and paid dunng the year
2013 Final daidend pas 19 00p per ardinary share - 298
2014 intenm drvidend paid 1200p per ordinary share - 87
2014 Final dwdend paxd 20 Q0p per ordinary share 340 -
2015 interim dvidend paid 12 30p per ordinary share 209 -
549 485

The 2015 final dwvdend proposed 1s 20 S pence per ordinary share betng £349 mullon The dividend was not dedared at the balance sheet date and 1§

therefore not recognsed as a habiity &5 at 30 fune 2015

Dwidends are paid between Group companies out of profits avalable for distnibution subject to nter ala the prowsions of the companies articles of

pssonation and the Companes Act 2006 The ESOP haswaved its nghts to dvidends
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{continued)

12 Goodwill

Em
Camyingvalue
At 1July 2013 959
Other 20
At 30 June 2014 1019
Purchase of Sky Deutschland - - 2848
Purchase of Sky Itaha 752
Disposal of Sky Bet (149)
Foreign exchange movements (344)
Other 34
At 30 June 2015 4160

Goodwill has prncipally ansen from the Groups purchases of Sky Deutsehland Sky ltaha British Interactve Broadcasting ( 8187 Easynets
UK broadband network assets and residential ackvmbties 365 Medias content activities Amstrad Laving TV The Cloud and the O2 consumer broadband
and fixed-kne telephany business

Goodwill allocated by cash generating urit, 1s analysad as follows

205 20a

Em Em

UK & Iretand’ 904 870
Germany & Austria? 2578 -
lrah® 680 -
Bettmg and gaming' - 149
4160 1019

Imparment reviews were performed on these goodwill balances at 30 June 2015 which did not indicate impairment

Recoverable amounts for each of the cash generating units were calculated on the bass of value in use using cash flows calculated for the next five years
as forecast by management Along-term growth rate of 3% was applied to alt uruts in order to extrapelate cash Row projections beyond this penod

T {2001273%) The Cash FIGWS of the UX & IFeland CGU were distounted USINg 8 pre-tax discount rate af 8% 1(20147B%) the cash flows of the Germany &

Austna CGU were discounted using a pre-tax discount rate of 7% and the cash flows of the Italy CGU were discounted using 8 pre-tax discount rate of 8%

In determirang the applicable discount rate management apphied judgement in respect of several factors whuch included inter alia assessing the nsk
attached to futura cash flows and making seference to the capital asset pnang model (the CAPM) Management gave constderation to the selection of
appropnate nputs to the CAPM which included the nsk free rate the equity nsk premium and a measure of systemaue risk Management also considered
capital structure and an appropriate cost of debt in arrmng at the discount rate

The key assumptions on which the foracast five-year cash flows of each unit were based include the number of gross customer additions the rate of
churn the average revenue per user levels of programming spend acquisiion costs per customer and anticrpated changes m the product mux and
marketing mux of the broadcast actmues The values assigned to each of these assumptions were determuned based on the extrapolation of lstorical
trends wathin the Group and extemal information on expected future trends in the entertamnment and communications industry in each termtory

1 UK & Ireland

Formerty known as the Broadcast umit, the UK & reland unit nctudes goodwall ansing from the purchase of BIB Easynet s UK broadband network assets
and ressdential actmties 355 Media s content actvipies Amstrad Living TV The Cloud and the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-line telephony business
The UK & treland unit includes intangtbles with indefin:te Ives of £25 milion (2014 £25 mithon)

2 Germany & Austna
The Germany & Austna urit includes goodwill arnrsing from the purchase of Sky Deutschand For further detads see note 31

1 iaty

The ltaty unit includes goodwall ansing from the purchase of Sky Italia The italy unit includes intangibles with indefinite Inves of £457 mitlon For further
detafs see note 31

4 Betung and gaming
The bettng and gaming urut was compnsed of goodwill ansing on the purchase of the Sports Internes Group ( $IG) and 365 Media s betting actmities

which were includied within Sky Bet. A controling stake in Sky Bet was sotd on 18 March 2015 and the wentifiable goodwill attrnibutable to the CGU was
ncluded within the Group s profit on disposal See note 3for further details
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13 Intangible assets

uadd #8nas

Internaly
generated Acquued
Software Customer intangrble mtangble
Internally  dewvelopment contracts assets assets
generated (external) and related Other not yet notyet
intangble and coftwarne customer ntangible avalable avalable
Trademarks assets fcerves  refauonships assels for use for use Tota!
Em £m Em Em Em Em Em £m
Cost
Ar Y Juty 2013 18 386 525 197 274 30 57 1487 §
Additions from business cambinations - - - 6 2 - - 8 3
Addwons - a7 36 - 64 84 43 nz 2
Drsposals - 08 {4} - [&)] - - (35 L
Transfers - 43 n - 1 a3y 02 -
At 20 Juna 2014 18 498 558 203 338 n 86 1772
Addibons from business combinations 457 - 105 3070 28 - 21 3681
Additicns - 76 5 - 0] m 35 62
Dispesals 4) 8) (145) - {v - - (168)
Transfers - 60 22 - 2 {60) (24) -
Foreign exchange mevements - - 12) {294) (O] - @2 (309
At 30 June 2015 476 G16 603 2979 426 122 16 5,338
Amortsatian
At 1 July 2013 6 181 357 16 209 - - 769
Amortisation 1 76 53 32 64 - - 226
Drsposals - Q8 14y - [€)] - - {35)
Impairments - - 1 - 1 - - 2
At 30 June 2014 7 239 397 48 2N - - 962
Amortisabion 1 B4 [:1:] 23 60 - - 464 n
Disposals 4 (183 (145) - m - - (168) g
Impairments = & ! - - - S )
Foreign exchange movements - - 1)) 8) - - - )] ;;.
At 30 June 2015 4 309 340 271 330 - - 1254
Carnying amounts g
AL July 2003 12 205 168 181 6s 30 57 718 [
At 30 June 2014 b 259 181 155 &7 Al 86 810
At 30 June 2015 472 307 263 2708 1] 122 16 4,084
The Group s internally generated intangible assets relate principally to software development associated with our cusiomer management systems
and set-top boxes The Group s other intangible assets mainly include copynght hcences and connection fees
The estwnated future amortrsation charge on intangible assets with finite Ives for each of the next five years 15 set aut below It is Ikely that future
amortisation will vary from the figures below as the estimate does not include theimpact of any future nvestments disposals or capital expenditure
2008 07 098 2019 2020
£m €m £m £m Em
Estumated amortisation charge 598 427 356 D)) 242
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13 Intangible assets {continued)

within intangsble assets there are certan assets with indefirite usefulkves The carrying value of these assets s £482 milion (2014 £25 mithon)

As part of the acquisition of Sky italia the Group acquired the nghits to Lse trademarks in certainterntories The nghts touse tradermnarks In certan
terntones are considered to have indefinite Iives because the Group has the intention and ability to consume these nghts over an ndefinite penod
An impairment review of the assets s performed annually as part of the Group s impairment reviews of 1ts CGUs (note 12)

included wathen custamer contracts and related customer relationships are intangible assets with a net book value of £1522 million (2014 ni)and a
remaiming useful ife of 15 years relaung to the acquired customer base in Germany & Austria and intangible assets witha net book vatue of £1057 milhon

(2014 nil) and a remairung useful ife of 15 years relating to the acquired customer base i italy

14 Property, plant and equipment

Equipment Assets
Freehold furmiture natyet
land and Leasehald and Owned avatlable
buildings"?  improvements fixtures  set-top boxes foruse Total
£m Em fm Em £m Em
Cost
ALY Juby 2013 334 s8 1387 - 53 1832
Additions L] - 131 - n9 254
Drsposals - V) 7 - - 75)
Transfers 31 - 34 - (65) -
At 30 June 2044 369 57 1478 - 107 2,01
Additions from business combenations - 38 73 L B4 530
Additicns 3 3 105 16 261 388
Disposals &) - (78) {B8) (0 (92)
Transfers 249 - 39 45 (108) -
Foretgn exchange movements - ()] 3] (36) (S) (53)
At 30 June 2015 Ex]] 95 1609 arz N7 2784
Depreciation
ALY July 2003 46 34 m - - ™
Depreciaboa™ === == = —= — 7 193 = 208
Drvsposals - (@] (74) - - {75)
Foreign exchange movements - - (U] - - )]
At 30 June 2014 54 40 8429 - - 923
Depreciation 10 10 194 B4 - 298
Imparments 2 - 4 - - 6
Disposals (5} - (78) (€)] - {86)
Foreign exchange movements - - (U] (2) - (3)
At 30 Junhe 2015 61 50 948 79 - 1138
Carrying amounts
At 1 Suly 2013 288 24 676 - 53 1041
AL 30 June 2014 315 ” 649 - \07 1088
At 30 June 2015 330 45 661 293 w7 1646

1 Theamounts shown inchxde assels held under finarka leases with a net book value of E33 mibon (2014 E14 milhan) The cost of thess sssets was £448 milion (2014 £2) mithon)
and the accumulated deprecatsanwas E17 mdlion (2014 £9 mdhon) Depreciauon charged durng the year onsuch assqts was EB rilion (2014 £2 mabon)

2 Deprecabionwas not charged on E88 mulion of tand (2014 EBB meilon)

3 Aspatof the disposal of Sky Bet which has been treated 83 a dscontinued operabon (nate 3) property plant and equipment with a carrying vatue of £9 mullion was disposed of
In addiuon E4 miton of deprecationrelating to Sky Bet forms part of Siscontiued aperations (2014 £4 miien)
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15 Investments in jomnt ventures and associates

Ahst of the Group s investments in jomt ventures and associates including the name country of iIncorporatien and proportion of evwnership interest
15 given i note 33 to the consolidated financial statements

The movement in Josnt ventures and assocates dunng the year was as follows

2015 2014
£m - Em

Share of net assaots
AL htty 73 164
Movement innet assets
- Funding net of repayments 10 )
- Dmvidends receved (25) {32)
- Share of profits 2B 35
- Acquisition of associate’ B6é -
- Disposal of associates? (149) -
- Exchange dhifferences on translation of foreign joint ventures and associates 10 -
At 30 June 133 173

1 Ouning tha year the Group sold a controiling slake in Sky Bet and retained an equity stake of 20% in Sky Bat. Seeaote 3 for further details
2 Dunnpthe yadr the Group disposad of its miterest in NGCNetwork Internatonat LLC and NGC Network Latw Amencs LLC See note § for Further datails

The Group s share of any capital commitments and contingent habihties of assoctates and joint ventures is shown n note 28

a) Invastments in azsooates

For the perod between the date of completion of the safe of the controlling stake i Sky Bet and 30 June 2015 its revenue was E80 aulion and prafit for
the penod was £13 milhon

For the penod between 1 July 2014 and the disposal of NGC Network International LLC and NGC Network Latin Amenca LLC therr revenue was £119 mutlion
and profit for the penod was £36 mellion

b) Investments in joint ventures

wodds wBanens,

MO0

Representing the Group s share of each joint venture

2015 - 2004

Em £m

Non-currént assets 12 26
Current assats 77 -]
Current Latehitres (36) (74)
Non-current iabilites ()] ()]
Shareholders equity (8) 17
Revenue 106 9
Expense (9 uan
Taxaton (3 3
Share ef profit from joint ventures 12 13

The aggregate carrying amount of the mvestments in joint ventures and assocates that are net indmdually matenal For the Group is £44 million as at. 30
June 2015 (2014 £41 midhon)

16 Available-for-sale investments

2005 2014

Em £m

usted mwvestments 3 S18
Uniisted investments 28 15
N 533

The listed nvestments include rel (2014 £514 mithon) retating to the Group s iInvestment in TV The Group s Listed Investments are carned at far value
and the far value s determined with reference 1o the equity share price at the balance sheet date Unlisted mvestments consist of mnonty equity
stakes in a number of technology and start-up companies

On 17 July 2014 the Group sold a shareholding of 6 4% in TV ple consisung of 259 820 065 [TV shares for an aggregate considerat:on of £481 mdhon
A profit of £429 rrelion was realised on dispasal beng the excess of the consideration above the previousty written-down value of the shares for
accounung paposes (E52 million)

On 5 November 2014 the Group sold a further sharehotding of 0 8% in TV ple, consisting of 31 864 665 ITV shares for an aggregate consideration
of £65 mithon A profit of E58 million was realised on dispasal being the excess of the considerauon above the previously wntten-down value of
the shares for accounting purposes (E7 million)
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17 Deferred tax

1) Recogrused deferred tax assets (habilitias)

Share-based Financial
Accelerated  Intangibleson Shaort-term payments  instruments
tax business temporary temporary temporary
depreaation  combinations Taxlosses differences differences differences Total
Em Em £m Em Em Em Em
At 1Juty 2013 m - - 5 49 e) 37
Credit (charge) 10 ncome 4 - - U e 1 4
Credit to equity - - - - 1 9 10
Acquisition of subsidianes - 1 - - - - 1
Effect of change in tax rate
~Income - - - - [E)] 1 (2
- Equity - - - - Q)] M (£}
AE 30 June 2014 3 - 4 28 (] 30
(Charge) credit Lo income (28} 61 21 (€3] 16 (2) 65
Credit (charge) to equity - - - - 15 20y (5)
Acquisiuon of subsidianes - (B9S) 589 80 - (O] Q17)
Effect of change in taxrate
- Income 3 - - - - - 3
Foreign exchange movements 2 B (57) (&) - - 8
At 30 June 2015 (20 (752) 553 B3 59 (29) (185)

Deferred tax assets have been recognsed at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2074 on the basis that, from management s cument forecast of the Groups
entities 1t 1s probable that there will be suitable taxable profits against which these assets can be ublised The Far value of deferred tax assets in excess
of deferred tax llabities ansing on acguisition of Sky Deutschland was £115 milion on acquisiion and has a carrying value of £147 million as at 30 June
2015 The majonty of the deferred tax asset relates to tax losses Itis conduded to be probable that there will be suitable future taxable profits agamst
which the deferred tax assets can be uulised taking account of the current forecast of Sky Deutschland s resulis

Deferred tax assets and habiities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to applyin the penods in which theyreverse The UK Government

announced a reduction i the main rate of UK corparation tax 1o 19% with effect from 1 Aprd 2017 and to 18% From 1 April 2020 These changes have not

Been substantivelyenacted and Rave not thEreTore bedn ineioded i Uia figureS abigvd Thie impact of the fitOre iatE reductidns will beastcounted fof e — — ~ — 7
the extent that they are anacted at future balance sheet dates however it 15 estmated that this will not have a matenal mpeacton the Group The rate

enacted or substantively enacted for the relevant periods of reversal 1s 20% as at 30 June 2015 (2014 20%)inthe UK 31 4% [taly and 27 4% in Germany

Certain deferred tax assets and hablities have been offset junsdiction by junisdiction

2015 2014

Em Erm

Deferred tax assets 175 52
Deferred tax hatnlities (281 22

{106) 30

) Unrecogrused deferred tax assets

2015 2004

£m Em

Tax losses ansing from tradmg 219 245

Tax losses ansing from capital disposals and provisions aganst invesuments 278 283

457 528

Deferred tax assets have not been recogrised in respect of these items because i1t 1s not prabable that future taxable profits will be available agamnst
wtuch the Group canutilise the losses

At 30 June 2015 adeferred tax asset of E9 mullion (2014 £9 mulion) pancipally arising fram UK trading losses in the Group has not been recogrrsed These
losses can only be of fset aganst taxable profits generated in the entities concerned Thare s currently insufficient, evidence to support the recagrition of
adeferred tax asset relauing to these losses The UK trading losses can be camied farward indefinitely

At 30 June 2015 a deferred tax asset of £210 milion (2014 £236 mithon) has not been recogmsed in respect of overseas trading losses on the basis that it
IS not prabable that these temporary differences will be utihsed These losses include £207 milion (2014 £233 mullon) with respect to the Group s German
halding campany s formar ivestment i KirchPayTV and £3 milhon (2012 £3 miion) with respect to other subsichanes

At 30 June 2015 adeferred tax asset of £274 milhon (2074 E274 mullion) has not been recogrused in respect of capital losses related to the Group s former
investment i KirchPayTV on the basis that utlhisatson of these temporary differences 1s not probable At 30 June 2015 the Group also has capital losses
with a tax value esumated to be £4 rmullion (2014 ES mulion) incfuding impairment of a football club and ather investments which have not been
recognised as a deferred tax asset on the basis thatitis not probable that they will be utiised The capital losses can be carned farward indefinitely
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18 Inventories

wodu w8nens

2005 2014
Em Em
Television programme rights an 488
Set-top boxes and retated equipment 26 S0
Qther rnantories 10 8
Current inventory 847 546
Non-current programme dstnbubion nights N 20
Totalnventory 878 S66
At 30 June 015 75% (2014 B1%)af the telewson programme nghts and 100% (2014 100%) of set top boxes and related equipment and other g
inventones s expected to be recogrused in the income statement wathin 12 months §
19 Trade and other recewvables
2015 2014
£€m £m
Gross traderecevables 337 235
Less provision for imparment of recevables 0 (95)
Net trade receivables 267 140
Amounts recervable from joint ventures and associates 19 7
Amounts recervable from ather refated parties 26 5
Prepayments 499 279
Accrued income 216 179
VAT 3 2
Other &5 23
Current trade and other receivables 1,086 635
Prepayments [3 4 -
Amounts recervable from joint ventures and associates 70 - g
QOther recevables 10 3
Non-current trade and other receivables 86 7 &
Total trade and other recervables 1182 642 :‘.'-;
Included within current trade and other recevables s il (2014 nf) which 1s due in more than one year 3
The ageing of the Group s net trade recervables which are past due but not mpared 15 as follows "
2015 2014
£m Em
Up to 30 days past due date 27 27
30 to 60 days past due date 8 3
6010120 days past due date 4 2
120+ days past due date 1 -
40 32
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other recevables approximates thew far values The Group 1s exposedto
cradit nsk on its trace and other receivables however the Group does not have any significant concentrations of credit nisk, with exposure
spread over alarge number of counterparties and customers Trade recenvables pnnopally comprise ameunts outstanding from subscnbers wn
advertisers and other customers %
Prowvisions for doubtful debts 2
2015 2014 g
Em Em =3
Balance at beginning of year 95 3] §
Amounts utilised (65) @n §
Prowaded during the year 40 33
Balance at end of year 0 95
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20 Trade and other payables

2015 2014
£m £m
Trade payables 1361 8oz
Amounts owed to joint ventures and assouates 16 n
Amounts owed to other related parties 175 123
VAT 155 - 169
Accruals 160 747
Deferred income 401 318
Other 162 ns
Current trade and other payables 3430 2286
Trade payables El 23
Amounts owed to other related parties 5 10
Deferred income 6 5
Other 52 18
Non-current trade and other payables 94 56
Total trade and other payables 3524 2342
The Directors consider that the carming amount of trade and other payables approximates ther far values Trade payables princpally
compnse amounts outstanding For programming purchases and ongoing costs
21 Provisions
AL Prowded  Uulised At AcgumItion Reclassified Prowded Utlsed Forergn AL
Uty during durnng 1July of Disposalof dunngthe during dunng  exchange 30 June
2013 theyear theyear 2014 subsidianes subsidiaries year theyear theyear movement 2015
Em Em Em £Em Em Em £m £Em £m £m £m
Current hatxlities
Restructunng provisson’ 16 14 8 22 10 - - 9 ()] m 21
Customer-related
provisions!————— - - —d ({139} 2 1 33—
Other provisions? 37 6 19) 24 3 - - 33 2) - a5
94 20 {66) 48 13 - - 74 (31) m 103
MNan-current habiities
Other provisions* 14 10 [404)] 14 20 6 6 25 (6) (D &1
Employee benefit
obligations® - - - - 30 - - - [Q] [€)) 26
14 10 (1Y) 14 5Q {6} 6 25 [€)) {5 77
1 Theseprovisions relale Lo costs incurred a3 part of corparate restructunng and effioency programmes.
2 These provitions inchuds Costs of & Drogramme Lo replace aged cuSTOMEr eguUIpmMent.
3 Induded incurrent ather provisions are amounts provded forlegal dspules and warranty habdhties
4

Inciud ed withsn non-current other provisions are amount s provided for onerous Contracts for preperty leases and mantenance The beng of the cash flows are dapandent
on the terms of the leases but are expected toconunud up Lo August 2006

Dunng the year the Group acquired employee benefit oblgations as part of its acguisition of Sky Deutschland and Skyltalia on 12 November 2014 These obligauons aie described
furgher below

w

Employee bencfit obligations

Acquired at Actuanal Foreign At

12 November Pension losses  exchange 30 June

2014 payments (gans) movement 2015

£rm £m Em £m Em

Sky Deutschiand defined benefit obligations to - 1 m 10
Sky Italia employee benefit obligations 20 (U] )] [¥] 16
30 ) - [€)) 26
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8) Sky Deutschland

Sky Deutschlard aperates unfunded final salary defined benefit pension plans that are not covered by plan assets These plans were closed to
Future accrual The total defined benefit obligation at 30 June 2015 was £10 milicn The amount of the pension entutlement depends on the salary
of the respective employee at the time of retirement. Employee benefit obligations will be funded out of current and Ruture earmings

The present value of the obhigations was measured usmng the projected unit credit methad apphang the following pnnapal assumptions

- Actuanal projecuons (including assumptions about cost-of-iving increases salary increases etc) were made to value the future benefits expected
to ba pard by the post-¢mployment plan in the event of mortahty {both dunng and after employment) disabiity and early reurement Seniontyand
rates of employee turnover as well as salary and benefit levels at the measurement date were 2lso taken into account in projecting future benefits

« The average present value at the measurement date has been catculated on the basis of the assurmed annual discount rate and the probability
of services betng rendered

» The following specific assumptions have been used
- Annualdiscount rate of 2 45%
= Annual growth rate of 2 00%
- Annual satary growth rate of 2 50% and
- Annual fluctuation rate employees of 700%

Sunce there are no plan assets as defined by 1AS 19 (rewised 2011) and all actuanal gans and losses ar¢ recagused when incurred the present value of
the defined benefit obligation of the pension obhgations and the obligations similar to pensions s equivatent to the provision recognised on the balance
sheat

Reasonably possible changes to these assumptions would not have a matenal impact on the provision
The werghted average maturity of the defined banefit obligation 1 21 years as of the balance sheet date
Expected pension payments in the year to 30 June 2016 are less than £1 rmillion

b) Sky ftaha

Sky ltalia s employee benefit obligations relate to a prowision for employee retrement determined useng actuanal techniques (as discussed further
below) and regulated by Article 2120 of the Italian Cwvil Code These plans were dosed to future accrual The wital employee benefit obligauen at

30-June 2015 was £16 mibon-The benefit 15 pard upon retirement as a ump sum the amount of which corresponds to the total afthe provisions——— ——~

accrued during the employees service penod based on payroll costs as revalued unul retrement Employee benefit obhgations will be funded out
of current and future earrungs

The present value of the obligations was measured using the projected unit credit method apphying the following prncipal assumptons

Actuanal projections (tncluding assumpiions about cost-of-ImMng increases salary increases etc ) were made tovalue the future benefits expected
to be paid by the post-employment plan in the event of mortality (both during and after employment) disahbikty and early retirement Sentority and
rates of employee tumover as well as salary and benefit levels at the measurement date were also taken into account in projecting future benefits

The average present value at the measurement date has been calculated on the basis of the assumed annual discount rate and the probability
of services being rendered

The following specific assumptions have been used
- Annual discount rate of 012%

- mnnual inflation rate of 0 10%

- Annual revaluation rate of 1 58%

- Annual fluctuation rate employees of 5 39% and
- Annual mortakty rate of 010%

Since there are no plan assets as defined by 1A5 15 (revised 2011} and all actuanal gains and losses are recognised when incurted, the present value
ofthe defined benafit obbgation of the penision obligations and the obligations similar to pensions 1s equivalent Lo the provision recognised on the
balance sheet

Reasonably possible changes to these assumptions would not have 2 matenalimpact on the provision
The weighted average maturity of the defined benefit obligation 1517 years as of the balance sheet date
Expected pension payments inthe year to 30 June 2016 are less than £1 million
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(continued)

22 Borrowings

2015 2014
Em £m
Current borrowings

Loan Notes 4 -
US$750 million of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2015 468 -
QObtgations under finance leases™ - - 22 -1
494 n

Non-current borrowangs
US$750 millhon of 5 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Qctober 2015 - 434
£400 miltion of 5750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2017 399 400
US$750 million of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 20189 474 442
US$582 8 million of 8 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20189 372 353
US$750 milhion of 2 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20197 477 -
€600 milhon of Floating Rate Notes repayable in Aprd 20200 425 -
£450 rmillion of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Navember 2020¢ 445 -
€1 500 millvon of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20219 1058 -
US$800 mdhon of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20227 504 466
€830 million of 1 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20239 602 -
Us$1 250 milion of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 787 -
€1000 mdlion of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 20264 705 -
£300 milkon of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 296 296
£300 mullion of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029% 297 -
€400 million of 2750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 20299 281 -
U55350 million of & 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035¢ 218 201
Loan Notes 2 1
Obhkgauans under finance leases™ 76 65
7418 2658

(1) Guarantaed Notes

At 30 June 2015 the Group had i issue the Following Guaranteed Notes which were issued by the Company

Intercst Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged
Value* Freed Floaung
Em £m £m Fued Floatng
Us%750 mullion of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayablen February 2018 gy 290 a7 & 8529% 6m LIBOR +1 B92%
US3582 8 mikon of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Navember 2018 El::) 250 129 7091% 6mUBOR +5542%
£450 mulkon of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3mLUBOR +1 230%
1226 £50 6768
Intergst Rate Hedging Hedgedinterest Rates
Hodged
Value* Fued Floatsng
€m €m €m Fixed Floating
USS750 milion of 2 525% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 581 - S8 - 3mEUVRIBOR +0656% I
€600 rrullion of Floating Rate Notes repayable in April 2020 600 - 600 - 3mEURIBOR +0750%
€1500 milhon of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable i September 2021 1500 1500 - 1500% -
UW5$800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 6589 689 - 2118% -
€650 miflion of 1 875% Guarante¢d Notes repayable in Novemnber 2023 B50 850 - 1875% -
U551 250 million of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 969 969 - 2187% -
€1 000 mdhon of 2 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 3eptember 2026 1000 1000 - 2 500% -
E300 million of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes rapayable m May 2027 an an - 5006% -
£300 million of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes rapayable in November 2025 399 39% - 3IN2% -
€400 milion of 2750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 400 400 - 2750% -
7399 6218 1181
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AL 30 June 2015 the Group had inissue the followang Guaranteed Notes which were ssued by Sky Group Finance plc
Interest Rate Hedging Hedgedinterest Rates
Value* Flxed Fleating
£m Em Em Fixed Foatng
US$750 milion of § 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2015 428 7N 257 5427% 6m LIBOR + 0 698%
E£400 mulhon of 5 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in Ociober 2017 400 350 50 5750% 6m LJBOR -0 229%
US$350 milhon of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 - 5 826% -
1028 721 307
At 30 June 2014 the Group had 1nissue the following Guaranteed Notes which were issued by the Company
interest Rate Hedging Hedgead Interest Rotes
Hedged
Vahle® Fixed HAoating
Em £m £m Frxed Floatng
USS7S0 milion of 6100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 a7 6829% 6m LIBOR + 1892%
Us5582 8 mihon of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable tin November 2018 389 260 129 7091% 6m UBOR + 5542%
V53800 million of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable m November 2022 S03 503 - 3226% -
£300 mullion of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable \n May 2027 300 300 - 68 000% -
1579 1353 226
At 30 June 2014 the Group had inissue the following Guaranteed Notas whichwere issusg by Sky Group Finance ple
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged InterestRates
Hedged
Value* Fixed Floaung
£m Em £m Fixed Floating
US$750 mdlan of § 625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2015 428 7 257 5427% 6m LUIBOR + 0 698%
£400 mulhon of 5 750% Guarantecd Notes repayable in October 2017 400 350 50 5 750% &mUIBOR - D 229%
US53350 emlion of 6 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2035 200 200 = 5 B26% =
1028 721 307

* Hedged value 13 the final red emption value including any hedging

The Group has a Global Medium-Term Note Programme (the Programme } which provides the Group with a standardised documentation

platform for sersor debt issuance of up te E5 billion in the major global bond markets All stering and euro Guaranteed and Floating Rate Notes issued
dunng the year were Issued under a E10 bilkon acquisition related programme The £300 milion of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes matunng in May 2027 have
beenssued under the Group s historical EMTN Programme

(n} Finance leases
The mirimum lease payments under finarwe leases fall due as follows

205 2014
£m Em
Withun one year 12 mn
Batween ane and five years 53 35
After five years 28 136
203 186

Future finance charges on finance {ease liabdtres 105) 0y
Present value of finance lease habilities 98 76

The main obhigations under finance leases are i relation to

() finance arrangements i connecuocn with the broadband network infrastructure Dunng the year repayments of £7 mulhon (2014 £7 mdlion) were
made against the lease A propartion of these payments have been allocated against the caputal outstanding Thelease bears interest at arate of
11 1% and expires in Novernber 2039

(b) finance arrangements in connection with the contact centre in Dunfermline During the year repayments of E1milhon (2014 £1medlion) were made
against thelease A proportion of these payments have been allocated aganst the capital amount outstanding The lease bears interestat a rate of
8 5% and expires in September 2020

(©) finance arrangements i connection with datacentre equipment Dunng the year repayments of £3 midlion (2014 £3 million) were made agamst the
kease Aproportion of these payments have been allocated against the capital amount outstanding The leasebears interest at a rate of 36% and
exprres in June 2016

() finance arrangements in connection with set-top boxes During the year repayments of £5 milion (2014 nd) were made against the lease A proportion
of these payments have been aliceated against the capital amount outstanding The lease bears interest at a rate of 7% and expires in March 2017
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(continued)

22 Borrowings (continued)

{1) Revolving Credit Facility
The Group has a E1 bilion RCF with a matunty date of 30 November 2020 syndicated across 15 counterparty banks each with a mimimum credit rating
of Baa2 or equivalent from Standard & Poor s At 30 June 2015 the RCF was undrawn (2014 undrawn)

The Group1s subject to two financial covenants under the RCF a maximum leverage rato and a minimum interest cover ratio which are tested at the end
of each s-monthly penod The key financial covenants are the ratio of Net Debt to EBITDA (as defined in the loan agreements) and EBITDA to Net interest
Payable (as defined in the loan agreements) Net Debi to EBITDA must bé no more than 4 00 1 and EBITDA to Net Interest Payable must be at least 3501
The Group was in compliance with these covenants for all penods presented

(w) Guarantees

The following guarantees are in place relating to the Group s borrowangs (a) Sky UK Lumitad Sky Subsenbers Serwices Limated Sky Group Finance ple
and Sky Telecommurications Services Limited have given joint and several guarantees in relation to the Company s £1 bilion RCF and the outstanding
Guaranteed and Floating Rate Notes issued by the Company and (b) the Company Sky UK Limiuted Sky Subscribers Sernces Limited and Sky

Telecommurications Services Limited have given joint and several guarantees i relation to the ocutstanding Guaranteed Notes issued by Sky Group
Finarice pke

The Company has provided a back-to-back guarantee n favour of 21st Century Fax inc of up to half the annual payment obkgations of Sky Deutsehland

Fernsehen GmbH & Co KG under the 2013 2017 Bundesliga agreement, it has also provided back-ta-back guarantees in favour of 2ist Century Fox Inc
in refation to UEFA Champions League and other programming oblhgacions of Sky itaka Sd

23 Dervatives and other financial iInstruments

Set out below are the dervative financial iInstruments entered into by the Group to manage its interest rate and foreign exchange risks

2015 014
Asset Liability Asset Liabilicy
Fay Vake Nononal Fasr Value Notional Fair Value Nooonal far Value Notenal
£m Em m £m £Em £m Em Em
Fair value hedges
interest rate swaps , 62 1275 - - 77 767 - -
ST e TTCrossFeurrency swaps —— T T — 18 466 = —— = = = =
Cash flow hedges
Cross-currency swaps 137 1435 2 503 72 651 (363 502
Forward foreign exchange contracts 148 2191 (35) 1065 a3 764 {78) 1464
Net investment hedges
Cross-currency Swaps 150 1943 {3 400 - - - -
Derwatwves notin a formal hedge relauonshup
Cross-currency swaps 5 353 {25) 390 n 353 (59) 390
Forward foreign exchange contracts 7 244 (&)] 480 2 07 {4) 262
Interest rate swaps - - - 260 5 260 - -
Total 583 7907 @3 3o 210 3022 75 2619
The matunty of the dervative financial instruments s as follows
2015 2004
Asset Liabrbity Ascet Liabibity
£m Em Em £Em
In one year or less 130 (22) 15 (39)
Between are and two years 46 (€] a3 25
Between two and five years 254 (40) 132 (75)
In mare than five years 153 (14) 20 (36)
Total 583 (83) 210 175)

The far value of the Group s debt-related denvative portfolio at 30 June 2015 was 3 £378 milhion net asset (2014 net asset of E80 mullion) with notional
principal amounts totaling £7 025 mithion (2014 £2 934 millon) This comprised net assets of £125 million designated as cash flow hedges (2014 net
assets of £36 million) net assets of EB0 milion designated as farr value hedges (2014 net assets of £77 mdlion) net assets of £147 milion designated
as nebinvestment hedges (2014 rul) and net assets of £26 milhon not designated in a formal hedge refationship (2019 net assets of £33 mdion)

At 30 June 2015 the carrying value of finanoal assets that were uponiniual recognition designated as financal assets at, fair value through profit or loss
was nil {2014 nil)

In the pnor year the Group entered ito a collar arrangement to manage its exposure to movements n the value of certain avalable-for-sale nvestments
over a penod of up to 18 months and with a notional value of £22milion The collar Instrument was not designated for hedge accounting purposes with
movements i Lhe farr valug of the collar bemng taken to the imcome statement this coliar arrangement was closed outin the current year
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Hedge accounting cassification and impact

The Group designated certain interest rate swaps as fair value hedges of interest rate risk and cross-currency swaps as fair value hedges of interest rate
nskand foreign exchange nsk this represents 25% (2014 26%) of the total debt related denvative portfoho Movements in the fair value of the hedged
items are taken Lo the income statement and are offset by movements in the farr value of the hedging instruments to the extent that hedge accountng
s achieved

The Group designated certan fixed rate cross-currency swaps as cash flow hedges this represents 28% (2014 a0%) of the total debt related denvatwve
partfolro As such the effective poruion of the gan or loss on these contracts s reported as A separata component of the hedging reserve and ts then
reclassified to the income statement i the same periods that the forecast transactions affect the income staterment Cash flows on the swaps oceur
semt-annually up to and nclusive of the relevant bend maturity disclosed thnote 22 Duning the current year gains of £137 mulkon were remaoved from
the hedging reserve and ¢charged to finance costs in the income statement to offset the currency translation movements in the undertying hedged debt
(2074 losses of £140 mikon)

The Group designated certamn cross-currency swaps as net investment hedges this represents 33% {2014 nil) of the wtal debt related denvative portfolio
Exchange differences ansing from the transiation of the net investment in foreign operations are recognised directly v equity Gains and losses on those
hedging instruments (which include bonds and cross-currency swaps and are separately designated as net investment hedges) designated as hedges

of the net Investments in foreign operations are recognised in equity to the extent that the hedging relauonshipis effective these amounts are included
n exchange differences on translation of foreign operations as stated i the statement of comprehensve mcorme Gaing and losses relating to hedge
meffectveness are recogrused immediately in the income statement for the period Gains and losses accumuiated in the Foreign currency translation
reserve are Inctuded m the income statement when the foreign operation s disposed of

The Group designates certam forward foreign exchange contracts and the intnnsic element of options (callars) as cash flow hedges of farecast foreign
currency sales and purchases Gains or losses are released from the hedging reserve and recycled to the income statement in the same period as the
hedged tem s recogmesed f forecast transactions are no longer expected to occur any amounts mcludad i the hedging reserve related to that Forgcast
transaction would be recogrised directly in the income statement Durning the current year losses of £1mithon were removed fram the hedging reserve
and credited to aperatmng expense in the income statement (2014 gans of £7 mullion) Gams of £26 millon were removed from the hedging reserve

and debited to revenue in the iIncome statement (2004 1osses of £2 milhon)

Hedge effectiveness testng s performed quarterly using the dollar-offset approach The actual movement in the hedging items 1s compared with
the movement in the valuauon of the hypothetically perfect hedge of the undertying risk at inception and any inefiectiveness is recognised directly
n the ncome statement. For far value hedges ineffectiveness of E1milion was recogrised in the income statement duning the current year (2014
£} million) For cash flow hedges ineffectiveness of less than E mulhon was recogrised in the mcome statement dunng the current year (2004 nuf)
For net trvestment hedgas ineffectiveness of nil was recogmised in the income statement during the current year (2014 ni)

A hedge relationship 1s deemed 10 be effective of the ratio of changes in valuauion of the undertying hedged item and the hedging instrument rs withm
the range of B0% to125% Any relationshup which has a ratio outside ths range 1s deemed to be ineffectve at which point hedge accounting 1s suspended
Dunng the year ended 30 June 2015 there were no instances in which the hedge relatonship was not highly effective (2014 no instances)

Financal instruments
(a) Carrying value and far value
The accounting dassification of each dass of the Group s financial assets and financial habdities together with their far values is as fallows

Held o Dernatives  Denvatves in Total
maturty Available- deemed held hedging Loans and Other camyng Total fair
vestments forsale fortrading retauenships  recewvables habiities value value
Em Em Em £fm Em £m Em Em
AL 30 June 2015
Quaoted bond debt - - - - - (7808) (7808) (8083
Dearwative financial instruments - - 36 a64 - - 500 500
Trade and other payables - - - - - {2894) (2 894) (2BS54)
Provisions - - - - - (129) (129 (129
Obtigations under finance leases
and other borrowangs - - - - - (104) (104) (104}
Availlable-for-sale mvestments - 3 - - ~ - n Edl
Trade and other recervables - - - - 807 - 807 807
Short-term deposits 1100 - - - - - 1100 1100
Cash and cash equralents 50 - - - ¥ 328 - 1378 1378
AL 30 June 2014
Quoted bond debt - - - - - (2592) (2592) (2896}
Denvatne finanoalinstruments - - (35) 70 - - as 35
Trade and other payables - - - - - {1788} (1788) (1788)
Provisions - - - - - (45) (45) {45)
Obligations under linance leases
and other borrowings - - - - - (€22 7N [¢)))]
Avalable-for-sale rvestments - 533 - - - - 833 533
Trade and other recevables - - - - 349 - 349 349
Short-term deposits 295 - - - - - 295 255
Cash and cash equrvalents 300 - - - 782 - 1082 1082
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23 Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)
The farr values of financial assets and financial iabilities are determined as fallows

The far value of inanaal assets and financial kabilities with standard terms and conditions and which are traded on acove bquid markets
s deterrmned with reference to quoted market pnces

The fair value of other financial assets and financial habibties (excluding denvative instruments) s determined in accardance with generally
accepted praing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using pnices from observable current market transactions and dealer qguotes
for simular iInstruments - - - -

.

Foretgn curmency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yreld curves denved from quoted interest rates
matching maturities of the contracts

Interest rate and cross-currency swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flaws estimated and discounted based on the
applcable yeld curves denved from quoted interest rates and

= The far vaiue of obhgations under finance leases and other borrowings is estimated by discounting the future cash fiows to net present value
The farr value of short-term deposits and cash and cash equivalents s equivalent to camying value due to the short-term nature of these instruments

The differences between carrying values and far values reflect unreahised gains or Iosses inherent in the financial instruments based onvaluations
as at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 The volaule nature of the markets means that values at any subsequent date could be significantly dif ferent
from the values reported above

Cash and cash equwalents dassified as held to matunty investments comanse money marke! deposits which have matunty dates of less than

three manths from inception Money market deposits enhanced return nvestments and ti-party repurchase agreements which have matunty
greater than three months from inception are classified as short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents classified as loans and receivables mainty compnse investments mn AAAM rated money market funds which can
be wathdrawn without notice
{b) Far value hrerarchy

The following table categonses the Groups financial instruments which are held at fair value into one of three levels to reflect the degree Lo which
observable nputs are used mn deterrmining their fair values

Farrvalue Level 1 Level 2 tevgl 3
£m Em €m Em

At30Tmme20sT
Financaal assets
Avalable-for-sale financialinstruments
Otherumvestments N 3 - 28
Financial assets at far value through profit or loss
Interest rate swaps 62 - 62 -
Cross-currency swaps 55 - 3156 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 165 - 165 -
Total 614 3 583 28
Finanaal labihities
Financial babihties at fair value through profitorloss
Cross-currency swaps (40) - 40 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 43 - @3 -
Total (83) - (83) -
AL 30 lune 2014
Financial assets
Avalable-for-sale financialinstruments
ITV investment 514 514 - -
Other investments 9 q - 15
Financal assels at fair value through profit or loss
interest rate swaps 82 - B2 -
Cross-currency swaps 93 - 94 -
Forward foreign exchange contracts 35 - 34 -
Total 743 518 210 15
Financial habiities
Financiat hatrhties at fair value through profit or loss
Cross-currency $waps (95) - (95) -
Forward foreign exchange contracts (€0 - (80) -
Tatal {175} - (175) -
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Lavel 1
Fair vatues measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
fordentical assets or habiities

Leved 2

Fair values measured using inputs other than quoted prices included
within Levell that are observable for the asset or iability esther directly
or indirectly Dervative financial instrument faw values are present vaiues
deterruned from future cash flows discounted at rates derved from
market source data

Level 3

Fatr values measured using inputs for the asset or habiity that are not
based on observable market data Certain of the Geoup s available-for-
sate financial assets are held at far value and are categorised as Levet 3
i the fawr value hierarchy

24 Financsal nsk management

Group Trgasury activity

The Groups Treasury funcuion i responsible for raising inance for the Groups
aperations together wath associated kquidity management and management
of foreign exchange witerest rate and creddt nsks Treasury operations are
conducted wathin a framework of policies and guidelines authonsed and
reviewed annualy by both the Audit Committee and the Board which racenve
regular updates of Treasury actraty Denvatwve instruments are transacted

for nsk management purposes only 1tis the Groups policy that all hedging s
to cover known nisks and no speculatave trading 1s undertaken Reguiar and
frequent reporting to management is required for all transactons and
exposures. and the intarnal contro! emaronment s suibject to penodic revew
by the Groups internal audit team

The Group s prinapal market nsks are exposures to changes in intarest
rates and foreign exchange rates which anse both from the Groups

Franaal statements

Interest rate sensstivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for both dervatives and non-dernvative
financial nstruments at the balance sheet date For floatng rate
habihwes the analysis s prepared assuming the amount of kabitity
outstandng at the balance sheet date s outstanding for the whole year

For each anc hundred basis point nise or fallin mnterest rates
at 30 June 2015 and if all other vanables were held constant

.

The Group's profit far the year ended 30 June 2015 would increase
ordecrease by less than £1mifion {2014 profit for the year would
increase ar decrease by E8 million) The year-on-year movement is
daven by anincrease in the level of loabing debt held

Other equity reserves would decrease of increase by £12 mullion
(2014 decrease or increase by £6 million) ansing fram movements
in cash flow hedges

A one hundred basis point nse or fall n interest rates represents a large
but realistic moverment which can easily be muliphed to give sensitivities.
at cifferent interest rates

The sensitmty analyses provded are hypothetscal onty and should be used
with caution as the impacts provided are not necessanty indwcatve of the
actual impacts that would be expenenced because the Group s actual
exposure to market rates changes as the Group s pertfolio of debt, cash and
foresgn currency contracts changes inadditton the effectof achangeina
parucular market vanable on Far values or cash flows 15 calculated without
consdenng interrelationships between the vanous market rates or
metigating acbons that would be taken by the Group The changes in
valuations are estimates of the impact of changes i market vanables

and are not a prediction of future events or anticipated gans orlosses

sources of finance and its operations Following evaluation of thase
market nsks the Group selecuvely enters nto denvatrve finanaal
instruments to manage these exposures The pnnapal Instruments
currently used are interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate risks and
cross-currency swaps and forward foreign exchange cantracts to hedge
transacuonal and transtational currency exposures

Interest rate risk

The Group has financial expastres to UK euro and US nterestrates ansing
primanty from the Group s long-term bonds and other borrowings The Groups
hedging polcy requires that between 50% and 85% of bormowings are held at
fixed rates Thus 15 achweved by sswing fixed rate bonds or loatng rate notes
and then using interest rate swaps to adjust the balance between fixed and
floatng rate debt The Groups bank debt is at Aoaong rates and when drawn
means that the mux of fixed and floating rate debt Auctuates and s therefore
managed to ensure compliance with the Groups hedging pobey At 20 lune
2015 76% of borrowings were held at fixed rates after hedging (2014 80%)

The Group uses dermvatives to corvert 2 of its US dolar-denominated debt and
assocatedsnterest rate obligations to pounds stering o eunos (see section
on forergn exchange nsk for further detad) At 30 June 2015 the Group had

no net US dollar denominatedintenast rate exposune onits barowings

The Group designates certamn interest rate swaps as hedges of interest
rate nsk and certain cross-currency swaps as fairvalue hedges of both
nterest rate nsk and currency nsk. Mavemenis in the fac value of the
hedged exposure are taken to the income statement and are offset by
movemnents in the fair value of the hedging instruments, which are also
taken to the mcome statement Any hedge meffectvenass s recognised
directly in the isncome statement In the year ended 30 June 2015 this
amounted to E1 milhon (2014 E1milton)

At 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 the Group s annual finance costs would
ncrease or decrease byless than £1mllion for a one-notch downgrade or
upgrace inraung assuming RCF remaimns undrawn

vosaN3nens
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Foreign exchange risk

A combination of aoss-curtency and interest rate swap arrangements

15 used to convert the Group s debt and associated interest rate
obligations to pounds sterling or euros at fixed exchange rates

At 30 June 2015, the sphit of the Group s aggregate BOrrowings INto
their core curencies was US dollar 42% euros 39% and pounds sterling
19% (2014 US dollar 71% and pounds sterkng 29%) At 30 June 2015 30%
of the Group s long-term borrowings after the impact of derivatives

are denominated in pounds sterling and 70% in euros

The Group 15 expased ta currency transiation on the consolidauon of its
foreign operations It uses certam borrowings and derrvatwe instruments
to hedge its net investments i these subsidianes

The majonty of the Group s revenues and operating expenses are
denormunated in pounds sterhng [n the current year approsimately
24% of operaung expenses {£2 206 million) was denominated in euros
2014 approximately 4% (E272 mihon}) and approxmately 8% of
operating expenses (E758 million) was denominated in U5 dobars
{2014 approxmately 10% (E629 milion)) in the current year
approximately 25% of revenues (£2 572 million) was denomunated
neuros {2014 5% (E393 million))

Following the acgusitions of Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia the Group
Treasury function hedges the foreign currency exposure of its foreign
subsidianies nto 1ts local reporung currency In all terrnitanes the US dollar
expense relates mainly to the Group s pregramming contracts wath US
supphers together wath US dollar-denominated set-top box costs In the
UX the euro revenues pranardy relate Lo subscnbers located in ireland
The UK s exposure to euro-denaminated revenue 1s of fset to a certamn
extent by euro-denominated eosts related mainly to certam
transponder costs and euro finanung costs on its borrovangs the net
positon beaing a euro surphus (2014 surplus)

The Group hedges currency exposures on Us dollar denominated hughly
probable cash flows by using forward foreign exchange contracts.
purchased up to five years ahead of the ¢ash flow and currently no longer
hedges transactional eurds exposwes ansing In the UK
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24 Financial nsk management (continued)

It 15 the Group $ policy that afl US dollar foraign currency exposures
are substanually hedged in advance of the year in which they occur

At 30 June 2015 the Group had purchased forward foreign exchange
contracks representing

+ Approwsmatety 924 of US dollar-denomunated costs fall:ng due within
one year (2014 95%) and on a dechng basis across fivesyear planning
horizan are hedged via

~ Qutstandmg comrmitrnents to purchase 1n aggregate US$26M
million (2014 US$2 358 mition) at an average rate of US$1 58 to
£100 (2014 US5160 to £100)

- Qutstanding commutments to purchase 0 aggregate US$1 891 midlon
(2014 USSNU) at an average rate of US$118 to €100 2014 Mt}

= inrespect of its legacy eurt hedging programme and to hedge current
batance sheet exposures

- Qutstanding commitments tosel in aggregate €976 mdbon (2014
€1078 milion) at an average rate of €122t0 £100(2014 €118 to E100)

- Qutstanding commitments to purchase in aggregate €525 million
{2014 €111 milion) at an average rate of €137 to £100 (2014 €113
to E100)

No forward foremgn exchange contracts fall due beyond five years (2014 Two)

The Group designates the following as cash flow hedges for hedge
BCCoUNtINg pUrposes

- Forward foreign exchange contracts

« Cross-currency swaps where interest on both fegs 1s at a fixed

nterest rate e

the valuation of denvatres (2014 gains of £27 milhon) The same weakening
would have a beneficial impact on other equity of £588 millen (2014
benefioal unpact of £479 mulkon)

A 25% strengthening (n pounds stertng aganst the eurn would have the
effect of increasing profit by £69 milion (2014 increasing profit by £2 maton)
of which gains of £53 milhan relate to non-cash movements in the valuabion
of denvatives (2014 Nit) The same strengthening would have a beneficial
mpact onother equity of £102 mdhon (2014 benefical mpact of

£155 milhon)

A 25% weakening n pourds sterling aganst the euro woulkd have the effect
of decreasing profit by £115 milkon (2014 decreasing profit by £3 mulion) of
which losses of E88 mudiion relate to non-cash movernents in the valuation of
dervatves (2014 Nily The same weakening would have an adverse impact on
other equaty of £170 million (2014 adversermpact of E259 mifion)

A 25% strengthening in eura against the US dotlar would have the effect of
increasing profit by €35 miion (2014 Nil) None of thus amount relates to
non-cash mavements in the vailuauon of dervatives Thesame s

would have a adverse impact on other equity of €312 million (2014 Nif)

A 25% weakeruing in euro aganst the US dollar would have the effect of

decreasing profit by £58 mithon (2014 Nil} None of thes amount relates to
non-cash movements in the valuavuon of dervatives. The same weakerung
would have an benefical impact on other equity of €520 mehon (2014 MNil)

The sensitmty anatyses provded are hypothebical only and should be used
with caution as theimpacts provided are not necessanly mdicatee of the
actualimpacts that would be expenenced because the Groups actual
exposure to market rates s constantly changing as the Group's portfobo of
debt cash and foresgn curmency contracts changes Inaddition, the effect af a
change in a partrular market vanable on far values or cash flows 1s calaulated
without consilenng Intermelabonships between the vancus market rates or

As such the effective portan of the gam or kuss on these contracts is
reported as a compenent of the hedging reserve cutside the income
statement andis then reclassified to the income statement in the same
periods that the forecast transactions affect the iIncome statement.
ineffectveress of loss than E1milhon was recognised in the income
statement dunng the year (2014 less than E1milkon)

Acombinaton of US dollar denominated interast rate and US dollar/
pound sterling cross-currency Swaps s used to convert Fixed dollar
denominated debt to floating stering denominated debt The interest
rate swaps are designated as Far value hedges The assooated cross-
currency swaps are not designated as hedging instruments for hedge
accounting purposes and as such movements in their value are recorded
directly in the income statement

Foreign exchange sensitivity

The following analysis detalls the Group s sensitmaty to movements

n paunds stering and euros against those currencies in whichit has
significant transactions The sensitivity analyss indudes foreign currency
denominated assets and hiabiities at the batance sheet date and
outstanding foreign currency denominated financial instruments

and adjusts therr translation at the penod end for a 25% change

in foreign qurrency rates

A 25% strengtherung in pounds sterling aganst the US dallar would have
the effect of reducing profit by £12 million (2014 reducing profit by

£15 mttion) of which losses of £13 mdlkon refate to non-cash movements
m the valuation of dervatwes (2004 losses of £16 milhon) The same
strengthernung would have an adverse impact onother equity of

£358 miltion (2014 adverse impact of £288 milion)

A25% weakerung in pounds sterling against the US dollar would have
the effect of increasing profit by €19 million (2014 increasmg profit by
£25 riflion) of which gains of E21 millon relate to non-cash movemenis in

mitigating acbions that wolld 5& taken iy the Group The changegin
valualions are esurnates of the impact of changes 1n market vanables and
amre not a predicuon of future events or anuapated gans or losses.

Hedge accounting

The intenest rate and foregn exchange rate nsk sections abave outhee the
Group s policies regarding use of denvatve products Further detad on
valuations and the mpact of hedge accounting dunng the year are prowded
nnote 23

Credit nsk

The Group 1s exposed to counterparty default nsk amountung tonvested
cash and cash equivalents and short-term deposits and the positive far
value of dervatmve financaial assets held

Thes nsk 1s deemed to below Counterparty nsk forms acentral part of the
Group s Treasury policy which s monitored and reported on reguarty The
Group manages credit nsk by diversifing Its exposungs across a wide number
of counterparues such that the manmum expaosune to any indmdual
counterparty was 6% of the total asset value of Instruments at the end of
the year Treasury poicies ensure that all dervative transactions ame only
effected with strong retationship banks and at the date of sigrung each
camed a mrumum credit raung of BaaZ or equivalent from Standard &
Poor's. To mitrgate remainuing rsks counterparty credit and sovencign ratngs
are dosely montored and no more than 10% of cash deposits ane hefdwith a
single bank counterparty (with the exception of owemight deposits which are
vested in a spread of AAAS rated hgudity funds)

The amount recogrused n the inoaoma statemeant i respect of credit nsk fior
denvatves deemed held for trading s £ 1 mdhon (2014 e}

Credit nskin our residential customer base Is vugated by biting and
eollecting in advance for digital telewimion subscnptions for the majonty of
our residenual customer base The Group S maximwm exposure to cred it sk
on trade mcenables 15 the camying amounts as disclosed mnate 19
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Liquidity nsk
Cur pnnaipal source of iquidity s cash generated from cperations combined with access to a £1 bilhon RCF which expires in Novemnber 2020 At 30 Juni
2015 this faality was undrawn (30 June 2014 undrawn)

2

To ensure continuity of funding, the Group s policy s to ensure that avasable funding matures over @ penod of years At 30 June 2015 70% (2014 29%) of

the Group s total available funching (incuding available undrawn amounts on our RCF) was duc to mature inmore than five years

Full details of the Group s borrowings and undrawn facihties are shown in nete 22 other than trade and other payabies showr innote 20 and provisions

shown in note 21

The following table analyses the Group s non-denvatve financial liabikties net settled denvatwe financialinstruments and gross settled financial
instruments into refevant matunty groupings based on the remaining penod at the balance sheet date to the contractual matunity date The amounts
disciosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows and may therefore not reconcite to the amounts disclosed on the balance sheet for
barrowings dernvatve financial instruments provisions and trade and ather payables

Between Between

Lass than oneand twoand  Morethan
12months  twoyears fveyears  Fiveyears

wada xBaens

1

Em £m Em Em
At 30 June 2015
Non denvative financial habiliues
Bonds - USD 626 137 1615 1520
Bonds - EUR 57 55 595 2948
Bends - GBP 66 66 552 1309
QObhgatiens under finance leases and other barrowings 26 25 29 128
Trade and other payables 2676 123 1 19
Provisions g 15 3 -]
Net setted denvatives
Financial assets [&1)] 29 (a0) (&)
Gross settled dervatives
CQutflow 2292 1046 3359 3gs
Inflow (2433 (1130) (3665)  (4216)
Between Between
Less than one and twoand Marethan
2months  twovears  fiveyears  fiveyears
Em Em Em £m
AL 30 June 2014
Non denvatve financal labiliies
Bonds -USD n2 a41 1002 947
Bongds - GBP 41 41 5Q0 444
Obhgations under finance leases and other borrowings n 12 7 133
Trada and other payables 1686 99 3 -
Prowvisions 35 8 - 2
Net settled dervatves
Financial assets (30) (24) 41 -
Gross settied denvatives
Qutflow 135 1128 1867 960
Inflow (1327) (121 {1855) (955)

Capital Risk Management

The Group s objectrves when managing capital are to endeavour to ensure that the Group has the ability to access capital markets when necessary and
10 optimise Iiquidity and operatng flexibdity through the arrangement of new debt while seeking to minimise the cost of capital The Group monitors
s hquidity requrements regularly and is satisfied that it has access to sufficent hquidity and operating flexitxihty to meet i2$ capital requirernents

The Group manages iks short and long-term capstal structure by secking to maintain leverage ratws consistent with along-term mvestment grade
credit ratng (BBB or better from Standard & Poor's and Baa3 or better from Moody sy The Groups current ratings are 886 (Standard & Poor 5)

ard 82a2 (Moody ) both with stable outlook The leverage ratios assessed by these rating agenaes are those of Net Debt EBITDA and Gross Debt
EBITDA Met Debt 1s defined as total borrowings ingluding the cash flows ansing under operating Jeases dnd transponder prepayments less cash and
cashequvalents excluding derivatves Gross Debt does nol reduce total borrowings by theinclusion of cash and cash eguivalents

The Group 15 alsa requtred to mantain a Net Debt EBITDA ratio below 4 00 1 and an EBITDA to Net Interest Payablaratio at above 3 50 1 under the
terms of s RCF The RCF defimioon of Net Oebt does not require the inclusion of future operating lease or transponder cash flows

At 30 June 2015 the Net Debt EBITDA ratio as defined by the terms of the RCF was 2 512014 0 71) and the EBITDA to Net Interest Payable rata
was 10612014 1331)
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25 Share capital

2015 2014
£m Em
Allotted called-up and fully paid shares of S0p 1719017 230 (2014 1562 BB5 017} 860 781
2015 204
Number of Numberof
andinary ordinary
shares shares
Allotted and Fully paid during the year
Beginming of year 1562885017 1593905182
Issue of own equity shares 156132.213 -
Shares repurchased and subsequently cancelled - (31020165)
End of year 1719017230 1562885017

The Compary has one class of ordinary shares which carry equal voting nghts and no contractual nght to receve payment On 25 July 2014 the Company
announced the placing of 156 132 213 new ordmary shares representing approximately 9 99% of existing issued share capital for total gross proceeds
of £1358 mdlion £12 mitlron of transaction costs were accounted for as a deduction from equity

Share option and contungent share award schemes
The Company aoperates varnous equity-settied share option schemes (the Schemes ) for certain employees

The number of newly 1ssued shares which may be allocated under the Schemes on any day shall not when aggragated with the number of newly 1ssued
shares which have been allocated in the previous 10 years under the Schemes and any other employee share scheme adopted by the Company exceed
such number as represents 5% of the ordinary share capital of the Company in 1ssue immediately prior to that day In deterrmining this lomit no account
shall be taken of any newly issued shares where the night to acquire the newly 1ssued shares was released lapsed cancelled or otherwise became
Incapabile of exercise Opuons and awards which will be satisfied by ESOP shares do not fall within these headroom imsts

The share awards cutstanding can be summarnsed as follows

2008 2004

—_————— - . Number of Number of

ordimnary ordnary

shares shares

Executrve Share Option Scheme options™ - 147020
Sharesave Scheme options™ B 367072 7976924
Management LTIP awards™ 22108781 16 056 961
LTIP awards!> B 895553 5575000
Management Co-Investmeant LTIP awards™ 2021348 2065719
Co-trwvgstment LTIP awacds™ 1768738 2235172

48161,902 34 056796

(i) Executive Share Option Scheme options
All Executive Share Option Scherne cptions outstanding at 30 June 2014 have vested No options have been granted under the scheme since 2004

Grants under the Executive Share Option Scheme were made on an annual basis to selected employees with the exercise price of aptions being cqual

to the Company s share price on Lthe date of grant For those options with performance condiuons growth in EPS had to exceed growth in the Retail Pnces
Index plus 3% per annum in order for awards to vest Options vested on an accelerated basis over a peried of up to four years from the date of grant.

The contractuallife of all Executive Share Option Scheme optians was 10 years

() Sharesave Scheme options
All Sharesave Scheme options sutstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 have no performance cnitena attached other than the requirament that

the employee remains in employment with the Graup Options granted ynder the Sharesave Scheme must be exercised withsn six months of the relevant
award vesung date

The Sharesave Scheme 15 gpen to all employees in the UK and Ireland Options are normally exercisable after esther three or five years from the date
of grant. The pnce at which aptions are offered 1s not less than BO% of the middle-market price on the dealing day immediately preceding the date

of invitation Itis the policy of the Graup to make an imatation to employees Lo partiopate in the scheme following the announcement of the end
of year results
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(m)Management LTIP awards

All Management LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2034 vest only if performance conditions are met Awards granted under
the Management LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management LYIP Awards under this scheme murror the LTIP wath the same performance
conditions Awards exerased under the Management LTIP can only be satusfied by the issue of market-purchased shares

(v) LTIP awards

AN LTIP awards cutstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only if performance conditions are met Awards granted under the LTIPmust be
exercised within five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company operates the LTIP for Executive Directors and Senior Executives Awards under the scheme are granted m the form of a rul-pnced option
The awards vest in full or in part dependent on the sausfacuon of specified performance targets For awards made in 2008 and 2009 (t e awards that
vested in 2071) 30% of the award vested dependent on TSR performance over a three year performance penod relative to the constiteents of the FTSE
100 at the time of grant and the remaining 70% vested dependent on performance against operational targets The TSR performance targets were not
applicable to awards made between July 2010 and March 2012 but have been re-intreduced for awards granted from July 2012 enwards

(v) Management Co-Investment LTIP awards

All Management Co-lmvestment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only If performance conditions are met Awards granted
under the Management Co-lnvestrnent LTIP must be exercised within five years of the relevant award vesung date

The Company grants awards to selected employees under the Management Co-Investment LTIP Awards under this scheme murror the Co-lnvestment LTIP
with the same perfermance conditions
(w1) Co-Investment LTIP awards

All Co-tnvestment LTIP awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 vest only f performance condibons are met Awards granted under the
Co-lmmstment LTIP must be exerased withn five years of the relevant award vesting date

The Company operates the Co-Investment LTIP award for Executive Directors and Sentor Executives Employees who participate in the plan are granted
a condiuional award of shares based on the amount they have invested in the Company s shares The snvestment will be matched up to a maximum of
15 shares for every share invested subject to a three-year EPS performance condition

For the purposes of the disclosure below the Management LTIP LTIP Management Co-Investment LTIP and Co-Investment LTIP awards ( Senior Management
Schemes”) have been aggregated

The mevement in share awards outstanding s summanised in the following table

INBLMOG

Senicr management

Executive Scheme Sharesave Schema Schemes Total

Werghted Weighted Werghted Weighted

average average average average

exprose exerase exercise exprose

pnce pnce pnce pnce

Number £ Nurmber E Number £ Number E

Qutstanding at 1 July 2013 931247 570 7159954 £34 37253124 000 45344335 096
Granted duning the year - - 3o2z22n 682 10068,805 [a]s]0] 13091016 157
Exerased dunng the year (771 BOE) 585 QQ2173971) 496 (20763738) 000 (22752935 0a7
Forfeited during the year {10 516) 503 (961166) 589 (625 339) 0Q0 {1597021) 358
Expued dunng the year (1905) 662 (26684) a47 - - (2B 589) 46!
Qutstanding at 30 June 2014 147 020 503 7976924 590 25932852 Q00 24056796 140
Granted dunng the year - - 333888 708 18B74 287 000 20212968 17
Exercised during the year (144,888) 503 (1796 333) 499 (1887798) 0Q0 (3829019} 253
Forfeited duning the vear - - (1131874} 637 (1124 51 000 (2 256385) 319
Expired dunng the year (2132 502 {20 326) 536 - - (22 458) 533
Outstanding at 30 June 2015 - - 8 367,072 650 39794 830 000 481619502 113

The wesghted average market price of the Groups shares at the date of exerose for share options cxercised duning the year was £9 09 (2014 £8 42)
For those exercised under the Executive Schame it was EB 90 (2014 £8 4B) for those exeraised under the Sharesave Scheme it was £9 37 (2014 £882)
and for those exeraised under the Semor Management Schemes ik was £8 B4 (2014 E8 a0)

The muddle market closing pnice of the Company s shares at 26 Jung 2015 was £10 66 (27 June 2014 £893)
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25 Share capital (continued)

The following table summanses information about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2015

Senuor management
Sharesave Scheme Schemes Total
weghted Werghted Weighted
. - average ~ sverage avera

remaining remarung remaining

contractyal contractual contractual

Wfe e life

Range of exercise pnees Number Years Number Years Number Years

EO0D - 100 - - 39794830 59 39794830 59

£400-~ES500 7827 o1 - 1827 [+1]

ES00-£600 1586 366 17 - 1586 366 t7

£600 - E700 3643835 21 - 3643835 21

E700-EB OO 3128044 34 - 3129044 34

8,367072 25 35794830 59 4B161902 53

The following table summanses information about share awards outstanding at 30 June 2014
Senior management

Executve Scheme Sharesave Scheme Schemes Tatal

Weighted Weighted Waighted Weighted

averdge average average average

remammg remajimng FEmnaining remanng

contractual contractual contraciual contractual

Ife kfe hfe fe

Range of exercise pnces Nurnber Years MNumber Years Number Years Number Yaars

EOODC-E100 - - - - 25932852 60 25932852 60

£300-£400 - - 28381 ot - - 28381 a1

£400-£500 - - 339644 1 - - 330644 1
£500~E6GOD~— - - me————— 147320 Q1——3 239353 20 3386 373 19-—

£600-E700 - - 4369546 n - = 4369546 3

147 020 01 7976 924 25 25932852 60 34056796 52

The range of exercise pnces of the awards outstanding at 30 June 2015 was between nil and E708 {2014 niland E6 B2) For those outstanding under the
Sharesave Scheme it was between £4 33 and £708 (2014 £3 72 and E6 B2) and for all awards outstanding under the Senior Management Schemes the

exercise price was nil (2014 nd)

The following table summanses addibional information about the awards exercisable at 36 June 2015 and 30 June 2014

2015 2004

Average Average
remaring  Weighted remaining  Weghted
contractual average centractual average
Options tfeafl exerose Cptons hfaof exertse
exerasable exercisable pnce exerasable  exercsable pnce
at 30 June oplions £ at 30 junpe opuons E
Executve Scheme - - - 147020 ()] 503
Sharesave Schema 41293 01 454 78 668 o1 4495
Semor Managerment Schemes 27318 27 Q00 872229 35 000
FALEA) 23 065 1097 9v7 28 103

tnformation for awards granted during the year

The weighted average farr value of equity settled share options granted during the year as estmated it the date of grant was E603 (2014 E553)

This was calculated using the Black-Scholes share oplon pncing mode! except for awards which have market-based performance conditions where a
Monte-Carlo simulation model was used and for grants of mil-priced options which were treated as the award of a free share The farr value of ml-priced
optwons granted dunng the year was measured on the basis of the market pnce of the Company s shares on the date of grant discounted for expected
dsdends which would not be recesved over the vesung penod of the options
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The Monte-Carlo sumulation model reflected the stoncal volatiities of the Company's share pnce and those of all other comparues towhich the
Company s performance would be compared, over a perod equal to the vesting penod of the awards

Expected volat/lity was determined by calculating the histoncal volatdity of the Company $ share price over aperod equal to the expected hfe of the
options Expected hife was based on the contractual bife of the awards and adjusted based on management s best estmate for the effects of exercise
restnctions and behavioural considerations

(1) Sharesave Scheme

The weighted average fair value of equity-settied share awards granted dunng the year under the Sharesave Scheme as estimated ar the date of grant
was £146 (2014 E189) This was calculated using the Black-5choles share option pnong model

The following weighted average assumptions were used in calculating these farr values

2015 2014
Sharg pnce £8B2 EB70
Exerose pnce E708 E6 82
Expected volatility 20% 2%
Expected life 40years 40years
Expected dmidends 35% 3%
Risk-free interest rate 15% 12%

(1) Semor management Schemes
Thae weighted average far value of equity-settied share awards granted during the year under the Semiar Management Schernes as esumated at the date of
grant was £693 (2014 £6 62) The fax value of awards with market-based performance condilions was calculated vsing a Monte-Carlo Smulatson model

Awards granted as rul-priced options were treated as the award of a free share For all other awards farr value was calculated using the Black Scholes
share option pricing model

The following weighted average assumptions were used in calculaong these fair values

Lodar ¥8ayens

TNPLIINOG

2015 2014
Share prnice €8 85 £828
Exercise pnce £0 00 £000
Expected volauhty. 9% 19%_
Expected life 30vyears 21years
Expected dngends 5% 3%
Risk-free interest rate 14% 04%
26 Shareholders’ equity
2015 2014
Em Em
Share eapital 880 781
Share premum 2704 1437
ESQOPreserve (5 (145)
Hedging reserve 62 20)
Avaiable-for salereserve (V)] 455
Other reserves 120 455
Retained eamings (455) {1891y
3165 1072

Purchase of own equity shares for cancellation

During the prior yaar at the Company s AGM on 22 November 2013 the Company was granted authonty to return E500 rmillion of caputal to shareholders
wia a share buy-back programme This authorty was subject to an agreement between the Company and 215t Century Fox Inc (and others) dated 25 July
2013 whereby following any market purchases of shares by the Company 21st Century Fox Inc. would sell to the Company sufficient shares to maintam
1Its percentage shareholding at the same level as applied prior 1o those market purchases The prce payable to 21st Century Fox, Inc would be the pnce
payabte by the Company in respect of the relevant market purchases (the 2013 Share Buy-batk Agreement )

At the Company s AGM on 1 November 2012 the Company was granted the authority to return £500 million of capital to shareholders via a share buy-back

programme This authonty was subject to an agreement between the Company and 21st Century Fox In¢ (and others) dated 28 July 2012 on substantially
the same terms as the 2013 Share Buy-back Agreement.
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— — willremain undistnbutable until all the creditors of the Company and its guarantors (as at 10.December 2003) are paxd
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(continued)

26 Shareholders’ equity (continued)

The following table prowides information about purchases of equity shares by the company induding purchases by the Group s ESOP
dunng the fiscal year

Total Average

number of pnce pad

shares per share

- - - - ~ =+ =~ -—-purchased - - £

July - -
August - -
September 1325800 8856
Cctober - -
Novernber - -
December - -
January - -
February - -
March - -
Apnl - -
May - -
June - -
Total for the year ended 30 June 2015 1,325 800 886

1 Allshare purchases were open market transactions and are mncluded i the manth of settiement

Share premium and special reserve

On10 December 2003 the High Court approved a reduction in the Company s share premium account of 1120 milhon as approved by the Company s
shareholders at the AGM held on 14 November 2003 Thus amount was equal to the Company-only profit and loss account reserve defict at 30 June 2003
As part of the application the Compary s balance sheet at 30 September 2003 was required to be presented At that date the defict on the Company-
only profit and loss account reserve had reduced by £14 milion since 30 June 2003 to £1106 millon As acondition of the reduction the reduction in the
share premium account of £1120 milkonwas perraitted to be offset aganst the prafit and loss account reserve by the amount of the defiat at

30 September 2003 The excess of £14 mithon was credited to a special reserve which 1sincluded in other reserves and under the terms of the reduction

ESOP reserve

The cost of the Company 5 ordinary shares held by the Group's ESOP is treated as a deduttian i arriving at total shareholders equity The movement
in the ESOP reserve was as follows

Number of Average
ordnary prce pad
shares pershare £m
ALY July 2013 20527423 [ = 147
Share options exerased during the year (22752935) €727 (\66)
Shares purchased by the ESOP during the year 1953451 £940 164
At 30 June 2014 17 308999 £8 40 145
Share opbions exercised durmg the year (3829019) £B 35 (32
Shares purchased by the ESOP dunng the year 1325800 EB B6 2
At 30 June 2015 14 BOS 780 E£8 44 125

Hedging reserve

Changes in the farr values of dervatives that are designated as cash flow hedges are imitially recognised in the hedging reserve, and subsequently
recognised in the income statement when the related hedged items are recognised inthe income statement Inadditon deferred taxation relating
to these denvatives 1s also initally recogrused in the hedging reserve prior to transfer to the income statement

Avalable-for-sale reserve

Available-for-sale investments are camied at fair value where this can be rehably measured with movements in the farr value recogrised directly
in the avarlable-far-sale reserve At 30 June 2015 the Group s avalable-for-sate reserve was a defiat of £l million (2014 reserve of £455 mallicn)

Other reserves

The Group s other reserves include a capital redemplionreserve a merger reserve, a foreign currency transtatson reserve and a special reserve The capital
redemption reserve was £190 mulbon 835 at 30 June 2015 (2014 €190 milhon) The merger reserve was £125 milkon as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £222 milhon)

The special reserve was £14 mullion as at 30 June 2015 (2014 £14 mition) The foreign currency translation reserve was £(209) million as at 30 June 2015
(2014 €29 million)
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The merger reserve was created in accordance with the merger relief provisions under section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 (as amended) and section
612 of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the accountmg for business combinatons iwvolving the Issue of shares at a premium Merger relref provided
relief from the requirement Lo Create a share premium account in a pasent cempany s balance sheet In prepanng censolidated financial statements

the amount by which the farr value of the shares 1ssued exceeded ther nominal value was recarded within a merger reserve on consalidation rather than
tna share premmuum account This merger reserve was retaned upon transimon to IFRS as allowed under UK law

The merger reserve which s induded in other reserves was created as a result of the purchase by the Group of interests i two entities SIG was
purchased on 12 July 2000 where consideration was paid by the 1ssue of equity shares in the Company BiB was purchased between 28 June 2001 and
N November 2002 where caonsideration was paid by theissue of equily shares in the Company Follawing the Groups disposal of a controlling stake mn
Sy Bet. the merger reserve in relation to the puthase of SIG has been transferred to retaned eamings At 30 Juna 2015 the Group s mergers reserve

was E125 million (2034 €222 miilion)

27 Notes to the consolidated cash flow statement

Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash ganerated from operations

ool »Bnens

2005 201
Em Em
Cantinuing operatiohs
Profit before tax 1516 1025
Deprecation imparment and losses (profits) on disposal of praperty plant and equiprnent 297 204
Amaortsation impairment and tosses (profits) on disposal of intangibie assets 469 228
Sharg-based payment expense 91 60
Net finance costs 275 14
Profit on disposal of avalable for-sale mvestments (492) -
Profit on disposal of associate (299) -
Share of results of joint ventures and assaciates (28) (35)
1829 1596
Decrease (increase) in trade and other recervables 1 (28)
Decrease inirwentories 568 - ky
(Decarease) increase in trade and other payables (3587 172 g
Increase (decrease) in prowvisions 65 48y é_
(Decrease) Increase in dervative financal instruments {16) 4 =
Cash generated from operations 2080 1696 §
28 Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees &
#) Future mimmum expenditure contracted for but not recognised in the financial statements
Between Totalat Totalat
Less than 1 Yands AfterS 30June 30 June
year years years 2015 2014
£m Em £m £m Em
Television programme rights 2936 8233 366 n535 440
Set-top boxes and related equipment 305 - - 305 180
Third-party payments* 164 204 - 368 155
Transponder capacity? 146 683 324 1163 S19
Property plant and equipment. no 12 - 122 36
Intangible assets? 49 93 9 151 104
Smartcards’ 55 187 30 272 we S
Other 509 546 144 199 521 3
4274 9958 283 15,115 6094 %
m
Foreign currency commitments are translated to pounds sterling 8t the rate prevailng on the balance sheet date g
1 The third party payment commitments are in respect of distnbution agreements for the television channels owned and broadcast by third par ties retaded by the Group to retad g
and commeraial subscrbers ( Sky Dstnbuted Channels ) 2
2 Transponder capanty commitments are n respect of the satelites that the Group uses (o digital ransmissions to both retaf subscrbers and cable operatars §
3 n el tothe provision of smartcards Smartcards under developmeant are included within intangible assets Theamounts included above are the expected

ongungsmancard ¢o3ts based on foracast customer levels
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28 Contracted commitments, contingencies and guarantees (continued)

b) Contingencies and guarantees

Certawn subsicharies of the Company have agreed to prowde additional funding to several of thetr invastments m iimted and unhrmited companies
and partnerships in accardance with funding agreements Payment of this additonal funding would be required i requested by the nvestees in
accardance with the funding agreements The maximum potential amount of future payments which may be required to be made by the subsichanes
of the Company to thew mvestments i both hmited and unlimited companies and partnerships under the undertakings and additional funding
agreements 15 £8 milkon (2014 £17 mallion}

The Group has guarantees in place relating to theG;oups borrowlng's sea note 22 For an overview of the ongong l;wes.n-gatu-ons and reviews of
regulatery and competition matters invelving the Group refer ta the Regulatory matters section in the Strategi report

29 QOperating lease commitments

The minimum lease rentals to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases at 30 June are as follows

2015 2014

Em Em

Within one year 65 47
Between one and five years 155 nz
After five years 120 33
. 410 197

The majonity of operating leases relate Lo property The rants payable under these leases are subject to renegatiation at the vanous intervals
specificd in the leases

The minimum sub-lease rentals to be receved under non-cancellable operating sub-leases at 30 Juna are as follows

2015 2014

£ Em

within one year 2 1
2 1

Sub-lease rentals primarily relate to property leases

30 Transactions with related parties and major shareholders

a) Entities with joint control or significant influence

Dunng the year the Group conducted business transactions with comparies that form part of the 21st Century Fox Inc group a major shareholder in the
Company

Transacticns with related parues and amounts outstanding in relation to those transactions and with related parties at 30 June are as follows

2008 2014

£Em Erm

Supply of goods or services by the Group 45 82
Purchases of goods or services by the Group (275) (127)

Amounts owed to the Group 25 5
Amcunts owed by the Group {(180) (134)

At 30 June 2015 the Group had expenditure commitments of £590 mulion in relation to transacuans with refated parties (204 £99 mulion) which
principally related to minimum telewision programming rghts commitments

Goods and services supplied
Dunng the year the Group supplied programming airtime transmission and marketing services to 21st Century Fox Inc comparies
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Purchases of goods and services and certain other relationships
Duning the year the Group purchased programmng and technical and markeung services from 21st Century Fox tnc comparnies

0On 25 July 2014 the Company annaunced the placing of 156 132,213 new ordinary shares representing approximately 3 99% of existing rssued share capital
(see note 25) 215t Century Fox Inc subscnbed for 61106 496 of these shares so as to maintan its existing percentage shareholding in the Company
following the placing

On 12 November 2004 the Group acquired 100% of Sky ltalia Srl and 57 4% of Sky Deutschland AG from 21st Century Fox inc For further detats see note
31 In addition the Group repad the loan that Sky Deutschland AG had outstanding with 21st Century Fox Inc of E105milion In connection with this
Sky disposed of 1ts 21% stake in the National Geographic channel ta 21st Century Fox Inc on the same date For Further detads seencte 6

On 12 June 2015 Sky increased ts sharehelding in Tour Racng Lirnited (Team Sky ) as aconsequence of the transfer to Sky of a 25% sharehalding from
21st Century Fox Inc The shares were purchased for £25 being thewr par value

There 1s an agreement between 21st Century Fox Inc and the Group pursuant to which it was agreed that for so long as 215t
Century Fox Inc directly or tndirectly halds aninterest of 30% or more 1n the Group 215t Century Fax Ine will not engage i the business
of satelite broadcasting in the UX or lreland

Share buy-back programme

Ounng the prior year the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled, 12140 586 ordinary shares held by 21st Century Fox Inc as part
aof its share buy-back programme

b) Joint ventures and associates
Transactions between the Company and its subsidianes which are related partues have been eiminated on consohdation and are not disclosed
i this note Transactons between the Group and its Nt ventures and assoaates are disclosed below

Transactions between the Company and its subsicianes jont ventures and associates are disclosed in the Company s Separate financial statements

2015 204

Em Em

Supply of services by the Group 26 19
Purchases of goods or services by the Group (55) (66)

Amcunts owed by Joint ventures and assooates to the Group 85 2
Amounts owed to Joint ventures and associates by the Group {16) (L))

uodar aimensg

AUBLNOD

Services supplied are pnmanly the provision of transponder capacity marketing, arrume sales and support services Purchases represent Fees payable
for channel carnage

Amounts owed by junt veniures and assoqates ndudes €70 milbon (2014 E1 miilon) relating to loan funding Thus loan bears interest at arate of 8 20%
(2014 one month ISBOR plus 1%} The maximum ameunt of loan funding outstanding in total from joint ventures and associates dunng the year was
€70 muthion {2014 E1 million)

The Group took out a number of forward exchange contracts with counterparty banks during the year on behalf of the jont venture AETM UK
Onthe same dates as these forward contracts were entered iNto the Group enterad into equal ankd opposite CONTACS With AETN UKinrespect
of these forward contracts

Cansequently the Group was not exposed to any of the net gains or losses on these forward contracts The face value of forward exchange contracts
with AETN UK that had not matured as at 30 June 2015 was E£12 mullion (2014 £4 million)

Dunng the year US$2 million (2014 US$4 mullion) was paid to the toint venture upon maturity of forward exchange contracts and US$nil (2014 less than
US$) million) was receved from the joint venture upon matunity of forward exchange contracts

Durning theyear E1 milhon (2014 E3 milion) was received from the jont venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts and £3 mdhon
(2014 £5 milion) was pard to the jont venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts

Duning theyear €3 million {2014 €5 million)} was recewved from the joint venture upon matunity of forward exchange contracts and €rul (2014 less than
€1 mulhon) was paid to the: jJont venture upon matunty of forward exchange contracts

At 30 June 2015 the Group had minimum expenditure commitments of E1milkon (2014 E£3 millbon) with its pont ventures and assoaates

<) Other transactions with related parties

The Graup has engaged in a number of transactions with companies of which some af the Company’s Directors are also directors These do not meet
the definttion of related-party transactions

d)Key management
The Group has a refated-party relationship wath the Directors of the Company At 30 June 2015 there were 14 (2014 15) members of key
management alt af wham wera Directors of the Company Key manageraent compensation ts dscdosed in note 8b
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31 Acquisition of subsidianes

a) Sky Deutschland

On 12 November 2014 the Group acquired 89 05% of the 1ssued share capital of Sky Deutschland AG obtainng control of Sky Deutschland with
B745% acquired through the offer pracess and the balance acquired subsequent to the close of the offer acceptance period on 3 November 2014
Sky Deutschland operates a pay TV business in Germany and Austna Sky Deutschland was acquired to take advantage of growth opportunities,
benefits of scale and synergy potental

The amounts recogrised in respect of the identfiable assets acquired and habiities assumed are set out in the table below

Recogrused
fair values
Em
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and llabliues assumed
intangble assets 1874
Praperty plant and equipment 170
Deferred tax assets 509
Dervatrve financial assets 13
Inventones 344
Trade and other recerables 73
Cash and cash equivalents m
Trade and other payables 827
Deferred tax babilities (4943
Derivatve financial kabdities (53
Prowisions (3)
Borrowings (312
1743
Non-controling interest (191)
Geodwill 2848
4 400
satisfied by
Cash 4323
- == = ——-Far value of previously held interast 77 - ————
Tatal consideration transferred 4 400
Net cash outflow ansing on purchase
Cash consideration 4323
Less cash end cash equivalents acquired oy
Net cash outflow ansing on purchase 4212

The faw value of the finanoal assets acquired includes trade recewablas with a fair value of E45 milkon and a gross contractual value of £108 million
The best estimate at acguistiion date of the contractual cash Aows not lkely to be collected was E63 million

Goodwill of £2 B48 million ansing from the acquisition reflects growth oppartunities and buyer-spectfic synerges None of the goodwill recognised s
expected to be deductible for ncome tax purposes

The value of the non-controlling interest in Sky Deutschtand was estimated by catculating the non-controfing interest s share of netidenufiable assels
at the acquisiion date At 30 tune 2015 the Group held 9613% of theissued share capital of Sky Deutschiand AG

From the dlose of the offer acceptance period on 3 November 2014 and prior to abtaining control of Sky Deutschland the Group acquired a 1 6% equity
investment with a carrying value of £72 millen The Group recogrised a gan of £5 milhon wathin profit on disposal of avallable-for-sale investments asa
result of measunng this investment to faw value as at the date of the acquisition

Deferred tax assets and habihties which are shown separately above have been offset where appropriate on the balance sheet

Acquisition-retated costs for the purchase of both Sky Deutschland and Sky Italia (see below) comprised acwsory and bransaction fees including inter
ala financial adwisory costs corporate legal advice due diigence reporting. assurance services and tax advice of £50 mulhion within operating expense,
and finance costs of E57 mmMion incurred in connection with £6 6 biflion of firm underwritten debt facihties and other associated transaction costs

For the period between the date of purchase and 30 June 2015 the acquisition contributed £866 million to the Group s revenue and a £22 mdlion loss
to the Group s operatng profit If the Group had completed the purchase on the first day of the financial year 1t 1s esumated that the acquisiion would
have contributed E1 377 mifion to Group revenue and an £11 mullion loss to the Group s eperating profit for the year
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b) Sky itahia
On 12 Novembar 20% the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Sky ltaba Sr obtaming control of Sky ltaba Sky Itala aperates a pay TV
business i Italy Skyltaha was acquired to take advantage of growth opportumties benefis of scale and synergy potential

The amounts recognsed in respect of the idenufiable assets acquired and lablities assumed are set out in the table below

Recognised
fair values
Em
Recogrused amounts of ident:ifiable assets acquired and kabliues assumed
Intangible assets 1780
Property plant and equipment 360 g
Deferred tax assets T é
Dervatve finanoal assets 1
Inventores 800 ﬁ
Trade and other recervables 431
Current Lax assets 13
Cash and cash equivalents 5
Trade and other payables 1092)
Deferred tax habiities (403N
Current taxliabiliues (2)
Provisions (&)
1.714
Goodwalt 752
2 466
Satisfied by
Cash 2056
Disposal of investmentn associate 410
Total consideration transferred 2 466
Net cash outflow ansing on purchasa
Cash consideratson 2056
Lecs cash and cash equivalents acquired {5)- ———
Net cash outflow ansing on purchase 205t

The fair value of the financial assets acguired includes trade recevables with a fair value of £305 millkon and a gross contractual value of £394 million
The best estimate at acquisitson date of the contractual cash flows not hkely to be collected was E89 mdlon

SWIWFEIS e

Goodwill of £752 million ansing from the acquisition reflacts growth opportunities and buyer-specific synergies None of the goadwill recogrised 15
expected to be deductuble for mcome tax purpases

Deferred tax assets and habiities which are shown separately above have been offset where appropriate on the balance sheet

For the perod between the date of purchase and 30 June 2015, the acquisition contnbuted £1297 milion to the Group s revenue and £25 milbon to the
Group s aperating profit IF the Group had completed the purchase on the first day of the financial year 1115 estimated that the acquisitian would have
contributed £2 086 muion to Group revenue and E61 milbon to the Group s operating profit for the year
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32 Group investments

The Group and its subsidiaries are invohed in the operation of pay television broadcasting and home communications services induding the prowsion
of broadband and telephone operations Certain subsidiary companes pronde anadlary funcuiens which support these operabions Joint ventures and
associates are nvolved in the transmission of specialist channels and online betting activities

Unless ctherwise indicated all share holdings owned directly or indirectly by the Group represent 100% of 1ssued share capital of the subsidiary
All entities primanly operate in their country of incorporation

Descnption and Descnption and
Name proportion of shares held (%) Name proporuan of shares held (%)
Sky Group Limited 1orginary share of E1
Substdinries Sky Healthcare Scheme 2 Linuted 2 ordinary shares of £1 each
Direct. holdings of the Company Sky History Limited 2 ordinary shares of £1 each
Sky Holdings Limited 600 arctinary shares of £1each
Incorpgrated in the UK Sky Home Communications Lmited 9528 124 ordinary shares of £l each
Britsh Sky Broadeastung Group 1ordinary share of E1 Sky In-Home Service Lumited 1576 000 ordinary shares of E1each

Limited

Sky International Lumuted

1orginary share of £1

Picnic Limited 2138 ordinary shares of £1 each Sky International Qperations Limited 2 540916167 ordinary shares of £1 each
Sky Finance Europe Lursted Y ordinary share of £1 Sky IP int ernational Limited 300 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky Group Frnance plc 50000 ordinary shaces of £1 eath Sky 1Q Lirruted 100 prdinary shares of EVeach

Sky Guarentes iovestments Limited  Mambership interest (100%) Sky LU Assats Limted a0 crdinary shares of Eleach

Sky Operational Finance Lirmited

31440638 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky Mobule Services Limited 1 ordinary share of £1
Sky Telewision Lemited 13 376 982 ordinary shares of £1 each Sky New Media Venture Limited 2ordinary shares of £1 each
Sky UK Limited 10 002 D02 ordinary shares of £1.each Sky News Limited Vordwary share of £1

Incorparated in the Channel Islangs

Sky Pubkcations Lirnited

2ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky Retasl Stores Lumited

5001055 ordinary shares of £0 01 each

Ramnbow Finarnce (Jarsey) bmited

100 erdinary shares of £3
1000000 preference shares
of E0 01 each

Subsidiaries

Sky SNA Limited

100 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky SNI Limited

100 ordinary shares of £1each

Sky SHI Operations Limited

200 orchnary shares of Eleach

tndirect holdings of the Company

5Ky SUBSTHGaTS Services Limites'

Sordinary shares of El each

Sky Tetecommurucations Limited

1000 ordinary shares of £1¢ach

Sky Telecommunications Serces
Limited

5821764 ordinary shares of £1each

Incorporated in the UK Sky Ventures Limied S12ordinary shares of €1 each

365 Media Group Limited 172 ordinary shares of E001 each The Cloud Networks Limited 30 583 988 orchinary shares of
Amstrad Urnited 180 ordinary shares of £010 each £000025 each

Briush Sky Broadcasting Limited Jordmary share of £1 Tour Racing Limited? 85 ordinary shares of E1 each (B5%)
Cef Bleu 6 Lenvted 51850 ordinary shares of £00) each Virtuous Systems lamited 125 ordinary shares of £1 each

Cymru International Limited 2 arcinary shares of E1 each Znak Jones Productions Limited 1ordinary share of E1

Dalphin TV Linuted 200 000 ordinary shares of £0 0Q) each

International Chanrel Pack 1ordinary share of £1 Incorporated in Germany

Distnbution Limited BSkyR GmbH 2 ord:nary shares of £25 000 and €00
Kidsprog Limited 2 ordinary shares of £1 each Premiere WIN Fernsehen GmbH 2 ordinary shares of €25 000 each
Love Productions Uimited 7724 ardinary shares of £1 each (70%) SCAS Satellte CAServices GmbH  1ordinary share of €25 000 each
MEMSTV Limited 10 orcinary shares of Eleach Sky Deutschland AG 931714 937 ordinary shares of €1 each
Multicultural & Ethnic MadiaSales 144 ordinary shares of £) each {96 13%)

Limited Sky Deutschland Customer 25 D00 orcinary shares of £1 each
Newserga Lurited 100 ordinary shares of El each Center GmbH

NOW TV pic 1grainary share of £1 Sky Deutschand femnsehen Partnership Interest (100%)
Parthengn 1 Limited 1 ordinary share of £1 GmbH & Co KG

Parthenon 2 Limited 2 ordinary shares of E1each Sky Deurschland Sernce Center 1ordinary share of €25 000
Parthenon Entertainment Umited 100 ordinary shares of £1 each GmbH

Parthenon Media Group Limited

2 ordinary shares of £1 each

Sky Deutschlang verwaltungs GmbH 1 orchnary share of €25 000

Ruvals Digital Media Limited

200 ordinary shares of EQ O) each

S ATV Publstung Limited

100 ordinary shares of El each

Sky Channel Limited

1 ordmary share of £1

Sky Comedy Umited 2 oranary shares of E1each
Sky CP Lemited 1 ordmary share of E1
Sky Europe Limited 1 orhinary share of £1
Sky Global Media plc 1 ordinary share of £1

Sky German Holdings GmbH?

26 000 ordinary shares of €1 each

Sky Hotel Entertainment GmbH

9 orchinary shares of €17500 €107700
€50 000 €68 600 £68 000 £175700
£17500 €105 000 and €70000

Sky Media Network GmbH 2 archinary shares of £6 025 and €18 975
Sky Osterveich Fernsehen GmbH 1 oedinary share of €35 000

The Cloeud Networks Germary 2 ordinary shares of €975000

GmbH? and €25000
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Descnption and
propartion of shares held (%)

Descnptian and

Name proportion of shares held (%)

tncorporated in italy

Joint ventures and assoctates

Sky ftaha S

Quota interest {100%)

Sky Itahan Hokdings SpA

121000 ordinary shares of €1 each

Incorporated in the UK

Sky Itala Network Services 5

Queta interest (100%)

AETN UK 50 000 ordinary shares of £1 each (50%)

Telepiu Sl

Quota interest (100%)

Incorporated in the USA

Attheraces Holdings Limited? 1584 ardinarty shares of £l each
(48 35%)

20 recoupment shares of £0 01 each

85kyB US Holdings Inc?

100 ordinary shams of $0001 each

Bolt Pro Tem Linmited 100 ordinary shares of £1 gach (33 3%)

Callisto Media West LLC?

Membership mterest (100%)

Jupiter Entertainment Holdings LLC:

2 Marmbership interest (60%)

Jupiter Entertamment LLC?

Membership interest (100%)

Jupiter Entertainment North LLC?

Membership interest (100%)

Love Amenican Joveneys LLC

Membershup interest (100%)

Colossus Productions Limited?* 2000 erainary shares of E0 Ol each
(20%)

6000 arduinary shares of £1aach (20%)
Membership interest (25%)

4999 ordinary shares of £1 each

OTV Services Lumwed*
Internat Matters Lmited?
Levesport Productions Limited®

Love Baking, LLC? Memberstup interest (100%) (4999%)

Love Productions USA Inc? 1000 ordinary shares of $1each Nickeloteon UK Limited? 104 orchinary B shares of EQO1each

Love Sewng LLC? Membershipinterest (100%) (0%

PhotoOps LLC? Membership interest (100%) Odean and Sky Filmworks Limited” 2450 ordinary B shares af £1 each (S0%)
USA Love Development. LLCY Membership nterest (100%) Paramount UX Partnershipi® Partnershipinierest {25%)

Wild Wast Alaska LLC? Membership interest (100%) Vehtiird 2003 Limitel S0GrdaTy Shares BT ETeach (S0%) —
LIMVILLC Membership interest (51%)

incorporated in other overseas countnes

Acetrax AG (Switzeriand) 12 281 326 ordinary shares of
ChF 0 01 each
Sky Channel SA (Belgiumy 1 250 erdinary shares of €49 &0 each

Sky International AG (Switzerland)

200000¢ arcinary shares of CHF 100
each

Sky Irelard Umited {lreland)

1 ardihary share of €1

Sky Manufactunng Services Limited
(Hong Kang)

10000 ardinary shares of HKD 100 each

Sky Osternech Verwaltung GenbH
{Austna)

1 ordinary share of €36 336

The Cloud Networks Denmark APS

125000 ordinary shares of OKK 100

{Denmarky #ach
The Cloud Networks Mordics AB 640 010 ordinary shares of SEX 100
(Sweden)y each

incorporated in the Channel islands
Cyan Blue Topco Limited

200 556 ordinary A2 shares of EQ 01
each (20 O6%)

200 contingent value shares of £001
each

incorporated wn the UAE
Sky News Arabia FZ-LLC

47816 666 ardinary shares of $1 each
{50%)

Incorporated in Austrahia
Austrahan News Channel Py Lamited) ordinary share of AUDS1 (33 3%K)

This entity has an accounting reference date of 1 January

Thesa entities have an dccountng reference date of 31 December

Thesa entities have an accountung reference date of 31 March

Thes entty has pn accounung reference date of 31 May

These entit:es have an accounting reference date of 30 September

Tha registered address of Paramount UK Partnerstip s 17-19 Hawley Crescent
Carnden London NW1BTT The Paramount UK Partnershipis 2 jont ventung of the
Group and is ncluded within the consohctated accounts in accordance with Note
YeXw) Consequently the Paramount UK Partnerstup has Laken advantage of the
exemption within the Partnerships (Accounts) Regutations 2008 (regutation 7}
from fil ng annual financial statements

WA W -

The foliowang companses are axempt from the requirements retating to the audit of
ndvidual accounts for the year/penod ended 30 tyra 2015 by wrtue of section

4794 of the Comparves Act 2006 Kidsprog Lumuted (02767224) Parthanon Media Group
Limvted (D6344197) Prone Limited (05348872) 5 A TV Pubtshing Limked (D1085975)
Sky IP International imited (07245844) Sky Operational Finance Limited (02906594)
and Sky Telewis on Limited (01518707
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33 Events after the reporting penod

As announced on 17 February 2015 Sky iitiated the necessary steps for the transfer of the remaining approximately 4% minority shareholdings 1n Sky
Deutschland The requisite shareholder mesolution was subsequently approved by 99 4% of the votes cast at an Extrasrdinary General Meeting of Sky
beutschland on 22 July 2015 and we expect the formal transfer of the mincnty shareholdings to be effective inthe second quarter of the 2015116 financial

year
34 Sky plc company only financial statements

Company Income Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Notes £m £m
Revenue 229 225
Operating expense 97 (44)
Operating profit 132 181
Dividend income from subsidianes o] 510 622
Investment Income B ik} 64
Finance costs B (201) an
Profit before tax C 572 786
Taxauon D (24) [€]23]
Profit for the year attributable to equity sharehoiders 548 750
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this income statement.
Company Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2015
205 2014
im £m
——— ——Prafit for the year attnbutable to equity shareholdar 548 750
Other comprehensive Income
Amounts recogrised directly in equity that may subsequently be recycled to the income statement
Gamn (toss) on cash Now hedges 76 (79)
Tax on cash flow hedges 4] . 18
60 £ (61
Amounts reclassified and reported In the iIncome statement s A \ NIE
(Loss) gam on cash flow hedges my - 97
Tax on cash flow hedges 23 (¢
S0y 75
Other comprehensive (loss) income for tha year {net of tax) (30 14
TJotal comprehensive income for the year attnbutable to equity shareholders 518 764

All results relate to continuing operations

130 Skyplc




Annual Report 2015

Company Balance Sheet

Finanaal statemants

1odas x8meng

as at 30 June 2015
2015 4
Notes £m Em
Non-current assets
lnvestments in subsicianes E 9517 814§
Other recevables G 6 2
Dervative inancial assets J 358 175
Deferred tax assets F 1 -
5882 8323
Current assets g
Qther recevables G 7859 3008
Cash and cash equvalents - 1 g
Derwative financial assets J 55 -
794 3009
Totalassets 17796 11332
Current halshties
Other payzbles I 3479 3613
Dervative financial hlabiites J 55 -
3534 3613
Non-current habilities
Borrowings H 6723 1557
Denvauve financial hab:lities J 7a 156
Deferred tax habihities F - 4
5797 177
Total kabilities 103 5330
Share capital L 860 781
Share premum L 2704 1437 -
Reserves 3e1 3784 5
Total equity attnbutable to equity shareholdars _ 7465 _____ 6002 . _ _g
Total habihties and shareholders equity 17796 1332 B
g
3
roved by the Board of Directars g
Group Chie Firancial Officar
¢
F3
&
3
:
g
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

Company Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

205 2014
Notes Em Em
Cash flows from operating actmbies
Cash generated from operations ™M - <
Net cash from operating activities - -
Cash flows from frinancing actvities
Proceeds from the exercise of share options 10 n
Loan to subsidianes ()] (10)
Net cash (used in) from financing activities [ k)
Net {decrease) increase incash and cash equivatents o) 1
Cash and cash eguivalents at the teginning of the year 1 -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year - Ll

The accompanying notes are anntegral part of this cash fiow statement
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Financ gt statements

Capital Tota!
Share Share Specal redempbion Capetal ESOP Hecdgng Retained Sharehoiders
captal  premum feserve FesErvR reserve reserve rgsene eamings equity
Em Em £€m Em £m Em £m £m £m
At ._iul_!_! 29_14 797 1,437 14 174 . 844 {1a7) {13) 3019 6125
Peafit for the year - - - - - - - = 750
Recognition and transfer of cash flow hedges - - - - - - 18 - 18
Tax on items taken directly to equuty - - - - - - (4) - @)
Total comprehensive income for tha year - - - - - - 14 750 764
Shara-based payment - - - - - 2 - (5%) (93)
Share buy-back programme
- Purchase of own shares far cancellabion (16) - - 16 - - - (250) (250)
- Frinanoial iabihity for close penod
purchases - - - - - - - (59) (&)
Dindends - - - - - - - (485) (485)
At 30 June2Ma 781 1437 14 190 844 {145} 1 2880 6002
Profit For the year - - - - - - - 548 548
Recogrution and transfer of cash low hedges - - - - - - 37 - 3N
Tax on jtems taken drectly to equity - - - - - - 7 - 7
Total comprehensive iIncome for the year - - - - - - (30) 548 518
Share-based payment - - - - - 20 - 69 89
Reversal of finanaal hability for close - - - - - - - 59 59
period purchases
Issue of own equity shares 79 1267 - - - - - - 1346
Dmdends - - - - - - - (549) (549)
At 30 June 2015 860 2,704 14 190 Ba4 (125) (29) 3007 7465

For a descnption of the nature and purpose of each equity reserve see note L

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement of changes incquity

A Accounting policies

Sky pic (the Company’) s a publkc hmted company incarperated in the United Xingdom and registered in England and Wales

1) Basis of preparation

The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS consistent with the accounting policies set out in note of the

Group s consoldated hinancal statements

n) Revenue

Revenue which exciudes value added tax represents the gross inflow of economic benefit from the Company s operanng acuviues
Revenue ts measured at the fair value of the consideration received or recenvable The Company s main source of revenue 1S from censing
the Company s brand name asset to subsidianes This revenue IS recogrsed on an accruals basis under the terms of relevant licensing agreements

) Investmant in subsicharies

Aninvestment in a subsidiary 1s recagnised at cost less any provision for impairment. As permitted by section 133 of the Comparves Act 2006
where the relief afforded under section 131 of the Compames Act 2006 applies cost is the aggregate of the nomnal value of the relevant number
of the Company’s shares and the fair value of any other consideration given to acguire the share capital of the subsidiary undertakings
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34 Sky plc company only financial statements {continued)
B Investmaent income and finance costs

2015 04
Em Em
tnvestment income
Investment income from subsichanes 130 6a
Interast on other loans and recenables wath related parues 1- -
1 64
2015 2014
Em Em
Finance costs
- Interest payable and simdar charges
Facility retated costs 33 73}
Guaranteed Notes (see note H) (168) R0)
207) 82)
- Other finance income (expense)
Remeasurement of borrowings and barrowings-related dervative finanoal instruments (not qualfying for hedgo accounting) 462 -
Foreign exchange loss anising onloan with subsidianes {462) -
Loss ansing on dermvatives in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationstup 19) na)
Gain ansing on adjustment for hedged item in a designated fair value hedge accounting relationship 19 15
- 1
(201 (81)

Finance costs include £50 million incurred in connaction with E6 6 bihen of Firm underwntten debt faciities and other associated transaction costs

relating to the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky itala These fackues including the previous RCF have been repaid ar cancelled during the penod with

the exception of the £1blhion revohang credit facihly (RCF) which remains undrawn

€ Profit before taxation

Employee benefits
The Company had nmt employees (2014 nil) dunng the year

Key management compensation

Amounts paid to the Directors of the Company ara disclosed in the Report on Directors remuneration on pages 51te 69

D Taxation
1) Taxatson recognised tn the ncome statement

2015 2014
£m Em
Current tax expense
Current year 22 37
TFotal current tax charge 22 37
Deferred tax expense
Ongrmauan and reversal of temporary differences 2 [4)]
Total deferred tax charga (credit) 2 (U]
Taxation 24 36
) Deferred tax recognised directly in equity
2015 200
Em £m
Deforred tax (credit) charge on hedging actvties N 4

) Reconcaihation of effective tax rate

The tax expense for the year s lower (2014 lower) than the expense that would have been charged using the blended rate of corporation tax in the UK
(20 75%) apphed to profit before tax The applicable enacted or substantively enacted effective rate of UK corporation tax for the year was 20 75% (2014

22 5%) The differences are explained overieaf
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2015 2014
Em Em
Profit before tax 572 786
Profit before tax multsipled by blended rate of corporation tax in the UX of 20 75% (2014 22 5%) ns 177
Effects of
Non-taxable mcome (106} (140)
Non-deductible expenditure . n -
Tax rate change - Q)]
Taxation 24 36
All taxation relates to UK corporation tax §
E Investments i subsidhanes g
£m
Cost
At} July 2013 9148
Additions 3
At 30 June 2014 9151
Addwions 1371
At 20 June 2015 10522
Provision
At July 2013 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2015 (1005)
Camyng amounts
At 1July 2013 8143
At 30 June 2014 8146
At 30 June 2015 9 5y7
See note 32 for a list of the Company sinvestments
n
F Deferred tax g
Recognised deferred tax assets (habilities) §
gl’
Financial IS
Instruments 5
ternporary 3
differences &
Em
At July 2013 O]
Credit to income 1
Charge ta equity (@)
At 30 June 2014 (a)
Charge to ncome @
Credit to equity 7
At 30 June 2015

1

AL 30 June 2015 adeferred tax asset of £244 milion (2014 £244 million) has not been recognised o respect of capital losses related to the Groups
holding 1n KirchPayTV on the basis that ublisation of these temporary differences 1s not probable At 30 June 2015 the Company has also not recogrised a
deferred tax asset of £1milhon (2014 £5 milhon) relating to capital losses and provisions inrespect of football dub mvestments on the basis that 1it1s not

probable that they will be utilised

G Other receivables

Amounts recervable from subsidianes
Current other recevables

Non-gurrent prepayment.
Total other recervables

2015 2014
im £€m
7859 3008
7859 2008
3 2
7865 3010

On1Apnl 2015 the Company made & loan of E600 milhon to Sky Operational Finance Limsted This loan bears interest at 3 month EURIBOR plus O 75% and

1s repayable on demand

0On 27 Novemnber 2014 the Company made aloan of £400 miltion to Sky Operational Finance Lirited This loan bears interest at 2 750% and (s repayable

on demand
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34 sky plc company only financial statements {continued)

On 24 November 2014 the Campany made loans of £200 milion £450 mulkon €850 mulhon and €126 milhon to Sky Operatonal Finance Limited These
loans bear interest at a rate of 4 000% LIBOR plus 12296% 1875% and 2 940% respectrvely and are repayable on demand

0On 16 September 2014 the Campany made loans of €969 miion and €582 mulhon to Sky Operational Finance Limited These loans bear interest at 2 1867%
and EURIBOR plus 0 6563% respectively and are repayable on demand

On 15 September 2014 the Company made loans of €1 500 million and €1000 millanto Sky Operational Finance Limited These loans bear interest at
1500% and 2 S00% respectivety and are repayable on demand

On 26 November 2012 the Company issued US$B00 nulion Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 3 125% and loaned proceeds to Sky Operational
Finance Limited Sky Operat:onal Finance Lumited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Comparny

On 24 Novembes 2008 the Company issued US$600 mullon Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 9 S00% and loaned the proceeds to Sky Operauonal
Finance Limited Sky Operational Finance Urmited pays the same annual effective interest rate to the Company

On 15 February 2008 the Company 1ssued US$750 milhion Guaranteed Notes with a coupon rate of 65100% and loaned the proceeds to Sky UK Limited
Sky UK Limuted pays the same annual effective interest rate ta the Company

All other amounts recervable from subsidianes are non-interest beanng and are also repayable on demand
The Directors ¢consider that the carrying amount of other recewvables approximates their fair values

The Company s credit risk 1s pnmarily attnbutable to its other receivables The majonty of its cther recevables balance 1s due from Sky Operational
Finance Lirmited and Sky UK Limvted The nsk of these entities defaulung on ameounts owed 15 considered low due to Sky Operational Finance Limited being

a gonduit to pass through intercompany finanang and due to Sky UK Limited s successful operation of pay television broadcasting and home
communications servces in the UK and Irefand

H Borrowings

2015 2004
Em Em
Non-current borrowngs

U5$750 muthon of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable sn February 2038 474 442
U5$582 8 millson of 9 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2018 372 353
USS$750Tilion oF 2 625% GuarantBed NG{ES repayablé W September 2019 477 =
€600 milhon of Floating Rate Notes repayable in Apnil 2020 425 -
£450 mithion of 2 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable v Novemnber 2020 445 -
€1500 mion of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1058 -
US$800 mithon of 3 125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 504 456
€850 milion of 1875% Guaranteed Nates repayable n November 2023 &02 -
US$1 250 mithon of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 787 -
€1000 million of 2 500% Guaranteed Nates repayable in September 2026 705 -
£300 milhion of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable tn May 2027 296 296
£300 rmullion of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 297 -
€400 milhon of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 281 -
6723 1557

At 30 June 2015 the Company had inissue the following Guaranteed Nates
Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates

Hedged
Value Fixed Floating
Em Em Em Fixed Floating
USS750 million of 6 100% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2018 387 290 97 6 829% &m UBOR +1892%
US5$582 8 mihon of 3 500% Guaranteed Naotes repayable i November 2018 389 2680 129 7091% Em LIBOR +5 542%
£450 mithon of 2 B75% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2020 450 - 450 - 3m LIBOR +1 230%
US$800 mullion of 3125% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2022 503 503 - 3 226% -
E£300 milhon of 6 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in May 2027 300 300 - 5 000% -
£300 million of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 200 200 - 4 000% -
2229 1,553 676
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Interest Rate Hedging Hedged Interest Rates
Hedged

Value Eued Foating
€m &€m €m Fixed Pcatng
US$750 million of 2625% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2019 581 - 581 - 3mEURIBOR +0 656%
£500 mitkon of Floating Rate Notes repayable in Apnil 2020 600 - 800 - 3MEURIBOR +0 750%
€1500 million of 1 500% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2021 1500 1500 - 1500% _ -
€B50 milkon of 1 875% Guaranteed Notes repayable m November 2023 B50 850 - T875% to-
US$1 250 mdhon of 3 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in September 2024 969 969 - 2187% -
€1000 mithon of 2 500% Guaranteed MNotes repayable in September 2026 1000 1000 - 2500% -
£300 mdhon of 4 000% Guaranteed Notes repayable iy November 2029 126 126 - 2843% -
€400 mitlron of 2 750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in November 2029 400 400 - 2750% -

6026 4845 1181

See note 24 for details of Capital Risk Management and note 22 for details of the Company s Guaranteed Notes in the prior year

| Other payables
2015 2034
Em £m

Other payables

Amounts owed Lo subsidhary undertakings 3394 3536
Amounts owed to other refated parties - 23
Other - 36
Accruals 8% 18
3ar9 363

Amounts payable to subsidianes are nonqnterest bearing and repayable on demand The balance compnses £2 164 mithon of non-interest bearing
loans (2074 £2164 milron) and £1230 mitlion of cther payables (2014 £1372 milhon) The Dectors consider that the carrying amount of other payables

approumates thes fair values

J Derivatives and other financial instruments
Fair values

Set out Delowis a comparison of the carrying values and the estimated fair values of the Company s financral assets and financral habilivies
at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014

2015 2015 2014 2014
Carryng Farr Carrying Fair
value value valye value
£m Em £m £m
Financial assets and habilities held or 1ssued to finance the Company 3 operations
Quated band gebt (6723 (6903} (1557) (1740)
Denvative financialinstruments 284 284 19 19
Other payables and recervables 4380 4 380 (605) [B05)
The farr values of financial assets and financeal habilinies are determinad as detaled in note 23 and all items held at fair value are classified
as tevel 2 in the far value hierarchy
Sat out below are the dervative financialinstrument s entered 1nto by the Company to manage its intarest rate and fareign exchange nsk
2015 2014
Asset Uability Asset Liability
Fair Value National Far Value Matwanal FarValue Matonal FarValue Motonat
€m Em m Em Em Em Em £m
Fairvalue hedges
Intergst rate swaps 48 935 - - S1 452 - -
Cross-Currency swaps 19 466 - - - - - -
Cash flow hedges
Cross-Currency swaps 88 1085 (4] 503 45 290 (36} 503
Dervatives not m a formal hedge relationship
Intergst rate swaps 14 336 4) 596 Ell 574 (25) 4
Cross-CUrrency swaps 244 2065 (103) 1017 48 725 {94) 1018
Total 413 48N (129) 21i6 175 2041 (156) 1835
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Finanaal ttatements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)
Note 23 provides further details of the Group s dervative and other financal nstruments
The matunty of the dervatnve financial mstruments 15 shawn below

2015 2014

Assat Latiey Asset tiabality

- - £fm - - - Em - - <Em -  fm

Inone year orlass 55 {55) - -
Between one and two years - - 33 (33)
Between two and five years n (39) 122 ®n
In more than five years. 147 _(a0) 20 {56)
Total 413 (129) 75 (156)

K Finanoal nsk management

Interest rate and foreign exchange risk management

The Company manages (s exposire tointerest rates and foreign exchange movements which arise from the Company s sources of finance by selectively
entering Into dernvative financial mstruments 10 manage its exposure The Company has also entered into dervative contracts on behalf of its
subsidianes Sky Group Finance plc and Sky UK Limited and has back-to-back intercompany contracts

Foreign exchange nsk
The following analysis detars the Company s sensitvity to movemnents in pounds sterting against all currencies i which st has sigraficant transactions

The sensitnity analysis ncludes only outstanding foregn currency denominated financial nstrurnents and adjusts ther trans!ation at the penod end
for a 25% change in foreign currency rates

A 25% strengthening in pounds sterling agamsk the US dollar would have an adverse impact on profit of £13 mihon (2014 adversempact of £16 malhon)
relating to non-cash movements in the valuation of dervatives The same strengthenmg would have an adverse impact on other equity of £39 muillion
(2014 adverse impact of £21 million)

A 25% weakening in pounds stering against the US dollar would have a benefiaiat impact on profit of £21 milion (2014 beneficial impact of E26 mallion)
relating to non-cash movements In the valuation of derwatves The same weakening would have a benefioal impact on other aquity of £85 milhon (2014
benefioal impact of £36 million)

A25% suengthemng; pounds sterling against the euro woukd have a beneficial impact on profit by £17 miion (2014 nil) relating to non-cash movements
in the valuations of dervatves

A 25% weakerung 1 pounds steding aganst the euro would have an adverse impact cn profit of £28 million (2014 nil) relating to non-cash movements
in the valuation of dervatves

Interest rate nsk
The sensitivity analyses below have been determuned based on the exposura tonterest rates for both derwvatives and non-denvative financial

instruments at the balance sheet date For floating rate habfiies the analysis s prepared assumnag the amount of hability outstanding at the batance
sheet date was outstanding For the whole year

For each one hundred basis pont rise or fzll in interest rates at 30 June 2015 and if all other variables were held constant, the Company's profit for the
year ended 30 June 2015 would decrease or increase by £18 million {2014 decrease or ncrease by £3 milion) and other equity reserves would decrease
orincrease by E6 milkon (2014 decrease or increase by £1million)

Aone hundred basis point nse or fall in interest rates represents alarge but reakistic movermnent which can easily be multplied to give sensitvibies
at different interest rates

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessarily indicatwve of the
actual impacts that would be expenenced because the effect of a change in a particular market vanable on fair values or cash flows 1s calculated without
considenng interrelationships between the vanous market rates or miugating actions that would be taken by the Company In addition the Companys
actual exposure o market rates changes as the Company s portfolic of debt changes

The changes in valuations are estimates of the impact of changes m market vanables and are not a prediction of future events or anticipated gains
orlosses

Liguidity risk
See note 24 far the Company s policy on hquidity management

The following table analyses the Company s non dérvative inanaal habilities net settled interest rate swaps and gross settled cunmrency swaps
and collars Into relevant matunty groupngs based on the remawung penod at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturnity date

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undscounted cash Hows and may therefore not reconcle to the amounts disclosed on the
balance sheet for bormowings dervatve financial nstruments and other payables
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Financial stataments
Between Between
Less than one and twoand Morethan
12manths  two years five years five years
Em £m £m Em
At 20 June 2015
Non-denvative finanaial habiltes
Bonds - USD 122 122 1572 1474
Bonds =GBP - — - 43 43 129 1309
Bonds - EUR 57 55 595 2948
Other payables 3479 - - -
Net settled derwvatnes
Financi2l assets (22) (eD)] (37 )]
Gross settled denvatives
Outflow 1058 143 1991 3147
Inflow (108 {166) (2192) (3147)
Between Between
Less than oneand twoand More than
1Zmonths twoyears fvoyears  fiweyears
£m £m Em Em
At 30 June 2014
Non-denvauve finanoal habhues
Bonds - USD 74 | 8962 521
Bonds - GBP 18 18 54 q44
Other payables 3613 - - -
Net settled denvatives
Financial assets {15) ()] (36) -
Gross settled denvatives
Cutflow 63 62 930 560
Inflow (56) {56) {9200 (521
At 30 tune 2015 the Company had an undrawn E1000 million RCF with a matunty date of 30 Novermber 2020 See note 22 for further mformation
L Notes to the Company statement of changes in equity
For dotauls of share capital sharg premium the special resarve the capital redamption reserve and the hedging reserve see notes 25 and 26
For details of dividends see note 11
Capitalreserve
This reserve arose frem the surptus on the transfer of trade and assets to a subsidary undertaking
M Reconaliation of profit before tax to cash generated from operations
2015 2004
£m £m
Prafit bafore tax 572 788
Owdend income (510) (622)
Net finance costs 70 w
Increase in other racewvables (132) 181)

Cash generated from operations

Sky pic
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Finanaal statements

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(continued)

34 Sky plc company only financial statements (continued)

N Contingent habidities and guarantees

The Company and certain of its subsidianes have undertaken in the normal course of business to prowde support to several of the Group s investments
i both Imeted and unimited companies and partnerships to meet therr habihtres as they falldue Several of these undertalungs contain maximum
financal lmits These undertakings have been given for at least one year from the date of the signing of the UK statutory accounts of the related entsty
A payment under these undertakings would be required inthe event of aninvestment being unable to pay s iabilities

The Company has provided parent cCompany guarantees in respect of the vanous contracts entered into with the Prerier League by Sky UK Limited -
covening the 201314 to 2018N19 football seasons In cach case Lhe guarantee covers all payment obhigations now or in the future due owing armcurred
by Sky UK Limited under the contracts and all habilities now orinthe future anising or Incurred under the indemruty given to the Prermier League by Sky
UK Uimited under the contracts

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee in respect of the contract entered into with Sky UK Limited and Stanhope plc in relation to
the construction of a new corporate headquarters at the Osterley Campus The guarantee covers all perfermance abhgauons and payment ebligatians
imposed on Sky UK Limited under that contract

The Company has provided a back-to-back guarantee in favour of 21st Century Fox ine ofupto half of the annual payment obligations of Sky Deutschland
Fernsehan GmbH &Co KG under the 201317 Bundeshga agreement It has also provided back-to-back guarantees in favour of 21st Century Fox Inc in
relation to UEFA Champions League and other programming abhgations of Sky Itaba Sri

The Company has provided a parent company guarantee to S5GH Stream Sub Inc inrespect of the obligations of Sky tahan Holdings S p A under the
Sky Itaha Sl Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 July 2014 The Company has atso provided a parent company guarantee to 21st Century Fox Adelaide
Holdings BY it respect of the obhgations of Sky German Haldings GmbH under the Sky Deutschland AG Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 25 fuly 2014

The Company has guarantees in place relatng to the Group s borrowings see note 22 andn relation to audit exemptions see note 32

O Transactions with related parues and major shareholders

2015 2014

Em £m

Supply of services to subsidianes 229 225

Interest received from funding to subsidiaries 120 64

Interast on other loans and recervables with related parties 1 -

—_ e ____Asnounts owed by subsidhanes _ _ R 7859 3008
Amounts owed to subsidiaries (3394) (3535)
Amounts owed to other related parties - (23)

The Compary has related-party transactions with its subsidianes oy virtue of Its status as parent company of the Group 1n particular 1ts normal
treasury practice for the Company to lend and borrow cash to and from its subs:dianes as required Under this policy Sky UK Limited setted habikties
of £130 milhon and €17 million (2014 £83 milion and €nil) on behalf of the Company dunng the year Interestis carned on certain loans to subsidianes

The Company recogrused £229 milion (2014 £225 milhon) for licensing the Sky brand name to subsiharies The Company recogrised dmdends during
the year from subsidianes totaling £510 mullton (2014 £622 millon)

Share buy-back programme

During the prior year the Company purchased and subsequently cancelled 12140 586 ordinary shares held by 21st Century Fox Inc as part
of its share buy-back programme

The Group's refated-party transactions are disclosed in note 30

P Events after the reporting penod
For details see note 33 tothe consalidated financal statements
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v
a
. : i
Group financial record §
Unaudited supplemental information
Consolidated results
Below 15 selected financal enformatian far the Group under IFRS as at and far each of the five years ended 30 June
Year Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
30 une 30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2005 2004 2013 2012 20m
Consohdated Income Statement. £m Em £m £m £m
Conunuing operations
Revenue' 9989 7450 7082 6678 6518
Operating expense? G077y (6345}  (5B35) (5 489) (5467} §
Qperating profit 972 1104 1247 1209 1051 ]
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 28 35 46 39 34 %
Investment income a 26 28 18 -] "
Finance casts (283) {140) (108) (WD) (U]
Profit on disposal of available-for-sate investment 492 - - - g
Profit on disposal of assoaste 299 - - - -
Profit before tax 1516 1025 1,213 1155 992
Taxation (184) (205) (267) 274y (250)
Profit for the year from continung operations 1332 820 946 Bal 742
Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 620 45 33 25 68
Profit, for the year 1,952 865 979 506 810
Profit for the year attnibutable to
Equity shareholders of the parent company 1957 865 979 906 810
Nan-controling interests (5) - - - -
Met (loss) profit recogrused directly in equity {625) 73 129 64 (8)
Totzl comprehensive tncome for the year 1327 938 1108 970 802
Earungs per share from profit for the year {in pence) n
Basc ns8p S54p 607p 526p 465p ]
Dihuted 114 4p 549p 597p 522p 459p— —g
Diwvidends pershare (in pence) 328p 320p 300p 254p 233p w
g
" 30 fune 30 hune 30 June 20 June 30 June E
2015 2014 2013 2012 201 G
Corschidated Balance Sheet £m £Em Em £m £m
Non-current assets 10799 3876 a7le 3234 3025
Currant, assats 4559 25713 2569 2275 2329
Total assets 15358 6449 6345 5509 5364
Current habiives (4204) (2519) Q237 (2008) 092
Non-current hiabiities (7930) (2858) (306} (2467) 2 507)
Net assets 3224 1072 102 944 1035
Nurnber of shares in 155u¢ (in mdlions) 1213 1563 1594 1674 1753
£
g
a
8
2,
g
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Group financial record
(continued)
Unaudited supptemental information

Consolidated results

Yaar Year Year Year Year
ended ended ended ended ended
30 Jure 30 lune 30 June 30 June 30 Juna
2015 2014 2013 202 01
Statrstees {000y (000 (000) (000 (000)
Products el
UK & Ireland 38036 3a775 31634 2B 365 25375
Germany 7133 - - - -
Icaty BG4 - - - -
Tatal paid-for subscription products 53783 34775 31634 28 365 25 375
Customers
UK & lretand 12001 1455 1n153 10606 10294
Germany 4280 - - - -
italy 4725 - - - -
Retail customers 21006 11495 11153 10606 10 294
UK & Iretand 4028 4041 3677 3672 3522
Germany 146 - - - -
Italy - - - - -
Wholesale customers ¥ 4174 404 3677 3672 3522
Total customers 25180 15536 14,830 14 278 13,816
Churn
UK & Iretand 98% 10 9% 07% 10 2% 10 4%
Germany BE5% - - - -
Italy 9 6% - - - -

1 induded watfun revenus for the year ended 30 June 2014 5.3 £15 miban credit recered followsng the termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator
2__ Induded withw operating expente for the year ended 30 June 2015 are costs of £50 mdon i relation Lo achisory and transacton faas mcurred on the purchase of Sky Beutschiand

and Sy taka costs of E105 milkon relating to corpor ate restructunng and effioency programmes costs of E10 mion relaung to the integrauan of Sky Deutschland and Sky iaha oy
the enlarged Group and costs of €231 mition retating to the amerusation of acquyred ntangibtes

incuded witha operatng espense for the year ended 30 lune 20 are costs of E49 mithen relating ta the integraton of the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-lne telaphony

busness costs of £40 milion relating U 8 corpPorate restructunng and effiuency programme €2 mikon 33 2 resuft of the t som of B eSCrow agr with a cumrent.
wholesale operator and £23 mibon refating to the amortisation of acquued intangibles
Induded within aperating expense for the year ended 30 June 201315 a credit of £32 mdhon N (e1aUon to a credit note recenved folk g 2n Ofcom det won acredi of

€33 avthion relating to tha final settlement of disputes wath a former manufacturer of set top boxes {net of assocated costs) costs of £31 millon relating to one-offupgrace of
st top boxes costs of E33 mdion relating to acorporate afficrency programme and costs of E15 mdlion retabing to tha dcquisitcn and integration of the G2 consumer broadband and
fixed-ine tetephony busingss Also nduded are costs of £25 milion relating to the programme (o of fer wreless Cannes Locs 1o talacted Sky Moves custamers
Ingluded withun operating axpense for the year ended 30 June 201215 a credit of £31 mdbon 1 relation 1o the News Carporation (Subsequently renamed 215t Century Fox Inc} proposal
0 2011 consisting of costs incurred offset by the receipt of the break fre Also induded are restructunng costs of £11 milbon which compnye severands payents i relacon to
approxtmately 35 servor roles as part of a restructuring Kty to mprove operating effuency
Induded within operating expensa for the yrar ended 30 Juna 2011 5 E26 rmiton of restructunng costs Mcng on the acquitibon of Lrang TV which comprse princ pally redundancy
payrments and tha early tenmenation of 4 pre-accuis Uon contract, £15 muhon of costs n relaton to the News Comovation {subsequently renamed 2ist Century Fox, Inc proposal andacredi
of £41 milion in retauon ko the refund of kmpart duty on set=iop baxes pld out 1 pnoryears This duty was recoversd due to the axdgment gvan by the £CJ on M Apni 201

3 Wholesale customers are custamers who take a package from oneaf Sky s Wholesals Partners inwhich thay recerve at least one paid for Sky channel
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Factors which matenally affect the comparability of the selected financial data

Discontinued operations

During frscal 2015 the Group sold a contralling stake in its online betting ang gamung business For further details see note 3 to the consolidated financal
statements

During frscal 2011 the Group sold 115 business to-business telecommunications operation Easynet, to LOC

Avallable-for-sale investment
During fiscal 2015 the Group dispesed of its remaining investment In 1TV For further detalls see note 5 to the consolhdated financial statements

During fiscal 201 the Group disposed of 1ts equity investment m Shine and recognised a profiz of £9 mullion

Business combinations and profit on disposal of associate

Dunng fiscal 2015 the Group completed the acquisiions of Sky Deutschiand and Sky Itaha For further detaus see note 31 to the consoldated financial
staternents As part of the consideration for the purchase of Skyltaha the Group disposed of its shareholding in the National Geographic channel For
further details see note 6 to the consohdated finanoial statements

Buring fiscal 2013 the Group completed the acquisition of the 02 consumer broadband and fixed-ine telephony business from Teleforica UK compnsing
100% of the share capital of Be Un Limuted The results of this acquisition were consolidated from Lhe date on which control passed to the Group
(30 Aprit 2013)

Durng fiscal 201 the Group completed the acguistuons of Uving TV and The Cloud The results of these acquisiions were consobdated from the date
on which control passed to the Group (12 July 2010 and 23 February 201 respectively)

Exchangerates

Asignificant partion of the Group s labilities and expenses associated with the cost of progremmng acquired from US film icensors together with
set-top box costs are dencrminated in US dollars A significant portion of the Group s revenues and expenses assocated with its operabons n Italy and
Germany & Austria are dencminated in euros For a discussion of the impact of exchange rate movements on the Groups financial condrtion and results
of operations see note 24 to the consalidated financial statements
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Fnancial statsments

Non-GAAP measures

Unaudited supplemental mformation

Consolidated income Statement - reconciliation of statutory and adjusted numbers

2015
Adpsted
italy and
Exclucing Germany &
e w - e ——— Adpusting - — Adjusting -—  --AuStna — -- —-ee
Statutory Iterms items  pre-acquisibon  Like for Like
Motes £m £m £m Em £m
Revenue
Subscription 8518 - 8518 179 9697 ,
Transactional 153 - 153 20 173
Wholesale and syndication 54 - 541 9 550
Advertising 649 - 649 67 6
Other 128 - 128 ki) 147
5989 - 9889 1294 1283
Operating expense
Programming A @17 10 (4162) (724) {4886}
Direct network costs (840) - (840) - (B4
Sales general and administration B (4005) 386 (3619) {538} {4157)
(9017) 396 8621 (1262) (9883)
[EBITOA 1738 163 1501 129 2030 |
Cperatng profit g72 396 1368 32 1400
Share of results of joint ventures and associates 28 - 28
Investment INncome B - 8
Finance costs C (283) 75 (208}
Profit on disposal of avatable-for-sale Investment 2] 492 49 -
Profit on disposal of asseciate E 299 (299) - |
Profit before tax 1516 (320) 1196
Taxation F (184) €N (251)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1332 (387) 945
Loss attnbutable to non-controlling interests -1 (3) 2 |
Prof it from continuing operations attributable to equity shareholders of the
parent company 1337 {390} 947
[Earmings per share (basic) 781p (231p) 560p |
Notes explanation of adjusting itema for the year ended 30 June 2015

A Costs of E10 mullon relating to corparate restructuring and efficiency programmes

B Adwisory and transaction fees including inter aha Financal advisory costs corporate legal adwice due ditgencs reporting assurance seraces and tax adwce of £50 milion incurred
on the purchase of Sky Deutschland and Sky Itaha costs of £95 million retating to corporate restructunng and efficency programmes {including amorisation of £2 mallion in
refation to associated intangble assets) ensts of £10 miben relaung to the mtegraven of Sky Deutschland and Sky fualia in the enlarged Group and amorusaton of acqured
intangble assets of £231 milion

€ Finance costs of £57 mdhonincurred in connecton widh E6 6 bilhon of fum underwhitten debt facilities and other associated transaction costs relating to the purchase of
Sky Deutschland and Sky ftala and costs of £18 mullion relating tothe remeasurement of all dervative inanaal instruments nst quabining far hedge accounting and hedge
ineffectrreness

0 Profiton the safe of shareholding in ITV and gain On equity In.erast in Sky Deutschiand hetd prerto the acquisinon

E  Profit endispesal of a shareholding of 21% 1n NGC Network International LLC anda shareholdng of 21%1n NGC Netwerk Latin Amencallc

Tax affect of adjusting items

n
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Finanqal stataments
2004
Adpsted
teaty and
Exduding Germary &
Adjusting Adusting Austna
Statutory lems tems fultyear Like for Like
Notes Em £m Em Em Em
Revenue
Subscrption 6278 - 6278 2994 9272
Transactional a6 - 86 56 142
Wholesale and syndication A 448 1S) 433 9 524
Advertising 487 - ap7? 203 690
Other 151 - 151 (3) 148
7450 (15) 7435 334) 10776
Operating expense
Programming B (2657) 1 (2656} (2006) {4662)
Direct network costs C (B45) 29 (816) - (B16)
Sales general and admnistration D (2844) 84 (2760) {1353) AN3)
(6 346) n4 (6232 (3359) (8591)
{EBTOA 1536 70 1606 242 1848 |
Operating profit 1104 99 1203 (18) 1185
Share of results of joint ventures and assoctates 35 - 35
Investment income 26 - 26
Finance costs E 1403 5 (135)
Profit before tax 1025 104 1129
Taxation F {205) (32) (237}
Profit for the year from conUinUINg operauons B20 72 B892
| Earrungs per share {(basic) 525p 46p 571p |

Notgs exptanation of adprsung tems for the year ended 30 June 2014

A

B
c
o

Revenus of £15 milkon relating Lo cradit recesved following termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator

Costs of £1milion relatang to a corparate restructunng and ef ficency programere

Costs of £29 millon relating to the integration of the O2 consumer broadband and lixed hine telephony business
Cost of £20 mlion relating to the acquesbion and intégraton of the O2 consumer braadband and fixed-ine telephony business (including armortisation of £4 mdhion i relation to
assocated intang ble dssets) costs of E39 malion wn relaten 10 3 COMPOrate restructunng and efficency programme (ncluding rmpairments of E2 milon in relation (o assoaated
mrangible and tangible assets) costs of £23 mullion n refatanto amorusation of scquired mtangible asse. s and cost of £2 mulion relating to an expense as aresultof the

termination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale cperator

Rereasurernent of all dervatve financiatinstruments nat qualifying for hedge accounting and hadge neffectiveness

Tax adjusting dems and the tax offect of above iterrs
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Non-GAAP measures
(cortinued)
Unaudited supplemental information

Reconciliation of cash generated from operations to adjusted free cash flow

for the year ended 30 June 2015

2015 2014
Note Em £m

Cash generated from continuing operations 27 2080 1696
Interest receved and drndends from available-for-sale investments 9 27
Taxauion paid o T = T T @9 T @9y T T
Dwdends recevad from joint ventures and associates ’ 25 32
Net funding Lo joint ventures and associates [{[")] {&
Purchase of property plan: and equipment (385) (238)
Purchase of mtangible assets (357) (302)
Interast pad (246) (137
Free cash flow B97 B43
Cash paid relating to advisory and transaction fees and finance costs incurred on the purchase of Sky Deutschland
and Sky itala 10 -
Cash paid relating to corporate restructunng and efficiency programme 34 12
Cash paud relating to the integration of Sky Deutschland and Sky 1talia in the enlarged Group a -
Cash pasd under provisions recogrised in pnor penods S 27
Cash paid refating to the integration of the O2 consumer broadband and fixed-ine telephany business 3 22
Payment (receipt) following terrmination of an escrow agreement with a current wholesale operator 3 af
Adjusted free cash flow 1060 885

‘Whers appropnate amaunts above are shawn net of appiicable corparation tan
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Sharsholder snformateon

Shareholder information

Annual General Meeting

The venue and umng of the Company s 2015 AGM 13 detaried in the notice
converung the AGM which will be available for download from the
Company s corporate website at sky com/carporate

Financial calendar
Results for the finanaal year ending 30 Juné 2016 will be published in

October 2015
Jangary 2016°
April 2015°
July 2006°

Frovisional dates

The Sky website

Shareholders are encouraged to visit the Sky website sky com which has
& wealth of mformation about the Company There s a section designed
specifically for investors at sky comicorporate where iInvestar and media
nformation can be accessed This year s Annual Report and Notice of
AGM together with prior year documents can be viewed there along with
information on dvidends share price and avording sharehalder fraud

Managing your shares and shareholder
communications

The Company s shareholder regrster s maintained by 1ts Registrar
Equiniti Infermation on how to manage your shareholkdings can be found
at help shareview co uk

Sharcholders can contact Equinds m relation to all administratve

Divtdend tax vouchers

A consolidated tax voucher senace s available for shareholders whno have
chosen to receve dvidends directly into thew bank account. A single
consobdated tax voucher will be mailed by the end of Movember each
year to coincide with the Final dividend payment

Dividend Reinvestment Plan -. .

The Company operates 2 Diadend Reinvestment Plan { DRIP Ywhich
enables shareholders to buy the Company’s shares on the London stock
market with their cash dividend Further informauon about the DRIPrs
available from Equirity

ShareGift

Shareholders who only have a small number of shares whose value makes
1T uneconomic ta sell thern may wish to consider donating themn to chanty
through ShareGift the independent chanty share donation scheme
(registered chanty no 10526B86) Further mformauocn may be obtamed
from ShareGift on 020 7930 3737 or at sharegift org

Shareholder fraud

Fraud rs on the increase and marny shareholders are targeted every year
If you have any reason to bebieve that you rnay have beenthetargetof a
fraud or attempted fraud m relation to your shareholding, please contact
Equinitiimmedsately

American Depositary Receipts (ADR")

The Company s ADR programma trades on the cver-the-counter (OTC )
marketin the U5 Mare information can be obtaned from the Company s
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enquines relaung to thewr shares suchas a change of. personal detarls
the loss of a share ceruficate out-of-date dmdend cheques change
of dmdend payment methods and how to apply for the Didend
Reinvestment Plan

Shareholders who have not yet elected to receive shareholder
documentation in electroric form can sign up by registering at
sharewew co uk Should Shareholders who have elected for electromic
commumicatrons requirg a paper capy of any of the Company s
shareholder documentation or wish ta change ther instructions
they should contact Equinits

Shareholder Contact Centre

Equirut Limuted

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing

West Sussex

ENS9 604

Telephone 0871384 2051

Teleghone number from cutside the UX +44121415 7567

* Lines are openMonday to Friday 8 30am to 5 30pm exduding UK Bank Holdays
Cals o our 0871 numbers cast 8p per manut e plus network extras

corporate website at sky com/corporate
All enquiries relating to the Company s ADRS shauld be addressed to

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

PO Box 30170

College Station TX77842-3170

US residents (B888) 269 2377

If resident outside the US +1 2016806825

email shrelations@cpushareownersenaces com

Company’s registered office

Grant Way

Isleworth

Middlesex

TW?7 5Q0

Telephone 0333 100 0333
Overseas +44 333100 0333

Company registration number
2247735

Auditor

Delotte LLP

2 New Street Square
Landon

EC4A 3BZ

Skyphe 147
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Accessibility

If you would kke adwice regarding accessibiity
of this document please contact the Accessible
Customer Service teamon +44 (0) 344 2410333

Tofind out more about Sky go to sky comicorporate

For more about how were maleng a wider contnbution
g0 tosky comibiggerpecture

wua Skyplc
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